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Sotera Health Company (Nasdaq: SHC) is a leading global provider of mission-

critical end-to-end sterilization solutions, lab testing and advisory services for

the healthcare industry. The name Sotera Health was inspired by Soteria, the

Greek goddess of safety, and reflects the Company’s unwavering commitment

to its mission, Safeguarding Global Health®.
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LAB SERVICES
Leader in lab testing & advisory services

Expert lab testing and advisory services
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STERILIZATION SERVICES
Leader in sterilization services

Gamma technologies

Global leader in supply of Cobalt-60,
the key input for gamma sterilization

2
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Comprehensive sterilization services

Provider of mission-critical and
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sterilization services
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At Sotera Health, we are steadfast in our commitment to our mission, Safeguarding Global Health®.

Our work helps to ensure the safety of millions of patients and healthcare workers around the

globe, as well as the communities in which we operate and our 3,000+ global team members.

While our high-quality testing, safe and reliable sterilization services and Cobalt-60 supply

expertise enable the safety of the global healthcare industry, it is our team’s commitment to living

our mission every day that makes an extraordinary difference.

Living Our Mission Every Day

SAFETY
We are uncompromising in our

commitment to health and well-being.

CUSTOMER FOCUS
We are driven to fulfill our customers’

needs with the highest quality and care.

PEOPLE
We value our people who are part of a

global team that is diverse, respectful,

passionate and collaborative.

INTEGRITY
We are honest, reliable and

accountable in everything we do.

EXCELLENCE
We exceed the expectations of our

stakeholders and continue to improve and

innovate in everything we do.

Our Values
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A Letter
From Our CEO

Michael B. Petras, Jr.
Chairman and Chief Executive OfficerDear Shareholders,

Over the course of 2023, our team demonstrated tremendous
focus, tenacity and an unwavering commitment to the strong
execution of our strategic priorities and to our Company’s core
values. Macroeconomic and customer supply chain challenges,
a shifting regulatory landscape and continuing global unrest
all contributed to the need for resilience and adaptability to
deliver sustained growth of our financial metrics. Despite these
challenges, 2023 was another year of top- and bottom-line
growth for Sotera Health, and I am proud of what the team
has accomplished. The strong foundation of our Company, the
critical role of the services we provide and our commitment to
living our values are reflected in our Company’s achievements.

Highlights from 2023 include:

• Reinforcing our position as a global leader in providing
mission-critical, end-to-end sterilization solutions and lab
testing and advisory services for the healthcare industry;

• Furthering our relentless focus on our mission, Safeguarding
Global Health®, while supporting a values-driven culture of
safety, customer focus, people, integrity and excellence;

• Investing for organic growth through facility and laboratory
expansions as well as making meaningful progress on our
long-term Cobalt-60 development programs;

• Honoring our commitment to the safety of patients,
employees and surrounding communities by engaging
constructively with our federal, state and local regulators;

• Investing tens of millions of dollars in industry-leading
technology enhancements at our U.S.-based ethylene oxide
facilities;

• Significantly improving our cash liquidity position;

• Advancing our Corporate Responsibility initiatives; and

• Continuing to grow revenue in 2023 as we have each year
since 2005.

With responsibility at the heart of everything we do, our values-
driven culture is fundamental to how we lead and operate.
Whether providing critical inputs for vaccine production,
preventing infection across a broad range of medical and
pharmaceutical products, verifying the legitimacy of a product’s
testing, utilizing our regulatory expertise to solve our customers’
toughest problems or providing a variety of other mission-
critical services, we strive every day to ensure healthy lives
and promote well-being for people around the world. In 2023,
we marked the second year of our Environmental, Social and
Governance (ESG) journey, and we continued to make good
progress on our initiatives.
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The critical role Sotera Health plays in global healthcare is
clear. Our customers rely on our ability to provide mission-
critical services to the healthcare industry with high quality,
unquestionable safety and reliable service. We will continue to
invest in expanding our sterilization, lab testing and advisory
services while executing on our Company-wide focus on
operational excellence initiatives to increase our cash flow
and deliver long-term growth in 2024 and beyond. I have the
utmost confidence in the future of our Company.

I am grateful for the steadfast commitment of our
Sotera Health team around the world to living our mission,
Safeguarding Global Health®. We are thankful to our customers,
partners and investors for your unwavering support and
trust in our Company. We look forward to 2024 and the years
ahead while we continue to strive to exceed your rightfully
high expectations.

I am grateful for the steadfast
commitment of our Sotera Health
team around the world to living
our mission, Safeguarding
Global Health®.

Michael B. Petras, Jr.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Highlights of our ESG initiatives in 2023 include:

• Implemented consistent tracking for sustainability metrics
such as energy, emissions, water and waste and disclosed
initial global environmental analytics;

• Published our Environmental Management Statement;

• Launched our Environmental, Health and Safety (EHS)
Management System and our Safety Culture program;

• Continued investment in best-available emissions
control enhancements across our U.S.-based ethylene
oxide (EO) facilities;

• Furthered our Sotera Health Women’s Network events;

• Administered our global employee pulse survey to evaluate
the impact of our employee engagement efforts;

• Sustained our Inclusion and Belonging programs;

• Conducted an annual Voice of Customer survey;

• Published a Human Rights Statement;

• Published diversity metrics as part of our Human Capital
Management disclosures;

• Conducted our third Time of Understanding conversation;

• Named Karen Flynn to our Board as our fourth
independent Director;

• Met with institutional investors representing nearly 50%
of the shares held by our non-affiliated shareholders;

• Discussed material risks stemming from Enterprise Risk
Management (ERM) and materiality assessments; and

• Published our second Corporate Responsibility Report.



 



2023 Form 10-K



 



UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)

☒ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023
or

☐ TRANSRR ITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission file number 001-39729

SOTERA HRR EALTH COMPANY
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 47-3531161
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporrr ation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identificff ation No.)

9100 South Hills Blvd, Suite 300
Broadview Heights, Ohio 44147

(Address of principal executive officff es) (Zip Code)
(440) 262-1410

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, $0.01 par value per share SHC The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as definff ed in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. ☒ Yes ☐ No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act. ☐ Yes ☒ No
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be fileff d by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to fileff such reports), and (2) has been subju ect to such filing
requirements forff the past 90 days. ☒ Yes ☐ No
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to RulRR e 405 of
Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or forff such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such
files). ☒ Yes ☐ No
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an
emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated fileff r,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ☒ Accelerated filer ☐
Non-accelerated filer ☐ Smaller reporting company ☐

Emerging growth company ☐
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period forff complying with any new
or revised finff ancial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has fileff d a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effeff ctiveness of its internal control
over finff ancial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C.7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or
issued its audit report. ☒
If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the
filing refleff ct the correction of an error to previously issued financial statements. ☐
Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received
by any of the registrant’s executive officers durd ing the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in RulRR e 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). ☐ Yes ☒ No
The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of June 30, 2023, based uponu the last sale
price of such voting and non-voting common stock on that date, was $1,871,267,118.
As of Februarr ry 20, 2024, there were 282,832,200 shares of the registrant’s common stock, $0.01 par value per share, outstanding.



DOCUMENTS INCORPORATRR ED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Definff itive Proxy Statement forff the registrant’s 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporrr ated by reference in Part III of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The proxy statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days afteff r the end
of the registrant’s fisff cal year ended December 31, 2023.

Audit Firm PCAOB ID: 42 Auditor Name: Ernst & Young LLP Auditor Location: Cleveland, Ohio



SOTERA HRR EALTH COMPANY
- TABLE OF CONTENTS -

Page No.
PART I

Item 1. Business 6
Item 1A. Risk Factors 17
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 44
Item 1C. Cybersecurity 45
Item 2. Properties 47
Item 3. Legal Proceedings 47
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 48

PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities
49

Item 6. Reserved 50
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 50
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 68
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 71
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 120
em 9A. Controls and Procedures 120
Item 9B. Other Information 122
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections 122

PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 123
Item 11. Executive Compensation 124
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters
124

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 124
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 124

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 125
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary 131

Signatures 132



CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reforff m Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements are often characterized by the use of words such as “believes,”
“estimates,” “expects,” “projects,” “may,” “intends,” “plans” or “anticipates,” or by discussions of strategy, plans or intentions.
Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that could cause
our actuat l results, performance or achievements, or industry rr esults, to diffeff r materially froff m historical results or any futff urt e
results, performance or achievements expressed, suggested or implied by such forff ward-looking statements. Such risks and
uncertainties include but are not limited to:

• a disruptrr ion in the availabia lity or supplu y of, or increases in the price of, eff thylene oxide (“EO”), Cobalt-60
(“Co-60”) or our other direct materials, services and supplies, including as a result of geopolitical instability and/
or sanctions against RusRR sia by the United States, Canada, United Kingdom and European Union;

• fluff ctuat tions in foreign currency exchange rates;
• changes in environmental, health and safetff y regulations or preferff ences, and general economic, social and business

conditions;
• health and safety risks associated with the use, storage, transportation and disposal of potentially hazardous

materials such as EO and Co-60;
• the impact and outcome of current and future legal proceedings and liabia lity claims, including litigation related to

the use, emissions and releases of EO froff m our facilities in Illinois, Georgia and New Mexico and the possibility
that other claims will be made in the futff urt e relating to these or other faciff lities;

• allegations of our failure to properly perform services and potential product liabia lity claims, recalls, penalties and
reputational harm;

• compliance with the extensive regulatory rrr equirements to which we are subject, the related costs, and any faiff lures
to receive or maintain, or delays in receiving, required clearances or approvals;

• adverse changes in industry tr rends;
• competition we faceff ;
• market changes, including inflationary trends, that impact our long-term supplu y contracts with variabla e price

clauses and increase our cost of revenues;
• business continuity hazards, including supplu y chain disruptr ions and other risks associated with our operations;
• the risks of doing business internationally, including global and regional economic and political instability and

compliance with numerous and sometimes inconsistent laws and regulations in multiple jurisdictions;
• our ability to increase capacity at existing faciff lities, build new faciff lities in a timely and cost-effeff ctive manner and

renew leases forff our leased facilities;
• our ability to attract and retain qualifieff d employees;
• severe health events or environmental events;
• cybersecurity breaches, unauthorized data disclosures, and our dependence on inforff mation technology systems;
• an inabia lity to pursue strategic transactions, finff d suitabla e acquisition targets, or integrate strategic acquisitions into

our business successfulff ly;
• our ability to maintain effeff ctive internal controls over finff ancial reporting;
• our reliance on intellectuat l property to maintain our competitive position and the risk of claims from third parties

that we have infringed or misappropriated, or are infringing or misappropriating, their intellectuat l property rights;
• our ability to comply with rapia dly evolving data privacy and security laws and regulations in various jurisdictions

and any ineffeff ctive compliance efforff ts with such laws and regulations;
• our ability to maintain profitaff bia lity in the futff urt e;
• impairment charges on our goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives, as well as other long-lived

assets and intangible assets with definite lives;
• the effeff cts of unionization efforts and labora regulations in countries in which we operate;
• adverse changes to our tax positions in U.S. or non-U.S. jurisdictions or the interprrr etation and application of

recent U.S. tax legislation or other changes in U.S. or non-U.S. taxation of our operations; and
• our significant leverage and how this significant leverage could adversely affect our ability to raise additional

capital, limit our ability to react to challenges confroff nting our Company or broader changes in our industry or r the
economy, limit our flexibility in operating our business through restrictions contained in our debt agreements and/
or prevent us froff m meeting our obligations under our existing and futff urt e indebtedness.
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These statements are based on current plans, estimates and projections, and thereforff e you should not place undue reliance on
them. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and we undertake no obligation to updau te them
publicly in light of new inforff mation or future events, except as required by law. The inclusion of this forff ward-looking
information should not be regarded as a representation by us or any other person that the future plans, estimates or expectations
contemplated by us will be achieved.

You should carefulff ly consider the abovea factors, as well as the facff tors discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K, including under Item 1A, “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If any of these trends, risks or
uncertainties actuat lly occur or continue, our business, financial condition or operating results could be materially adversely
affeff cted, the trading prices of our securities could decline and you could lose all or part of your investment. All forward-looking
statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualifieff d in their entirety by this cautionary statement.

Unless expressly indicated or the context requires otherwise, the terms “Sotera Health,” “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” in
this document referff to Sotera Health Company, a Delaware corporr ation, and, where appra opriate, its subsu idiaries on a
consolidated basis.
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Part I

Item 1. Business

General Inforff mation

We are a leading global provider of mission-critical end-to-end sterilization solutions, lab testing and advisory services for the
healthcare industry.rr We are driven by our mission: Safeguarding Global Health®. We provide end-to-end sterilization as well as
microbiological and analytical lab ta esting and advisory services to help ensure that medical, pharmaceutical and foodff products
are safe fff orff healthcare practitioners, patients and consumers in the United States and around the world. Our customers include
over 40 of the top 50 medical device companies and nine of the top ten global pharmaceutical companies (based on revenue).
Our services are an essential aspect of our customers’ manufacff turing processes and supplu y chains, helping to ensure sterilized
medical products reach healthcare practitioners and patients. Most of our services are necessary for our customers to satisfy
applicable government requirements.

We are a trusted partner to appra oximately 5,000 customers in over 50 countries. We give our customers confidff ence that their
products meet regulatory, safetff y and effeff ctiveness requirements. With our industry-r recognized scientificff and technological
expertise, we help to ensure the safetff y of millions of patients and healthcare practitioners around the world. Across our 63
facilities worldwide, we have over 3,000 employees who are dedicated to safety and quality.

Sotera Health Company was incorporated in Delaware in November 2017 as the parent company for Sterigenics, Nordion and
Nelson Labsa . We completed our initial public offeff ring and listed our shares on the Nasdaq Global Select Market (“Nasdaq”) in
November 2020 under the ticker symbol “SHC”.

Our Businesses

Stertt ilizatiott n SerSS vicesz

Our sterilization services business is comprised of Sterigenics and Nordion.

Stertt igenics

We are a leading global provider of outsourced terminal sterilization and irradiation services and have provided sterilization
services for over 90 years. We offer a globally integrated platforff m forff our customers in the medical device, pharmaceutical,
food safety, and advanced applications markets, with facilities strategically located to be convenient to our customers’
manufactff urt ing sites or distribution hubs.

Terminal sterilization is the process of sterilizing a product in its final packaging; it is an essential, and often government-
mandated, last step in the manufacff turing process of healthcare products before they are shipped to end-users. The products that
we sterilize include procedurd e kits and trays, implants, syringes, catheters, wound care products, medical protective barriers,
including personal protective equipment (“PPE”), laboratory prr roducts and pharmaceuticals.

Sterilization SerSS vices

We offeff r our customers a complete range of terminal sterilization services, primarily using the three major commercial terminal
sterilization technologies: gamma irradiation, EO processing and E-beam irradiation. We continue to invest in and develop our
capaa bia lities and our current methods of sterilization and we continue to explore new alternative modalities and technologies.
Our primary terminal sterilization technologies include:

6



We provide gamma irradiation services at 23 of our facilities, EO processing services at 17 of our facilities and electron beam
(“E-beam”) irradiation services at eight of our facilities.

We also invest in alternative modalities to serve our customers. X-ray irradiation is a process in which products such as medical
devices and lab ware are exposed to machine-generated radiation in the form of X-rays for the purposrr e of sterilization and
decontamination. X-rays are similar in performance to gamma rays and are useful forff processing certain materials by virtue of
the high penetration capabilities of X-ray. We utilize X-ray irradiation at one of our sterilization faciff lities forff bio-hazard
reducd tion forff the United States Postal Service, or USPS. We are also investing in NO2-based sterilization, which has been
effeff ctive in sterilizing of prefilled syringes, drug-rr device combination products and custom implants.

Sterilization ApplA ications

Sterigenics primarily provides sterilization services forff medical device manufactff urt ers and the pharmaceutical industry.r
Sterigenics also provides decontamination services for the food industry.rr Additionally, Sterigenics provides various advanced
applications for other organizations and companies including the USPS and semiconductor manufactff urt ers. Our customers select
the sterilization method that meets the needs of their products and requirements of regulators and we deliver sterilization
services according to their customer-specific protocols. In most cases, customers are serviced from more than one facility.

• Medical device sterilization. Medical device sterilization is a regulatory rr equirement in many jurisdictions and an
important and last step in the manufactff urt ing of healthcare products such as medical protective barriers, including PPE,
procedurd e kits and trays, implants, syringes, catheters and wound care products. A broad range of single-use,
prepackaged medical products, as well as certain consumer products, are required by government regulations to be
sterile, or meet certain acceptable microbial levels when sold. These products are not manufactff urt ed in a “sterile” or
“clean” environment and are thereby inhabia ted by potentially harmful microbes. Products must thereforff e be treated
before shipment, either in-house by the manufacff turer or by an outsourced sterilization provider such as Sterigenics.

We have developed a consultative appra oach with medical device manufactff urt ers that expands our service offerff ings
beyond core product sterilization, as we believe they want value-added solutions from their outsourced sterilization
partners that reach beyond the traditional scope of sterilization. We offeff r customers a comprehensive selection of
advisory services in design, testing, production and supply chain management for sterile healthcare products before,
during and afteff r the sterilization process to ensure and improve a product’s speed to market and compliance with
regulatory rr equirements.
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• Pharmaceuticals. We provide comprehensive outsourced terminal sterilization solutions to help our customers in the
pharmaceutical industry mrr eet regulatory rr equirements. Our sterilization expertise covers a variety of pharmaceutical
drugrr products, such as active pharmaceutical ingredients, pre-filled syringes, drugrr components, excipients and primary
packaging and components.

In addition, pharmaceutical companies are starting to market disposable delivery drr evices, such as auto-injen ct devices
for epinephrine, which are combined medical device and pharmaceutical products. As these disposable delivery
devices are subject to both medical device regulations and pharmaceutical regulations, we believe these companies are
looking to leading outsourced sterilization providers like us forff our expertise in sterilizing these complex devices. We
believe that the complementary capabilities and expertise in our Nelson Labsa business make Sterigenics an attractive
sterilization partner to customers in the pharmaceutical industry.rr We can provide a fulff l suite of services across the
Company to help our customers throughout key stages in the lifecyff cle of these complex products.

• Food and agricultural productsg p . We provide microbial reduction and microbial remediation services for foodff and
agricultural products. Generally, in a microbial reduction process, products are exposed to lower levels of treatment
than in a sterilization process. This process is not intended to render a product freff e of viabla e organisms but rather to
reduce their number. In connection with our microbial reduction services, we treat a wide array of products such as
spices, herbsr , animal feedff and foodff packaging materials to address safetff y concerns of customers and consumers or to
extend shelf life.ff We currently irradiate a variety of foodff and foodff packaging products, ranging from orange juice to
steaks, to guard against harmfulff bacteria, such as listeria, salmonella, E. coli and other pathogens. Microbial reduction
and irradiation offerff producers and processors a method to safeguard against bacteria from the time of the packaging of
their products to the time they reach consumers. We also provide microbial remediation services that stop the
progression of damage to products and help make the products safe for distribution.

• Commercial, advanced and specialty applications, p y pp . We provide a wide range of advanced applications services for
industrial materials to customers that use ionizing radiation to modify materials or products. The advanced applications
sterilization industry ir s comprised of a large number of distinct segments that can be addressed using our services for
radiation processing. Materials that undergo advanced application processes include products such as power
semiconductors, polymers and gemstones. In addition, we utilize our ionizing radiation services to provide bio-security
services to the USPS by treating and protecting the mail against unwanted pathogens and biohazards. We believe we
are the only provider of this service to the USPS. We also treat commercial products, such as cosmetics, with our
microbial reduction services. In Canada and Europe, where recreational cannabia s, medical cannabia s, or both, are legal,
we provide commercial gamma and E-beam irradiation services forff decontamination of cannabia s.

Sterigenics CusCC tomers

Sterigenics serves more than 2,000 customers. We follow extensive validation procedurd es with our customers to determine the
optimal sterilization method for each product, and to validate that the chosen method will achieve the sterility requirement for
that product. Once a sterilization process has been validated, we adhere to our customers’ process specifications to treat their
product.

Although sterilization services are an essential element in our customers’ manufactff urt ing processes, they generally represent a
small fraff ction of the total end-product cost of medical devices. We believe this means that our customers choose our services
based on quality and consistency of service rather than solely on the cost. These deep, tenured customer relationships are
supporu ted by multi-year contracts with cost pass-through provisions, which have resulted in recurring revenue streams.

For many products, our customers are required to include the specific faciff lity used to validate a product’s listing in the Food
and Drug Administration (“FDA”) (or foreign equivalent) product registration and are typically required to re-register if they
switch faciff lities, which makes switching locations for a particular product a difficult and expensive process forff our customers.
This dynamic contributes to low customer churn and long-term relationships.

In addition, Sterigenics has achieved high historical customer retention and renewal rates—Sterigenics has 100% renewal rates
of its top ten customers forff more than five consecutive years, and an average tenure of over a decade with its top 25 customers
over the last five years—and minimal customer concentration. We have also introduced innovative, advanced processing
systems forff outsourced sterilization that are designed to enhance operating efficiencies, improve turnaround times and provide
for greater processing flexibility without sacrificff ing quality, consistency or reliabia lity. More than 90% of Sterigenics’ revenues
for the year ended December 31, 2023 were from customers under multi-year contracts.
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Sterigenics ComCC pem tition

We compete globally with Applied Sterilization Technologies, a segment of STERIS plc, as well as other smaller or regional
outsourced sterilization companies. In addition, some manufacff turers have invested or are investing in in-house sterilization
capaa bia lities. We also face competition froff m other technologies, such as chemical cross-linking of polymers. Our services
generally compete on the basis of the quality of technology and services offeff red, level of expertise in each of the major
sterilization methods, level of expertise in the applicable regulatory rrr equirements, proximity to customers and the cost of
services.

Sterigenics SupplSS iers

Sterigenics primarily purchases its supplu y of Co-60 sources, the key input into the gamma sterilization process, from Nordion.
Our supply of Co-60 sources is at times impacted by the global availabia lity of Co-60. Our supply of EO is sourced froff m various
supplu iers around the world. There is more than one supplu ier of EO in most of the countries in which we operate; however, in the
United States, there is a single supplier forff EO to our industry.rr We have not historically experienced any supply disruptu ions and
our U.S. supplu ier has redundant production facilities to help ensure reliabla e EO supply. We also have a license in the United
States to distribute EO to self-sff upply should the need arise and we determine the need to make the necessary investments.

Sterigenics FacFF ilities

With 48 facilities in 13 countries, our global network of sterilization facff ilities represents a significant competitive advantage.
We serve many of our sterilization customers at more than one facility, with approximately 80% of Sterigenics’ net revenues
attributable to customers using more than one of our facilities and more than 50% of Sterigenics’ net revenues attributable to
customers using five or more of our facilities in 2023. Extensive capital, technical expertise and regulatory kr nowledge are
required to build and maintain facff ilities like ours. We estimate that building a new faciff lity can cost over $50 million on average,
in addition to requiring extensive and complex licensing approval and regulatory cr ompliance processes. We estimate that the
cost to replicate the facilities in our network alone could be as high as $1.9 billion, in addition to investments required to meet
associated technical and regulatory rrr equirements.

Our global facff ility network, built and expanded over several decades, is strategically located convenient to customers’
manufactff urt ing sites and distribution hubs or routes. For many of our customers, the location of our facilities is important
because transportation and logistics costs can be meaningfulff . We also employ proprietary technology to provide customers with
increased visibility into our processes. Sterigenics GPS™ enables customers to monitor the sterilization process in real-time and
better manage their supplu y chain. These featurt es improve the accuracy and visibility of customer order inforff mation and quality
data, which in turn provide enhanced transparency to regulatory arr gencies around the world, furff ther enhancing our reputation as
a company with regulatory err xpertise. We are focff used on continuing to leverage advanced technology and service offeff rings to
better serve customers, and we believe our capital and resource commitment in this area drives customer loyalty and retention.

By leveraging a global operating system, we drive operational excellence across our network of facff ilities to achieve high levels
of safety, quality, operating efficiency and customer satisfaction to provide a uniform customer experience. All our facilities are
either ISO 13485 certifieff d, ISO 9001 certifieff d, or both, as well as licensed and registered in all necessary jurisdictions to
comply with government required regulations.

Nordiodd n

Nordion is the leading global provider of Co-60 used in the sterilization and irradiation processes forff the medical device,
pharmaceutical, foodff safety, and high-performance materials industries, as well as in the treatment of cancer. Co-60 is a
radioactive isotope that emits gamma radiation that sterilizes items by killing contaminating micro-organisms. In addition,
Nordion is a leading global provider of gamma irradiation systems, which are the units that house the Co-60 sources within a
gamma sterilization facff ility. We estimate that gamma sterilization, which is a critical component of the global infectff ion control
supplu y chain, accounts forff approximately 30% of single-use medical device sterilization worldwide. Nordion’s customers
include both outsourced contract sterilizers, including Sterigenics, and medical device manufactff urt ers that sterilize their products
in-house. More than 90% of Nordion’s revenues forff the year ended December 31, 2023 were from customers under multi-year
contracts.

We provide our customers with high quality, reliable, safe aff nd secure Co-60 source supplu y at each stage of the source’s lifeff
cycle. We suppou rt our customers with handling and processing of Co-60, recycling of depleted sources and global logistics
enabled by our licensed container fleff et. We also provide regulatory ar nd technical service expertise to improve the risk profiles
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and enhance effectiveness of gamma processing operations. Without this radioactive material, gamma sterilization would not be
possible on the global scale at which it is used today. We are integral to our customers’ operations due to highly coordinated
and complex installation processes.

Nordion has a long history in gamma technologies. Nordion designs, installs and maintains gamma irradiation systems. Nordion
developed the first Co-60 based tele-therapy unit forff cancer treatment in 1951 and the first panoramic irradiator in 1964. In
addition to selling Co-60 sources forff sterilization purposr es, Nordion also sells high specific activity Co-60 (“HSA Co-60” or
“medical Co-60”) used in stereotactic radiosurgery as a radiation source for oncology applications, specifically in Gamma
Knifeff ® and other similar applications. Today, Co-60 is a critical part of treatment for brain and other cancers because it is
noninvasive, reliabla e, effeff ctive and safe to use.

Co-60 Production Process

Nordion’s primary product is Co-60 sources. Co-60 is a radioactive isotope used in radiation sterilization that decays naturt ally
at a rate of appra oximately 12% annually. Co-60 is produced by placing cobalt-59 (“Co-59”), the most common forff m of cobalt,
into a nuclear power reactor to be activated.

The Co-60 production process requires high purity Co-59. Co-59 is produced globally, primarily as a byproduct of nickel and
copper mining, and used in a variety of industrial appla ications. The Co-59 used forff sterilization accounts forff a small portion of
overall Co-59 demand. Co-59 is compressed into “targets,” which are pellets and slugs suitable to be activated into Co-60.
These targets are then encapsulated and delivered to be installed in nuclear reactors. Depending on the type of reactor and the
location of the Co-59 in the reactor, the conversion process can take between 18 months to five years. Once the conversion to
Co-60 is complete, the targets are extracted from the nuclear reactor while the reactor is shut down and shipped to Nordion to
be processed into Co-60 sources to be sold to customers. See Item 1A, “Risk Factors”—Risks Related to the Company—Safetff y
risks associated with the use, storage and disposal of potentially hazardous materials, such as EO and Co-60, may result in
accidents or liabia lities that materially affeff ct our results of operations. ”

Nordion Products

Co-60 is sold to customers by its level of radioactivity as measured in curies. Our customers typically buy low specific activity
Co-60 (“LSA Co-60”) forff industrial sterilization use and HSA Co-60 forff medical use. At our Ottawa facility, we receive and
process the targets to forff m the final Co-60 source product with the desired amount of radioactivity forff each customer order. The
Co-60 sources undergo stringent and sophisticated quality assurance testing at our facility. The final product is then placed in
specialized containers, which Nordion uses to transport Co-60 to our customers.

We transport the Co-60 sources via proprietary lead and steel containers that are licensed to meet all appla icable international
shipping requirements. We believe we have the most extensive expertise in Co-60 logistics. There is a significant regulatoryr
burden in the production, management and transportation of fleets of containers of Co-60 sources. Our transportation routes and
carriers are highly controlled, and we provide regular and comprehensive training for employees and carriers who are involved
in moving the Co-60 globally.

We also design, install and maintain gamma irradiation systems, which include radiation shielding, a series of conveyors and
control systems that are designed to expose products to the correct gamma radiation dosage in a safe and efficient manner. A
gamma irradiation system is the infrastrucr ture that houses the Co-60 sources and makes up au part of a sterilization and
warehousing faciff lity. We have designed and built over 100 of the estimated 290 large scale irradiation systems active globally.
Our installation, physics and engineering teams are comprised of highly trained profesff sionals who provide fast and ongoing
technical supporu t froff m source installation to emergency response.

We also offeff r our customers a for-fee spent Co-60 source return service forff depleted Co-60 sources that have reached the end of
their useful life,ff which is often 20 or more years. We also have a source recycling program that extends the useful life off f
individual slugs from the decayed product up tu o an additional 20 years, pairing them with new slugs to make new Co-60
sources.

Nuclear Reactor Operatorsrr

Given the timeline required to produce Co-60, forff ecasting supplu y and working closely with nuclear power reactor operators to
manage the amount and timing of shipments represents an important business capability of Nordion.
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The amount of Co-60 supply is ultimately determined by the number of nuclear reactors that are capable of producing Co-60 at
a given point in time. Our access to Co-60 tends to vary on a quarterly basis, due primarily to nuclear reactor maintenance
schedules, the length of time required to convert Co-59 into Co-60, the limited number of faciff lities that can generate Co-60 in
an economically effiff cient manner, and the timing of the removal of Co-60 from reactors. While short-term variability in Co-60
supplu ier delivery trr iming can sometimes result in variabia lity in our financial performance across fisff cal quarters, we work with
multiple reactor sites that operate on consistent and predictable discharge and harvest scheduld es over the long-term.

Nordion currently has access to Co-60 supplu y at multiple nuclear reactors pursuant to multi-year contracts with three operators
that cover 13 reactors at fivff e generating stations, that extend to dates between 2025 and 2064, with our largest supplier under
contract until 2064. See Item 1A, “Risk Factors”—Risks Related to the Company—We depend on a limited number of
counterparr rties to provide the materials and resources we need to operate our business. Any disruptu ion in the availabia lity of, off r
increases in the price of, Eff O, Co-60 or our other direct materials, services and supplies, including as a result of geopolitical
instability and sanctions against RusRR sia by the United States, Canada, United Kingdom and European Union, may have a
material adverse effect on our operating results.” The substantial majority of our Co-60 material has historically been produced
under multi-year contracts with nuclear reactor operators in Canada and RusRR sia. Nordion provides Co-59 targets to its Canadian
and RusRR sian reactor supplu iers, manufactff urt ed to proprietary specifications customized for each supplu ier. We also acquire a
portion of our Co-60 supply froff m reactors that produce Co-60 in Argentina, China and India.

The vertical integration of Nordion and Sterigenics has allowed us to more confidff ently make meaningfulff long-term investments
to expand Co-60 supply forff the medical products sterilization industry.rr See Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Trends and Key Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations.” Currently,
approximat lelyy 9% fo nuclear reactors worldwide are the type of reactors that have been capable of producing commercial
quantities of Co-60. In December 2018, we acquired patents that may allow us to significantly increase our sourcing options for
Co-60 and further expand the market forff gamma sterilization. Additionally, in Februar ry 2020, we announced a collabora ation
with Westinghouse Electric Company to further develop the technology to produce Co-60 in Pressurized Water Reactors. We
believe this collabora ation could furff ther diversify off ur supplu y with reliabla e U.S. domestic partners and encourage the
implementation of this patented technology at other reactors around the world.

We continue to evaluate opportunities to increase Co-60 production, including through partnerships with CANDUAA reactor
operators in Canada and Romania that would involve investing in their reactor infrastructurt e to enabla e long-term production of
Co-60.

Nordion CusCC tomers

Nordion supplies products and services to approximately 40 customers, including medical device manufactff urt ers and gamma
sterilization service providers. Co-60’s consumable nature results in annual naturt al decay at an approximately 12% annual rate,
which creates stable, recurring demand as customers must purchase incremental supplu y in order to satisfy ongoing needs. We
are integral to our customers’ operations due to highly coordinated and complex installation and service processes that require
expertise in handling and shipping radioactive material as well as our deep knowledge of the relevant regulatory ar nd
compliance requirements. Customer relationships are typically governed by multi-year supplu y agreements.

One of Nordion’s customers is Sterigenics, which competes with several of Nordion’s other gamma sterilization service
customers. When we acquired Nordion in 2014, we establa ished inforff mation barriers between Nordion and Sterigenics with
regard to certain customer information, which remain in place today, and certain of our agreements with Nordion’s customers
require that we maintain these barriers. These barriers prohibit us froff m managing a customer pricing strategy across our
Sterigenics and Nordion segments.

We are a leading global supplier of HSA Co-60 used in oncology-related stereotactic radiosurgery devices, including the
Gamma Knifeff ®, which use directed gamma rays forff certain oncology applications. We also supply other medical equipment
manufactff urt ers and sub-u contractors in the industry wrr ho require the concentrated radiation dose capabilities of HSA Co-60.

Nordion ComCC pem tition

Nordion’s two main competitors in the industrial LSA Co-60 sources supplu y market are a RusRR sian Co-60 sources producer,
which historically has supplied certain regions in Europe and Asia, and a China-based producer, which supplu ies the domestic
Chinese market. In addition, certain regional competitors have the capability to produce Co-60. For example, a producer in
Argentina supplies certain regions in Central and South America and an Indian producer supplu ies India and certain parts of
Southeast Asia. These competitors could potentially increase their global competition capabilities in the future. Nordion also
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competes indirectly with other developing modalities of sterilization, such as X-ray technology, that use electricity to generate
radiation and thereforff e do not require Co-60 sources.

Nordion’s main competitors in the HSA Co-60 industry irr nclude supplu iers in China, Sweden and North America that have
capaa bia lity to produce medical Co-60.

Nordion FacFF ilities

Nordion’s operations are supported by a facility in Kanata, Canada dedicated to processing and shipping cobalt, and a European
distribution faciff lity in Milton, United Kingdom.

Lab TesTT ting and Advidd soii ry Servicesg y

Nelson Labs

Lab ta esting and advisory services are necessary across the medical device and pharmaceutical product lifecyff cles to evaluate and
ensure the safetff y and effeff ctiveness of healthcare products. We are a global leader in outsourced microbiological and analytical
chemistry trr esting services forff the medical device and pharmaceutical industries. In addition to our testing services, our
customers often call uponu our experts forff technical assistance, regulatory crr onsulting and our advisory services. We go to market
leveraging our global fooff tprint and an extensive range of services under our Nelson Labsa brand.

We have establa ished ourselves as a critical partner forff our customers through our delivery of high-quality services, quick testing
turnaround times, responsiveness, high-touch support and easy accessibility to our science and service teams. We have an
industry-r leading brand recognized forff the quality and comprehensiveness of our services, both of which can take many years to
build. Further, we believe that our testing and advisory services offeff rings and experience across a broad array of products
differentiate us from smaller laboratories, as we are abla e to provide testing and advisory services across the entire lifecyff cle of
our customers’ multitude of products. Our scale combined with our global network enable us to undertake significant and time-
sensitive projeo cts forff our customers that might typically require them to interface with multiple labsa . This allows us to simplifyff
complex issues for our customers and streamline communication and execution. Moreover, the integration across our services
and faciff lities enabla es us to assist our customers in minimizing their business continuity risk by reducing capacity shortages,
turnaround time delays and throughput issues.

Our microbiology and analytical chemistry sr ervices include over 900 tests. We also provide for-fee advisory services that
position us as thought leaders in the industry arr nd increase the demand for our testing offerings. These can be categorized into
three broad categories that address diffeff rent stages of customers’ product lifecff ycle:

• Product Development and Validationp . Prior to a new medical product or alteration to an existing product being
submu itted forff regulatory ar ppra oval, Nelson Labsa provides a variety of tests to customers durd ing the research and
development stage. These include tests that assist the client in:

◦ Product design
◦ Material selection
◦ Biological safety evaluation
◦ Toxicological risk assessment
◦ Sterilization modality selection and

sterilization validation

◦ Cleaning and disinfection validation (for reusabla e devices)
◦ Package barrier properties
◦ Distribution simulation
◦ Filtration efficiency and physical functionality of PPE

(including surgical facemasks, N95 respirators, gowns, drapea s
and other PPE)

We provide sterilization modality selection and sterilization validation services for a variety of sterilization modalities,
including the three majoa r modalities offeff red by Sterigenics—gamma irradiation, EO processing and E-beam—mm
allowing us to serve our customers in multiple areas.
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• Expert Advisoryp y. Bringing a medical product or drug to market can be a long and complex process, especially in the
context of constantly evolving standards in a changing regulatory err nvironment. Nelson Labsa provides expert advisory
services to aid customers in navigating the appra opriate standards and regulatory er nvironments. These services include:

◦ Studyt design
◦ Development and justificff ation of

acceptance criteria
◦ Onsite facility evaluation and validations

◦ Technical troubleshooting and scientificff problem solving
◦ Regulatory cr ompliance related services, including supporu ting

clients through the regulatory sr ubmission process

Our expert advisory services provide additional value and expertise at any stage of the product development life cff ycle.
Nelson Labsa offeff rs these services on a standalone basis or as a combined offeff ring with our lab ta esting services, which
creates opportunities for cross-selling with our existing customers forff both services. Our expert advisory services are
also complemented by our ongoing educd ation offerings conducted through webinars, seminars, tailored onsite
educd ation sessions and our website.

• Routine Sterility and Quality Control Testingy Q y g. Once a product has received regulatory arr ppra oval and is in production,
Nelson Labsa provides ongoing quality control testing, including production batch verificff ation testing and
environmental testing of the client’s production systems and facilities, the requirements forff which vary brr ased on
applicable standards. Nelson Labsa performs bacterial endotoxin testing or quarterly dose audits for devices sterilized
using irradiation, and biological indicator testing forff devices sterilized with EO. Nelson also provides testing forff
producers of non-sterile products to ensure they are freff e of objectionabla e organisms. Often, Nelson Labs provides this
ongoing routine quality control testing (based on production lot sizes) forff the products for which it performed initial
validation testing. These products are often sterilized by Sterigenics.

The testing process commences when Nelson Labsa receives samples and a testing request from the customer. Samples are
triaged and assigned to specific lab departments, where laboratory ar nalysts and studyt directors verify off rders and interface with
customers directly to clarify,ff adjud st or enhance testing as needed to ensure compliance with regulatory sr tandards. Once the
sample has been tested, the order is closed out and results are verifieff d by the studyt director and a technical reviewer prior to
electronic delivery orr f the final customer report via a secure online customer portal.

We operate in an industry tr hat requires significant regulatory ar nd specialized scientificff expertise. At a minimum, providers must
maintain the proper certifications and accreditations from key regulatory arr nd accreditation bodies, as well as obtain
qualificff ation by each customer as a “qualifieff d supplier,” which is ofteff n required at the corporate level and at each of the
customer’s operating sites. We employ approximately 600 scientists, technicians and service specialists, creating a subsu tantial
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competitive advantage in terms of expertise. Our experts serve in predominant roles on a number of standards writing
organizations, including the United States Pharmacopeia, AAMI, American Society of Testing and Materials and ISO. We have
establa ished credibility and trusr t with regulators and standards writing organizations which helps us educd ate customers about the
continually changing testing requirements in a complex and evolving regulatory lrr andscape. Our regulatory ar nd scientificff
expertise in laboratory trr esting allows us to serve as a thought leader within the industry ar nd provide high-quality service to our
customers. We focus on providing highly diffeff rentiated services that our customers can rely upon to ensure compliance of and
enhance their products. For example, over the course of 15 years, we have developed a proprietary, world-class compound
databaa se with over 8,000 known elements which enables our extractables and leachables testing. This databaa se allows us to
provide analytical data that differentiates our capabilities from our competitors’.

We provide microbiological and analytical chemistry lr aboratory trr ests across the medical device and pharmaceutical industries.
Specifically, our medical device lab testing services include microbiology, biocompatibility and toxicology assessments,
material characterization, sterilization validation, sterility assurance, packaging validation and distribution simulation,
reprocessing validations, faciff lity and process validation and performance validation and verification of PPE barriers and
material. Our pharmaceutical lab ta esting services include microbiology, biocompatibility and toxicology assessments,
extractables and leachabla es evaluations of pharmaceutical containers, sterilization validation, sterility assurance, packaging
validation and distribution simulation and faciff lity and process validation.

Nelson Labsa benefits from many of the same underlying growth drivers as our sterilization business, including the global
utilization of medical devices and pharmaceutical products and the importance of compliance with continuously evolving global
regulatory rr equirements. In particular, recent global regulatory crr hanges, such as the enactment of the European Union Medical
Device Regulation 2017/745 (MDR) and the FDA’s modernization of the premarket notificff ation process under Section 510(k)
of the Federal Food, Drugr and Cosmetic Act, have increased the requirements forff the testing and sterilization of medical
devices. The COVID-19 pandemic also increased testing demand dued to new FDA Emergency Use Authorizations (EUAs),
which definff e testing criteria necessary forff the direct release of masks and respirators to hospitals and clinics without FDA
submu ission. Because we provide product development and validation testing services to clients launching new products or
altering existing products, this business benefitff s froff m the ongoing technological advances and increasing complexity of medical
and pharmaceutical products.

Nelson Labs Customersrr

Nelson Labsa serves approximately 3,000 customers, including many leading medical device manufactff urt ers and pharmaceutical
companies. We have recurring and stable customer relationships and benefitff from minimal customer concentration. Our
services are an essential component in our customers’ research and development and ongoing quality control processes but
represent a small portion of end-product cost, which allows us to maintain long-term customer relationships and provide
services that are integral to the supplu y chains of our global customers. We support customers through solutions-focused
relationship managers, dedicated service centers and a team-wide service ethic. Nelson Labsa has developed a proprietaryr
customer portal that provides our customers quick and convenient access to important product inforff mation and customer
service. The portal allows our customers to see their tests, status of the tests, estimated completion date and final reports and
includes a live chat system connected to our customer service team.

Nelson Labs Competition

We primarily compete in the global lab testing services market with a range of providers, froff m national or international players
to other smaller regional or niche labora atories. Our products and services compete on the basis of the quality of services offeff red,
breadth of services, level of expertise in each testing method, delivery trr ime, level of expertise in the applicable regulatoryr
requirements, our reputation with customers and regulators and the cost of services.

Nelson Labs Suppliers

We purchase our lab ta esting supplu ies froff m a number of vendors mainly in the United States and occasionally throughout the
world. In many cases we have redundant sources of supplies that minimize our risk of concentration. In addition, some crucr ial
supplu ies are placed on reserve at specific vendors forff our exclusive use.

Nelson Labs Facilities

We operate from a five-building campus in Salt Lake City, Utah, with 85 labora atories including metrology, training, media prep
labsa , fivff e ISO Class V certifieff d clean rooms and customizable lab sa paces. We also have faciff lities in Itasca, Illinois; Leuven,
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Belgium; Bozeman, Montana; Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin; Wiesbaden, Germany, and seven other laboratories embedded in our
Sterigenics sterilization facff ilities in North America, Europe and Asia.

Nelson Labs Recent Acquisiii tions

On March 8, 2021, we acquired BioScience Laboratories, LLC (“BioScience”) located in Bozeman, Montana. BioScience is a
provider of outsourced topical antimicrobial product testing in the pharmaceutical, medical device, and consumer industries.
BioScience’s expertise in analytical testing and clinical trial services complements Nelson Labs’ existing strengths in
antimicrobial and virology testing.

On November 4, 2021, we acquired Regulatory Cr ompliance Associates Inc. (“RCA”), which is headquartered in Pleasant
Prairie, Wisconsin. RCA is an industry lrr eader in providing life sciences consulting focff used on quality, regulatory,r and technical
consulting forff the pharmaceutical, medical device and combination device industries. RCA expands and furff ther strengthens the
technical consulting and expert advisory services capaa bia lities of Nelson Labs.

Intellectual Property

Our businesses rely on certain proprietary technologies. Most of the proprietary technologies used in our businesses are
unpatented. Some of our technologies, including certain processes, methods, algorithms and proprietary databaa ses, are
maintained by the business as trade secrets, which we seek to protect through a combination of physical and technological
security measures and contractuat l measures, such as nondisclosure and confidff entiality agreements. We also have limited
proprietary technologies that are covered by issued patents or patent appla ications, in particular related to potential new Co-60
supplu y opportunities forff our Nordion business.

The name recognition of our businesses is a valuable asset. Many of our business names are the subju ect of trademark
registrations or applications in the United States or certain other jurisdictions, or part of registered domain names.

Human Capital Resources

One of our values is People. We value a global team that is talented, experienced, diverse, respectful, passionate and
collabora ative. Our human capia tal strategy is aligned with our strategy and priorities and focff uses on developing and delivering
global solutions to attract, develop, engage and retain top talent. On an annual basis, we review our employees to assess
performance and leadership potential. We also create succession plans and individual development plans to ensure we have the
team needed for the future. As of December 31, 2023, we employed over 3,000 employees worldwide. Certain of our
employees, primarily outside the United States, are represented by labora unions or work councils and are negotiating or working
under collective bargaining or similar agreements, some of which are subject to periodic renegotiation.

We are committed to providing a safe wff ork environment forff our employees and contractors. We have implemented a health and
safety program to manage workplkk ace safety hazards and to protect employees. The program encompasses performance,
practices and awareness.

We are driven to fulff fill our customers’ needs with highest quality and care to enabla e their success.

Governmental Regulation and Environmental Matters

We are subjeb ct to environmental, health and safetff y laws and regulations in the jurisdictions in which we operate, including
laws, regulations and permit requirements with respect to our use of Co-60, EO and E-beam. These requirements limit
emissions of, aff nd the exposure of workers to, gamma radiation and EO. Nordion’s Kanata faciff lity is licensed as a Class 1B
nuclear facility in Canada, regulated by the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission (“CNSC”), and is audited across various
dimensions of this license on an annual basis. Our Nuclear Substance Processing Facility Operating License, CNSC Export
license and CNSC Device servicing licenses forff our Kanata facility were renewed in October 2015 for a 10-year period. In
addition to the nuclear aspect of our products, many of the products that we process are medical devices directed for human use
or products used in the manufacff ture of medical devices that are directed for human use. Our facff ilities hold various International
Organization forff Standardization’s (“ISO”) certifications including ISO 9002, 9001, 13485, 14001, 45001 and 17025. We have
device, facility, and specific product registrations with North American (Health Canada and the FDA) and European Drugr and
Device health regulators. These regulators exert oversight through requirements forff a product registration and direct audit of our
operations.
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Additionally, our operations in the United States and the majority of our facilities outside the United States (to the extent we are
processing or testing a product that will end up in the U.S. market) are regulated by the FDA. We are also regulated by other
health regulatory ar uthorities in other countries. Specifically, these operations include some of our sterilization and product
testing activities that may constitute “manufacff turing” activities and are subju ect to FDA requirements. These requirements
include site, contract drugr manufactff urt er and supplier of active pharmaceutical ingredients registration and listing and
manufactff urt ing requirements. Regulations issued by the Occupational Safetff y and Health Administration (“OSHA”), the U.S.
Nuclear Regulatory Cr ommission (the “NRC”) and other agencies also require that equipment used at our facilities be designed
and operated in a manner that is safe aff nd with proper safetff y precautions and practices when handling, monitoring and storing
EO and Co-60.

While we strive to comply with these regulatory rr equirements, we may not at all times be in full compliance and, as a result,
could be subject to significant civil and criminal finff es and penalties. To reduce the risk of noncompliance, we employ
engineering and procedurd al controls and pollution control equipment and undertake internal and external regulatory cr ompliance
audits at our facilities. We have a proactive environmental health and safety (“EH&S”) program and a culture of safety and
quality across all business units, and employ a Senior Vice President of Environmental, Health and Safetff y who reports directly
to the Chief Executive Officff er and has a team of more than 45 employees.

For additional inforff mation, please see Item 1A, “Risk Factors”—Risks Related to the Company. We are subject to extensive
regulatory rr equirements and routine regulatory ar udits in our operations. We must receive permits, licenses and/or regulatoryr
clearance or approval forff our operations. Compliance with these regulations is costly, and failure to comply with all laws and
regulations or to receive or maintain permits, licenses, clearances or approvals may hurt our revenues, profitaff bia lity, financial
condition or value. We faceff liabia lity and reputational risks even if we comply with all laws and regulations” and Item 3, “Legal
Proceedings.”

EO Regue latory Overview

In addition to general environmental laws and regulations, EO facff ilities and the EO sterilization process are subju ect to specificff
regulatory rr equirements under fedff eral laws in the United States and the laws of the countries in which we operate, including
European Union regulations. These additional regulations include specific requirements forff permissible employee exposure
limits, process safetff y programs, approved EO containers and their transportation, facility security, quality system programs,
emission control systems and emission limits and products allowed to be treated with EO. Some state and local governments
have additional environmental laws, stricter regulations or other requirements, including permitting programs that set forth
operational parameters forff EO sterilization faciff lities. In the United States, OSHA regulations limit worker exposure to EO. The
use of EO forff the reducd tion of bioburden on or sterilization of an appra oved list of products, including medical devices,
pharmaceutical products, spices, and cosmetics is regulated by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“US EPA”) under
the Clean Air Act (“CAA”) and the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act (“FIFRA”RR ). In addition, FDA
regulations dictate the acceptabla e amount of EO residue on different types of EO-processed products. Most other countries in
which we operate have similar EH&S and worker exposure regulations.

Our EO sterilization facff ilities evacuate EO froff m the sterilization chambers and aeration rooms. Most countries in which we
operate have varying emission control requirements forff EO emissions from our facilities. We are investing in additional
voluntary cr ontrols on EO emissions at our facilities to outpet rform current and expected future regulatory rr equirements and
further reducd e faciff lity emissions. In the United States, our supplu ier maintains FIFRA rRR egistrations for EO as a medical device
sterilant for users of EO across the United States. The US EPA is in the process of reviewing EO’s FIFRA rRR e-registration
eligibility and will likely require enhancements to the processes and equipment forff use of EO as a medical device sterilant. The
US EPA has also proposed updated National Emission Standards forff Hazardous Air Pollutants (“NESHAP”) air emission
regulations for EO commercial sterilization faciff lities that a consent order requires be finff alized by March 2024.

Additional regulatory rr equirements and obligations exist in certain other states, including requirements forff the provision of
notices regarding the release of or exposure to EO. Some states are considering changes that would impose new requirements
for EO commercial sterilization faciff lities. For example, in December 2023, regulators in Califorff nia imposed a number of new
requirements with which our EO sterilization faciff lities will need to comply. Bills have been introduced in the U.S. Congress to
further regulate EO sterilization activity.

Each of our EO sterilization facff ilities utilizes a variety of control technologies (including wet scrubber rs, catalytic oxidizers and
dry brr ed scrubbeu rs) to control emissions, and we are investing in additional control featff urt es to further reducd e emissions. For
2024, we expect capia tal expenditures of appra oximately $40.0 million related to environmental faciff lity enhancements across all
facilities within our business, and we anticipate continuing to invest in environmental faciff lity enhancements in the futff urt e. We
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consistently meet and outpet rform regulatory err missions control requirements, although we have periodically experienced
isolated instances of emissions exceeding appla icable standards or other non-compliance, none of which we believe were
material. We expect to be able to satisfy aff ny changes to appla icable regulatory rr equirements as they evolve and are committed to
doing so, although there can be no assurance that we will always be abla e to do so.

In addition to government regulation, there are standards, guidelines and requirements established by industry or rganizations and
other non-governmental bodies that may impact our operations, such as the ISO’s limit on the permissible levels of residuad l EO
on sterilized medical devices.

Gamma Irradiati iott n Regulatll ortt y Or verview

In the United States, Sterigenics is subject to NRC and state regulations that govern operations involving radioactive materials
at gamma irradiation plants. These NRC and state regulations specify the requirements forff , among other things, maximum
radiation doses, system designs, safetff y featff urt es, alarms, employee and area monitoring, testing and reporting. Each of our U.S.
gamma plants has a radioactive materials license froff m the NRC or the state in which it operates. Nordion also has NRC licenses
to distribute radioactive material within the United States, which permit Nordion to install and remove Co-60 sources and
provide other services to its customers, as well as a license to export radioactive material froff m the United States to Canada. The
NRC periodically updates and issues new security requirements forff our U.S. gamma facilities.

Our Nordion segment operates through our subsu idiary Nordion (Canada) Inc. in Canada and REVISS Services in the United
Kingdom. Through Nordion, we are subject to additional Canadian regulations, including Transport Canada regulations for the
Transportation of Dangerous Goods, CNSC regulations for the General Nuclear Safety and Controls, Health Canada
requirements forff drugsr and devices and CNSC and Canadian Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade
requirements forff import and export.

Outside North America, the European Union and other national authorities have developed regulations pertinent to the
operation of gamma irradiators that are similar to those of the NRC. While some specific requirements are different in the
various other nations as compared to the United States, the fundaff mental concepts are consistent among the countries, since all
are signatories to the International Atomic Energy Agency (“IAEA”) conventions and have adopted safety standards from the
IAEA and recommendations from the International Commission on Radiological Protection (“ICRP”).

E-beam and X-rXX ay Irradiati iott n Regulatll ortt y Or verview

In the United States, irradiators that use accelerators are regulated by the individual state in which a facility is located. While
there is some variabia lity in the content of regulations among states, all are patterned afteff r the general regulations of the NRC.
These regulations typically specify the requirements forff radiation shielding, system designs, safetff y featff urt es, alarms, employee
and area monitoring, testing and reporting. Some E-beam and X-ray facff ilities require environmental permits too.

Outside of the United States, accelerator regulations are similar among various nations. These regulations are based on the
IAEA standards and ICRP recommendations, much like those forff gamma irradiators.

Available Inforff mation

Our Annual Report, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are made availabla e freff e of
charge through the Investor Relations page of our internet website at https://investors.soterahealth.comp , as soon as reasonabla y
practicable afteff r such documents are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”). The SEC maintains an Internet site, www.sec.govg , that contains reports, proxy and inforff mation statements, and other
information regarding issuers that fileff electronically with the SEC.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

We describe below certain risks that could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition or results of
operations. These risk factors may change from time to time and may be amended, supplu emented or superseded by updates to
the risk factff ors contained in our future periodic reports on Form 10-Q and reports on other forff ms we file with the SEC. All
forward-looking statements about our future results of operations or other matters made by us in this Annual Report as well as
our consolidated financial statements and notes, and in our subsu equently filed reports to the SEC, as well as in our press
releases and other public communications, are qualified by the risks described below.
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Risk Factor Summaryy

Our business operations are subject to numerous risks, factors and uncertainties, including those outside of our control, that
could cause our actual results to be harmed, including risks regarding the folff lowing:

• a disruptrr ion in the availabia lity or supplu y of, or increases in the price of, EO, Co-60 or our other direct materials,
services and supplies, including as a result of geopolitical instability and/or sanctions against RusRR sia by the United
States, Canada, United Kingdom or European Union;

• fluff ctuat tions in foreign currency exchange rates;

• changes in environmental, health and safetff y regulations or preferff ences, and general economic, social and business
conditions;

• health and safetff y risks associated with the use, storage, transportation and disposal of potentially hazardous materials
such as EO and Co-60;

• the impact and outcome of current and future legal proceedings and liabia lity claims, including litigation related to the
use of EO and/or emissions and releases of EO from our facilities in Illinois, Georgia and New Mexico and the
possibility that other claims will be made in the future relating to these or other facff ilities;

• allegations of our failure to properly perform services and potential product liabia lity claims, recalls, penalties and
reputational harm;

• compliance with the extensive regulatory rrr equirements to which we are subject, the related costs, and any faiff lures to
receive or maintain, or delays in receiving, required clearances or appra ovals;

• adverse changes in industry tr rends;

• competition we facff e;

• market changes, including inflationary trends in input costs such as labor, raw materials and energy, that impact our
long-term supplu y contracts with variable price clauses and increase our cost of revenues;

• business continuity hazards, including supplu y chain disruptr ions and other risks associated with our operations;

• the risks of doing business internationally, including global and regional economic and political instability, existing
and futff urt e sanctions and compliance with numerous and sometimes inconsistent laws and regulations in multiple
jurisdictions;

• our ability to increase capacity at existing facff ilities, build new faciff lities in a timely and cost-effeff ctive manner and
renew leases forff our facilities;

• our ability to attract and retain qualifieff d employees;

• severe health events or environmental events;

• cyber-security breaches, unauthorized data disclosures, and our dependence on inforff mation technology systems;

• an inabia lity to pursue strategic transactions, finff d suitabla e acquisition targets, or integrate strategic acquisitions into our
business successfulff ly;

• our ability to maintain effective internal controls over finff ancial reporting;

• our reliance on intellectuat l property to maintain our competitive position and the risk of claims from third parties that
we have infringed or misappropriated or are infringing or misappropriating their intellectuat l property rights;

• our ability to comply with rapia dly evolving data privacy and security laws and regulations in various jurisdictions
(including California and the European Union) and any ineffeff ctive compliance efforts with such laws and regulations;

• our ability to maintain profitabia lity in the futff urt e;

• impairment charges on our goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives, as well as other long-lived assets
and intangible assets with definite lives;

• the effeff cts of unionization efforts and labora regulations in the United States, Canada and other countries in which we
operate;

• adverse changes to our tax positions in U.S. or non-U.S. jurisdictions or the interprrr etation and application of recent
U.S. tax legislation or other changes in U.S. or non-U.S. taxation of our operations;
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• our significant leverage and how this significant leverage could adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital,
limit our ability to react to challenges confroff nting our Company or broader changes in our industry or r the economy,
limit our flexibility in operating our business through restrictions contained in our debt agreements and prevent us
from meeting our obligations under our existing and futff urt e indebtedness;

• the subsu tantial control that certain investment funds and entities affiliated with Warburr g Pincus and GTCR, which we
refer to collectively as the “Sponsors,” continue to have over us, which could limit stockholders’ abia lity to influence
the outcome of key transactions, including a change of control; and,

• the fact that we are presently considered a “controlled company” within the meaning of the Nasdaq corporrr ate
governance standards and thereby qualify for exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements, which
means that, if we were to utilize these exemptions, our stockholders may not have the same protections affoff rded to
stockholders of companies that are subju ect to such requirements.

Risks Related to the Company

We depeee nd on a limitll edtt number of countertt parrr ties to ptt rovide the matertt ials and resources we need to operate our business.
Any dn isdd ruptu iott n in tii hett availaii bilitii y ott f,o or increases in tii hett price of,o EO, CO o-CC 60 or our other direii ct materiali s,ll services and
supplu iell s, includindd g as a result of geopolitll ictt al instabitt liii tyii or sanctions agaia nsii t Russia bi y tb hett United StaSS tes, Canada, the UniUU teii d
Kingii dom and thett Europeo an Union, may ha ave a materiali adverserr effeff ct on our opeo rating resultsll .

We purchase certain direct materials, equipment and services necessary for our specialized products and services from a limited
number of suppliers and subcontractors, and, in certain cases, we purchase large quantities of product froff m a sole supplu ier. If
our significant suppliers or service providers were unabla e to meet their obligations under present arrangements, direct materials
or equipment were to become unavailable within the geographic area froff m which they are now sourced, or supplu ies were
otherwise constrained or disruptu ed for any reason (including as a result of a natural disaster, the unavailability or short-supply
of raw materials or services, changes in regulatory rrr equirements, delays in securing required regulatory arr ppra ovals, geopolitical
instability, sanctions or other adverse occurrences), we may incur increased costs forff our direct materials or equipment and may
be unabla e to accommodate new business or meet our current customer commitments. For example, although there is more than
one supplu ier of EO in most of the countries in which we operate, in the United States there is a single supplier forff EO for our
sterilization business. Further, our reliance on a single or limited number of suppliers may limit our negotiating power,
particularly during times of rising direct material costs. Any interruptu ions that we experience in our supplu y of EO or Co-60 may
disruptr , interruptu or shut down portions of our operations, materially increase our costs or have other adverse effects on our
business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.

We source a substantial portion of our Co-60 supply froff m three nuclear reactor operators and fivff e reactor sites in Canada and
Russia under contracts that extend to between 2025 and 2064. See Item 1, “Business—Our Businesses—Sterilization Services
—Nordion—Nuclear Reactor Operators.” If there is a decrease in outputt from any of these reactors (including as a result of a
natural disaster or other adverse occurrence), the counterparr rties faiff l to perform under their agreements with us or decline to
enter into renewal contracts with us for our future supplu y needs and we are unabla e to obtain supply froff m other sources, or if
such sources begin to compete with us in one or more geographies, this could have a material adverse effect on our business. In
addition, a number of reactors that have the capacity to generate Co-60 are government owned. Priorities of governments can
change. Repurporr sings in the past of a government-owned reactors have decreased the availability of Co-60 and potential
repurposrr ings in the futff urt e could decrease the availabia lity of Co-60, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
prospects, financial condition or results of operations.

We estimate approximately 20% of our long-term supplu y of Co-60 will be generated by RusRR sian nuclear reactors. Further, over
the next fewff years, we expect that there will be periods when, owing to planned or unplanned outages and variabia lity in supplu y
from reactors located in other countries, the proportion of our supplu y froff m RusRR sian reactors may increase to as much as
approximately 50% in a given year. The United States, Canada, United Kingdom and European Union have imposed and are
expected to continue imposing sanctions against RusRR sian industries, Russian offiff cials and certain RusRR sian companies, banks,
logistics providers and individuals. RusRR sia has responded and is expected to continue to respond with countermeasures,
including prohibiting imports of certain goods from certain other countries and exports of certain goods from RusRR sia to certain
other countries.

Expanded sanctions could target additional government- and privately-owned operations in Russia, including nuclear reactor
operators, banks and logistics providers, and could prevent us from doing business with them. For example, certain banks
through which our supplu iers have been paid in the past have been sanctioned and there is no assurance the supplu iers will
continue to be able to find new, unsanctioned banking relationships in the futff urt e. Moreover, although Co-60 has not been
sanctioned directly, sanctions on imports of other products and materials from RusRR sia have disruptu ed the logistics required to
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import Co-60 from RusRR sia, requiring us, our logistics providers (including the single ocean carrier that is presently licensed to
carry radioactive goods from Russia to North America) and insurers to seek licenses that will come up fu orff renewal in 2024 and
2025. If present or futff urt e sanctions against RusRR sia directly or indirectly impede the shipment of Co-60 froff m RusRR sia to North
America, if we or our logistics providers are unabla e to secure or renew licenses under existing or futff urt e sanctions, if we are
unabla e to identify iff nternational logistics providers needed for the supplu y of Co-60 from RusRR sia or if RusRR sia responds with
further countersanctions, it may generally become more difficult to do business with RusRR sian entities, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.

Changes in eii nvironmentaltt , hll ealth and safetff y rtt egulatll iott ns or preferff ences may na egativtt ely ill mpii act our busineii ss.

Federal, state, local and international authorities regulate operations within our three business units, including the operation of
our gamma irradiation and EO processing plants, as well as the operations of our customers. If the regulators that govern our
operations or the operations of our customers were to institutt e severely restrictive policies or regulations that increase our costs
or change the preferff ences or requirements of our customers, demand for our products and services may be materially affected.
Additionally, certain regulators, including the FDA, have started initiatives to encourage development of sterilization
alternatives to EO processing. For example, the FDA appra oved vaporized hydrogen peroxide (VHP) as a Category-rr A
sterilization methodology in January 2024. We have taken part in some of these initiatives. We have also made proactive,
voluntary ir nvestments to enhance the emissions controls and employee protections within our EO facilities. Still, new
regulations or changes to existing or expected regulations may require additional investments in new emissions control or
employee protection technology or otherwise increase the cost of our gamma irradiation or EO processing. See related Risk
Factor “—We are subject to extensive regulatory rr equirements and routine regulatory arr udits in our operations. We must receive
permits, licenses and/or regulatory crr learance or approval forff our operations. Compliance with these regulations is costly, and
failure to comply with all laws and regulations or to receive or maintain permits, licenses, clearances or approvals may hurt our
revenues, profitaff bia lity, finff ancial condition or value. We facff e liabia lity and reputational risks even if we comply with all laws and
regulations.” Reconfigff uring a gamma irradiation or EO processing plant so that it is suitabla e forff a diffeff rent sterilization
technology, in response to changes in demand, regulations or other factff ors, would require significant capital investment and
require us to suspend operations at the affecff ted facff ility durd ing the conversion. Any of the foregoing could have a material
adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.

Safea ty riskii s akk ssociati edtt withii the use, se toragea and disdd poss al of potff entt tially hazardoudd s matertt ials, ss uch as EO and Co-60, maya
result in accidents ott r liall bilitieii s thatt t matertt ially all ffa ecff t our results ott f oo peo rations.

EO is flammabla e and potentially explosive. Despite our extensive safetff y measures, a fire or explosion could occur at a
sterilization faciff lity where we use EO, which could interruptu our normal operations and result in faciff lity closures, workplace
injun ries, property damage, or otherwise adversely affect our business.

Because Co-60 is radioactive, its containment and proper shielding is important in preventing contamination or improper
exposure. If the double-encapsa ulated Co-60 pencils were to become damaged or corroded, Co-60 sources could develop a
source leak, leading to radioactive contamination requiring comprehensive clean-up ou f the storage pool. Similarly, physical
damage to the protective stainless-steel covering during the process of adding or removing Co-60 rods from an irradiator could
also result in a source leak and contamination incident. Clean-up and disposal costs forff damaged Co-60 rods and radioactive
contamination could be significant. If any liabia lity claims are made against us in the futff urt e, we could be liabla e forff damages that
are alleged to have resulted froff m such exposure or contamination.

Potentially hazardous materials must be handled and disposed of properly. Accidents involving disposal or handling of these
subsu tances, including accidents resulting froff m employees failing to folff low safetff y protocols, could result in injury trr o people,
property or the environment, as well as possible disruptu ions, restrictions or delays in production, and have in the past and could
in the futff urt e result in claims relating to such events. For example, members of our workforce have been injun red in our facilities
and we have experienced property damage, production disruptu ions and temporary fr aciff lity closures. Any injun ries or damage to
people, equipment or property or other disruptr ions in the disposal, production, processing or distribution of products could
result in a significant decrease in operating revenue, a significant increase in costs to replace or repair and insure our assets and
subsu tantial reputational harm, which could materially adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition or results of
operations, and could have legal consequences that affeff ct our ability to continue to operate the affected facility. Our customers
served by an affeff cted facility could choose to switch to an alternative sterilization service provider.

Any incident at or emission from any of our EO, gamma or lab fa acff ilities that causes harm to workers or people who live, work,
attend school or otherwise spend significant amounts of time near our facilities, or the interruptu ion of normal operations at our
facilities, could result in claims against us and, if those claims are successfulff , substantial liabia lity to us. We are currently the
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subju ect of lawsuits alleging that purporrr ted EO emissions from certain of our current and forff mer faciff lities have resulted in
toxicological or health-related impacts on the environment and the communities that surround these faciff lities. We deny these
allegations. We have also froff m time to time been involved with workers’ compensation claims relating to potentially hazardous
materials. We may be subject to similar claims in the futff urt e, and one or more adverse judgments could result in significant
liability for us and have a material adverse effecff t on our business, financial condition and results of operations. See related Risk
Factors “—We are currently defending certain litigation, and we are likely to be subject to additional litigation in the future”
and “—Potential health risks associated with the use of EO may subject us to future liabia lity claims and associated adverse
effeff cts.”

Nordion contracts forff the activation of Co-59 “targets” (cobalt pellets and slugs) into Co-60 in certain nuclear reactors in
Canada and RusRR sia. Our Co-59 targets (and in Canada, our adjud ster rods provided to us by a supplu ier) function as part of the
reactors’ reactivity control systems. While national laws or international conventions generally channel liabia lity for nuclear
incidents exclusively to reactor operators, equipment suppliers nevertheless could be subject to lawsuits for damage to the
nuclear installation or damages from a nuclear incident that were allegedly intentionally caused. While we make effoff rts to
protect our interests through contractuat l provisions, quality assurance programs and the naturt e of our commercial relationships,
there is no assurance that any of these measures or liabia lity channeling laws or conventions will always prove effeff ctive in
shielding us froff m liabia lity, and any such liabia lity or consequences could have a material adverse impact on our business, results
of operation and financial condition.

We currently carry pollution liabia lity insurance forff all our facilities and related operations and liabia lity insurance, including
from third party bodily injun ry or property damage allegedly arising froff m the storage, use, transportation or accident involving
Co-60 sources throughout our operations. But this insurance may not cover all risks associated with the potential hazards of our
business and is subju ect to limitations, including deductibles and maximum liabia lities covered. We may incur losses beyond the
limits, or outside the coverage, of our insurance policies. Additionally, our insurance forff future alleged environmental liabia lities
excludes coverage for EO claims. Our ability to increase pollution liabia lity insurance limits or replace any policies uponu their
expiration without exclusions for claims related to alleged EO exposure has been adversely impacted by claims against us,
including pending claims alleging that purporrr ted EO emissions from certain of our facilities have resulted in toxicological or
health-related impacts on the environment and the communities that surround these faciff lities. To the extent any pollution
liability is not covered by our insurance or abla e to be recovered froff m other parties, our business, financial condition or results of
operations could be materially adversely affected.

Potentiatt l health riskii s akk ssociati edtt withii the use of EO may sa ubjeb ct us to future liabiliii tyii claill msii and associati edtt adverserr effeff cts.tt

Potential health risks associated with exposure to EO subject us to the risk of liability claims being made against us by workers,
contractors, employees of our customers and individuals who have resided, worked, attended school or otherwise spent time
within miles of our EO sterilization faciff lities. Assessments of the potential health risks of exposure to EO have evolved over
time. For example, although EO is present in the environment froff m a variety of sources and naturt ally produced by the human
body, the US EPA has identifieff d a potential for increased risk of certain cancers froff m exposure to EO emitted froff m sterilization
facilities. In 2016, the US EPA published its Integrated Risk Information System toxicity assessment of EO (the 2016 “IRIS
Assessment”), and, since 2018, the US EPA has published National Air Toxics Assessments (“NATA”), which have been
succeeded by Air Toxics Screening Assessments. These assessments have used the 2016 IRIS Assessment and other data to
identify Eff O as a potential cancer concern in several areas across the country, including areas surrounding our former facility in
Willowbrook, Illinois and our facilities in Atlanta, Georgia and Santa Teresa, New Mexico. Although we and other
organizations disagree with the US EPA’s assessments of the carcinogenic potency of EO, Sterigenics’ faciff lities and other EO
facilities could continue to be the subject of unfavff orable air quality assessments, regulations and other initiatives as risk
assessments of EO continue to evolve.

For example, in November 2023, the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (rr ATSDR), a branch of the U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services, issued a Preliminary Health Consultation expressing “concern forff an increased
lifetff ime risk of cancer associated with long-term exposure forff people who breathed the air within one mile of [Sterigenics’ EO
facility in Willowbrook, Illinois] for years prior [to the closing of the faciff lity in] February 2rr 019.” ATSDR scientists
subsu equently discussed the Preliminary Hr ealth Consultation at a virtuat l public meeting in late November 2023. Although
Sterigenics submitted comments highlighting the flaws in ATSDR’s continued reliance on the 2016 IRIS Assessment and other
aspects of ATSDR’s methodology and clarifying that the Preliminary Hrr ealth Consultation reached findings on hypothetical
cancer risks froff m low level EO emissions that are contrary to the availabla e scientific evidence, we can give no assurance as to
the impact of such EO risk or air quality assessments on our business, prospects, financial condition, litigation and regulatoryrr
risks or results of operations. See related Risk Factor “—We are subject to extensive regulatory rrr equirements and routine
regulatory ar udits in our operations. We must receive permits, licenses and/or regulatory cr learance or approval forff our
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operations. Compliance with these regulations is costly, and failure to comply with all laws and regulations or to receive or
maintain permits, licenses, clearances or approvals may hurt our revenues, profitaff bia lity, finff ancial condition or value. We faceff
liabia lity and reputational risks even if we comply with all laws and regulations.”

We are currently subju ect to lawsuits in Illinois, Georgia and New Mexico alleging personal injury,rr property devaluation and
other claims related to our use of EO at, or emissions and releases of EO froff m our facilities. Additional personal injury arr nd
property devaluation claims have been threatened. We deny these allegations. See related Risk Factor “—We are currently
defending certain litigation, and we are likely to be subject to additional litigation in the future,” Item 3, “Legal Proceedings”
and Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial statements. We may be subject to other claims by
private plaintiffsff and/or state or local governments and/or agencies in the futff urt e relating to our current or former facilities. In
addition, we have encountered and may continue to encounter resistance, protests or other actions in communities where our
existing facilities are located or where we seek to establa ish or expand facilities based on perceptions within these communities
of the risks associated with exposure to EO. Publu icity regarding community resistance to EO facilities may also have other
adverse impacts, including damage to our reputation and public pressure against our facilities that may affect our ability to
conduct our business.

If we are the subju ect of other lawsuits related to use, emissions and releases of EO, that litigation, regardless of the merits of the
claims at issue or the ultimate outcome of the case, could result in a subsu tantial cost to us and could have a material adverse
effeff ct on our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.

We are currentlytt defee ndindd g certain litiii gati iott n, and we are likeii ly to be subject to att dditioii nal litll igtt atiott n in tii hett future.ee

Our business exposes us to significant potential risk from lawsuits, investigations and other legal proceedings. We are currently
pursuing and defending various proceedings and will likely be subject to additional proceedings in the futff urt e, including
potential litigation regarding the products and services we provide or which we or our predecessors have provided. As detailed
in Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial statements under the heading “Ethylene Oxide
Tort Litigation,” we are currently subju ect to lawsuits in Illinois, Georgia and New Mexico brought by private plaintiffs and, in
the case of New Mexico, a government entity, alleging personal injury,r property devaluation and other claims related to our use,
emissions and releases of EO.

In such litigation, plaintiffsff typically seek various remedies, including injun nctive relief and compensatory and punitive
damages. Settlement demands may seek significant payments and other remedies, or otherwise be on terms that we do not
consider reasonabla e under the circumstances. Settlement negotiations may result in agreements to settle claims on various terms
and conditions adverse to the Company, including significant payments to settle claims that we believe are without merit. In
some instances, even if we comply with applicable laws and regulations, including those relating to emission standards, an
adverse judgment or outcome may occur based on other applicable laws or principles of common law, including negligence and
strict liabia lity, and result in significant liabia lity and reputational damage forff us. Defenff se of litigation may result in diversion of
management attention froff m other priorities. We may be subju ect to futff urt e claims in addition to those described above by or on
behalf of similar groups of plaintiffsff , including potentially our employees or former employees, relating to any of our current or
former facilities or activities. In addition, awards against and settlements by us or our competitors or publicity associated with
EO-related litigation could incentivize parties to bring additional claims against us.

The finff ancial impact of litigation, particularly class action and mass action lawsuits, is diffiff cult to assess or quantify.ff The
outcomes of jury trr rials are unpredictabla e and a judgment entered or settlement reached in one case is not representative of the
outcome of other seemingly comparabla e cases. If we are the subject of future lawsuits, regardless of the merits of the claims at
issue or the ultimate outcome of a case, any litigation could be costly to defend, result in an increase of our insurance premiums,
and exhaust any availabla e insurance coverage. Claims against us that result in entry of a judgment or that we settle that are not
covered or not sufficiently covered by insurance policies, or which falff l within retained liabia lity under our policies, could have a
material adverse impact on our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations. Our current environmental
liabia lity insurance does not cover claims related to EO. Even where we have coverage under prior or existing policies forff claims
brought against us, our insurance may not be adequate to cover all potential liabia lities and losses arising from those claims, and
we have significant self-insured retention amounts, which we would have to pay in full before obtaining any insurance
proceeds. Additionally, even where a claim should be covered by insurance, an insurer might refuse coverage. To the extent our
insurance coverage is inadequate and we are not successfulff in identifying additional coverage for such claims, we would have
to pay any costs or losses in excess of policy limits, including costs to defenff d such claims, and the amount of any settlement or
judgment. For example, while our historical environmental liabia lity insurance covered litigation related to our use, emissions
and releases of EO, like the litigation pending in Illinois, Georgia and New Mexico referff enced above, the policy under which
we have received coverage had limits of $10.0 million per occurrence and $20.0 million in the aggregate. Those per occurrence

22



and aggregate limits were fully utilized in the defenff se of the Illinois, Georgia and New Mexico litigation. Any settlement or
judgment against us arising out of pending or future claims related to EO would likely exceed any insurance recoveries
availabla e to us and could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.
See Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial statements forff more detail on our pending
litigation.

We have received an adverserr judgment and may ia n tii hett future receive othett r adverserr judgments in litigatiott n relatll intt g to ott ur
use, emissions and releases of EO. DOO espis teii our beliell f te hatt t thett se claill msii are not supporu ted by tb hett science and othett rwise
withii out merit, we have entered and may ia n tii hett future enter intii o att gra eements ttt o stt ettlett claill msii relatingii to our use, ee missions
and releall ses of Eo O. The resolutiott n of to hett se mattertt s brr y lb itll igtt atiott n or settltt emll ent may have a negativtt e impii act on our finaii ncial
conditiodd n and liquidityii in the near and long terms.

As described elsewhere in Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial statements under the
heading “Ethylene Oxide Tort Litigation,” we are subject to tort lawsuits alleging injun ries caused by our use of EO and low-
level environmental exposure to EO emissions and releases from certain of our sterilization faciff lities. Trials were conducted in
the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois in late 2022 in two individual cases related to the Willowbrook, Illinois facff ility. The
first trial resulted in a verdict forff the plaintiff and a judgment of $358.7 million (including $320 million in punitive damages)
against Sterigenics U.S., LLC and Sotera Health LLC (the “Defenff dant Subsu idiaries”). Two months later, the second trial
resulted in a verdict forff the Defenff dant Subsu idiaries.

In January 2023, the Defenff dant Subsu idiaries entered into binding term sheets that provided an agreed path to pay $408.0 million
to settle over 880 claims related to our former facility in Willowbrook, Illinois, including the claim of the plaintiff iff n the first
trial. The settlement was finff alized in June 2023. Two plaintiffsff opted out of the settlement and 23 more cases have since been
brought relating to the Willowbrook facility.

In October 2023, the Defenff dant Subsu idiaries entered into binding term sheets to pay $35 million to resolve 79 claims related to
the Atlanta, Georgia facility, including a case that was scheduled to begin trial in the State Court of Gwinnett County in late
October 2023. The settlement was finalized with 100 percent participation by the 79 eligible claimants in January 2024.
Approximately 245 consolidated personal injury crr laims, 2 unconsolidated personal injury lrr awsuits and 365 consolidated
property devaluation claims related to the Atlanta faciff lity remain pending in the State Court of Cobb County, Georgia.

We also face two lawsuits in New Mexico relating to emissions and releases of EO from our facility in Santa Teresa, New
Mexico. New lawsuits relating to our use, emissions and releases of EO could be fileff d in Illinois, Georgia, New Mexico or
other locations where we have faciff lities, and publicity abouta judgments or settlement agreements may increase interest in EO
litigation and result in new claims being filed.

We continue to believe that the EO-related claims are without merit and intend to vigorously defend the remaining EO cases
and any future EO cases. We do not believe the damages award in the firff st trial in Illinois is predictive of potential future
damage awards in the other EO tort cases, or that the settlement amounts refleff cted in the Willowbrook or Atlanta settlements
described abova e are predictive of potential future settlements, but there can be no assurance that any cases proceeding to trial
will not result in significant judgments adverse to the Defendant Subsu idiaries and futff urt e settlements of EO cases are reasonabla y
possible. In the event the Defenff dant Subsu idiaries receive one or more additional adverse judgments in any EO tort case(s), the
Defendant Subsu idiaries may be required to post security of a significant amount to stay those judgments through the appea als
process, which would create uncertainty about whether and how the Defenff dant Subsu idiaries could post such collateral without
supporu t froff m Sotera Health Company or other corporate affiliates and whether Sotera Health Company could and would
provide parent credit supporu t to stay enforff cement of any future judgments.

Actions required to secure appellate bonds may create a subsu tantial strain on the Defendant Subsu idiaries’ and our liquidity and
financial condition. There is no assurance that the Defendant Subsu idiaries or we will meet the requirements to provide an
appellate bond(s) for appea als of any future adverse judgments. If the Defendant Subsu idiaries are unabla e to meet those
requirements and are not able to secure an appellate bond when and in the form and amount required by the courts for the
appeal to proceed, the judgment(s) will become enforceabla e and may exceed the Defenff dant Subsu idiaries’ abia lity to pay in cash.
If the Defenff dant Subsu idiaries are unabla e to pay in cash, the Defenff dant Subsu idiaries or we may be required to seek financing,
sell assets or take other measures to address the judgments. There can be no assurance that the Defendant Subsu idiaries or we
will be able to secure such financing, and any sales of assets or other such actions taken to attempt to satisfy judgments may
significantly limit our liquidity, harm our financial condition and increase our leverage.
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Enforceable judgments in excess of $100.0 million that are not stayed or remain undischarged for a period of sixty consecutive
days would constitute an event of defauff lt under our senior secured credit faciff lities. Thus, if the Defendant Subsu idiaries are
unabla e to meet collateral requirements to post an appea llate bond to stay the enforff ceability of a judgment, absent judicial relief,
we may be required to negotiate with our current lenders to avert a default under our senior secured credit faciff lities and the
success of such negotiations cannot be assured.

Allell gate iott ns of our faiff luii re to properly perforff m orr ur services may ea xposee e us to ptt otentt tiali product liabilityii claill msii , rs ecalls,s
penalties and repuee tational harm orr r could othett rwise cause a matertt ial adverserr effeff ct on our business.

We face the risk of finff ancial exposure to product and other liabia lity claims alleging that our failure to adequately perform our
services resulted in adverse effectff s, including product recalls or seizures, adverse publicity and safety alerts. In our Sterigenics
business, for example, while our customers are generally responsible for determining the cycle parameters (the levels of
temperaturt e, humidity and EO concentration to which products are exposed during the sterilization process and the durd ation of
such exposure) or dosage specifications (the amount of gamma or E-beam irradiation to which products are exposed) forff their
products, we are required to certify tff hat such cycle or dosage parameters were achieved. If we fail to process a customer’s
product in accordance with the cycle parameters, dosage specifications or testing requirements prescribed by the customer, our
standard contract requires us to inforff m our customer of the nonconforff mance, to reprocess or retest the product if that is a
feasible alternative and to reimburse the customer (subju ect to a maximum) for the cost of any products that are damaged as a
result of the nonconforff mance. We could be held liabla e forff personal injury,r contractuat l or other damages that are alleged to
result from improper or incorrect processing, cycle parameters or dosage specifications, testing or product damage. Even where
processing occurred within cycle parameters, we have faced and may faceff future claims resulting froff m processing. In our
Nelson Labsa business, if we fail to perform our services in accordance with regulatory rr equirements forff medical products,
regulatory ar uthorities may take action against us or our customers. Regulatory ar uthorities may disqualify certain analyses froff m
consideration in connection with marketing authorizations, which could result in our customers not being abla e to rely on our
services in connection with their submissions, may subju ect our customers to additional studies or testing and delays in the
development or authorization process, and may lead our customers to take actions such as terminating their contracts with us.
We could also faceff claims that we performed erroneous or out-of-specification testing or data integrity complaints, any of
which could require retesting and result in claims of economic or other loss or personal injury.r

In our Nelson Labsa business, through the acquisition of BioScience in March 2021, we periodically engage in clinical trials or
studit es and are subju ect to additional regulatory rrr equirements, including those relating to human subju ect protection, good clinical
practices and data privacy. Any actuat l or perceived failure to meet such requirements may result in regulatory ar uthorities taking
action against us or our customers, and we may face claims, or be held liabla e or otherwise subju ect to unfavff orable scrutiny, for
harm allegedly caused to human subju ects.

We derive limited revenue from government customers. Our government contracts may contain additional requirements that
may increase our costs of doing business, subju ect us to additional government scrutiny and expose us to liabia lity for faiff lure to
comply with additional government requirements. In our Nordion business, our processing and sale of medical-grade Co-60
used for radiation therapya involves an inherent risk of exposure to product liabia lity claims, product recalls and product seizures.
In addition, our installation of irradiators forff our customers could expose us to design defectff product liabia lity claims, whether or
not such claims are valid. A product liabia lity judgment against us could also result in substantial and unexpected costs, affeff ct
customer confidff ence in our products, damage our reputation and divert management’s attention froff m other responsibilities.

Although we maintain product and profesff sional liabia lity insurance coverage in amounts we believe are customary for a
company of our size, there can be no assurance that this level of coverage is adequate or that we will be able to continue to
maintain our existing insurance or obtain comparabla e insurance at a reasonabla e cost, if at all. In addition, insurance coverage is
subju ect to exclusions, which change from time to time based on industry drr evelopments. Our current product and profesff sional
liabia lity insurance does not cover matters related to EO emissions, forff example. A product recall or seizure or a partially or
completely uninsured judgment against us could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition
or results of operations.

We are subjeb ct to extensive regulatll ortt y rr equireii ments att nd routintt e regulatll ortt y ar uditdd s itt n oii ur operations. We mWW ust receive
permits, ls icll enses and/odd r regulatll ortt y cr learance or approval for our operations. Compliance with these regulatll iott ns is costlytt ,yy
and faiff luii re to comply withii all lll awll s and regue lations or to receive or maintii aitt n pii ermirr tsii , ls icll enses, cleall rances or approvals mll ay
hurt our revenues, profitff abitt lityii , fyy inff anciali conditidd on or value. We face liabii lityii and reputattt iott nal risks even if we comply withii
all lll awll s and regue lations.
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Our industry ir s characterized by evolving regulations, and our operations are subject to extensive regulation in the United States
and other countries where we do business. We are regulated by national and local agencies with jurisdiction over a number of
areas directly or indirectly related to our businesses, including environmental, nuclear safety, homeland or national security,
worker safety and health, food,ff drugrr and device manufactff urt ing, fire protection, research, and marketing, transportation, drugr
enforcement (governing the handling of controlled subsu tances), protection against infectious diseases and pathogens and
agriculture, fisff h and wildlife. These laws and regulations regulate our use of potentially hazardous materials, such as EO, Co-60
and E-beam, and can require us to carefulff ly manage, control emissions of and/or limit human exposure to, these materials. For
example, OSHA regulations and similar laws in other jurisdictions limit worker exposure to EO. In addition, FDA and
comparable foreign regulations dictate the acceptable amount of EO residue on different types of sterilized products. In most
jurisdictions, we are required to maintain and operate pollution control equipment to minimize emissions and releases of EO.
Regulations issued by OSHA, the NRC and other agencies also require that equipment used at our facilities be designed and
operated in a manner that is safe.ff

In the United States, the use of EO for medical device sterilization is regulated by the US EPA under the CAA and FIFRA.RR Our
supplu ier maintains a FIFRA registration forff the EO they sell in the United States that is used to sterilize or reducd e the viable
microorganisms on a listed group of products, including medical devices, pharmaceutical products, cosmetics and spice
products. The US EPA is in the process of reviewing EO’s FIFRA rRR e-registration eligibility in accordance with the provisions
of FIFRA.RR In November 2020, the US EPA released a draft risk assessment forff public comment regarding the re-registration
review, stating that additional mitigation measures are necessary to protect the health of workers at faciff lities that use EO and
surrounding communities. In April 2023, the US EPA proposed stricter EO regulations based on the 2016 IRIS Assessment
through a proposed interim decision (“PID”) under FIFRA that sets forth measures designed to mitigate EO exposure for
workers exposed to EO in occupational settings. The PID includes a number of proposed requirements that are inconsistent with
existing industry prr ractices and proposed implementation timelines that would be diffiff cult for existing faciff lities to meet. The
next step in the FIFRA re-registration process will be for the US EPA to issue an interim decision (“ID”), which is expected by
the third quarter of 2024. We expect the ID to require significant enhancements to the processes and equipment used forff the
listed applications and the conditions ultimately required forff continued use of EO may impose on us significant additional costs.
Any futff urt e faiff lure of the US EPA to allow the FIFRA rRR e-registration of EO would have a material adverse effect on our
business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.

In April 2023, the US EPA also proposed updated NESHAP regulations based on the 2016 IRIS Assessment that would govern
EO sterilization facff ilities like ours and require these faciff lities to implement additional air pollution technologies, practices and
procedurd es designed to furff ther reduce EO emissions from EO faciff lities. Like those refleff cted in the PID, the proposed updates to
NESHAP contain a number of requirements that are inconsistent with existing industry prr ractices and an implementation
timeline that may be difficult for existing facff ilities to meet. The public comment period for the NESHAP and PID proposals
closed in June 2023, and the US EPA is required by a consent order to adopt final NESHAP requirements by March 2024.

Although we have been implementing enhancements at our EO sterilization faciff lities that we expect will facilitate our ability to
meet many of the US EPA’s proposed NESHAP and PID requirements, certain aspects are untested or not widely adopted at
existing EO sterilization facff ilities. Compliance with the proposals in the form proposed by the US EPA in April 2023 would
require additional facff ility modifications as well as additional capital and operational costs. Some requirements (if adopted as
proposed) could be unachievabla e at our EO facilities and existing EO facff ilities throughout the industry,r particularly within the
18-month implementation period contemplated by the US EPA’s April 2023 proposals forff existing faciff lities to come into
compliance with many of the proposed requirements.

The US EPA has engaged in additional regulatory arr ctivities relating to EO emissions that could trigger additional community
concerns and litigation regarding EO that could cause us to incur material defenff se costs, could result in diversion of
management resources, and potentially could cause us to incur material liabia lity or settlement costs or have other adverse effects
on our business, financial condition, or operations. For example, in 2021 the US EPA Offiff ce of the Inspector General published
multiple reports critical of the US EPA’s communications about risks related to EO facilities, including Sterigenics forff mer and
current facilities in Willowbrook and elsewhere, and suggesting that the US EPA should conduct a new residuad l risk and
technology review for EO emitting industrial source categories. In addition, in December 2021, the US EPA expanded the
scope of reporting requirements to require most EO sterilization facff ilities in the U.S., including Sterigenics facff ilities, to report
their EO emissions to a US EPA databaa se starting in 2022. Since 2022, the US EPA has been conducting outreach sessions in
communities located near commercial EO sterilization faciff lities. Such community outreach sessions have in the past, and may
in the futff urt e, create community concerns and increase the risk of litigation near commercial EO sterilization faciff lities, including
ours, notwithstanding facility compliance with applicable rules and control of emissions beyond the requirements of appla icable
rules.
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State and local authorities, including California and the South Coast Air Quality Management District (“SCAQMD”) in
Southern California, are also conducting community outreach sessions relating to EO commercial sterilization faciff lities.
SCAQMD adopted new regulations in December 2023 and is expected in 2024 to publish new health risk assessments and
conduct community meetings about risks related to EO emissions from Sterigenics facilities in Los Angeles and Ontario,
Califorff nia. The European Union has also been reviewing current regulations for the use of EO in EO sterilization facff ilities and
in 2023, decided that EO as a sterilizing agent for medical devices will fall under the scope of the European Union Medical
Devices Regulation, which may impose new and diffeff rent regulatory rrr equirements forff the use of EO in the European Union.
We expect to incur capital costs for enhancements to our equipment and to implement process automation and emission control
enhancements to comply with these and other evolving requirements. If future regulations differ froff m our current expectations,
they may require additional modificff ations and capital costs beyond what we have budgeted forff , which could be material. New
standards forff commercial EO sterilization, such as new US EPA standards based on the 2016 IRIS Assessment, could also
make it more difficult and expensive to raise capital for futff urt e investments in EO sterilization faciff lities.

In the United States, our gamma irradiation facilities are heavily regulated, including by the NRC and state regulations. These
laws and regulations specify tff he requirements forff , among other things, maximum radiation doses, system designs, safetff y
featurt es and alarms and employee monitoring, testing and reporting. While some specific requirements are different in the
various jurisdictions other than the United States, the fundamental concepts are consistent inasmuch as all are signatories to the
IAEA conventions and have adopted safety standards froff m the IAEA and recommendations from the ICRP. The design,
construcrr tion and operation of sterilization and lab ta esting facilities are highly regulated and require government licenses,
including environmental appra ovals and permits, and may be subju ect to the imposition of related conditions that vary by
jurisdiction. In some cases, these approvals and permits entail periodic review. We cannot predict whether all licenses required
forff a new facility will be granted or whether the conditions associated with such licenses will be achievabla e. Changes in these
laws and regulations have the potential to increase our costs.

Additionally, our operations in the United States and the majority of our facilities outside the United States (to the extent we are
processing a product in that facff ility that will end up in the U.S. market) are regulated by the FDA. We are also regulated by
other health regulatory arr uthorities in other countries. Specifically, these operations include some of our sterilization and product
testing activities that may constitute “manufacff turing” activities and are subju ect to FDA requirements. From time to time, the
FDA issues Form 483 findings related to our operations and may issue warning letters or take other administrative or
enforcement actions for noncompliance with FDA laws and regulations. The issues raised by such warning letters and related
administrative actions require significant resources and time to correct. Failure to comply with regulatory rrr equirements could
have a material adverse effeff ct on our business.

To the extent Nordion in the futff urt e ceases to operate its facility in Kanata, Canada, Nordion will be responsible for the
radiological decommissioning of such facility, including in respect of the portion leased by BWX Technologies, Inc. in
connection with its 2018 acquisition of the Medical Isotopes business to the extent any contamination precedes such
transaction. In addition, if Sterigenics in the future ceases to operate any of its irradiation faciff lities, it will be responsible for
decommissioning costs in respect of such facilities. We currently provide financial assurance forff approximately $48.2 million
of such decommissioning liabia lities in the aggregate in the form of letters of credit, surety bonds or other surety. Such potential
decommissioning liabia lities may be greater than currently estimated if additional irradiation faciff lities are licensed, unexpected
radioactive contamination of those facff ilities occur, regulatory rrr equirements change, waste volume increases, or
decommissioning cost factors such as waste disposal costs increase.

See Item 1, “Business—Governmental Regulation and Environmental Matters” forff more information on the regulatoryr
requirements of our businesses. Compliance with these regulations, as well as our own voluntary prr rograms that relate to
maintaining the safety of our employees and faciff lities as well as the environment, and the safety and competitiveness of our
equipment, systems and facilities, may be diffiff cult, burdensome or expensive. Any changes in these regulations, the
interpretation of such regulations or our customers’ perception of such changes will require us to make adaptations that may
subju ect us to additional costs, and ultimate costs and the timing of such costs may be difficult to accurately predict and could be
material. Regulatory arr gencies may refuse to grant appra oval or clearance or may require the provision of additional data, and
regulatory pr rocesses may be time consuming and costly, and their outcome may be uncertain in certain of the countries in
which we operate. Failure to secure renewal of permits or tightening of restrictions within our existing permits could have a
material adverse effect on our business or cause us to incur material expenses. Regulatory arr gencies may also change policies,
adopt additional regulations or revise existing regulations, each of which could impact our ability to provide our services or
increase our costs. Additionally, local regulatory ar uthorities may change the way in which they interprr et and appla y local
regulations in response to negative public pressure about our facilities. For example, offiff cials stopped operations at one of our
facilities purporr tedly to review our fire and building code statust and certificff ate of occupancy and we were required to initiate
and prevail in litigation to establish that we were entitled to continue to operate our facility.
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Our faiff lure to comply with the regulatory rr equirements of these agencies and officials may subju ect us to administratively or
judicially imposed sanctions. These sanctions include, among others, warning letters, notices of violation, fines, civil penalties,
criminal penalties, injun nctions, debarment, product seizure or detention and total or partial suspension of operations, sale and/or
promotion. While we strive to comply with these regulatory rr equirements, we have not always been and may not always be in
compliance and, as a result, can be subject to significant civil and criminal fines and penalties, including the shutdown of our
operations or the suspension of our licenses, permits or registrations. See Item 3, Legal Proceedings and Note 20,
“Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial statements and related Risk Factor “—Potential health risks
associated with the use of EO may subject us to future liability claims and associated adverse effects.” The failure to receive or
maintain, or delays in the receipt of, relevant U.S. or international regulatory qrr ualificff ations could have a material adverse effect
on our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.

Safea ty riskii s akk ssociati edtt withii the tratt nspors tation of po otentt tiali lyll hazardoudd s matertt ials, ss uch as EO and Co-60, may ra esult ill nii
accidents ott r liall bilitieii s thatt t matertt ially all ffa ecff t our results ott f oo peo rations.

Our products, supplies and by-products are transported through a combination of ground, sea and air transport. Co-60 and EO
are radioactive and potentially combustible, respectively, and must be handled carefulff ly and in accordance with applicable laws
and regulations. An incident in the transportation of our raw materials, products and by-products or our failure to comply with
laws and regulations applicable to the transfer of such products could lead to injun ries or significant property damage, regulatoryr
repercussions or make it difficult to fulfillff our obligations to our customers, any of which could have a material adverse effect
on our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.

Our EO and Co-60 raw materials are potentially hazardous and we are thereforff e subject to stringent requirements to secure
these materials from theft or other unauthorized uses. If our failure to adequately secure these materials leads to their being
stolen or materially damaged, our licenses to operate could be suspended, resulting in a material adverse effect to our business,
prospects, financial condition or results of operations. Any such incident could also have legal consequences, such as finff es and
penalties for violations of regulatory rrr equirements and/or lawsuits for personal injuries, property damage or diminution or other
claims that could result in substantial liabia lity to us. Additionally, loss of control of Co-60 sources by a customer could result in
contamination and significant public health consequences.

Industrytt trends could ill mpii act thett demand for our products att nd services and could have a matertt ial adverserr effeff ct on our
busineii ss.

Industry trr rends that affeff ct medical device, pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies could affect our business. The medical
device industry irr s characterized by frequent product development and technological advances, which may reducd e demand forff
our sterilizing and testing services if our existing services no longer meet our customers’ requirements. Any significant decrease
in life science research and development expenditures by medical device, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies,
including as a result of a general economic slowdown, could in turt n impact the volumes of medical products that require
sterilization or lab testing services. Futurt e demand forff Co-60 or our sterilization services could also be adversely impacted by
changes to preferred sterilization modalities. For example, while X-ray has yet to be widely adopted as a method of
sterilization, x-ray could be adopted as an alternative to Co-60 gamma irradiation in the future because of potential concerns
about the cost or availability of Co-60 or the perceived benefitff s of X-Ray. In addition, government agencies may encourage the
development of X-ray to mitigate potential risks to the supply of Co-60 or to try trr o reducd e access to radioactive material in
particular areas, which could have an adverse impact on our business.

Our abia lity to adapt our business to meet evolving customer needs depends upon the development and successfulff
commercialization of new services, new or improved technologies and additional appla ications of our technology for our
customers’ new products. We can give no assurance that any such new services will be successfulff or that they will be accepted
in the marketplace. Any failure to develop or commercialize new services and technologies and any decrease in demand forff our
products or services could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.

If changes in healthcare regulations or other developments in the healthcare industry,r including concerns around single-use
medical devices or the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, were to lead to a material reducd tion in medical procedurd es or use of
medical devices, demand forff our services could be adversely affected. For example, during the pandemic, there was an increase
in deferred elective procedures, which negatively impacts demand for some of our products and services as a result of a
decrease in the need for sterilized single-use medical devices used in these procedurd es. For more information, see Risk Factor
“— Severe health events or environmental events, including impacts from climate change, and natural disasters, could have
adverse effects on our business, financial condition and results of operations, which could be material.” Demand forff our
products and services may also be affected by changes froff m time to time in the laws and regulations that govern our operations
and industry,rr including the Patient Protection and Affoff rdable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education
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Reconciliation Act, which in turn may impact industry tr rends. New regulatory rr equirements could lead to changes in the
medical device industry arr nd the behavior of our customers that are difficult to predict but could have a material adverse effect
on our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations. Further, if any significant disposal restrictions or
requirements are imposed that materially increase the cost or administrative burden of the disposal process forff single-use
medical devices, hospitals and other end-users of such devices might decrease their use of such devices in favor of reusable
medical products, which would decrease the demand for our services, which could in turt n have a material adverse effect on our
business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.

Our business is hii ighlgg y cll ompem titiii ve, and if wi e faiff l tii o ctt ompem te successfulff lyll , oyy ur busineii ss, prospes cts,tt finaii ncial conditioii n or
results of operations may be adverserr ly affeff ctedtt .dd

We face competition from other providers of outsourced sterilization and lab sa ervices. In addition, some manufacff turers have
developed or are developing in-house sterilization and lab ta esting and related capabilities, and furff ther consolidation within our
industry ar nd within our customers’ industries could impact our ability to compete. Further, our competitors and potential
competitors are attempting to develop alternate technologies, in particular improved x-ray sterilization technologies, which
would not rely on the availabia lity of Co-60. If our competitors or manufactff urt ers significantly expand their sterilization or lab
testing capacities, including as a result of these alternative technologies, this could lead to price fluff ctuat tions and competitive
pricing pressure, diminish our profitff ability or result in changes in our customer relationships across our business segments. We
generally compete on the basis of quality, reputation, the cost of sterilization services, the cost of transportation to and from the
sterilization faciff lity and processing turnaround time. If our services, supply, supporu t, distribution or cost strucr ture do not enable
us to compete successfulff ly, including against alternative technologies, or we are unabla e to successfulff ly develop and adopt
alternative technologies ourselves, our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations could be materially
adversely affected. The expansion of alternative sterilization technologies may require us to build new faciff lities, which can be
time-consuming and costly.

If Co-60 source supplu iers in other countries, including China, India, Argentina or RusRR sia, significantly increase their
involvement in the global Co-60 sources market, this could have a material adverse effect over the long-term on our business,
prospects, financial condition or results of operations. Several customers of our Nordion business are themselves providers of
sterilization services and thereforff e are competitors of our Sterigenics business. If these customers were to shift tff o a different
supplu ier of Co-60 because they prefer to use a supplier not affiff liated with us or for any other reason, this could materially
adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations. Further, if a Nordion customer were to lose
market share to a competitor using an alternative sterilization provider, we would similarly lose sales volumes, which may have
a material adverse effecff t on our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.

Additionally, Nelson Labs facff es a wide variety of competitors, including small, specialized niche players, large, broad
multinational corporr rations and internal laboratories that can perform the services that we provide. Shifts in the market that
diminish our customers’ preferff ence for outsourcing their testing and large, well-funded competitors entering more directly into
the specialized lab sa ervices that we provide may adversely affect our business.

The price of our inpii ut costs,tt includindd g laborll , rrr aw materiali s all nd energyr , ayy re subject to infln atll iott n and othett r markerr t risks and
our abilityii to pass thrtt oughu increases in oii ur inpun t costs is highi ly depeee ndendd t on markerr t conditiii ons.

Our aggregate direct input costs, including labora , raw materials and energy, represent a significant portion of our cost of
revenues. We have experienced and may continue to experience, volatility and increases in the price of certain of these costs as
a result of global market and supplu y chain disruptr ions and the broader inflaff tionary environment. Additionally, the cost of
energy for some of our facilities is regulated, and we are required to work with the local utility provider, which prevents us
from contracting forff a lower rate or seeking an alternate supplier. Although we have attempted, and will continue to attempt, to
match increases in the prices of direct materials or energy with corresponding increases in prices for our products and services,
our ability to pass through increases in our input costs is highly dependent upon market conditions and we may not be able to
immediately raise our prices, if at all. Most of our customer contracts forff sterilization services allow us to pass through our
direct material costs, but we may not be able to immediately or completely implement increases in the prices of our products
and services. Specifically, there is a risk that raising prices charged to our customers could result in a loss of sales volume.
Reactions or anticipated reactions by our customers and competitors to our price increases could cause us to reevaluate and
possibly reverse or reduce such price increases. We also may not be able to accurately predict the volume impact of price
increases, especially if our competitors are abla e to more successfulff ly adjud st to such input cost volatility. Material increases in
the price of laboa r, raw materials, or energy could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition
or results of operations, particularly if we are unabla e to increase the prices to our customers of our products or services to offsff et
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inflationary cost trends or if we are unabla e to achieve cost savings to offsff et such cost increases, our profitsff and operating results
could be adversely affected.

Our opeo rations are subjeb ct to a variety of busineii ss contintt uityii hazards add nd riskii s,kk includindd g supplpp y cll hain disruii ptu iott ns due tott
geopolitill cal uncertainty, ayy nd our reliall nce on thett use and sale of prff oducts att nd services from singii legg locations, as ny of which
could ill ntii ertt ruptu productiott n or opeo rations or otherwiseii adverserr ly affeff ct our perfor rmance, results or value.

Our operations and our supplu ier and customers’ operations are subject to business continuity hazards and risks that include
explosions, firff es, earthquakes, inclement weather and other natural disasters; utility, equipment or other mechanical failures;
unscheduld ed downtime; labora difficulties; disruptrr ion of communications; security breaches or other workplace violence events;
changes in regulations, including sanctions, export and import controls and other trade restrictions; changes in the use of
government-owned reactors, including repurposr ing nuclear facilities; other governmental action; and pandemics or other public
health crises.

It can be costly to ship products long distances forff the purposr e of sterilization; thereforff e, our ability to offeff r a full range of
sterilization services close to our customers’ manufactff urt ing and distribution centers worldwide is critical for our business. An
adverse occurrence at one of our facilities or the facilities of a supplu ier or customer could damage our business. While other
facilities in our network may have the capacity to service our customers that had been served by an affeff cted facility, we may not
be able to transferff all interruptu ed services. The stringent regulations and requirements to which we are subject regarding the
manufactff urt e of our products and provision of services and the complexities involved with processing Co-60 may prevent or
delay us froff m establishing additional or replacement sources forff our production faciff lities. Any event, including those listed
above, that results in a prolonged business disruptu ion or shutdown to one or more of our facilities, or the facilities of a supplu ier
or customer, could create conditions that prevent, or significantly and adversely affect, our receiving, processing, manufactff urt ing
or shipping products at existing levels, or at all. Such events could adversely affect our sales, increase our expenses, create
potential liabia lities and/or damage our reputation, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects,
financial condition or results of operations.

Supplu y chain disruptrr ions, such as the ones related to geopolitical uncertainty and conflicff ts, severe health events or a naturt al
disaster, may impair or delay our ability to obtain suffiff cient quantities of certain materials through our ordinary supplu y channels
and cause us to incur higher costs by procuring raw materials froff m other sources in order to compensate forff such delays or lack
of availabia lity. Supply chain disruptrr ions such as these may impair or delay our customers’ ability to provide us work or
products for processing or affeff ct the availability, quality and pricing of materials used in the operation of our business or our
customers’ businesses. If we are not able to successfulff ly mitigate such supply chain related risks, we could experience
disruptr ions in production or increased costs, which may result in decrease in our gross margin or reducd ed sales, and have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

Governmental action may disruptu the operations of our facilities that process potentially hazardous materials. For example, in
June 2021, in a lawsuit related to Sterigenics’ faciff lity in Santa Teresa, New Mexico, the court granted a motion by New
Mexico’s Attorney General forff a preliminary injun nction prohibiting Sterigenics froff m allowing any uncontrolled emission or
release of EO froff m that facff ility. In December 2021, the court furff ther establa ished protocols to monitor Sterigenics’ compliance
with the preliminary ir njunction. Although operations at the Santa Teresa facility comply with these orders, operations at the
facility may be negatively impacted if Sterigenics is unabla e to continue to comply. Similar actions in the futff urt e by local, state or
federal officials might disruptr or shut down operations or otherwise adversely impact the production or profitabia lity of our
facilities or its operations as a whole.

We obtain Co-60 from a limited number of suppliers. If any of the faciff lities or reactors froff m which we obtain Co-60 were to be
seriously damaged or have their production materially decrease due to a naturt al disaster or other adverse occurrence, or if we
become unabla e to transact with one of our supplu iers of Co-60 dued to expanded sanctions, our access to Co-60 would be
materially affeff cted and we may be unabla e to meet all the needs of our customers. See related Risk Factor “—We depend on a
limited number of counterparr rties to provide the materials and resources we need to operate our business. Any disruptu ion in the
availabia lity of, or increases in the price of, EO, Co-60 or our other direct materials, services and supplies, including as a result
of geopolitical instability and sanctions against RusRR sia by the United States, Canada, United Kingdom and European Union,
may have a material adverse effecff t on our operating results.”

While we maintain insurance policies covering, among other things, physical damage, premises liability, business interruptu ions
and liabia lity resulting froff m our services in amounts that we believe are customary for our industries, our insurance coverage
may be inadequate or unavailabla e and we could incur uninsured losses and liabia lities arising from such events.
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We may ba e adverserr ly affeff ctedtt by globalll and regional economic and politll ictt al instabitt litii y.tt

We may be adversely affected by global and regional economic and political conditions. The uncertainty or deterioration of the
global economic and political environment could adversely affect us. RusRR sia’s invasion of Ukraine has significantly elevated
global geopolitical tensions and continues to cause instability and volatility in global markets. The United States, Canada, the
United Kingdom and European Union have implemented broad sanctions targeting RusRR sia, which have the potential to disruptu
our supplu y of Co-60 from Russia. The confliff ct between Israel and Hamas and its potential ramificff ations for the Middle East
have caused and may continue to cause instability and volatility in global markets and adversely impact global supply chains,
including potentially disruptr ing shipping channels. Any such disruptr ions could have a material adverse effect on our business,
prospects, financial condition or results of operations. See related Risk Factor “—We depend on a limited number of
counterparr rties to provide the materials and resources we need to operate our business. Any disruptu ion in the availabia lity of, off r
increases in the price of, Eff O, Co-60 or our other direct materials, services and supplies, including as a result of current
geopolitical instability against RusRR sia by the United States, Canada, United Kingdom, and European Union, may have a
material adverse effect on our operating results.”

The potential worsening of macro-economic conditions, including slower growth or recession, the inflaff tionary environment,
tighter credit, higher interest rates and currency fluff ctuat tions, may cause customers to modify, delay or cancel plans to purchase
our products and services and suppliers may significantly and rapidly increase their prices or reduce their outputt because of
cash flow problems. Any inabia lity of current or potential customers to purchase or pay for our products because of such
declining economic conditions or changes in spending patterns at medical device, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies
may have a negative impact on our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations. Overall demand for our
products could be reducd ed as a result of a global economic recession or political unrest, especially in such areas as the medical
device, pharmaceutical, foodff safety and other end markets that we serve.

If we are unable tll o itt ncii rease capacity att t exiee stii intt g facff ilitll iett s and build nll ew facilitiii es in a timtt ely all nd cost-ett ffee ctivtt e manner, we
may na ot achieve our expeee ctedtt revenue growth or profitaff biliii tyii or such revenue growth and profio taii biliii tyii , iyy f ai ny, cyy ould be
delayeda .dd

Our growth strategy depends on expanding capacity in Europe, the Americas and Asia, which includes building new facilities
and maintaining and expanding existing facilities. The construcrr tion or expansion of modern and safe sff terilization faciff lities
requires significant expenditures. Delay in the review and licensing process forff a new facility could impair or delay our ability
to develop that facff ility or increase the cost so subsu tantially that the facility becomes unattractive to us. Any faiff lure to procure
and maintain the necessary licenses and equipment would adversely affect ongoing development, construcrr tion and continuing
operation of our facilities. Additionally, even when we maintain the necessary licenses and equipment and comply with
applicable regulations, we still may be unabla e to maintain or expand our operations at existing faciff lities, or otherwise execute
on our growth strategy, because of negative publicity or community resistance. Suspensions and closures of our facilities have
impacted and may continue to impact our results of operations, and the effects could be material. New facff ilities may not meet
our return expectations due to schedule delays, diversion of management’s attention, cost overruns or revenue shortfalff ls, or they
may not generate the capacity that we anticipate or result in the receipt of revenue in the originally anticipated time period or at
all. We may not maintain revenue growth or profitff ability, or such growth, if any, could be delayed if we are not successfulff in
continuing to expand capaa city. Additionally, if futff urt e demand trends warrant capacity in geographic areas that we have not
targeted for new growth, we may be unabla e to capitalize on opportunities in a timely manner.

We depeee nd upon our abilityii to attrtt act and retain highi ly skilledll emplm oyll ees. If wII e faiff l tii o att ttract and retain the taltt enll t requireii d
for our busineii ss, our opeo rations could bll e adverserr ly affeff ctedtt and our busineii ss could bll e matertt ially hll armerr d.

We depend to a significant degree on our ability to hire and retain highly qualifieff d personnel with expertise in our industries.
The market forff qualifieff d employees in the industries in which we operate is competitive and our ability to operate, compete and
grow our business depends on our ability to hire and retain qualifieff d personnel in all areas of our organization. If our recruir ting
effoff rts are less successfulff , or if we cannot retain our key personnel, performance of our operations may suffeff r and we may be
delayed or prevented from achieving our business objectives. If we are unabla e to attract and retain highly skilled employees, our
inability to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.

We occupyu many of our facff ilities underdd long-tgg ertt m lrr eall ses, and we may be unable tll o rtt enew our leall ses at thett end of to hett ir
terms.

Many of our facilities are located on leased premises. These leases vary in length up tu hrough 2042, most with options to renew
for specified periods of time. We expect to renew or buy out such leases, including all sterilization faciff lity leases expiring in the
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next five years, as they come due. At the end of the lease term and any renewal period for a facility, we may be unabla e to renew
the lease without subsu tantial additional cost, if at all. For example, in September 2019, we were unabla e to reach an agreement to
renew the lease on our EO processing facility in Willowbrook, Illinois folff lowing community pressure resulting froff m negative
publicity surrounding the facff ility. If we are unabla e to renew our facility leases, we may be required to relocate or close a
facility. Relocating a facility involves significant expense in connection with the movement and installation of specialized
equipment and any necessary recertification or licensing with regulatory ar uthorities. Even brieflyff closing a facility to relocate
would reducd e the sales that the facility would have contributed to our revenues and could negatively impact our customer
relations. Any such relocation or closure could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition or
results of operations.

We conduct salesll and disdd tributiott n opeo rations on a worldwll ide bdd asis and are subject to a variety of riskii s akk ssociati edtt withii doingii
busineii ss outside tdd hett United StaSS tes.

We maintain significff ant international operations, including operations in China, Brazil, Canada, Mexico, Costa Rica and other
countries in Europe and Asia. As a result, we are subject to a number of risks and complications associated with international
sales, services and other operations, as well as risks associated with U.S. foreign policy. These include:

• diffiff culties associated with compliance with numerous, potentially confliff cting and frequently complex and changing
laws in multiple jurisdictions relating to environmental matters, intellectuat l property, privacy and data protection,
corruptu practices, embargoes, trade sanctions, competition, employment and licensing, among other things;

• general economic, social and political conditions in countries where we operate, including international and U.S. trade
and sanctions policies and currency exchange rate fluctuations;

• tax and other laws that restrict our ability to use tax credits, offsff et gains or repatriate fundsff ;

• currency restrictions, transfer pricing regulations and adverse tax consequences, which may affect our ability to
transferff capital and profits;

• inflaff tion, deflation and stagflation in any country in which we have a manufacff turing facility;

• forff eign customers with longer payment cycles than customers in the United States; and

• the imposition of or increases in customs duties and other tariffsff .

We operate in a number of countries whose governments and companies do not always share the depth or breadth of the
commitment to anti-corruptu ion and ethical behavior that is required by U.S. laws and our Code of Conduct and other corporr ate
policies. Based on the nature of our products, our business activities involve interaction with government agencies, public
offiff cials and state-owned enterprrr ises. We are subju ect to the risk that we, our U.S. employees, our employees located in other
jurisdictions, or third parties we engage to do work on our behalf may take actions determined to be in violation of anti-
corruptu ion laws in the United States or the jurisdictions in which we conduct business. The U.S. Foreign Corruptu Practices Act
(the “FCPA”) and the Canadian Corruptu ion of Foreign Publu ic Offiff cials Act (the “CFPOA”) prohibit corruptu ly providing
anything of value to forff eign offiff cials (including employees of state-owned enterprr ises) forff the purposr es of obtaining or
retaining business or securing any improper business advantage. The provisions of the U.K. Bribery Act of 2010 (the “Bribery
Act”) extend beyond bribery or f forff eign public offiff cials and are more onerous than the FCPA in a number of other respects. Any
violation of the FCPA, the CFPOA, the Bribery Act or any similar anti-corruptu ion law or regulation could result in substantial
fines, sanctions or civil and/or criminal penalties, debarment froff m business dealings with certain governments or government
agencies or restrictions on the marketing of our products in certain countries, which could harm our business, financial
condition or results of operations. Violations of anti-corruptu ion laws or our related internal policies could also substantially
harm our reputation and operations. Further, detecting, investigating and resolving actuat l or alleged violations is expensive and
can consume significant time and attention of our senior management.

Compliance with multiple, and potentially conflicff ting, international laws and regulations, including anti-corruptu ion laws and
exchange controls, at times may be diffiff cult, burdensome or expensive. While our employees and agents are required to comply
with these laws, our internal policies and procedurd es may not always prevent violations. Further, in connection with past and
future acquisitions by us, there is a risk of successor liabia lity relating to such laws in connection with prior actions of an
acquired company. Such matters or allegations related to such matters could adversely affect our reputation and the burden and
cost associated with defending or resolving such matters could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition or
results of operations.

Further, as a result of our global operations, we generate a significant portion of our revenue and incur a significant portion of
our expenses in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, including the euro, the Brazilian real, the British pound sterling, the
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Chinese yuan, the Thai baht, the Mexican peso, the Danish krone, the Costa Rica colon and the Canadian dollar. Our results of
operations are impacted by currency exchange rate fluctuations to the extent that we are unabla e to match net revenues received
in foreign currencies with expenses incurred in the same currency. For example, where we have significantly more expenses
than net revenues generated in a forff eign currency, our profitff from operations in that location would be adversely affected in the
event that the U.S. dollar depreciates against that forff eign currency.

We are subjeb ct to signi ificff ant regulatll ortt y or versighi t of oo ur import and exporxx t opeo rations due to ttt hett nature of some of our
product offeff ringii s.gg

Our products and materials needed to make our products are subject to U.S. and Canadian laws and regulations that may limit,
restrict or require a license to import or export (or re-export froff m other countries). We are also subject to the export and import
laws of other forff eign jurisdictions in which we operate, into which we sell our products and froff m which we source our
materials, including Co-60. In addition, if we introduce new products or would like to participate in new capia tal investment
projects, we may need to obtain licenses or appra ovals from the United States, Canada and other governments to ship products to
or share technology or intellectuat l property with third parties located in foreign countries. Because of increasing security
controls and regulations regarding the shipment of materials including Co-60, we are likely to encounter additional regulations
affeff cting the transportation, storage, sale and import/ett xport of radioactive materials. Further, any delay or inabia lity to obtain
these permits and licenses could delay or prevent us froff m fulff filling our obligations to our customers or suppliers, which could
harm our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Additionally, the U.S. Department of the Treasury’rr s Office of Foreign Assets Control and other relevant agencies of the U.S.
government administer laws and regulations that restrict U.S. persons and, in some instances, non-U.S. persons, froff m
conducting activities, transacting business with or making investments in certain countries, or with governments, entities and
individuals subju ect to U.S. economic sanctions. Our international operations subju ect us to these laws and regulations, which are
complex, restrict our business dealings with certain countries, governments, entities and individuals and are constantly
changing. Penalties forff non-compliance with these complex laws and regulations can be significant and include subsu tantial
fines, sanctions or civil and/or criminal penalties and violations can result in adverse publicity, which could harm our business,
financial condition or results of operations.

Severe health events ott r environmentaltt events, is ncii ludingii impacts from climall te change, ae nd natural disdd asters, could hll ave
adverserr effeff cts ott n our busineii ss, finaii ncial conditiii on and resultsll of operations, ws hich could bll e matertt ial.

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to have effects on our business operations, including secondary and tertiary effeff cts such as
increased raw material prices, labora shortages, and supply chain disruptrr ions. If similarly severe global health crises occur in the
future, the impact and effects on our business, operations and results of operations also could be material.

Extreme environmental events, including impacts froff m climate change, could adversely affect our operating results and
financial condition. Climate change has an adverse impact on global temperatures, weather and precipitation patterns, and
increases the freff quency and severity of significant weather events, such as floff oding, hurricanes, wildfires, droughts and water
scarcity. We have operations located in regions that have been, and may in the future be, exposed to extreme weather events
and other natural disasters, including Califorff nia, Florida, and Texas. A catastrophic earthquake, firff e, flood, tsunami or other
weather event, widespread power loss or telecommunications failure, war or other significant event could adversely affect our
operations, particularly if such event were to destroy or disruptr any of our facilities. Any significant impact on our ability to
conduct normal operations at our facff ilities could cause significant capacity constraints and, as a result, have a material adverse
effeff ct on our business, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

Any severe health or environmental event may also affect our supplu iers or customers, which could disruptu our access to raw
materials and customer product processing and exacerbate supply-chain related risks. See related Risk Factor “—Our operations
are subject to a variety of business continuity hazards and risks, including supplu y chain disruptrr ions due to geopolitical
uncertainty and our reliance on the use and sale of products and services from single locations, any of which could interruptu
production or operations or otherwise adversely affect our performance, results or value.”

Our business may be subject to stt yss tem intii ertt ruptu iott ns, cs ybc er securityii breaches and unauthott rizeii d datdd a dtt isdd closll ures.

Like other companies, we increasingly rely on inforff mation technology (“IT”) systems and networks and related services to
conduct business, some of which are managed, hosted and/or provided by third parties. Our IT systems and infraff structurt e are
potentially vulnerabla e to breakdowns or other interruptu ions by fire, power loss, system malfuncff tions and other events. Our IT
systems and infrastructurt e are also subju ect to breaches by our employees, both accidental and intentional, and to regular and
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persistent attacks by increasingly sophisticated actors seeking to interfere with the normal use of our systems. Our suppliers,
contractors, service providers, and other third parties with whom we do business also experience cyber threats and attacks that
are similar in freff quency and sophistication. In many cases, the Company relies on controls put in place by our supplu iers,
contractors and service providers to defend against and otherwise respond to cyber threats and attacks, which may prove
insufficient.

As a result, despite the Company’s security measures, data privacy breaches by employees and outside parties with both
permitted and unauthorized access to our systems may expose sensitive data to unauthorized persons or to the public or data
inaccessible on a temporary orr r permanent basis. We could also experience a business interruptu ion, information theft or
reputational damage froff m industrial espionage attacks, ransomware, other malware or other cyber incidents or data breaches,
which may compromise our system infrastructurt e or lead to data breaches, either internally or at our third-party providers or
other business partners. Such incidents could compromise our trade secrets or other confidff ential inforff mation and result in such
information being disclosed to third parties and becoming less valuabla e. Breaches in security, system interruptu ions and
unauthorized disclosures of data, whether perceived or actuat l, could adversely affect our businesses, assets, revenues, brands
and reputation and result in fines, litigation, regulatory pr roceedings and investigations, increased insurance premiums,
remediation efforts, indemnificff ation expenditures, lost revenues and other potential liabia lities. As detailed in Item 1C,
“Cybersecurity”, we have taken steps to protect the security and integrity of the inforff mation we collect and have policies and
procedurd es in place dealing with data privacy and security and have yet to experience any material cybersecurity incidents that
have caused us to incur any material expenses or materially affeff cted our business, results of operations or financial conditions.
But there can be no assurance that our effoff rts will prevent material breakdowns, system faiff lures, breaches in our systems or
other cyber incidents or otherwise be fulff ly effeff ctive. Any such breakdown, breach or incident could adversely affect our
business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations, and our cyber insurance may not cover such risks or may be
insufficient to compensate us forff losses that may occur.

Part of our growth stt trategtt y igg s tii o ptt ursurr e strategtt ic transactiott ns, is ncii ludingii acquisitions, ws hich subjects utt s to rtt isks that couldll
harm our business and we may na ot be able tll o ftt inff d suitaii ble all cquisiii tioii n tartt ger ts or integre ate stt trategtt ic acquisitiott ns successfulff lyll
into our exiee stii intt g business.

As part of our strategy, we have in the past grown, and may in the future seek to grow our business through acquisitions, and
any such acquisition may be significff ant. Any futff uret growth through acquisitions will depend in part upon the continued
availabia lity of suitabla e acquisition candidates at favff orable prices and uponu advantageous terms and conditions, which may not
be availabla e to us, as well as sufficff ient funds to complete these acquisitions from our cash on hand, cash floff w froff m operations,
existing debt facilities and additional indebtedness.

Not only is the identification of such suitabla e acquisition candidates diffiff cult and competitive, but these transactions, including
the acquisitions completed in recent years also involve numerous risks, including the diversion of management’s attention and
their abia lity to:

• successfulff ly integrate acquired facff ilities, companies, products, systems and personnel into our existing business,
especially with respect to businesses or operations that are outside of the United States;

• minimize any potential interruptu ion to our ongoing business;

• successfulff ly enter categories and markets in which we may have limited or no prior experience, and ensure compliance
with the regulatory rr equirements forff such categories and markets;

• achieve expected synergies and obtain the desired finff ancial or strategic benefitsff ;

• detect and address any financial or control deficff iencies of the acquired company;

• retain key relationships with employees, customers, partners and supplu iers of acquired companies as well as our own
employees, customers, partners and supplu iers; and

• maintain uniform compliance standards, controls, procedures and policies throughout acquired companies.

Companies, businesses or operations acquired or joint venturt es created may not be profitaff bla e or may not achieve revenue and
profitaff bia lity levels sufficff ient to justify tff he investments made. Recent and future acquisitions could also result in the incurrence
of additional indebtedness subju ect to the restrictions contained in the documents governing our then-existing indebtedness. See
related Risk Factor “—Our significant leverage could adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital to fundff our
operations, limit our ability to react to challenges faciff ng our Company or broader changes in our industry orr r the economy,
expose us to interest rate risk and prevent us froff m meeting our obligations under our existing and future indebtedness.”
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Recent and future acquisitions could also result in the assumption of contingent liabia lities, material expenses related to certain
intangible assets, increased operating expenses and compliance issues under international laws and regulations, including
antitrust laws, anti-corruptu ion laws, the FCPA and similar anti-bribery lrr aws, which could adversely affect our business,
prospects, financial condition or results of operations. In addition, to the extent that the economic benefits associated with any
of our acquisitions diminish in the future, we may be required to record additional write-downs of goodwill, intangible assets or
other assets associated with such acquisitions, which could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition or
results of operations.

Certain of the acquisition agreements by which we have acquired companies require the forff mer owners to indemnify uff s against
certain liabia lities related to the operation of the companies before we acquired them. In most of these agreements, however, the
liability of the forff mer owners is limited, and certain former owners may be unabla e to meet their indemnificff ation responsibilities.
There is no assurance that these indemnificff ation provisions will protect us fully or at all, and as a result we may faceff
unexpected liabia lities that adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations. Our ability to
realize the benefits we anticipate froff m our strategic transactions, including acquisition activities, anticipated cost savings and
additional sales opportunities, will depend in large part uponu whether we are able to integrate such businesses efficiently and
effeff ctively. If we are unabla e to successfulff ly integrate the operations of acquired businesses into our business or on the timeline
we expect, we may be unabla e to realize the sales growth, cost synergies and other anticipated benefits we expect to achieve as a
result of such transactions and our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our intii ertt nal controls oll ver finff ancial reporee tingii may na ot be effeff ctivtt e and our indii epdd endent regie stii ertt ed publicll accountintt g firff mrr
may na ot be able to certiftt y aff s to ttt hett ir effeff ctivtt eness, which could have a signigg fii cant and adverserr effeff ct on our business and
repuee tation.

Pursuant to the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act, we furff nished a report by our management on the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2023. This assessment is required to include disclosure of any material weaknesses
identifieff d by our management in our internal control over finff ancial reporting. Our independent registered public accounting
firm attested to the effectiveness of our internal controls as of December 31, 2023.

In future periods, if we identify aff material weakness in connection with our ongoing assessment and we fail to remediate the
identifieff d material weakness within the prescribed period, we will be unabla e to assert that our internal control over finff ancial
reporting is effective. We cannot be certain that there will not be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal
control over finff ancial reporting in the future. Any failure to maintain internal control over finff ancial reporting could severely
inhibit our ability to accurately report our financial condition or results of operations. In addition, we may be required to incur
costs in improving our internal control system and hiring additional personnel. If we are unabla e to conclude that our internal
control over finff ancial reporting is effecff tive, or if our independent registered public accounting firff m determines we have a
material weakness in our internal control over finff ancial reporting, we could lose investor confidff ence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports, the market price of shares of our common stock could decline and we could be subject to
sanctions or investigations by the Nasdaq, the SEC or other regulatory arr uthorities. Failure to remedy any material weakness in
our internal control over finff ancial reporting, or to implement or maintain other effeff ctive control systems required of public
companies, could also restrict our future access to the capia tal markets.

We rely on intellectual propeo rty rtt ightgg s ttt o mtt aintii aitt n oii ur competitivtt e position and thitt rdii parties may claill m tii hatt t we infii riff ngii e or
misappropriate their ii ntii eltt lell ctual propeo rty rtt ightgg s.tt

We rely on proprietary technology and are dependent on our ability to protect such technology. We rely primarily on trade
secrets and non-disclosure and confidff entiality arrangements to protect our intellectuat l property rights, including such rights as
related to our Nelson Labsa business and its lab testing services. The efforts we have taken to protect our intellectuat l property
and proprietary technology may not be sufficff ient or effeff ctive. Third parties, including current or former employees, consultants,
contractors, customers or partners, who have access to our confidff ential information (including our trade secrets and know-how),
may unintentionally or willfully disclose our confidff ential information to others, and there can be no assurance that our trade
secret rights and non-disclosure and confidff entiality arrangements will provide meaningfulff protection of our proprietary
technology. There can also be no assurance that others will not independently develop similar or superior technologies or
duplicate any technology developed by us. Effeff ctive protection of intellectuat l property rights may not be availabla e in every
jurisdiction in which our products and services are made availabla e and monitoring unauthorized use and disclosures of our
proprietary technology or confidff ential information can be difficult and expensive. Actions to enforce our intellectuat l property
rights could lead to disputes with third parties, including our customers, and could impact our future ability to gain business.
Furthermore, legal proceedings to protect or enforce our intellectual property rights could result in narrowing the scope of our
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intellectuat l property rights or substantial cost to us, and they may be time consuming and divert resources and the attention of
management and key personnel, and the outcomes of such actions may be unpredictabla e.

Additionally, we cannot be certain that the conduct of our business does not and will not infringe or misappropriate intellectuat l
property rights of others. From time to time, we may become subju ect to claims, allegations and legal proceedings, including by
means of counterclaims, that we infringe or misappra opriate intellectuat l property or other proprietary rights of third parties. Such
legal proceedings involving intellectuat l property rights are highly uncertain, can involve complex legal and scientificff questions
and may divert resources and the attention of management and key personnel. Our faiff lure to prevail against infringement or
misappropriation claims brought against us could also result in judgments awarding subsu tantial damages against us, including
possible treble damages and attorneys’ fees, and could result in reputational harm. Judgments that result in equitabla e or
injun nctive relief could cause us to delay or cease selling or providing certain products or services or otherwise harm our
operations. We also may have to seek third party licenses to intellectuat l property, which may be unavailabla e, require payment
of significant royalties or be available only at commercially unreasonabla e, unfavff orable or otherwise unacceptabla e terms.

If we are unabla e to adequately protect, establish, maintain or enforff ce our intellectuat l property rights or if we are subju ect to any
infringement or misappra opriation claims, our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations may be adversely
affeff cted.

We are subjeb ct to complex aee nd rapia dly ell volving datdd a ptt rivacy and securityii laws and regulatll iott ns and any ineffeff ctivtt e
compliance effoe rts wtt ith such laws and regulatll iott ns may aa dverserr ly impacm t our busineii ss.

We must comply with laws and regulations of federal and state governments in multiple jurisdictions governing the collection,
dissemination, retention, access, use, protection, security and disposal of personal data, which mostly consists of our
employees’ data. The interprrr etation and application of many existing or recently enacted privacy and data protection laws and
regulations in the United States, the European Union and elsewhere are uncertain and fluff id, and it is possible that such laws and
regulations may be interprrr eted or applied in a manner that is inconsistent with our existing practices. Companies are under
increased regulatory sr crutr iny relating to data privacy and security. Any actuat l or perceived breach of such laws or regulations
may subject us to claims and may lead to administrative, civil or criminal liabia lity, as well as reputational harm. Moreover,
these laws are evolving and are generally becoming stricter. For example, activities conducted froff m our EU facilities or related
to products and services that we may offerff to EU users or customers are subject to the General Data Protection Regulation
(Regulation (EU) 2016/679) (“GDPR”), which provides forff enhanced data privacy obligations and finff es of up to the higher of
4% of annual worldwide revenues or €20 million. The GDPR was transposed into United Kingdom domestic law folff lowing the
United Kingdom’s exit from the EU, and the UK GDPR supplements the United Kingdom’s Data Protection Act of 2018. The
UK GDPR mirrors the compliance requirements and fine structurt e of the GDPR. Outside of the United States, United Kingdom
and the European Union, many jurisdictions have adopted or are adopting new data privacy laws that impose furff ther onerous
compliance requirements, such as data localization, which prohibit companies from storing outside the jurisdiction data relating
to resident individuals. The proliferff ation of such laws may result in confliff cting and contradictory rrr equirements and there can be
no assurance that the measures we have taken will be sufficient forff compliance with such various laws and regulations.
Complying with these various laws is an ongoing commitment and could cause us to incur substantial costs or require us to
change our business practices in a manner adverse to our business. Privacy-related claims or lawsuits initiated by governmental
bodies, employees, customers or third parties, whether meritorious or not, could adversely affect our businesses, assets,
revenues, brands and reputation and result in fines, litigation, regulatory pr roceedings, regulatory ir nvestigations, increased
insurance premiums, remediation effoff rts, indemnificff ation expenditures, lost revenues and other potential liabia lities. We take
steps to comply with applicable data privacy and security laws, regulations and standards and applicable privacy policies, but
there can be no assurance that our compliance effoff rts will be effectff ive. Any such faiff lure to comply could adversely affect our
business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.

We have a history of net losll ses and may na ot maintain profitaff bilityii in the futff ure.

We have a history of net operating losses, including a net loss attributable to Sotera Health Company of $233.6 million forff the
year ended December 31, 2022. Although we reported net income attributable to Sotera Health Company of $51.4 million forff
the year ended December 31, 2023, we may not be able to maintain profitaff bia lity in future fiscal years. Our abia lity to maintain
profitaff bia lity depends on a number of facff tors, including the growth rate of the sterilization and lab sa ervices industries, the prices
of our products and services, the costs to provide our products and services and the competitiveness of our products and
services. We may incur significant losses in the future for a number of reasons, including principal and interest expense related
to our indebtedness and the other risks described herein, and we may encounter unforff eseen expenses, diffiff culties, complications
and delays and other unknown events. As a result, our operations may not maintain or increase profitabia lity in the futff urt e.
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We may ia ncii ur impaim rmii ent charges on our goodwill all nd othett r intii antt gibli e all ssets withii indefie niii teii lives as well as othett r lonll g-
lived assets and intii antt gibli e all ssets withii defie niii teii lives, ws hich could nll egativtt ely ill mpii act our busineii ss, finaii ncial conditioii n or
results of operations.

We are subjeb ct to Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other, which requires
that goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite usefulff life be evaluated at least annually for impairment.
Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives must also be evaluated for impairment between the annual tests if an
event or change in circumstance occurs that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the asset below its carrying
amount. We have substantial goodwill and other intangible assets. If we were to determine in the future that there has been an
impairment, our financial results for the relevant period would be reducd ed by the amount of the non-cash impairment charge,
net of any income tax effects, which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

Similarly, pursuant to ASC Topic 360—Property, Plant, and Equipment, long-lived assets, such as property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets subju ect to amortization, must be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be recoverabla e. If we were to determine in
the futff urt e that there has been an impairment of long-lived assets or intangible assets subju ect to amortization, our financial
results for the relevant period would be reducd ed by the amount of the non-cash impairment charge, net of any income tax
effeff cts, which could have an adverse effeff ct on our financial condition or results of operations.

Unionizaii tion effe orff ts and laborll regue lations could materiali lyll increase our costs or limiii t oii ur flexll ibility.yy

Effoff rts have been made froff m time to time to unionize portions of our workforce and we are likely to experience similar efforts
in the futff urt e. Certain of our employees are represented by labora unions or works councils and are negotiating or working under
collective bargaining or similar agreements, some of which are subju ect to periodic renegotiation. For example, employees at a
gamma irradiation facff ility in the United States voted to unionize in November 2023 and we may experience similar efforts to
unionize portions of our workforce in the future. Unionization effoff rts, new collective bargaining agreements or work stoppages
could materially increase our costs, reduce our net revenues or limit our flexibility. The collective bargaining agreements
applicable to our employees in Brazil and Mexico expire annually. The collective bargaining agreement appla icable to Nordion’s
employees in Kanata, Canada expires on March 31, 2024. The process of negotiating or renegotiating these collective
bargaining agreements could increase our labora costs or lead to labor disruptr ions, which could negatively affect our business
and operations.

Other legal obligations in the markets where we conduct business require us to contribute amounts to retirement fundsff and
pension plans and restrict our ability to dismiss employees. Futurt e regulations or court interprr etations establa ished in the
countries in which we conduct our operations could increase our costs and materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

Our business is sii ubjeb ct to a variety of laws involving thett cannabis iii ndii ustry,r many of which are unsettltt edll and stillii developio ngii
and which could sll ubjeb ct us to claill msii or othett rwise harm orr ur busineii ss.

We provide bioburden reducd tion irradiation services forff the processing of cannabia s, primarily in Canada and certain European
countries. The commercial recreational cannabia s industry irr s a relatively new industry ir n Canada and Canada’s Cannabia s
Regulations have been in effeff ct in their current form since only October 2018. Likewise, laws and regulations governing
cannabia s in European countries have evolved rapidly over recent years. In the United States, marijui ana (all parts of the cannabia s
plant other than those parts that are exempt) presently remains a Schedule I controlled substance under fedff eral law. In other
countries in which the cultivation and use of marijuana is legalized, most notably in Canada, our operations include irradiation
services for recreational and medical marijui ana. As laws in the United States, Canada, Europe and other jurisdictions evolve,
our activities in these spaces may faceff additional regulations with which it may be costly or burdensome to comply.

Government or private civil aii ntittt rutt st actions could harm our business, results ott f oo peo rations, fs inff ancial conditiodd n and cash
flowll s.

The antitrusrr t laws prohibit a wide variety of conduct that unlawfully suppresses competition, such as conspiracies among
competitors not to reduce (or to “fixff ”) prices. Although our Code of Conduct requires our employees to comply with the
antitrust laws and we believe that we are doing so, a governmental or private civil action alleging the improper exchange of
information, unlawful participation in price maintenance or other unlawful or anticompetitive activity, even if unfoundeff d, could
be costly to defend and could harm our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.
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We may ha ave greatertt than anticipatii edtt tax laa iall bilitii iett s, which could harm our business, revenue and finff anciali results.

We operate in a number of tax jurisdictions globally, including in the United States at the federal, state and local levels, and in
many other countries, and we therefore are subject to review and potential audit by tax authorities in these various jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes and other tax liabia lities, and tax
authorities may disagree with tax positions we take and challenge our tax positions. Successfulff unilateral or multi-ju- risdictional
actions by various tax authorities, including in the context of our current or future corporate operating structurt e and third-party
and intercompany arrangements, may increase our worldwide effective tax rate, result in additional taxes or other costs or have
other material consequences, which could harm our business, revenue and finff ancial results.

Our effective tax rate may also change from year to year or vary materially from our expectations based on changes or
uncertainties in the mix of activities and income allocated or earned among various jurisdictions, changes in tax laws and the
applicable tax rates in these jurisdictions (including future tax laws that may become material), tax treaties between countries,
our eligibility for benefitff s under those tax treaties and the valuation of deferff red tax assets and liabia lities. Such changes could
result in an increase in the effeff ctive tax rate applicable to all or a portion of our income, impose new limitations on deductions,
credits or other tax benefits or make other changes that may adversely affect our business, cash flows or finff ancial performance.
For example, we have been unabla e to fulff ly realize the benefit of interest expense as a result of recent tax law changes, and we
recognized a valuation allowance on related deferff red tax assets, which impacted our annual effective income tax rate.

Any changes in tax law may create uncertainty and our business and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness and Liquidity

Our signigg fii cant leveragea could all dverserr ly affeff ct our abiliii tyii to raise additiii onal capia taii l to ftt undff our opeo rations, ls imitll our abilityii
to react to ctt hallenges facingii our ComCC panm y on r broader changes in our indii ustry or r thett economy, eyy xposee e us to itt ntii ertt est rate rtt isk
and prevent us froff m meetintt g our obligll atiott ns underdd our exiee stii intt g and future indebtedtt nedd ss.

As of December 31, 2023, our total indebtedness was appra oximately $2,260.6 million, all of which is indebtedness of Sotera
Health Holdings, LLC (“SHH”) that is guaranteed by the Company and certain of our other subsidiaries. We also had an
additional $423.8 million of unutilized capaa city under our Revolving Credit Facility (as definff ed herein) at that date (without
giving effeff ct to $23.7 million of letters of credit that were outstanding). On February 2rr 3, 2023, SHH entered into the First Lien
Credit Agreement (the “2023 Credit Agreement”), which provides forff , among other things, a new Term Loan B facility in an
aggregate principal amount of $500.0 million and bears interest, at the Company’s option, at a variabla e per annum rate equal to
either (x) the Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“Term SOFR”) (as defined in the 2023 Credit Agreement) plus an
applicable margin of 3.75% or (y) an alternative base rate (“ABR”) plus an appla icable margin of 2.75%. The 2023 Credit
Agreement is secured on a first priority basis on substantially all of our assets and is guaranteed by us and certain of our
subsu idiaries. Please referff to Note 10, “Long-Term Debt” and “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations - Liquidity and Capital Resources” forff further inforff mation.

Our indebtedness is variable interest rate debt. Our estimated debt service obligations for the next 12 months, which are
comprised of principal and interest payments, are $176.6 million, based on Term SOFR benchmark interest rate and the
outstanding principal amount of indebtedness of $2,260.6 million, each as of December 31, 2023. Debt service obligations
under the 2023 Credit Agreement increased our total debt service obligations from and afteff r February 2rr 3, 2023. For the year
ended December 31, 2023, our cash flow used for debt service totaled $176.3 million, which was comprised of $2.5 million of
principal payments on Term Loan B and interest payments of $173.8 million on all of our outstanding debt.

Our high degree of leverage could have important consequences, including:

• making it more diffiff cult for us to satisfy our obligations;

• increasing our vulnerabia lity to general economic and industry crr onditions;

• requiring a substantial portion of cash floff w froff m operations to be used to pay off principal and interest on our
indebtedness, thereby reducd ing our ability to use our cash flow to fund our operations, capital expenditures and future
business opportunities;

• exposing us to the risk of increased interest rates as our indebtedness is at variable interest rates;

• restricting us from making strategic acquisitions or causing us to make non-strategic divestitures;

• limiting our ability to obtain additional finff ancing for working capia tal, capital expenditures, product development, debt
service requirements, acquisitions, appea llate litigation bonding expenses and general corporate or other purposes;
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• limiting our ability to adjud st to changing market conditions and placing us at a disadvantage compared to our
competitors that are less highly leveraged; and

• causing us to pay higher rates if we need to refinance our indebtedness at a time when prevailing market interest rates
are unfavff orable.

We and our subsu idiaries may obtain substantial additional indebtedness in the futff urt e, subju ect to the restrictions contained in the
2019 Credit Agreement and the 2023 Credit Agreement (together the “Combined Senior Secured Credit Facilities”). If new
indebtedness is added to our current debt levels, the related risks that we now face could intensify.

Because we are exposed to interest rate risk through our variable-rate borrowings, we have entered into and may, in the future,
enter into additional interest rate swapsa that involve the exchange of floating for fixff ed rate interest payments to reduce interest
rate volatility and interest rate cap agreements. We may not maintain interest rate swaps with respect to any of our variable rate
indebtedness, and any swaps we enter into may not fully mitigate our interest rate risk. If interest rates increase, our debt service
obligations on any variabla e rate indebtedness will increase even if the amount borrowed remains the same, and our earnings and
cash flows, including cash availabla e forff servicing our indebtedness, will correspondingly decrease. Based on our indebtedness
outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and the interest rate under our Term Loans that was in effeff ct on December 31, 2023, a 1%
increase in the Term SOFR benchmark interest rates would result in an increase of appra oximately $8.6 million in total annual
interest expense under our outstanding debt obligations. Referff to Note 10, “Long-Term Debt” to our consolidated financial
statements.

Our debdd t agra eements contaitt n rii estrictions thatt t limill t oii ur flexll ibility in operating our busineii ss.

The Combined Senior Secured Credit Facilities contain various covenants that limit our ability to engage in specified types of
transactions. These covenants limit our ability and our restricted subsu idiaries’ abia lity to, among other things:

• incur additional indebtedness or issue certain shares of preferff red stock;

• pay dividends on, repurchase or make distributions in respect of our capital stock or make other restricted payments;

• make certain investments and acquisitions;

• sell or transfer assets;

• grant liens on our assets;

• consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets; and

• enter into certain transactions with our affiff liates.

In addition, under certain circumstances we are required to satisfy and maintain specified financial ratios and other finff ancial
condition tests under certain covenants in our Combined Senior Secured Credit Facilities. See Item 7, “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources.” Our abia lity to
meet those finff ancial ratios and tests can be affeff cted by events beyond our control, including prevailing economic, finff ancial
market and industry cr onditions, and we cannot give assurance that we will be able to satisfy such ratios and tests when required.

A breach of any of these covenants could result in a default under each of our Combined Senior Secured Credit Facilities. Upon
the occurrence of an event of default, the lenders could elect to declare all amounts outstanding under the Combined Senior
Secured Credit Facilities immediately dued and payable and terminate all commitments to extend further credit. If we were
unabla e to repay those amounts, the lenders under the Combined Senior Secured Credit Facilities could forff eclose on the
collateral granted to them to secure each such indebtedness. We have pledged substantially all of our assets as collateral under
the Combined Senior Secured Credit Facilities.

Our cash floff ws may na ot be suffiu cient to stt ervice our indii ebdd tedness, and if wi e are unable tll o stt atistt fys our obligll atiott ns underdd our
indebtedtt nedd ss, we may ba e requireii d to stt eek othett r finff ancingii altell rnativtt es, ws hich may na ot be successfulff .ll

Our abia lity to make timely payments of principal and interest on our debt obligations, including our obligations under the
Combined Senior Secured Credit Facilities, depends on our ability to generate positive cash floff ws from operations, which is
subju ect to general economic conditions, competitive pressures and certain financial, business and other factff ors beyond our
control. If our cash floff ws and capital resources are insuffiff cient to make these payments, we may be required to seek additional
financing sources, reduce or delay capital expenditures, sell assets or operations or refinance our indebtedness. These actions
could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, financial conditions and results of operations. In addition, we may not be
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able to take any of these actions, and even if successfulff , these actions may not permit us to meet our scheduled debt service
obligations. Our ability to restructurt e or refinff ance our existing indebtedness will depend on, among other things, the condition
of the capital markets and our financial condition at the time. We may not be able to restructurt e or refinff ance any of our
indebtedness on commercially reasonabla e terms or at all. If we cannot make scheduled payments on our debt, we will be in
default and the outstanding principal and interest on our debt could be declared to be due and payable, in which case we could
be forced into bankruptrr cy or liquidation or required to substantially restructurt e or alter our business operations or debt
obligations.

A lowll ering or withdrawal of the ratintt gs assigni ed to our debdd t by rb atintt g agea ncies may increase our futff ure borrowingii costs att nd
reduce our access to ctt apitaii l.

Any rating assigned to our debt by a rating agency could be lowered or withdrawn entirely if, in that rating agency’s judgment,
future circumstances relating to the basis of the rating, such as adverse changes to our ability to service our debt obligations or
our general finff ancial condition, so warrant. Any futff urt e lowering of our ratings likely would make it more diffiff cult or more
expensive forff us to obtain additional debt finff ancing. Additionally, we enter into various forms of hedging arrangements against
currency, interest rates or commodity price fluff ctuat tions. Financial strength and credit ratings are also important to the
availabia lity and pricing of any hedging activities we decide to undertake, and a downgrade of our credit ratings may make it
more costly for us to engage in these activities.

Term SOFR and certain othett r intii ertt est “be“ nchmarksrr ” are subject to rtt egulatll ortt y gr uidance and reforff m trr hatt t will cause intii ertt est
rates underdd our current or future debt agreements to perforff m drr ifdd feff rentlytt than in the past or could cause other unantictt ipatedtt
consequences.

Because our Combined Senior Secured Credit Facilities bear interest at variabla e interest rates, based on the Term SOFR and
certain other benchmarks, fluff ctuat tions in interest rates could have a material effect on our business. We currently utilize, and
may in the future utilize, derivative financial instrumr ents such as interest rate swaps or interest rate caps to hedge some of our
exposure to interest rate fluff ctuat tions, but such instruments may not be effeff ctive in reducd ing our exposure to interest
fluctuations, and we may discontinue utilizing them at any time. As a result, we may incur higher interest costs if interest rates
increase. These higher interest costs could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and the levels of cash we
maintain for working capia tal.

Sotera Healthll Holdindd gs, Ls LC is a holdill ngii company,n and thett refoe re its abiliii tyii to make any rn equireii d payment on our creditii
agreements depeee nds udd ponu the abiliii tyii of its stt ubsidiari ies to ptt ay it dividends odd r to att dvance it funds.dd

SHH, the borrower under our Combined Senior Secured Credit Facilities, has no direct operations and no significant assets
other than the equity interests of its subsu idiaries. Because it conducts its operations through its operating subsidiaries, SHH
depends on those entities to generate the fundsff necessary to meet its financial obligations, including its required obligations
under our Combined Senior Secured Credit Facilities. The abia lity of our subsu idiaries to make transferff s and other distributions to
SHH will be subju ect to, among other things, the terms of any debt instruments of such subsidiaries then in effeff ct and appla icable
law. If transferff s or other distributions from our subsu idiaries to SHH were eliminated, delayed, reducd ed or otherwise impaired,
our ability to make payments on the obligations under our credit agreements would be substantially impaired.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

The markerr t and tradingii volume of our common stock may ba e volatll ilett , ae nd you could lose all oll r part of yo our invii estment.

The market price of our common stock may fluff ctuat te or decline significantly in the futff urt e. Some of the factff ors that could
negatively affect our share price or result in fluctuations in the price or trading volume of our common stock include those
listed in the related Risk Factor “—Risks Related to the Company,” “—Risks Related to Our Indebtedness and Liquidity” and
the folff lowing, some of which are beyond our control:

• volatility or economic downturt ns in the markets in which we, our supplu iers or our customers are located caused by
pandemics, including the COVID-19 pandemic, and related policies and restrictions undertaken to contain the spread
of such pandemics or potential pandemics;

• developments in our litigation matters and governmental investigations or additional significant lawsuits or
governmental investigations relating to our services or facilities, including our susceptibility as a publicly-traded
company to enforff cement proceedings and civil litigation alleging that our disclosures have not complied with federal
and state securities laws and regulations;

39



• regulatory or r legal developments in the jurisdictions in which we operate;

• adverse publicity about us or the industries in which we participate;

• variations in our quarterly or annual results of operations, or in those of our competitors or of companies in the
medical device and pharmaceutical industries;

• the financial projeo ctions we may provide to the public, any changes in these projections or our failure to meet these
projections;

• sales of our common stock by us or our stockholders in the futff urt e or the perception that such sales may occur;

• publication of research reports about the industries in which we participate;

• changes in analysts’ estimates, investors’ perceptions, recommendations by securities analysts, our failure to achieve
analysts’ estimates or failure of analysts to maintain coverage of us;

• volatility in the trading prices and trading volumes of companies similar to us;

• changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of companies in our industry;rr

• changes in accounting principles, policies, guidance, interpretations or standards; and

• general market conditions and other factors unrelated to our operating performance or the operating performance of
our competitors.

Certain broad market and industry fr actff ors may decrease the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual
operating performance. The stock market in general has from time to time experienced extreme price and volume fluff ctuat tions.
In addition, in the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market price of companies’ securities,
securities class action litigation has ofteff n been institutt ed against these companies, and a putative class action of this kind is
currently pending against us. See Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial statements under
the heading “Stockholder Lawsuit.” Such litigation could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s
attention and resources.

The futff ure issuii ance of additioii nal common stock in connectiott n with our incii entive plans, as cquisiii tioii ns or othett rwise will diluii te
all oll ther stoctt kholdill ngii s.gg

As of Februarr ry 20, 2024, we had an aggregate of 886,109,800 shares of common stock that are not currently reserved forff
issuance under our 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan (“2020 Plan”), as well as 3,204,952 treasury shares. We may issue all of these
shares of common stock without any action or approa val by our stockholders, subject to certain exceptions. We also intend to
continue to evaluate acquisition opportunities and may issue common stock in connection with these acquisitions. Any common
stock issued in connection with our incentive plans, acquisitions or otherwise would dilute the percentage ownership held by
the investors who own our common stock.

Future offeff ringii s ogg f do ebdd t or equity stt ecuritiii es by us may aa dverserr ly affeff ct the markerr t price of our common stock.kk

In the futff urt e, we may attempt to obtain finff ancing or to further increase our capital resources by issuing additional shares of our
common stock or offeff ring debt or other equity securities. Future acquisitions could require subsu tantial additional capital in
excess of cash froff m operations. We would expect to finance any future acquisitions requiring subsu tantial additional capital
through a combination of additional issuances of equity, corporr ate indebtedness, asset-backed acquisition finff ancing and/or cash
from operations.

Issuing additional shares of our common stock or other equity securities or securities convertible into equity may dilute the
economic and voting rights of our existing stockholders or reduce the market price of our common stock or both. Upon
liquidation, holders of such debt securities and preferff red shares, if issued, and lenders with respect to other borrowings would
receive a distribution of our availabla e assets prior to the holders of our common stock. Debt securities convertible into equity
could be subject to adjud stments in the conversion ratio pursuant to which certain events may increase the number of equity
securities issuable upon conversion. Preferff red shares, if issued, could have a preference with respect to liquidating distributions
or a preference with respect to dividend payments that could limit our ability to pay dividends to the holders of our common
stock. Our decision to issue securities in any futff urt e offering will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our
control, which may adversely affect the amount, timing or nature of our future offeff rings. Thus, holders of our common stock
bear the risk that our future offeff rings may reducd e the market price of our common stock and dilute their stockholdings in us.
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A sale oll f ao substantiatt l number of so hares of oo ur common stoctt k, or the perception thatt t such salesll mightgg occur, may ca ause the
price of oo ur common stoctt k to dtt ecldd inll e.

Future sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales might occur,
could cause the trading price of our common stock to decline. These sales, or the possibility that these sales may occur, also
might make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that we deem appropriate.

In connection with our initial public offeff ring (“IPO”), we entered into a stockholders’ agreement with certain holders of our
common stock, including investment funds and entities affiliated with either Warburr g Pincus or GTCR and members of our
management team, which we refer to as the “Stockholders’ Agreement.” Under the Stockholders’ Agreement, individual
stockholders who were members of our management before the IPO, and other persons related to these individuals, are subju ect
to contractuat l restrictions on transferff of shares of our common stock until November 19, 2026. These restrictions apply to
approximately 26,130,422 shares as of Februar ry 20, 2024, but may be waived at any time by a majority of the members of the
leadership development and compensation committee of the board of directors.

As of Februarr ry 20, 2024, the Sponsors own approximately 62.1% of our outstanding common stock and have rights to require
us to file registration statements covering their shares. The Sponsors and certain other stockholders could also require us to
include their shares in registration statements that we may file for ourselves or our stockholders. Additionally, the Sponsors and
our offiff cers and directors may sell shares into the public markets in accordance with the requirements of RulRR e 144 under the
Securities Act.

Any sales of securities by any of our stockholders described abovea could have a material adverse effect on the market price of
our common stock.

In the futff urt e, we may also issue securities in connection with investments or acquisitions. In particular, the number of shares of
our common stock issued in connection with an investment or acquisition could constitute a material portion of our then-
outstanding shares of our common stock. Any such issuance of additional securities in the future may result in additional
dilution to you or may adversely impact the price of our common stock.

Althll oughu we do not currentlytt rely on the “co“ ntrott lled companm y”n exemptm iott n, we are a “controllell d companm y”n withii in the
meaning of to hett Nasdaqdd corporate gtt overnance standardd ds and qualify fff orff exemptm iott ns from certain corporate gtt overnance
requirements.

Because the Sponsors own a majority of our outstanding common stock, we are presently a “controlled company” as that term
is set forff th in the Nasdaq corporrr ate governance standards. Under these rules, a company of which more than 50% of the voting
power is held by another person or group of persons acting together is a “controlled company” and may elect not to comply
with certain corpor rate governance requirements, including:

• the requirement that a majority of our board of directors consist of independent directors;

• the requirement that our director nominations be made, or recommended to the full board of directors, by our
independent directors or by a nominations committee that is comprised entirely of independent directors with a written
charter addressing the committee’s purposr e and responsibilities;

• the requirement that our compensation committee be composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter
addressing the committee’s purposrr e and responsibilities; and

• the requirement that we conduct an annual performance evaluation of the nominating and corporate governance and
compensation committees.

Although we presently qualify aff s a “controlled company,” we are not currently relying on this exemption and intend to continue
to comply fully with all corporr ate governance requirements forff non-controlled companies under the Nasdaq corporate
governance standards. If we were to elect at some point in the futff urt e to utilize some or all of these exemptions, however, our
stockholders may not have the same protections affoff rded to stockholders of companies that are subju ect to all of the Nasdaq
corporate governance requirements and investors’ perceptions of our corporate governance could be adversely affected by the
Sponsors’ significant ownership interest.
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If the ownershrr ip of our common stock contintt ues to btt e highlgg y cll oncentratedtt , idd t mii ay prevent minority stoctt kholdell rs from
infln uencing signigg fii cant corporate dtt ecidd siii ons and may ra esult ill n cii onfln icll ts of interest.tt

As of Februarr ry 20, 2024, the Sponsors own approximately 62.1% of our outstanding common stock and retain the right to
designate over a majoa rity of our directors. As a result, the Sponsors own shares sufficient forff the majority vote over all matters
requiring a stockholder vote. Our Stockholders’ Agreement contains agreements with respect to certain other matters, including
the election of directors; mergers, consolidations and acquisitions; the sale of all or substantially all of our assets and other
decisions affeff cting our capia tal strucr ture; the amendment of our amended and restated certificff ate of incorporr ation and our
amended and restated bylaws; the termination of our chief executive officer or designation of a new chief executive offiff cer;
changes in the composition of committees of our board of directors; entry ir nto or changes to certain compensation agreements;
and the issuance of additional shares of our common stock. This concentration of ownership, together with the Sponsors’ rights
under our Stockholders’ Agreement, may delay, deter or prevent acts that would be favff ored by our other stockholders. The
interests of the Sponsors may not always coincide with our interests or the interests of our other stockholders. For example,
because the Sponsors purchased their shares at prices substantially below the price at which shares were sold to the public in
our IPO and have held their shares forff a longer period, they may be more interested in selling our Company to an acquirer than
other investors or may want us to pursue strategies that deviate from the interests of other stockholders. In addition, under the
Stockholders’ Agreement we have agreed, subject to certain exceptions, to indemnify tff he Sponsors, and various affiff liated
persons and indirect equity holders of the Sponsors, from losses arising out of any threatened or actuat l litigation by reason of
the factff that the indemnified person is or was a holder of our common stock or of equity interests in Sotera Health Company.
Publu ic stockholders will not benefit froff m this indemnificff ation provision.

This concentration of ownership, together with the Sponsors’ rights under our Stockholders’ Agreement, may also have the
effeff ct of delaying, preventing or deterring a change in control. As a result, the market price of our common stock could decline
or stockholders might not receive a premium over the then-current market price of our common stock uponu a change in control.
In addition, this concentration of ownership, together with the Sponsors’ rights under our Stockholders’ Agreement, may
adversely affect the trading price of our common stock because investors may perceive disadvantages in owning shares in a
company with significant stockholders with correspondingly significant voting rights.

Certaitt n oii f oo ur stoctt kholdell rs have the rightgg to engage or invest in the same or similarll busineii sses as us.

The Sponsors have other investments and business activities in addition to their ownership of us. The Sponsors have the right,
and have no dutd y to absa tain from exercising such right, to engage or invest in the same or similar businesses as us, do business
with any of our customers or suppliers or employ or otherwise engage any of our offiff cers, directors or employees. If the
Sponsors or any of their officff ers, directors or employees acquire knowledge of a potential transaction that could be a corporrr ate
opportunity, they have no dutd y, to the fulff lest extent permitted by law, to offer such corporr ate opportunity to us, our stockholders
or our affiff liates. This right could adversely impact our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations if
attractive business opportunities are procured by the Sponsors or another party for their own benefitff rather than for ours.

In the event that any of our directors who is also a director, officer or employee of any Sponsor acquires knowledge of a
corporate opportunity or is offeff red a corporate opportunity, such person is deemed to have fully satisfied such person’s
fiduciary duties owed to us and is not liabla e to us, to the fulff lest extent permitted by law, if such Sponsor pursues or acquires the
corporate opportunity or does not present the corporate opportunity to us, provided that this knowledge was not acquired solely
in such person’s capacity as our director and such person acts in good faith.

Anti-takeover provisions in our amendeddd and restated certificff ate ott f io ncii orporrr atiott n, amended and restattt edtt bylaws and our
Stoctt kholdell rs’ Agreement, as well as Delaware law, could dll isdd courage a change in cii ontrol of our companm y on r a change in our
managea ment.tt

Our amended and restated certificff ate of incorporr ation and amended and restated bylaws, our Stockholders’ Agreement and
Delaware law contain provisions that might discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition, or other change in control that
stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which our stockholders might otherwise receive a premium forff
shares of our common stock. These provisions may also prevent or frustrate attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove
our management. These provisions include:

• limiting the liability of, aff nd providing indemnificff ation to, our directors and offiff cers;

• establishing a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which could delay the abia lity of
stockholders to change the membership of a majoa rity of our board of directors;
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• providing that directors may be removed only forff cause by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the
voting power of our outstanding common stock; provided that so long as investment funds and entities affiliated with
either Warburg Pincus or GTCR, collectively, hold at least 50% of the outstanding shares of our common stock, a
director designated by investment funds and entities affiliated with either Warburr g Pincus or GTCR, respectively, may
be removed with or without cause by the affiff rmative vote of the holders of at least a majoa rity of the votes that all the
stockholders would be entitled to cast in any annual election of directors or class of directors and with the consent of
Warburr g Pincus or GTCR, respectively;

• limiting the determination of the number of directors on our board of directors and the filliff ng of vacancies or newly
created seats on the board to our board of directors then in office; provided that forff so long as investment funds and
entities affiliaff ted with either Warburg Pincus or GTCR have the right to designate at least one director for election to
our board of directors, (i) any vacancies will be filff led in accordance with the designation provisions set forff th in the
Stockholders’ Agreement and (ii) the number of directors shall not exceed eleven without the consent of Warburr g
Pincus or GTCR;

• advance notice requirements appla icable to stockholders for matters to be brought before a meeting of stockholders and
requirements as to the form and content of a stockholders’ notice; provided that no advance notice shall be required forff
nominations of candidates forff election to our board of directors pursuant to the Stockholders’ Agreement;

• requiring the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of our outstanding common stock to amend
certain provisions of our amended and restated certificff ate of incorporr ation and amended and restated bylaws; provided
that so long as investment funds and entities affiff liated with either Warburr g Pincus or GTCR, collectively, hold at least
a majority of our outstanding capia tal stock, only a majoa rity stockholder vote requirement would appla y to such matters;

• providing that for so long as investment funds and entities affiff liated with either Warburr g Pincus or GTCR have the
right (individually) to designate at least three directors forff election to our board of directors, certain board approvals,
including amendments to our amended and restated certificff ate of incorporr ation or amended and restated bylaws and
certain specified corporate transactions, including certain acquisitions, mergers, other business combination
transactions and dispositions, may be effeff cted only with the affiff rmative vote of 75% of our board of directors, in
addition to any other vote required by appla icable law;

• providing that for so long as investment funds and entities affiff liated with Warburr g Pincus have the right to designate at
least one director for election to our board of directors and for so long as investment funds and entities affiliated with
GTCR have the right to designate one director for election to our board of directors, in each case, a quorumrr of our
board of directors (and committees of the board of directors on which a director designated by Warburr g Pincus or
GTCR will serve) will not exist without at least one director designee of each of Warburr g Pincus and GTCR present at
such meeting; provided that if a meeting of our board of directors (or a committee of the board of directors) fails to
achieve a quorumr due to the absa ence of a director designee of Warburr g Pincus or GTCR, as applicable, the presence of
a director designee of Warburr g Pincus or GTCR, as applicable, will not be required in order for a quorumrr to exist at
the next duld y noticed meeting of our board of directors (or a committee thereof);

• the right to issue blank check preferred stock without stockholder appra oval, which could be used to dilute the stock
ownership of a potential hostile acquirer or adopt a stockholder rights plan;

• a requirement that our stockholders may only take action at annual or special meetings of our stockholders and may
not act by written consent; provided that, for so long as investment funds and entities affiliated with either Warburg
Pincus or GTCR, collectively, beneficially own a majoa rity of our outstanding capital stock, a meeting and vote of
stockholders may be dispensed with, and the action may be taken without prior notice and without such meeting and
vote if a written consent is signed by the holders of outstanding stock having not less than the minimum number of
votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at the meeting of stockholders;

• limiting the ability of stockholders to call and bring business beforff e special meetings; provided that forff so long as
investment funds and entities affilff iated with either Warburr g Pincus or GTCR, collectively, beneficially own a majoa rity
of our outstanding capia tal stock, special meetings of our stockholders may be called by the affiff rmative vote of the
holders of a majority of our outstanding voting stock; and

• limiting the forum to the Delaware Court of Chancery orr r Federal Court forff certain types of actions and proceedings
that may be initiated against us by stockholders.

In addition, our amended and restated certificff ate of incorporrr ation contains a provision that provides us with protections similar
to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”), and prevents us froff m engaging in a business combination
with a person (excluding the Sponsors and any of their respective direct or indirect transferff ees and any group as to which such
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persons are a party) who acquires at least 15% of our common stock forff a period of three years froff m the date such person
acquired such common stock, unless board or stockholder appra oval is obtained prior to the acquisition.

These provisions might discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of our company or a change in our management. For
example, because investment funds and entities affiliated with either Warburr g Pincus or GTCR together own a majoa rity of the
voting power of our common stock, they could prevent a third party froff m acquiring us, even if the third party’s offeff r may be
considered beneficial by many of our stockholders. The existence of these provisions could adversely affect the voting power of
holders of common stock and limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the futff urt e forff shares of our common stock.

Our amendeddd and restated certifii cate of incorporatiott n desdd ignagg tes spes cifii c courts att s thett exclusive forff um for certain litigii atiott n
that may ba e iniii tiii ati edtt by our stockhokk lderdd s,rr which could limit our stockhokk lderdd s’rr abiliii tieii s to ott btaitt n aii favorable jll udicdd ial forff um
for disdd pus tes with us or our dirdd ectortt s,rr offiff cers orr r employeo es.

Our amended and restated certificff ate of incorporr ation provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an
alternative forff umrr , the sole and exclusive forum, to the fulff lest extent permitted by law, forff (1) any derivative action or
proceeding brought on our behalf, (ff 2) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our current or
former directors, offiff cers or other employees or stockholders to us or our stockholders, (3) any action asserting a claim against
us or any of our directors or officff ers or other employees or stockholders arising pursuant to, any action to interprrr et, appla y,
enforce any right, obligation or remedy under, any provision of the DGCL our amended and restated certificate of incorporrr ation
or amended and restated bylaws, (4) any action asserting a claim that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine, or (5) any
other action asserting an “internal corporate claim” under the DGCL shall be the Court of Chancery or f the State of Delaware (or
any state or federal court located within the State of Delaware if the Court of Chancery dr oes not have jurisdiction) (the
“Delaware Forumr Provision”). Notwithstanding the forff egoing, our amended and restated certificff ate of incorporr ation provides
that the Delaware Forumrr Provision will not apply to suits brought to enforce a dutd y or liabia lity created by the Exchange Act.
Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive fedff eral jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liabia lity
created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporrr ation
further provides that unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forff umr , the federal district courts of the
United States of America shall, to the fulff lest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum forff resolving any
complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act (the “Federal Forumr Provision”).

The Delaware Forumr Provision and the Federal Forum Provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial
forum that the stockholder believes might be favorable for disputes with us or our directors, offiff cers or other employees, which
may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors, offiff cers and other employees. Alternatively, if a court were to finff d the
Delaware Forum Provision or the Federal Forum Provision to be inapplicable or unenforff ceable in an action, we may incur
additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm our business, financial condition
or results of operations. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in our shares of capia tal stock shall
be deemed to have notice of and consented to the Delaware Forum Provision and the Federal Forumr Provision, but will not be
deemed to have waived our compliance with the fedff eral securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

We do not antictt ipate ptt aying any dividends odd n our common stoctt k in tii hett foreseeable fll utff ure, and, consequentlytt , syy tockhokk lderdd s’rr
abilitii y ttt o att chieve a return on thett ir investment will dll epdd end on appra eciati iott n in tii hett price of oo ur common stoctt k.

We do not expect to declare or pay dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. We currently expect to use any
cash flow generated by operations to pay forff our operations, repay existing indebtedness and grow our business. Any decisions
to declare and pay dividends in the futff urt e will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on, among
other things, our results of operations, finff ancial condition, cash requirements, contractuat l restrictions, restrictions imposed by
applicable law and other facff tors that our board of directors may deem relevant. Our ability to pay dividends on our common
stock is limited by the terms of the Combined Senior Secured Credit Facilities. As a result, capia tal appra eciation, if any, of our
common stock will be the sole source of potential gain forff the forff eseeable future, and stockholders will have to sell some or all
of their common stock holdings to generate cash floff w froff m their investment.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not appla icable.
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Item 1C. Cybersecurity

We rely on information technology (“IT”) systems to conduct business, including but not limited to, interacting with customers
and suppliers, fulff filling orders, generating invoices, collecting and making payments, fulff filling contractuat l obligations,
communicating with internal and external stakeholders, and maintaining our business and financial records. In addition, we rely
on networks and services, including internet sites, cloud and softwff are-as-a-service solutions, data hosting and processing
facilities and tools and other hardware, software and technical appla ications and platforff ms, some of which are managed, hosted,
provided and/or used by third-parties or their vendors. As a result, the Company is subju ect to various risks related to
vulnerabia lities, threats and attacks on these IT systems. See Item 1A, “Risks Related to the Company – “Our business may be
subju ect to system interruptu ions, cyber security breaches and unauthorized data disclosures.” under Item 1A. Risk Factors forff
additional discussion of these risks.

Cybersecurity Riskii Management and Stratt tegye

Identifyiff ng and assessing cybersecurity risk is fully integrated into our overall risk management systems and processes. The
Company is committed to developing and maintaining cybersecurity processes that protect the confidff entiality, integrity and
availabia lity of Company, employee, customer and partner information against a growing number of increasingly sophisticated
cybersecurity threats and threat actors. Our cybersecurity program is designed to protect our infrastructurt e froff m potential
threats, to allow us to assess, identify and manage material risks from cybersecurity threats and to endeavor to secure the
integrity of our data systems using techniques, hardware, and software typical of companies of our size and scope, which are
described furff ther below. For example, we leverage the National Institute of Standards and Technology Cybersecurity
Framework’s (“NIST CSF”) principles in developing our cybersecurity program to monitor our security environment and
manage risk.

The Company has adopted a risk-based strategy designed to achieve a targeted and cost-effective appra oach to managing
cybersecurity risks that strengthens our abilities to prevent, detect, and respond to cyber-attacks, breaches, or threats. The
Company has configff ured its IT environment, where possible, to restrict access using a least privileged methodology. We use
various technologies and monitoring capaa bia lities to detect anomalies and track information and assets. We have implemented a
cybersecurity awareness program consisting of frequent training, phishing exercises, and bulletins regarding pertinent
cybersecurity developments. We maintain and regularly update incident response, disaster recovery and business continuity
plans and procedurd es. Our IT specialists subsu cribe to threat intelligence feeds and are members of cybersecurity-related
associations such as the Inforff mation Systems Audit and Control Association , the Computing Technology Industry Ar ssociation
and the Cloud Security Alliance. We also retain independent experts to assess our cybersecurity programs and the potential
vulnerabia lities of our IT systems to unauthorized access and other intrusrr ions. We also maintain insurance coverage for cyber
and data security risks of an amount and subject to conditions and exceptions that we believe are customary fr orff companies like
ours, but there can be no assurance that our levels of coverage are adequate or that we will be able to continue to maintain our
existing insurance or obtain comparabla e insurance at a reasonabla e cost.

Material riskii skk

Although we believe that our resiliency planning and security controls are appra opriate to our exposures to system outages,
service interruptu ions, security incidents and breaches, our information technology systems remain vulnerabla e to attacks by
increasingly sophisticated actors who attempt to cause harm to, or otherwise interfere with, the normal use of our systems. Like
other companies with international operations, we have been subju ected to targeted and non-targeted attacks and other cyber
incidents and continue to face numerous cybersecurity threats on a regular basis, including regular attempts to penetrate our
information technology infrastrucr ture and breaches of our security systems by our employees, both accidental and intentional.
Our suppliers, contractors, service providers, and other third parties with whom we do business also experience cyber threats
and attacks that are similar in freff quency and sophistication. Moreover, in many cases, the Company relies on controls put in
place by our supplu iers, contractors, service providers, and other third parties to defenff d against and otherwise respond to cyber
threats and attacks, which may prove insufficff ient.

Our technology systems and infrastructurt e are also potentially vulnerabla e to computer viruses, breakdowns or other
interruptu ions caused by firff es, naturt al disasters, losses of power, system malfunctions or other disruptu ions. IT security breaches
by third parties who are abla e to penetrate our systems without authorization or data privacy breaches by employees or others
with authorized access pose the risk that sensitive data may be exposed to unauthorized persons or the public, rendered
inaccessible or permanently lost. The increasing use and evolution of technology creates additional opportunities forff the
intentional or unintentional dissemination or destruction of confidff ential or proprietary information stored in our systems or
portabla e media or storage devices. We may also experience business interruptu ions (including, but not limited to, the partial or
complete shutdown of one or more of our facilities), theftsff of information or reputational damage froff m industrial or nation-state
espionage attacks, ransomware, other malware or other cyber incidents or data breaches, which may compromise our system
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infrastructurt e or lead to data breaches, either internally or at our third-party providers or other business partners. Such incidents
could compromise our trade secrets or other confidff ential information and result in such information being disclosed to third
parties and becoming less valuabla e. Additionally, many of our employees continue to work remotely either part-time or full-
time, which may increase the risk of data breaches or other types of cyber incidents.

The Company has not experienced any material cybersecurity incidents that caused us to incur any material expenses or
materially affeff cted our business, results of operations or financial condition, but we cannot assure that our business, results of
operations and finff ancial condition will not be materially affeff cted in the futff urt e by cybersecurity risks or future incidents.
Breaches in IT security, system interruptu ions and unauthorized disclosures of data, whether perceived or actuat l, could adversely
affeff ct our business, assets, revenues, results of operations, brands and reputation and result in fines, litigation, regulatoryr
proceedings and investigations, increased insurance premiums, remediation efforts, indemnificff ation expenditures, lost revenues
and other potential liabia lities. Although we have taken and will continue to take significant steps to protect the security and
integrity of our information and although we have implemented policies and procedurd es to enhance data privacy and security,
there can be no assurance that our effoff rts will prevent breakdowns, system faiff lures, breaches of our systems or other cyber
incidents or otherwise be fully effeff ctive. Any such breakdown, breach or incident could adversely affect our business,
prospects, financial condition or results of operations, and any insurance that we may have forff cyber incidents may not cover
such risks or be suffiff cient to compensate us forff losses that may occur.

Cybersecurity Governance

Our Chief Information Officer (“CIO”) is responsible for assessing and managing cybersecurity risks in collabora ation with the
Senior Director of IT Governance, Service Delivery and the Senior Director of Global Infraff structurt e, and Senior Information
Security Architect, who manage our day-to-day cybersecurity-related matters and keep abreast of cybersecurity news, events
and incidents through regular course monitoring and updau tes. These individuals average over 25 years of professional
experience in various roles across multiple industries involving managing information security, developing cyber security
strategy, implementing cybersecurity programs, and managing multiple industry ar nd regulatory cr ompliance environments
(including over 15 years of collective experience working forff public companies in similar roles prior to joining the Company).
Our Senior Inforff mation Security Architect has several information technology-related certificff ations, including as a Certifieff d
Information Systems Security Profesff sional (“CISSP”).

When detected, suspected cybersecurity threats are escalated to the CIO and incident response team. The CIO then creates a
Cybersecurity Incident Response Team (“CSIRT”) which, depending on the incident, comprises the incident coordinator,
cybersecurity staff,ff legal counsel and other stakeholders as appropriate. The CSIRT investigates and manages the impact of
cybersecurity incidents in accordance with our security incident response procedurd es. The incident response plan provides forff
our CIO and our CIO’s team to work closely with our Chief Financial Offiff cer, General Counsel and other key stakeholders, as
appropriate, to assess the materiality of the incident and any impact to the Company’s operations or financial position. Pursuant
to the incident response plan and the Company’s Disclosure Controls and Procedurd es, potentially material cyber incidents are
escalated to the Company’s Disclosure Committee to evaluate, in consultation with the Chair of the Audit Committee of our
Board of Directors as needed, whether an incident is required to be reported on a Form 8-K.

Our Board and the Board’s Audit Committee oversee the Company’s enterprrr ise risk management (“ERM”) program, including
the Company’s assessments of cybersecurity risks and exposures and the Company’s processes to safegff uard assets and manage
material cybersecurity risks. On an annual basis, the Board reviews the Company’s principal current and futff urt e risk exposures,
including cybersecurity risks and exposures. The Audit Committee bears principal responsibility for overseeing the Company’s
majoa r finff ancial risk and enterprr ise exposures and the steps management has taken to monitor and control such exposures,
including an annual session with our CIO on the Company’s procedures and policies forff assessing and managing cybersecurity
risks and disclosing any material cybersecurity incidents. In perforff ming these oversight functions, the Board and Audit
Committee rely on advice, reports and opinions of management, counsel and our internal and external auditors, including mid-
year and year-end cyber inquiries by our external auditors on various aspects of the Company’s cybersecurity program,
processes and training.

Use of Io ndeII pee ndent Expex rtstt

The Company engaged an independent expert to conduct annual external and internal penetration tests beginning in the fourff th
quarter of 2021 and to assess our cybersecurity program against the NIST CSF in late 2022. We plan to continue to engage
independent experts to periodically test our cybersecurity policies forff their effectiveness.
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Item 2. Properties

Our corporrr ate headquarters is in Broadview Heights, Ohio, our Sterigenics headquarters is in Oakbrk ook, Illinois, our Nordion
headquarters is in Kanata, Ontario and our Nelson Labsa headquarters is in Taylorsville, Utah. As of December 31, 2023, we
operated 63 faciff lities in North America, South America, Europe and Asia. The folff lowing tabla e identifieff d the number of owned
and leased facilities, other than our headquarters listed abovea . We believe that our facilities are adequate for our current needs
and that suitabla e additional or substitute space will be availabla e as needed to accommodate planned expansion of our operations.

Segmentg (1) Owned Facilities
Owned/Leased
Facilities(2) Leased Facilities

Sterigenics 29 3 16
Nelson Labsa 5 1 7
Nordion 1 — 1

(1) Seven of our Sterigenics and Nelson Labsa facilities are located at the same address but are considered separate facilities
because they require separate infrastructurt e. Two of our Sterigenics faciff lities are located at the same address but are
considered separate facilities because they provide different sterilization modalities and require separate infrastructurt e.

(2) Owned/ledd ased facilities are comprised of multiple buildings, with some leased and some owned.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be subju ect to various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business, including
claims relating to personal injury,r property damage, workers’ compensation, employee safetff y and our disclosures as a Nasdaq-
listed, publicly-traded company. In addition, from time to time, we receive communications from government or regulatoryr
agencies concerning investigations or allegations of noncompliance with laws or regulations in jurisdictions in which we
operate. At this time, and except as is noted herein, we are unabla e to predict the outcome of, aff nd cannot reasonabla y estimate the
impact of, aff ny pending litigation matters, matters concerning allegations of non-compliance with laws or regulations and
matters concerning other allegations of other improprieties, or the incidence of any such matters in the futff urt e. Information
regarding our legal proceedings is included below.

Legal Proceedings Described in Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies” of Our Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial statements forff the year ended December 31, 2023
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K includes inforff mation on legal proceedings that constitute material contingencies
for finff ancial reporting purposrr es that could have a material effect on our financial condition or results of operations. This item
should be read in conjunction with Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies” for inforff mation regarding the folff lowing legal
proceedings, which information is incorporr rated into this item by referff ence:

• Ethylene Oxide Tort Litigation – Illinois, Georgia and New Mexico;
• Insurance Coverage for Environmental Liabia lities; and
• Sotera Health Company Securities Litigation and Related Matters.

Legal Proceedings That Are Not Described in Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies” to Our Consolidated
Financial Statements

In addition to the matters identifieff d in Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2023 contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and incorporr ated into this item by referff ence,
the folff lowing matters also constitute material pending legal proceedings, other than ordinary course litigation incidental to our
business, to which we are or any of our subsu idiaries is a party.

Zoetermeer, Hr olHH land Criminal Proceedings and Criminal Financial InvII estigati ion

In 2010, the Dutch Publu ic Prosecution Service started criminal proceedings against our subsu idiary DEROSS Holding B.V.
(“DEROSS”), in relation to alleged environmental permit violations for EO emissions in the period froff m 2004 to 2009 at its
Zoetermeer processing facility. We agreed to defenff d and indemnify tff he two individuals overseeing environmental compliance
during the time period of the alleged claims by the Publu ic Prosecutor. In November 2010, the Public Prosecution Service also
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started a criminal finff ancial investigation against DEROSS to determine whether it obtained illegal advantages by committing
the alleged criminal offenff ses noted above.

In Februarr ry 2018, DEROSS and the two individuals received favorable judgments from the trial court, which did not hold any
of them responsible for the alleged criminal offenff ses. In March 2018, the Public Prosecutor filed an appea al. In May 2023, the
Publu ic Prosecutor agreed to a resolution of the proceedings against DEROSS and the two individuals. The resolution was
completed in December 2023, with the Public Prosecutor not appealing furff ther against the 2018 favorable judgments of the trial
court, and DEROSS making a contribution of €990,000 to a charity, which was fundeff d froff m an escrow established in 2011 to
satisfy indemnity claims for losses related to this matter.

While we have received letters in past years froff m a small number of individuals claiming to live or work in the vicinity of the
Zoetermeer facility, no civil claims have been filed against DEROSS or us. There can be no assurance that individuals living in
the vicinity of the Zoetermeer faciff lity will not file civil claims at some time in the futff urt e.

Notice of Vo ioVV lation at Queensbury,r New YorYY k Err thylh ene OxiOO de Sterilization FacFF ility

In late May 2023, Sterigenics’ Queensbury,rr New York faciff lity experienced a power outage that resulted in a failure to restart
the faciff lity’s scrubr ber system (part of the faciff lity’s emission control systems). The disruptu ion of the facility’s scrubbeu r lasted forff
approximately 48 hours. Upon discovering the disruptu ion, the facff ility restarted the scrubbeu r to control emissions within the
system and then ceased operations. Operating without the scrubber r resulted in nine intermittent releases of EO over a period of
48 hours froff m the 78-foot stack at the facility.

Sterigenics promptly notifieff d the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation (“DEC”) and US EPA about the
failure of the scrubberr r system and resulting releases of EO. Sterigenics implemented remedial measures to prevent a recurrence
in the event of future power outages and, with the DEC’s approval, resumed operations at the Queensbury fr aciff lity 12 days after
ceasing operations. In May 2023, Sterigenics received a Notice of Violation (“NOV”) froff m the DEC. In September 2023, the
DEC offered to settle the NOV for an immaterial amount plus proposed requirements to implement additional emissions
monitoring and back-up pu ower capabilities at the facility. Settlement negotiations are continuing.

Notices of Violation at VerVV non and Ontario, CalCC ifornia Ethytt lene Oxide Sdd teS rilization FacFF ilities

In 2022, the South Coast Air Quality Management District (“SCAQMD”) in Southern California initiated an investigation into
EO sterilization facff ilities located in the SCAQMD region, including Sterigenics’ facilities in Vernon and Ontario, Califorff nia. In
connection with this investigation, SCAQMD issued NOVs to the Vernon and Ontario facilities alleging violations of
SCAQMD operational, maintenance, permitting and reporting requirements and that levels of ambient EO detected by
SCAQMD durd ing 2022 caused a public nuisance forff off-sff ite workers around the faciff lities in violation of general prohibitions on
emissions. Sterigenics disputes the allegations. In December 2023, Sterigenics offered to settle the NOVs for an immaterial
amount. Settlement negotiations are continuing.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not appla icable.
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Part II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market Information forff Common Stock

The Company’s common stock is listed on the Nasdaq under the ticker symbol “SHC.”

Holders

As of Februarr ry 20, 2024, we had appra oximately 83 holders of record of our common stock. This number does not include the
beneficial owners of our common stock who hold their shares through banks, brokers or other finff ancial institutions.

Dividends

We do not currently expect to pay any dividends on our common stock. Instead, we intend to use any futff urt e earnings for the
operation and growth of our business and the repayment of indebtedness.

Future cash dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon, among other things, our
financial condition, earnings, capital requirements, level of indebtedness, statutt ory arr nd contractuat l restrictions applicable to the
payment of dividends and other considerations that our board of directors may deem relevant. The timing and amount of future
dividend payments will be at the discretion of our board of directors.

Because we are a holding company and have no direct operations, we will only be abla e to pay dividends from our availabla e cash
on hand and any funds we receive froff m our subsu idiaries. The agreements governing our existing indebtedness contain negative
covenants that limit, among other things, our ability to pay cash dividends on our common stock, and the terms of any futff urt e
loan agreement into which we may enter or any additional debt securities we may issue are likely to contain similar restrictions
on the payment of dividends. In addition, Delaware law imposes requirements that may restrict our ability to pay dividends.

Stock Perforff mance Graph

The folff lowing graph compares the cumulative total returt n to stockholders on our common stock relative to the cumulative total
returns of the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Standard and Poors (“S&P”) 500 Global Health Care Index. An investment of
$100 (with reinvestment of all dividends) is assumed to have been made in our common stock and in each index on November
20, 2020, the date our common stock began trading on the Nasdaq, and its relative performance is tracked through
December 31, 2023. The returns shown are based on historical results and are not intended to suggest future performance.
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The grapha and other information furff nished under this Part II Item 5 of this annual report on Form 10-K shall not be deemed to
be “soliciting material” or to be “fileff d” with the SEC or subju ect to Regulation 14A or 14C under, or to the liabia lities of Section
18 of, tff he Exchange Act.

Item 6. [Reserved]

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should rll ead thet following discii ussion and analysll is in conjunction with ot ur consolidatdd ed financial statements att nd related
notes included elsewhere in this Annual Repore t on ForFF m 10-K. This discii ussion and analysll is contains forward-looking
statements that are based on management’s current expectations, estimates and projections about our business and operations.
Our actual results may da iffer materially fll roff m thostt e currently anticipated and expressed in such forff ward-ldd ooking statements att s
a result of vo arious factors,rr including the facff tors we describe in Item 1A, “Ri“ skii Factorsrr ” and elsell where in thit s Aii nnual Repore t
on Form 10-K.

OVERVIEW

We are a leading global provider of mission-critical end-to-end sterilization solutions, lab testing and advisory services for the
healthcare industry.rr We are driven by our mission: Safeguarding Global Health®. We provide end-to-end sterilization as well as
microbiological and analytical lab ta esting and advisory services to help ensure that medical, pharmaceutical and foodff products
are safe fff orff healthcare practitioners, patients and consumers in the United States and around the world. Our customers include
over 40 of the top 50 medical device companies and nine of the top ten global pharmaceutical companies (based on revenue).
Our services are an essential aspect of our customers’ manufacff turing processes and supplu y chains, helping to ensure sterilized
medical products reach healthcare practitioners and patients. Most of these services are necessary for our customers to satisfy
applicable government requirements.
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We are a trusted partner to appra oximately 5,000 customers in over 50 countries. We give our customers confidff ence that their
products meet regulatory, safetff y and effeff ctiveness requirements. With our industry-r recognized scientificff and technological
expertise, we help to ensure the safetff y of millions of patients and healthcare practitioners around the world every yr ear. Across
our 63 facilities worldwide, we have over 3,000 employees who are dedicated to safety and quality.

We serve our customers throughout their product lifecff ycles, from product design to manufactff urt ing and delivery,r helping to
ensure the sterility, effectiveness and safety of their products for the end user. We operate across two core businesses:
sterilization services and lab sa ervices. Each of our businesses has a longstanding record and is a leader in its respective market,
supporu ted and connected by our core capabilities including deep end market, regulatory,r technical and logistics expertise. The
combination of Sterigenics, our terminal sterilization business, and Nordion, our Co-60 supply business, makes us the only
vertically integrated global gamma sterilization provider in the sterilization industry.rr This provides us with additional insights
and allows us to better serve our customers. For finff ancial reporting purposr es, our sterilization services business breaks out into
two reportabla e segments, Sterigenics and Nordion, and our lab sa ervices business constitutes a third reportabla e segment, Nelson
Labsa .

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded net revenues of $1,049.3 million, net income of $51.4 million, Adjud sted
Net Income of $230.1 million and Adjud sted EBITDA of $528.0 million. Adjud sted Net Income and Adjud sted EBITDA are
financial measures not based on any standardized methodology prescribed by U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(“GAAP”). For the definition of Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA and the reconciliation of these non-GAAP
measures from net income (loss), please see “Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”

TRENDS AND KEY FACTORS AFFECTING OUR RESULTS OF OPERATRR IONS

We expect that our performance and finff ancial condition will continue to be driven by the key trends impacting our industries,
customers and their end markets as outlined in Item 1, “Business”. In addition, we believe the folff lowing trends and key factors
have underpinned our recent operating results and may continue to affeff ct our performance and finff ancial condition in futff urt e
periods.

• Business and market conditions. Consolidated revenue and total segment income forff the year ended December 31,
2023 increased froff m the year ended December 31, 2022, which was primarily a result of favff orable pricing across all
three segments, partially offsff et by volume decline and an unfavff orable business mix.

As discussed i In tem 1A, “Risk Factors”, a portion of our supplu y of Co-60 is generated by RusRR sian nuclear reactors.
We contiinue to mo initor thhe poten iti lal fo dr diisruptu iio in in thhe su lpplu yy of Co-60 from RusRR isian nucllear reactors. hThere was
no iimpact to our su lpplu yy or revenue iin hthe ye ear ended December 31, 2023.

• Investment initiatives.We continue to advance our growth-related investments, including our three active capacity
expansion projeo cts within the Sterigenics segment and Co-60 development projeo cts in the Nordion segment. In
addition, Nelson Labsa has progressed with expansion efforts to support pharma testing services alongside
enhancements to its lab information management system. For the year ended December 31, 2023, capital expenditures
increased by $32.6 million compared to the year ended December 31, 2022.

• Disciplined and strategic M&A activity. We remain committed to our highly disciplined acquisition strategy and
continue to seek suitable acquisition targets.

• Litigation costs. We are currently the subject of tort lawsuits alleging personal injury br y purporr ted exposure to EO
used, emitted or released by current facilities in Atlanta, Georgia and Santa Teresa, New Mexico and our former
facility in Willowbrook, Illinois. In addition, we are defenff dants in a lawsuit brought by the State of New Mexico
Attorney General alleging that emissions of EO from our Santa Teresa faciff lity have deteriorated the air quality in
Santa Teresa and surrounding communities and materially contributed to increased health risks suffeff red by residents of
those communities. We maintain that these facff ilities did not pose and do not pose any safety risk to their surrounding
communities. We deny the allegations in these lawsuits and are vigorously defending against these claims. See Item 3,
“Legal Proceedings” and Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial statements.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and 2021, we recorded costs of $72.1 million, $72.6 million and
$45.7 million, respectively, representing profesff sional feesff and other expenses related to litigation associated with our
EO sterilization facff ilities (including $26.8 million of iinterest expense, net on Term Loan B for thhe yyear enddedd
December 31, 2023 attribibut bablle to hth le loan proceedds hthat were us ded to fu dnd hthe $$408.0 ilmillilion lIllilin iois E lO litigitigatiion
se lttlement).)
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With respect to the litigation related to our Atlanta, Georgia faciff lity, in October 2023, two subsidiaries of Sotera
Health Company, Sotera Health LLC and Sterigenics U.S., LLC (together with Sotera Health LLC, the “Settling
Defendants”), agreed to pay $35.0 million to settle 79 of the Atlanta Cases, including a personal injury crr ase that was
scheduled to begin trial in the State Court of Gwinnett County that month, and 78 other cases being pursued by the
same Plaintiff’sff counsel in the personal injury cr ase that was scheduled to begin trial in October 2023 (the “Atlanta
Settlement”). The Atlanta Settlement was completed in January 2024, with the settling plaintiffs agreeing to file the
necessary dismissals and, where required, motions for court appra oval.

The Company denies any liabia lity and the Atlanta Settlement explicitly provides that the settlement is not to be
construerr d as an admission of any liabia lity or that emissions from Sterigenics’ Atlanta faciff lity have ever
posed any safetff y hazard to the surrounding communities.

With respect to the litigation related to our former Willowbrook, Illinois faciff lity, in 2023, the Settling Defenff dants
completed a settlement resolving 880 Willowbrook Cases forff $408.0 million, including the two cases in which there
were jury trials during 2022 (the “Willowbrook Settlement”). On July 6, 2023, the settled claims were dismissed with
prejudice, with the Circuit Court of Cook County retaining jurisdiction to adjudicate disputes over liens on settlement
proceeds to be paid to settling plaintiffs aff nd to oversee the administration of the settlements of wrongfulff death cases.

The Willowbrook Settlement Agreements provided a pathway to comprehensively resolve the claims pending and
threatened against the Company in Illinois and thereby enabla ed the Company to focus its attention on operating the
business. The Company denies any liabia lity and maintains that its Willowbrook, Illinois operations did not pose a
safety risk to the community in which it operated and believes the evidence ultimately would have compelled the
rejee ction of the plaintiffsff ’ claims.

See Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial statements forff additional information on
EO tort litigation.

• Borrowings, financing costs and finff ancial leverage. On February 2r 3, 2023 the Company successfulff ly closed on a
new senior secured Term Loan B facility in an aggregate principal amount of $500.0 million. The Company used the
proceeds of this debt to pay down existing borrowings under the Company’s Revolving Credit Facility, to fundff the
$408.0 million EO litigation settlement in Cook County, Illinois and for other general corporrr ate purposr es.

On March 21, 2023, the Company also entered into an Incremental Facility Amendment to the First Lien Credit
Agreement (“Revolving Credit Facility Amendment”), which provides forff an increase in the commitments under the
existing revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of $76.3 million. The Revolving Credit Facility
Amendment also provides additional commitments forff the issuance of letters of credit under the Revolving Credit
Facility Amendment, and the aggregate amount of the revolving commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility is
$423.8 million.

COMPONENTS OF OUR RESULTS OF OPERATRR IONS

Net Revenues

Service revenues consist of revenue generated froff m contract sterilization and lab ta esting and advisory services within our
Sterigenics and Nelson Labsa segments, respectively. Service revenues also consist of Co-60 installation and disposal revenues
and gamma irradiation system refurff bir shments and installation services within our Nordion segment. Product revenues consist of
revenues generated from sales of Co-60 radiation sources and gamma irradiation systems. Provisions for discounts, rebates to
customers, and other adjud stments are provided forff as reductions in net revenues. Refunds, returt ns, warranties and other related
obligations are not material to any of our business units, nor do we incur material incremental costs to secure customer
contracts.

Cost of Revenues

Our cost of revenues consists primarily of direct materials, utilities, labor and related benefit costs, and depreciation and
amortization. Although the cost of utilities and direct materials can fluctuate, the remaining components of cost of revenues are
generally more stable. Direct material costs relating to service revenues primarily includes EO gas, nitrogen gas and Co-60. The
physical decay of Co-60 assets is included within depreciation expense as a cost of revenue. Direct material costs relating to
product revenues also include the costs associated with acquiring Co-60 in finff ished or semi-finished form, acquiring Co-59 in a
form ready forff insertion into reactors forff conversion into Co-60, the reactor time and associated services to convert Co-59 into
Co-60, and parts and equipment associated with building and maintaining gamma irradiation systems.
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Operating Expenses

SG&A Expexx nses

SG&A primarily consists of compensation and benefitff s costs and general operating and administrative expenses, including
profesff sional service fees (which include finance and legal costs), travel and entertainment expenses, and other general and
administrative expenses. Share-based compensation expense is also included in SG&A.

Amortizatiott n of Io ntII antt gibli e All ssets

Amortization of intangible assets primarily consists of expense associated with customer relationship intangibles, the majoa rity
of which relate to the fair values attributed to these assets upon the recapia talization of the Company in connection with the
acquisition by the Sponsors in 2015. These customer relationship intangibles were initially assigned a weighted average useful
life of ten years and have a remaining usefulff life of approximately two years. These customer relationship intangible assets
account for $49.0 million of our current annual amortization expense and are expected to be fully amortized in 2025.
Amortization expense fluff ctuat tes when we have an acquisition, disposition, impairment charge, or as their useful lives expire.
We expect intangible assets related to futff urt e acquisitions and the associated amortization expense to increase over time as we
execute on our strategy to pursue acquisition targets that are complementary tr o our businesses.

Impaim rmii ent

We review tangible and intangible assets for impairment on a regular basis.

Operating Income

Operating income represents gross profit,ff less SG&A, amortization of intangible assets and impairment charges.

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net, represents interest paid or accruing on our outstanding indebtedness and the amortization of debt discount
and debt issuance costs. Interest expense is affected by changes in average outstanding indebtedness (including finance lease
obligations) and variable interest rates. We present interest expense net of interest income, which primarily consists of interest
earned on cash on hand.

Illinois EO litigation settlement

On January 9, 2023, the Company reached agreements to settle appra oximately 880 pending and threatened EO claims against
the Settling Defenff dants in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois, and US District Court forff the Northern District of Illinois.
Under the terms of the agreements, the Company paid $407.7 million to settle the claims.

Georgia EO litigation settlement

On October 16, 2023, the Company reached an agreement to resolve 79 EO claims against the Settling Defendant in the State of
Georgia. Under the terms of the agreements, the Company paid $35.0 million to settle the claims.

Impairment of investment in unconsolidated affiff liate

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we recorded an impairment charge of $9.6 million related to a joint venturt e
investment, which was acquired as part of the 2020 acquisition of Iotron Industries Canada, Inc. (“Iotron”). Due to a shift iff n
business strategy, the joint venturt e will not proceed, and our joint venture partner will continue to rely on our other existing
operating faciff lities. Based on these facts and circumstances, we concluded that the investment was impaired.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net primarily consists of changes in the fair value of the embedded derivatives in Nordion’s contracts, the net
impact of pension related benefits and income related to deferred income on a lease associated with the 2018 divestiture of the
Medical Isotopes business.

Provision (Benefitff ) forff Income Taxes

Provision (benefit)ff for income taxes consists primarily of income taxes in forff eign jurisdictions and U.S. fedff eral and state
income taxes.
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Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests

We conduct our operations through our subsu idiaries. As of December 31, 2023, our consolidated subsu idiaries were wholly
owned by us. In the second quarter of 2021, we purchased the outstanding noncontrolling interests of 15% and 33% in our two
China subsidiaries. Prior to our acquisition of these noncontrolling interests, we consolidated the results of operations of these
subsu idiaries with our results of operations and refleff cted the noncontrolling interests on our Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) as net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests.

On March 11, 2021, we purchased the 15% noncontrolling interest that remained froff m the August 2018 acquisition of Gibraltar
Labora atories, Inc. (known as Nelson Laboratories Fairfield, Inc.) (“Nelson Labs Fairfield”). As the purchase of this
noncontrolling interest was mandatorily redeemable, no earnings were allocated to this noncontrolling interest.

In July 2020, we acquired a 60% equity ownership interest in a joint venture to construcrr t an E-beam facility in Alberta, Canada
in connection with our acquisition of Iotron. Refer to Note 4, “Acquisitions” of our consolidated financial statements forff
additional inforff mation. We have determined this to be an investment in a variabla e interest entity (“VIE”). The investment is not
consolidated as the Company has concluded that we are not the primary beneficiary orr f the VIE. The Company accounts forff the
joint venture using the equity method. The investment is reflected within “Investment in unconsolidated affiff liate” on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets within our consolidated financial statements. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we
recorded an impairment charge of $9.6 million related to this joint venture investment as described in “Consolidated Results of
Operations” below. In February 2r 023, we entered into a Share Purchase Agreement to transfer our equity ownership interest to
the joint venturt e partner, thereby terminating our equity ownership interest.

Constant Currency Sales Growth (Non-GAAP)

“Constant currency” is a non-GAAP financial measure we use to assess performance excluding the impact of foreign currency
exchange rate changes. Constant currency sales growth is calculated by translating prior year sales in local currency at the
average exchange rates appla icable for the current period. The translated results are then used to determine year-over-year
percentage increases or decreases. We generally referff to such amounts calculated on a constant currency basis as excluding the
impact of foreign currency exchange rates. These results should be considered in addition to, not as a substitute for, results
reported in accordance with GAAP. Results on a constant currency basis, as we present them, may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures used by other companies and are not measures of performance presented in accordance with U.S.
GAAP.

Adjud sted Net Income and Adjud sted EBITDA (Non-GAAP)

We use Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA, non-GAAP financial measures, as the principal measures of our operating
performance. Management believes Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA are usefulff because they allow management to
more effeff ctively evaluate our operating performance and compare the results of our operations from period to period without
the impact of certain non-cash items and non-routine items that we do not expect to continue at the same level in the futff urt e and
other items that are not core to our operations. We believe that these measures are useful to our investors because they provide a
more complete understanding of the factff ors and trends affeff cting our business than could be obtained absa ent this disclosure. In
addition, we believe Adjud sted Net Income and Adjud sted EBITDA will assist investors in making comparisons to our historical
operating results and analyzing the underlying performance of our operations for the periods presented. Our management also
uses Adjud sted Net Income and Adjud sted EBITDA in their finff ancial analysis and operational decision-making and Adjusted
EBITDA serves as the metric forff attainment of our primary annual incentive program. Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted
EBITDA may be calculated diffeff rently from, and thereforff e may not be comparable to, a similarly titled measure used by other
companies.

For more inforff mation regarding our definition and calculation of Adjud sted Net Income and Adjud sted EBITDA, including
information abouta its limitations as a tool for analysis and reconciliation to the most directly comparable financial measures
calculated in accordance with GAAP, please see “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” within this Item.

Segment Income

Segment income is the primary earnings measure we use to evaluate the performance of our reportabla e segments, as disclosed
in Note 22, “Segment and Geographic Inforff mation” to our consolidated financial statements. Costs associated with supporu t
functions that are not directly associated with one of the three reportabla e segments, such as corporate operating expenses for
executive management, accounting, information technology, legal, human resources, treasury,rr investor relations, corporr ate
development, tax, purchasing, and marketing, are allocated to the segments based on net revenue. Corporr ate operating expenses
that are directly incurred by a segment are reflected in each segment’s income. Segment income excludes certain items which
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are included in “Income (loss) before taxes” as determined in our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive
Income (Loss).

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATRR IONS

The folff lowing section summarizeii s thet consolidatdd ed results of operations for thet years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. The
discii ussion of the consolidatdd ed results ott f oo peo ration for thet years err nded December 31, 2022 and 2021 are presented within our
Annual Repoe rt on Form 10-K forff the year ended December 31, 2022 under “It“ em 7. Management’s Discii ussion and Analysll is of
Financial CondiCC tion and Results of Operations - ConsCC olidatdd ed Results of Operations.”

Year Ended December 31, 2023 as compared to Year Ended December 31, 2022

The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th the components of our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f ) 2023 2022 $ Change % Change

Total net revenues $ 1,049,288 $ 1,003,687 $ 45,601 4.5 %
Total cost of revenues 472,130 446,683 25,447 5.7 %
Total operating expenses 300,466 308,654 (8,188) (2.7%)
Operating income 276,692 248,350 28,342 11.4 %
Net income (loss) 51,376 (233,570) 284,946 122.0%
Adjud sted Net Income(1) 230,116 270,219 (40,103) (14.8)%
Adjud sted EBITDA(1) 528,029 506,249 21,780 4.3 %

(1) Adjud sted Net Income and Adjud sted EBITDA are non-GAAP financial measures. For more information regarding
our calculation of Adjud sted Net Income and Adjud sted EBITDA, including information abouta their limitations as
tools forff analysis and a reconciliation of net income (loss), the most directly comparable financial measure
calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, to Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA, please see the
reconciliation included below in “Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”

Total NetNN Revenues

The folff lowing tabla e compares our revenues by type for the year ended December 31, 2023 to the year ended December 31,
2022.

(thousands of U.S. dollars)
Net revenues forff the year ended December 31,y , 2023 2022 $ Change % Change

Service $ 905,598 $ 864,828 $ 40,770 4.7 %
Product 143,690 138,859 4,831 3.5 %
Total net revenues $ 1,049,288 $ 1,003,687 $ 45,601 4.5 %

Net revenues were $1,049.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $45.6 million, or 4.5%, as compared
with the prior year. Net revenues in the year ended December 31, 2023 increased approximately 4.2% compared with the same
period in 2022 on a constant currency basis.

Service revenues

Service revenues increased $40.8 million, or 4.7%, to $905.6 million in 2023 as compared to $864.8 million in 2022. The
increase in net service revenue was driven by favff orable pricing of $39.0 million and $8.5 million in the Sterigenics and Nelson
Labsa segments, respectively, a $6.7 million favff orable impact froff m changes in forff eign currency exchange rates across all
segments and an increase in service revenue of $2.4 million in the Nordion segment. These growth factff ors were partially offsff et
by unfavff orable service revenue volume and mix of $15.8 million in the Nelson Labsa and Sterigenics segments.

55



Product revenues

Product revenues increased $4.8 million, or 3.5%, to $143.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to
$138.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase in product revenues was attributable to favorable pricing of
$16.4 million, partially offseff t by a decline in overall sales volumes of $8.1 million and an unfavff orable change in foreign
currency exchange rates of $3.5 million. The volume decline stemmed mainly from a decline in demand forff industrial-use
Co-60 compared to the prior year.

Total CosCC t of Ro evenues

The folff lowing tabla e compares our cost of revenues by type for the year ended December 31, 2023 to the year ended December
31, 2022.

(thousands of U.S. dollars)
Cost of revenues forff the year ended December 31,y , 2023 2022 $ Change % Change

Service $ 418,611 $ 390,860 $ 27,751 7.1 %
Product 53,519 55,823 (2,304) (4.1)%
Total cost of revenues $ 472,130 $ 446,683 $ 25,447 5.7 %

Total cost of revenues accounted for appra oximately 45.0% and 44.5% of our consolidated net revenues forff the year ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Cost of service revenues

Cost of service revenues increased $27.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the prior year. The
growth in cost of service revenues was partially driven by higher employee compensation costs of $12.2 million. In addition,
cost of services revenues was impacted by an increase of $12.0 million of depreciation related to capital assets recently placed
in service and a $2.5 million unfavff orable impact froff m changes in forff eign currency exchange rates.

Cost of prff oduct revenues

Cost of product revenues decreased $2.3 million, or 4.1%, forff the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the prior year.
The decrease was primarily driven by a favff orable impact from forff eign currency exchange rates coupled with lower direct costs
attributable to the decline in industrial-use Co-60 volumes as described abovea in “Product revenues.”

Operatintt g ExpeEE nses

The folff lowing tabla e compares our operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023 to the year ended December 31,
2022:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)
Operating expenses for the Year Ended December 31,p g p , 2023 2022 $ Change % Change

Selling, general and administrative expenses $ 236,667 $ 245,714 $ (9,047) (3.7) %
Amortization of intangible assets 63,799 62,940 859 1.4 %
Total operating expenses $ 300,466 $ 308,654 $ (8,188) (2.7 %)

Operating expenses accounted for appra oximately 28.6% and 30.8% of our consolidated net revenues forff the year ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

SG&A

SG&A decreased $9.0 million, or 3.7%, forff the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the prior year. The decrease
stemmed froff m a $27.0 million decline in litigation and other professional services expenses associated with EO sterilization
facilities, partially offseff t by an $11.2 million increase in share-based compensation expense, a $3.3 million increase in selling
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and administrative compensation-related costs and a $2.0 million increase in professional services fees in supporu t of various
business enhancement and compliance effoff rts.

Amortization of io ntangible assets

Amortization of intangible assets increased $0.9 million or 1.4% for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the prior
year, dued mainly to changes in forff eign currency exchange rates.

Interest Expexx nse, Net

Interest expense, net increased $62.7 million, or 78.3%, forff the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the prior year.
The increase was driven by a higher variabla e interest rate on borrowings previously outstanding in the same period of the prior
year, resulting in $59.0 million of incremental interest expense coupled with interest expense of $38.7 million on incremental
borrowings. In addition, amortization of debt issuance costs and debt discounts increased by $3.3 million. Partially offseff tting
the increase was a $16.1 million reducd tion to interest expense arising from a net favff orable change in interest rate derivative
activity, an $8.5 million reduction to interest expense forff interest capitalized on fixed assets and a $13.7 million increase in
interest income on cash and cash equivalents on deposit at financial institutions. The weighted average interest rate on our
outstanding debt was 8.55% and 7.16% at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Illinll ois Eii O litill gati iott n settltt emll ent

On January 9, 2023, the Company reached agreements to settle appra oximately 880 pending and threatened EO claims against
the Settling Defenff dants in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois, and US District Court forff the Northern District of Illinois.
Under the binding Term Sheets, the Company paid $407.7 million to settle the claims. As this event provided additional
evidence of conditions that existed as of December 31, 2022, we recorded a $407.7 million charge to expense on December 31,
2022.

Georgir a Ei O litigll atiott n settlett ment

On October 16, 2023, the Company reached an agreement to resolve 79 EO claims against the Settling Defendants in the State
of Georgia. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company paid $35.0 million in January 2024 to settle the claims.

Impaim rmii ent of io nvii estment in unconsolidll atdd edtt affiff liaii te

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we recorded an impairment charge of $9.6 million related to a joint venturt e
investment, which was acquired as part of the 2020 Iotron acquisition. Due to a shift iff n business strategy, the joint venturt e did
not proceed. Based on these facff ts and circumstances, we concluded that the investment was impaired as of June 30, 2022.

Foreign Egg xcEE hange Loss

Foreign exchange loss was $0.2 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to $0.1 million in the prior year.
The change in foreign exchange loss in our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) mainly
relates to short-term gains and losses on transactions denominated in currencies other than the funcff tional currency of our
operating entities. As described in Note 21, “Financial Instruments and Financial Risk”, we enter into monthly U.S. dollar-
denominated foreign currency forff ward contracts to manage forff eign currency exchange rate risk related to our international
subsu idiaries.

Othett r IncII ome, Net

Other income, net was $7.4 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $0.9 million or 14.5% as compared to
the prior year. The fluctuation was primarily driven by $3.0 million of favff orable changes in the fair value of embedded
derivatives in Nordion’s purchase contracts, partially offsff et by a $1.5 million decline in pension income at Nordion.

Provision (Be(( nefie t)ii for IncII ome TaxeTT s

Provision for income tax was $54.7 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to a benefitff of $9.5 million in
the prior year. The change was primarily attributable to the recognition of pre-tax income of $106.0 million in the year ended
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December 31, 2023 compared to pretax loss of $243.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, which was driven by the
$408.0 million Illinois EO litigation settlement accruar l.

Provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2023 differed froff m the statutt ory rr ate of 21% primarily due to an
increase in the partial valuation allowance against our excess interest expense as well as fedff eral and state net operating loss
carryforward balances, the impact of the foreign rate diffeff rential and nondeductible equity compensation, partially offsff et by
state taxes (net of federal benefitff ). The provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2022 differed froff m the
statutt ory rrr ate of 21% primarily due to an increase in the partial valuation allowance against our excess interest expense
carryforward balance, $8.0 million of state tax attributes, the impact of the forff eign rate differential, partially offsff et by state taxes
(net of federal benefitff ).

Net IncII ome (Lo(( ss), Adjusted NetNN Income and Adjusted EBIEE TDADD

Net income forff the year ended December 31, 2023 was $51.4 million, as compared to net loss of $233.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022 driven largely by the Illinois EO litigation settlement reserve. Adjud sted Net Income was
$230.1 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to $270.2 million forff the year ended December 31, 2022,
due to the factff ors described above. Adjusted EBITDA was $528.0 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared
to $506.2 million forff the year ended December 31, 2022, due to the factff ors described above. Please see “Non-GAAP Financial
Measures” below for a reconciliation of Adjud sted Net Income and Adjud sted EBITDA to their most directly comparable
financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

To supplement our consolidated financial statements presented in accordance with GAAP, we consider Adjusted Net Income
and Adjusted EBITDA, financial measures that are not based on any standardized methodology prescribed by GAAP.

We define Adjusted Net Income as net income (loss) before amortization and certain other adjustments that we do not consider
in our evaluation of our ongoing operating performance from period to period as discussed further below. We define Adjusted
EBITDA as Adjusted Net Income before interest expense, depreciation (including depreciation of Co-60 used in our operations)
and income tax provision applicable to Adjusted Net Income.

We use Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA, non-GAAP financial measures, as the principal measures of our operating
performance. Management believes Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA are useful because they allow management to
more effectively evaluate our operating performance and compare the results of our operations from period to period without
the impact of certain non-cash items and non-routine items that we do not expect to continue at the same level in the future and
other items that are not core to our operations. We believe that these measures are useful to our investors because they provide a
more complete understanding of the factors and trends affecting our business than could be obtained absent this disclosure. In
addition, we believe Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA will assist investors in making comparisons to our historical
operating results and analyzing the underlying performance of our operations for the periods presented. Our management also
uses Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA in their financial analysis and operational decision-making and Adjusted
EBITDA serves as the basis for the metric we utilize to determine attainment of our primary annual incentive program.
Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA may be calculated differently from, and therefore may not be comparable to, a
similarly titled measure used by other companies.

Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial
information prepared in accordance with GAAP. There are a number of limitations related to the use of Adjusted Net Income
and Adjusted EBITDA rather than net income (loss), the nearest GAAP equivalent. For example, Adjusted Net Income and
Adjusted EBITDA primarily exclude:

• certain recurring non-cash charges such as depreciation of fixed assets, although these assets may have to be replaced
in the future, as well as amortization of acquired intangible assets and asset retirement obligations;

• costs of acquiring and integrating businesses, which will continue to be a part of our growth strategy;

• non-cash gains or losses from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, and the mark-to-fair value of derivatives
not designated as hedging instruments, which includes embedded derivatives relating to certain customer and supply
contracts at Nordion;

• impairment charges on long-lived assets, intangible assets and investments accounted for under the equity method;

• loss on extinguishment of debt incurred in connection with refinancing or early extinguishment of long-term debt;
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• expenses and charges related to the litigation, settlement agreements, and other activities associated with our EO
sterilization facilities, including those in Willowbrook, Illinois, Atlanta, Georgia and Santa Teresa, New Mexico, even
though that litigation remains ongoing;

• in the case of Adjusted EBITDA, interest expense or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal
payments on our indebtedness; and

• share-based compensation expense, which has been, and will continue to be for the foreseeable future, a significant
recurring expense and an important part of our compensation strategy.

In evaluating Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA, you should be aware that, in the future, we will incur expenses
similar to the adjustments in this presentation. Our presentations of Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA should not be
construed as suggesting that our future results will be unaffected by these expenses or any unusual or non-recurring items.
When evaluating our performance, you should consider Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA alongside other financial
performance measures, including our net income and other GAAP measures.

The following table presents a reconciliation of net income (loss), the most directly comparable financial measure calculated
and presented in accordance with GAAP to Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA, for each of the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)s 2023 2022
Net income (loss) $ 51,376 $ (233,570)
Amortization of intangibles 81,348 81,554
Share-based compensation(a) 32,364 21,211
Loss (gain) on foreign currency and derivatives not designated as hedging instrumrr ents, net(b) (1,552) 3,150
Acquisition and divestiture related charges, net(c) 937 1,398
Business optimization projeo ct expenses(d) 7,310 2,226
Plant closure expenses(e) (585) 4,730
Impairment of investment in unconsolidated affiff liate(f) — 9,613
Profesff sional services relating to EO sterilization faciff lities(g) 72,122 72,639
Illinois EO litigation settlement(h) — 408,000
Georgia EO litigation settlement(i) 35,000 —
Accretion of asset retirement obligations(j) 2,413 2,194
COVID-19 expenses(k) — 155
Income tax benefitff associated with pre-tax adjustments(l) (50,617) (103,081)

Adjud sted Net Income 230,116 270,219
Interest expense, net(m) 116,068 78,490
Depreciation(n) 76,577 64,000
Income tax provision applicable to Adjud sted Net Income(o) 105,268 93,540

Adjud sted EBITDA(p) $ 528,029 $ 506,249

(a) Represents hshare-bbasedd compensatiion expense to emplloyyees andd non-em lpl yoye de diirectors. See Not 1e 6, “Share-Based
Compensation” for furff hther iinformatiion.

(b) Represents hthe effects of (f (i)i) flfluctuatiions iin foreigign currencyy exchha gnge rates, (i(ii)i) non-cashh markk-to-faiir vallue of
embbedddded dd deriivatiives rella itingg to certaiin customer andd s lupplyy contracts at Nordidion, and (d (iiiii)i) unr lealiiz ded ggaiins a dnd llosses
on iinterest rate dde iriva itives not dde isiggnatedd a hs h dedgigi gng iinstruments.

(c) Represents (i) certain direct and incremental costs related to the acquisitions of RCA and BioSciences Labsa and certain
related integration effoff rts as a result of those acquisitions, (ii) the earnings impact of fair value adjustments (excluding
those recognized within amortization expense) resulting from the businesses acquired, (iii) transition services income and
non-cash deferff red lease income associated with the terms of the divestiture of the Medical Isotopes business in 2018.

(d) Represents profesff sional feeff s exit costs, severance and other payroll costs, and other costs associated with business
optimization and cost savings projects, operating structurt e realignment and other process enhancement projeo cts.

(e) Represents profesff isional fl feff es, severance andd o hther payyr lolll costs, a dnd othher costs iin lcl diudi gng ongoiongoi gng llease a dnd utilityility
expenses asso iciat ded iwi hth hthe cllosure of hthe Wililllo bwbro kok, lIllili inois f iaciff litylity. hThe ye ear ended December 31, 2023 lalso
iin lcl dudes a $$1.0 imilllliion canc lellla ition ffee r ieceived fd froff m a tenant iin connectiion wiithh thhe termiinatiion off an offiffice space llease
at hthe Nordidion fa icilili yty.

(f) Represents an iimpaiirment hchargge on an eq iui yty me hth dod iinvestment iin a ja j ioint venturt e. Refer to Not 1e , “Significant
Accounting Policies” for furff hther iinformatiion.
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(g) Represents lili itigga ition a dnd othher profe issional fl feesff asso iciat ded iwi hth our EO sterililiizatiion f iaciff lili ities. hThiis iin lcl dudes $$26.8
illimillion of iinterest expense, net forff hth ye year e dndedd Decembber 31, 2023 asso iciat ded iwi hth Term Loan B thhat was iissu ded to
fifinance thhe $$408.0 imilllliion settllement of 880 pe dindi gng andd thhreaten ded EO lcl iaims gag iainst thhe Defe dndant Subbsu ididiia iries iin
lIllilin iois u dnder Set ltlement Aggreements entered id into on Mar hch 28, 2023. See Note 20, “Com imitments a dnd Contiinggenciies”.

(h) Represents the cost to settle 880 pending and threatened EO claims against the Defendant Subsu idiaries in Illinois
pursuant to Settlement Agreements entered into on March 28, 2023. See Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies”.

(i) Represents the cost to settle 79 pending EO claims against the Settling Defenff dants in Georgia under a settlement term
sheet entered into on December 21, 2023. See Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies”.

(j) Represents non-cash accretion of asset retirement obligations related to Co-60 gamma and EO processing facilities,
which are based on estimated site remediation costs forff any futff urt e decommissioning of these faciff lities and are accreted
over the life off f the asset.

(k) Represents non-recurring costs associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, including incremental costs to implement
workplkk ace health and safetff y measures.

(l) Represents the income tax impact of adjustments calculated based on the tax rate applicable to each item. We eliminate
the effect of tax rate changes as applied to tax assets and liabilities, and unusual items from our presentation of adjusted
net income.

(m) The year ended December 31, 2023 excludes $26.8 million of interest expense, net, on Term Loan B attributable to the
loan proceeds that were used to fund the $408.0 million cost of the Illinois EO litigation settlement. The year ended
December 31, 2022 excludes $1.7 million of unrealized loss on interest rate derivatives not designated as hedging
instruments.

(n) Includes depreciation of Co-60 held at gamma irradiation sites.
(o) Represents the difference between the income tax provision/benefit as determined under U.S. GAAP and the income tax

benefit associated with pre-tax adjustments described in footnote (l).
(p) $94.1 million and $83.6 million of the adjustments for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are

included in cost of revenues, primarily consisting of amortization of intangible assets, depreciation, and accretion of asset
retirement obligations.

SEGMENT RESULTS OF OPERATRR IONS

We have three reportabla e segments: Sterigenics, Nordion and Nelson Labsa . Our chief operating decision maker evaluates
performance and allocates resources within our business based on segment income, which excludes certain items which are
included in income (loss) before tax as determined in our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income
(Loss). The accounting policies forff our reportabla e segments are the same as those forff the consolidated Company.

Our Segments

Stertt igenics

Our Sterigenics business provides outsourced terminal sterilization and irradiation services for the medical device,
pharmaceutical, foodff safety and advanced applications markets using three major technologies: gamma irradiation, EO
processing and E-beam irradiation.

Nordiodd n

Our Nordion business is a leading global provider of Co-60 used in the sterilization and irradiation processes forff the medical
device, pharmaceutical, foodff safety, and high-performance materials industries and for the treatment of cancer. In addition,
Nordion is a leading global provider of gamma irradiation systems.

As a result of the time required to meet regulatory ar nd logistics requirements forff delivery or f radioactive products, combined
with accommodations that we make to our customers to minimize disruptu ions to their operations during the installation of
Co-60, Nordion sales patterns can ofteff n vary srr ignificantly froff m one quarter to the next. In most cases, however, timing-related
impacts on our sales performance tend to be resolved within several quarters, resulting in more consistent performance over
longer periods of time. In addition, sales of gamma irradiation systems occur infreff quently and tend to be forff larger amounts.

Results for our Nordion segment are impacted by Co-60 mix, harvest schedules, and customer, product and service mix.
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Nelson Labs

Our Nelson Labs business provides outsourced microbiological and analytical chemistry trr esting and advisory services for the
medical device and pharmaceutical industries.

For more inforff mation regarding our reportabla e segments please referff to Item 1. “Business” and Note 22, “Segment and
Geographic Inforff mation” to our consolidated financial statements.

Segment Results for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The folff lowing section summarizeii s thet segme ent results for thett years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. The discussion of to hett
segme ent results for thett years err nded December 31, 2022 and 2021 are presented within our Annual Repore t on ForFF m 10-K forff the
year ended December 31, 2022 under “It“ em 7. Management’s Discii ussion and Analysll is of Financial CondiCC tion and Results of
Operations - SegSS meg nt Results for thett years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.”

The folff lowing tabla es compare segment net revenue and segment income for the year ended December 31, 2023 to the year
ended December 31, 2022:

Year Ended
December 31,

(in thousands)s 2023 2022 $ Change % Change

Net Revenues
Sterigenics $ 667,130 $ 626,646 $ 40,484 6.5%
Nordion 160,459 153,639 6,820 4.4%
Nelson Labs 221,699 223,402 (1,703) (0.8%)

Segment Income
Sterigenics $ 362,212 $ 339,144 $ 23,068 6.8%
Nordion 96,678 89,477 7,201 8.0%
Nelson Labs 69,139 77,628 (8,489) (10.9%)

Segment Income Margin
Sterigenics 54.3 % 54.1 %
Nordion 60.3 % 58.2 %
Nelson Labs 31.2 % 34.7 %

Net Revenues

Sterigenics net revenues were $667.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $40.5 million, or 6.5%, as
compared to the prior year. The iincrease was attribibut bablle to favor bablle pricing and changes in forff eign currency exchange rates of
6.2% and 0.9%, respectively, partially offseff t by unfavff orable sales volume and mix of 0.6%.

Nordion net revenues were $160.5 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $6.8 million, or 4.4%, as
compared to the prior year. The increase was driven by a favorable impact from pricing of 10.8%, partially offsff et by
unfavff orable impacts to volume and mix and changes in forff eign currency exchange rates of 3.9% and 2.5%, respectively.

Nelson Labsa net revenues were $221.7 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023, a decrease of $1.7 million, or 0.8%, as
compared to the prior year. The decrease was attributable to unfavff orable volume and mix of 5.3%, partially offset by favorable
impacts froff m pricing and changes in forff eign currency exchange rates of 3.8% and 0.7%, respectively.

Segme ent IncII ome

Sterigenics segment income was $362.2 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $23.1 million, or 6.8%,
as compared to the prior year. The increase in segment income was fueled mainly by favorable pricing, as referenced above,
partially offsff et by higher costs and unfavff orable volume and mix.
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Nordion segment income was $96.7 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $7.2 million, or 8.0%, as
compared to the prior year. The increase in segment income and segment income margin was driven mainly by favorabla e
pricing and higher volumes of medical-use Co-60, partially offsff et by lower volumes of industrial-use Co-60.

Nelson Labsa segment income was $69.1 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023, a decrease of $8.5 million, or 10.9%, as
compared to the prior year. The decrease in segment income and segment income margin was primarily a result of unfavorable
volume and mix coupled with the ongoing impact of inflation, partially offset by favorable pricing.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Sources of Cash

The primary sources of liquidity for our business are cash flows froff m operations and borrowings under our credit facilities. As
of December 31, 2023, we had $301.7 million of cash and cash equivalents. This is a decrease of $94.6 million froff m the
balance at December 31, 2022. The decrease in cash and cash equivalents was mainly attributable to the release of
approximately $407.7 million to settle the EO claims against the Settling Defendants in Cook County, Illinois and a $200.0
million paydown of the outstanding balance on the Revolving Credit Facility. Partially offsff etting this decrease was $500.0
million in proceeds froff m the issuance of Term Loan B on February 2r 3, 2023 (as detailed below). Our forff eign subsu idiaries held
cash of approximately $224.1 million at December 31, 2023 and $158.3 million at December 31, 2022. No material restrictions
exist to accessing cash held by our forff eign subsu idiaries notwithstanding any potential tax consequences.

On Februar ry 23, 2023 we entered into the First Lien Credit Agreement (the “2023 Credit Agreement”), which provides forff ,
among other things, a new Term Loan B faciff lity (the “2023 Term Loan”) in an aggregate principal amount of $500.0 million
and bears interest, at the Company’s option, at a variabla e rate per annum equal to either (x) Term SOFR (as definff ed in the 2023
Credit Agreement) plus an applicable margin of 3.75% or (y) an alternative base rate (“ABR”) plus an applicable margin of
2.75%. The 2023 Credit Agreement is secured on a firff st priority basis by substantially all of our assets and is guaranteed by
certain of our subsu idiaries. It is prepayabla e without premium or penalty at any time six months afteff r the closing date. The
principal balance shall be paid at 1% of the aggregate principal amount ($5.0 million per year), with the balance due at the end
of 2026. The Company used the proceeds of this debt to fundff a previously announced $408.0 million EO litigation settlement in
Cook County, Illinois on May 1, 2023 and pay down existing borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facility. The
Company used the remaining proceeds to furff ther enhance liquidity and forff general corporrr ate purposrr es. Referff to “Debt
Facilities” below within this Item, Note 10, “Long-Term Debt”, and Item 1A, “Risk Factors” - “Risks Related to Our
Indebtedness and Liquidity.” for additional inforff mation.

Uses of Cash

We expect that cash on hand, operating cash floff ws and amounts availabla e under our credit facilities will provide sufficient
working capital to operate our business, meet foreseeable liquidity requirements (inclusive of debt service on our long-term
debt) make expected capia tal expenditures including investments in fixff ed assets to build and/or expand existing faciff lities, and
meet litigation costs that we expect to continue to incur forff at least the next twelve months. Our primary lr ong-term liquidity
requirements beyond the next 12 months will be to service our debt, make capital expenditures, and fundff suitable business
acquisitions. As of December 31, 2023, there were no outstanding borrowings on the Revolving Credit Facility. We expect any
excess cash provided by operations will be allocated to fund capital expenditures, potential acquisitions, or forff other general
corporate purposrr es. Our ability to meet future working capital, capital expenditure and debt service requirements will depend on
our future financial performance, which will be affeff cted by a range of macroeconomic, competitive and business facff tors,
including interest rate changes and changes in our industry,rr many of which are outside of our control. As of December 31,
2023, our interest rate derivatives limit the cash floff w exposure of our variable rate borrowings under the Term Loans. Refer to
Note 21, “Financial Instruments and Financial Risk”, “De“ rivative InsII truments” forff additional inforff mation regarding the interest
rate caps used to manage economic risks associated with our variable rate borrowings. Referff to Item 7A., "Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" forff additional inforff mation abouta changes in interest rate risk.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditure program is a component of our long-term strategy. This program includes, among other things,
investments in new and existing faciff lities, business expansion projeo cts, Co-60 used by Sterigenics at its gamma irradiation
facilities, cobalt development projeo cts and information technology enhancements. During the year ended December 31, 2023,
our capital expenditures amounted to $215.0 million, compared to $182.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2022. This
amount includes appra oximately $35.5 million related to environmental faciff lity enhancements.
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In 2024, we expect to continue to invest in facility expansions, ongoing routine maintenance for existing faciff lities, and
acquisition of Co-60 for use by our Sterigenics segment in its gamma irradiation facff ilities. In addition, we expect to invest in
special projects related to development of new Co-60 supply sources and facility enhancements at our EO sterilization facff ilities.
We currently expect the amount of capital expenditures in 2024 to be similar to 2023 as we execute on those special projects in
addition to our normal growth and maintenance related investments. For 2024, it is estimated that approximately $40.0 million
and $47.0 million of capital expenditures will relate to environmental facff ility enhancements and cobalt development projeo cts,
respectively. We expect a gradual decline in capital expenditures beginning in 2025.

Debt Facilities

Senior Secured CreCC dit FacFF ilities

On December 13, 2019, Sotera Health Holdings, LLC (“SHH”), our wholly owned subsidiary, entered into senior secured firff st
lien credit facilities (the “Senior Secured Credit Facilities”), consisting of both a prepayable senior secured firff st lien term loan
(the “Term Loan”) and a senior secured firff st lien revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) pursuant to a first
lien credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”). The Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan maturt e on June 13, 2026, and
December 13, 2026, respectively. Afteff r giving effect to the Revolving Credit Facility Amendment (defined below), the total
borrowing capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility is $423.8 million. The Senior Secured Credit Facilities also provide
SHH the right at any time and under certain conditions to request incremental term loans or incremental revolving credit
commitments based on a forff mula defined in the Senior Secured Credit Facilities. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, total
borrowings under the Term Loan were $1,763.1 million. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022 total borrowings outstanding on
the Revolving Credit Facility were $0 and $200.0 million, respectively. The weighted average interest rate on borrowings under
the Term Loan forff the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was 7.95% and 4.63%, respectively.

On Februar ry 23, 2023, we entered into the First Lien Credit Agreement (the “2023 Credit Agreement”), which provides forff ,
among other things, a new Term Loan B facility in an aggregate principal amount of $500.0 million and bears interest, at the
Company’s option, at a variabla e rate per annum equal to either (x) Term SOFR (as definff ed in the 2023 Credit Agreement) plus
an applicable margin of 3.75% or (y) an alternative base rate (“ABR”) plus an appla icable margin of 2.75%. The 2023 Credit
Agreement is secured on a first priority basis on substantially all of our assets and is guaranteed by certain of our subsu idiaries. It
is prepayable without penalty at any time six months afteff r the closing date. The principal balance shall be paid at 1% of the
aggregate principal amount ($5.0 million) per year, with the balance dued at the end of 2026. The Company used the proceeds of
the 2023 Term Loan to fund a previously announced $408.0 million EO litigation settlement in Cook County, Illinois and pay
down the $200.0 million of existing borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility concurrent with the fundiff ng of the 2023
Term Loan on Februar ry 23, 2023. In addition, the Company plans to use the remaining proceeds to furff ther enhance liquidity
and forff general corporr rate purposr es. The weighted average interest rate on borrowings under the 2023 Term Loan for the year
ended December 31, 2023 was 8.90%.

On March 21, 2023, the Company entered into an Incremental Facility Amendment to the First Lien Credit Agreement
(“Revolving Credit Facility Amendment”), which provides forff an increase in the commitments under the existing Revolving
Credit Facility in an aggregate principal amount of $76.3 million. In addition, certain of the lenders providing revolving credit
commitments provided additional commitments forff the issuance of the letters of credit under the Revolving Credit Facility in an
aggregate principal amount of $165.1 million. The Revolving Credit Facility Amendment also provides forff the replacement of
the referff ence interest rate option forff Revolving Loans froff m London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) to SOFR plus an
applicable credit spread adjud stment of 0.10% (subject to a minimum floff or of 0.00%). Afteff r giving effect to the Revolving
Credit Facility Amendment, the aggregate amount of the lenders’ revolving commitments is $423.8 million. The maturt ity date
of the Revolving Credit Facility remains June 13, 2026. The Company borrowed $200.0 million under the Revolving Credit
Facility durd ing the fourth quarter of 2022, which was repaid in the firff st quarter of 2023. As of December 31, 2023, there were
no borrowings outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility.

The Senior Secured Credit Facilities and 2023 Credit Agreement contain additional covenants that, among other things, restrict,
subju ect to certain exceptions, our ability and the abia lity of our restricted subsu idiaries to engage in certain activities, such as incur
indebtedness or permit to exist any lien on any property or asset now owned or hereafteff r acquired, as specifieff d in the Senior
Secured Credit Facilities and 2023 Credit Agreement. The Senior Secured Credit Facilities and 2023 Credit Agreement also
contain certain customary ar ffirmative covenants and events of default, including upon a change of control. An event of defauff lt
under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities would occur if the Company or certain of its subsu idiaries were subju ect to one or more
enforceable judgments in an aggregate amount in excess of $100.0 million and the judgments were not stayed or remained
undischarged for sixty consecutive days or, if, sff uch judgments, judgment creditors were to attach liens on assets that are
material to the Company’s business and operations taken as a whole. As of December 31, 2023, we were in compliance with all
the Senior Secured Credit Facilities and 2023 Credit Agreement covenants.
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All of SHH’s obligations under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities and 2023 Credit Agreement are unconditionally guaranteed
by the Company and each existing and subsu equently acquired or organized direct or indirect wholly-owned domestic restricted
subsu idiary of the Company, with customary er xceptions including, among other things, where providing such guarantees is not
permitted by law, regulation or contract or would result in material adverse tax consequences. All obligations under the Senior
Secured Credit Facilities and 2023 Credit Agreement, and the guarantees of such obligations, are secured by substantially all
assets of the borrower and guarantors, subju ect to permitted liens and other exceptions and exclusions, as outlined in the Senior
Secured Credit Facilities and 2023 Credit Agreement.

Outstanding letters of credit are collateralized by encumbrances against the Revolving Credit Facility and the collateral pledged
thereunder, or by cash placed on deposit with the issuing bank. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $23.7 million of
letters of credit issued against the Revolving Credit Facility, resulting in total availabia lity under the Revolving Credit Facility of
$400.1 million.

Term Loan Interest Rate Riskii Management

The Company utilizes interest rate derivatives to reducd e the variability of cash floff ws in the interest payments associated with
our variable rate debt due to changes in LIBOR (up tu o June 22, 2023) and Term SOFR. For additional inforff mation on the
derivative instrumr ents described abovea , referff to Note 21, “Financial Instruments and Financial Risk”, “De“ rivative InsII truments.”

Cash Flow Information

The folff lowing section summarizeii s cash floff w inforff mation forff the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. Cash flow
infon rmation forff the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 are presented within our Annual Repore t on ForFF m 10-K for thet
year ended December 31, 2022 under IteII m 7.,. “ManMM agement’s Discii ussion and Analysll is of Financial CondiCC tion and Results of
Operations - Liquidity and Capia tal Resources.”

Year Ended December 31, 2023 compared to the YeaYY r EndEE eddd December 31, 2022
(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f ) 2023 2022

Net Cash Provided by (Used in):
Operating activities $ (147,732) $ 277,961
Investing activities (214,906) (181,896)
Financing activities 265,959 197,761

Effeff ct of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 2,039 (4,456)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash, during the period $ (94,640) $ 289,370

Operating activities

Cash flows provided by operating activities decreased $425.7 million to net cash used of $147.7 million forff the year ended
December 31, 2023 compared to net cash provided of $278.0 million for the prior year. The decrease in cash floff ws from
operating activities in 2023 compared to the prior year was primarily due to the release of the settlement funds of approximately
$407.7 million on June 30, 2023 to fund the settlements of the EO claims in Cook County, Illinois.

Investing activities

Cash used in investing activities increased $33.0 million to net cash used of $214.9 million in the year ended December 31,
2023 compared to $181.9 million forff the prior year. The variance was primarily driven by an increase in capia tal expenditures of
$32.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the prior year.

Financing activities

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash provided by finff ancing activities increased $266.0 million compared to net cash
provided of $197.8 million forff the year ended December 31, 2022. The diffeff rence was mainly attributable to $500.0 million in
proceeds froff m the issuance of Term Loan B on February 2rr 3, 2023 partially offset by the $200.0 million paydown of the
outstanding balance on the revolving credit facility, payment of $25.6 million of debt issuance costs incurred in connection with
the issuance of Term Loan B and the revolving credit facility amendment durd ing the year ended December 31, 2023, as
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described in “Debt Facilities” above, and $2.5 million of principal repayments on Term Loan B. For the year ended December
31, 2022 the primary source of cash was a $200.0 million borrowing on the Revolving Credit Facility.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS

The folff lowing tabla e describes our significant contractuat l cash obligations as of December 31, 2023:

Payments due by period

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f ) Total
Less than
1 Year 2-3 Years 4-5 Years

More than 5
Years

Long-term debt (a) $ 2,738,257 $ 176,555 $ 2,561,702 $ — $ —
Lease obligations:

Finance (b) 110,376 12,579 11,504 11,956 74,337
Operating (c) 31,029 7,357 10,582 6,925 6,165

Supplu y and service obligations (d) 1,607,137 69,737 130,022 95,920 1,311,458
Direct material costs (e) 114,189 15,373 31,358 32,264 35,194
Georgia EO litigation settlement (f) $ 35,000 $ 35,000 $ — $ — $ —

Total $ 4,635,988 $ 316,601 $ 2,745,168 $ 147,065 $ 1,427,154

(a) Represents principal and interest payments on the Senior Secured Credit Facilities and 2023 Credit Agreement. We have
calculated the interest payments on the Senior Secured Credit Facilities and 2023 Credit Agreement using an assumed
range of 5.99% to 8.39% and 6.87% and 9.10%, respectively, based on anticipated forward movements in SOFR. In
addition, interest payments include the impact of existing interest rate caps and interest rate swap described in Note 21,
“Financial Instruments and Financial Risk” in the notes to consolidated financial statements.

(b) Consists of payments under our finance leases forff various facilities and equipment.
(c) Represents minimum lease payments under our operating leases for several of our facilities and other property and

equipment.
(d) Consists of our best estimate of our obligations under various supplu y and service agreements, primarily Co-60, that are

enforceable and legally binding on us.
(e) Consists of our best estimate of our obligations to purchase EO gas under commitments that are enforff ceable and legally

binding on us. We have excluded contracts to purchase energy and other supplies, which generally have terms of one year
or less. Our contract to purchase EO gas in the U.S. requires us to purchase all our requirements froff m our supplu ier, and
our contracts to purchase EO gas outside the U.S. generally require that we purchase a specified percentage of our
requirements for our operations in the countries covered by those contracts. Although our EO gas contracts generally do
not contain fixff ed minimum purchase volumes, we have calculated the amounts set forth in the tabla e abovea based on the
percentage of our requirements specified in the contracts and our budgeted purchase volumes for those periods.

(f) Rff epresents the cost to settle 79 pending EO claims against the Settling Defenff dants in Georgia under a settlement term
sheet entered into on December 21, 2023. See Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies”.

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had $67.3 million and $101.5 million, respectively, of standby letters of credit, surety
bonds and other bank guarantees outstanding, primarily in favor of local and state licensing authorities forff future
decommissioning costs, and to support the unfundeff d portion of our pension obligation. We are obligated to provide financial
assurance to local and state licensing authorities for possible futff urt e decommissioning costs associated with the various facilities
that hold Co-60. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, $48.2 million and $54.1 million, respectively, of the standby letters of credit
and surety bonds referenced above were outstanding in favor of the various local and state licensing authorities in the event we
defaulted on our decommissioning obligation.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The folff lowing subsu ections describe our most critical accounting policies, estimates, and assumptions. Our discussion of critical
accounting policies and estimates is intended to supplement, not duplicate, our summary of significant accounting policies so
that readers will have greater insight into the uncertainties involved in these areas. Our accounting policies are more fully
described in Note 1, “Significant Accounting Policies” to our consolidated financial statements.
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The preparation of consolidated financial statements and related disclosures in conforff mity with GAAP requires management to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions at a specific point in time and in certain circumstances that affeff ct amounts reported
in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has
made its best estimates and judgments of certain amounts, giving due consideration to materiality. The application of
accounting policies involves the exercise of judgment and use of assumptions as to future uncertainties and, as a result, actual
results could diffeff r froff m these estimates.

Revenue Recognition. The majoa rity of our sales agreements contain performance obligations satisfieff d at a point in time when
control of promised goods or services have transferff red to our customers. Revenues recognized over time are generally
accounted for using an input measure to determine progress completed as of the end of the period.

Refunds, returt ns, warranties and other related obligations are not material to any of our business units and we do not incur
material incremental costs to secure customer contracts.

The Sterigenics segment provides outsourced terminal sterilization and irradiation services for the medical device,
pharmaceutical, foodff safety and advanced applications markets. We typically have multi-year service contracts with our
significant customers, and these sales contracts are primarily based on customers’ purchase orders. Given the relatively short
turnaround times, performance obligations are generally satisfieff d at a point-in-time upon the completion of sterilization or
irradiation processing and the approval of our quality assurance process, at which time the service is complete.

The Nordion segment is a provider of Co-60 and gamma irradiation systems, which are key components to the gamma
sterilization process. Revenue from the sale of Co-60 radiation sources is recognized at a point-in-time upon satisfaction of our
performance obligations for delivery/rr installation and disposal of existing sources. Revenue from the sale of gamma irradiation
systems in our Nordion segment is recognized over time using an input measure of costs incurred and is immaterial to the
overall business.

The Nelson Labs segment provides outsourced microbiological and analytical chemistry tr esting and advisory services for the
medical device and pharmaceutical industries. We provide our customers mission-critical lab ta esting services, which assess the
product quality, effectiveness, patient safetff y and end-to-end sterility of products. These services are necessary for our
customers’ regulatory ar ppra ovals, product releases and ongoing product performance evaluations. Nelson Labs services are
generally provided on a fee-for-service or project basis, and we recognize revenues over time using an input measure of time
incurred to determine progress completed at the end of the period. Revenue recognized over time in excess of the amount billed
to the customer is recorded as a customer contract asset. When we receive consideration froff m a customer prior to transferring
goods or services under the terms of a sales contract, we record deferff red revenue, which represents a contract liability. We
utilize our customer relationship management system to assess time incurred and the extent of projeo ct completion at the end of
the period.

We do not capitalize sales commissions because subsu tantially all of our sales commission programs have an amortization period
of one year or less. Furthermore, costs to fulff fill a contract are not material.

Provisions for discounts, rebates to customers, and other adjustments are provided forff as reductions in net revenues in the
period the related sale was recorded. Shipping and handling charges billed to customers are included in net revenues, and the
related shipping and handling costs are included in cost of net revenues on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss). Taxes assessed by a governmental authority that are both imposed on and concurrent with a
specific revenue-producing transaction, that are collected by us from a customer, are excluded froff m net revenue.

Payment terms vary by the type and location of the customer and the products or services offeff red. Generally, the time between
when revenue is recognized and when payment is dued is not significant. We do not evaluate whether the selling price contains a
financing component for contracts that have a durd ation of less than one year.

Long-Lived Assets Othet r thantt Goodwill. We review long-lived assets, including finite-lived intangible assets, forff impairment
whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may be impaired. Events or circumstances
which would prompt an impairment assessment include operating losses, a significant change in the use of an asset, or the
planned disposal or sale of the asset. When we evaluate assets for impairment, we make certain judgments and estimates,
including interpreting current economic indicators and market valuations, evaluating our strategic plans with regards to
operations, historical and anticipated performance of operations, and other factff ors. If we incorrectly anticipate these factors, or
unexpected events occur, our operating results could be materially affeff cted. The asset or asset group would be considered
impaired when the futff urt e net undiscounted cash flows generated by the asset or asset group are less than its carrying value.
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An impairment loss is recognized based on the amount by which the carrying value of the asset or asset group exceeds its
estimated faiff r value. We provide additional inforff mation about our long-lived assets other than goodwill in Notes 7, “Property,
Plant and Equipment” and 8, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” to our consolidated financial statements.

Goodwill and Othet r IndeII fine ite-Lived Intangibles. Assets and liabia lities of a business acquired are accounted for at their
estimated faiff r values as of the acquisition date. Any excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the net tangible
and intangible assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. We generally supplu ement management expertise with valuation
specialists in performing appra aisals to assist us in determining the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. These
valuations require us to make estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. We generally amortize our
intangible assets over their usefulff lives with the exception of indefinite lived intangible assets. We do not amortize goodwill,
but we evaluate it annually for impairment. Thereforff e, the allocation of the purchase price to intangible assets and goodwill has
a significant impact on future operating results.

Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets, primarily certain regulatory lr icenses and trade names, are tested for
impairment annually as of October 1. If circumstances change during interim periods between annual tests that indicate that the
carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverabla e, the company tests such assets at an interim date forff impairment. Factors
which would necessitate an interim impairment assessment include prolonged negative industry orr r economic trends and
significant underperformance relative to historical or projected futff urt e operating results.

At December 31, 2023, goodwill and intangible assets totaled $1,527.5 million, or 48.8% of our total assets. We consider the
impairment analyses of these assets critical because of their quantitative significance to the Company and our segments.

Goodwill is assigned to our segments at December 31, 2023 as follows:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f ) Sterigenics Nordion Nelson Labs Total

Goodwill at December 31, 2023 $ 659,888 $ 276,929 $ 174,373 $ 1,111,190

We performed a quantitative assessment of all reporting units (Sterigenics, Nordion and Nelson Labs) as of October 1, 2023.
The faiff r value of each reporting unit was calculated using a discounted cash floff w analysis which was dependent on subju ective
market participant assumptions determined by management. Assumptions used in the analyses included discount rates, revenue
growth rates and projected operating cash floff ws. Estimates of future cash floff ws are based upon relevant data at a point-in-time,
are subject to change, and could vary frr roff m actuat l results. Cash floff ws are based on recent historical results and are consistent
with the Company’s near-term financial forff ecasts and long-term strategic plans. The estimated faiff r value of Sterigenics,
Nordion and Nelson Labsa each exceeded its carryirr ng amount (including goodwill) by an adequate margin to supporu t a positive
assertion that goodwill is not impaired as of October 1, 2023. No factors were identifieff d that would result in the potential
impairment to the indefinite-lived intangible assets. There have been no other significant events or circumstances that occurred
since the annual assessment date of October 1 that would change the conclusions reached above. We provide additional
information aboa ut our goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets in Note 8, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”
to our consolidated financial statements.

Income Taxeaa s. We use the liabia lity method of accounting forff income taxes whereby we recognize deferred tax assets and
liabilities forff the futff urt e tax consequences of temporary dr iffeff rences between the tax bases of assets and liabia lities and their
reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Measurements of deferred taxes requires the use of judgment with
respect to the realization of tax basis. We periodically review our deferred tax assets for recoverabia lity and establish a valuation
allowance based on historical taxabla e income, projected futff urt e taxable income, expected timing of reversals of existing
temporary tr iming diffeff rences and the implementation of tax planning strategies. Deferff red tax assets will be reduced by a
valuation allowance if, bff ased on management’s estimate, it is more likely than not that a portion of the deferred tax assets will
not be realized in a futff urt e period. The estimates used in the recognition of deferred tax assets are subject to revision in future
periods based on new facts and circumstances. At December 31, 2023 and 2022 we maintained a valuation allowance of
$125.4 million and $105.6 million, respectively, against our deferred tax assets, primarily attributable to the excess interest
expense on our long-term debt in the United States as well as fedff eral, state and forff eign net operating loss carryforwards. If we
are unabla e to generate sufficff ient future taxabla e income in certain tax jurisdictions, or if there is a material change in the
effeff ctive income tax rates or time period within which the underlying temporary drr iffeff rences become taxabla e or deducd tible, we
could be required to increase our valuation allowance, which would increase our effeff ctive income tax rate and could result in an
adverse impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations. Changes in our judgment related to the
measurement of deferff red tax assets and liabia lities could materially impact our results of operations.
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We determine whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained uponu examination, including resolution of
related appea als or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. In evaluating whether a tax position meets
the more likely-than-not recognition threshold, we presume that the position will be examined by the appra opriate taxing
authority and that the taxing authority will have fulff l knowledge of all relevant inforff mation. A tax position that meets the more
likely-than-not recognition threshold is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being
realized upon ultimate settlement. Determining what constitutes an individual tax position and whether the more likely-than-not
recognition threshold is met for a tax position are matters of judgment based on the individual factff s and circumstances of that
position evaluated in light of all available evidence. We review and adjust tax estimates periodically because of ongoing
examinations by, and settlements with, the various taxing authorities, as well as changes in tax laws, regulations, and precedent.
Changes in our judgment related to the assessment of uncertain tax positions could materially impact our results of operations.

We are subjeb ct to taxation froff m fedff eral, state and local, and foreign jurisdictions. Tax positions are settled primarily through the
completion of audits within each individual tax jurisdiction or the closing of a statute of limitation. Changes in appla icable tax
law or other events may also require us to revise past estimates. The United States Internal Revenue Service routinely conducts
audits of our federal income tax returns. Additional inforff mation regarding income taxes is included in Note 11, “Income Taxes”
to our consolidated financial statements.

Commitments and Contingencies. We are, and will likely continue to be, involved in a number of legal proceedings,
government investigations and claims, which we believe generally arise in the course of our business, given our size, history,
complexity and the nature of our business, products, customers, regulatory er nvironment and industries in which we participate.
These legal proceedings, investigations and claims generally involve a variety of legal theories and allegations, including,
without limitation, personal injury (r e.g., slip and falff ls, burns, vehicle accidents, mass tort), regulation (e.g., failure to meet
specification or faiff lure to comply with regulatory rr equirements), commercial claims (e.g., breach of contract, economic loss,
misrepresentation), finff ancial (e.g., taxes, reporting), employment (e.g., wrongfulff termination, discrimination, benefits matters)
and other claims for damage and relief.ff

We record a liabia lity forff such contingencies to the extent we conclude that their occurrence is both probabla e and estimabla e. If a
potentially material loss contingency is not probabla e, but is reasonabla y possible, or is probabla e but cannot be estimated, then the
nature of the contingent liabia lity is disclosed within our consolidated financial statements, together with an estimate of the range
of possible loss if the range is determinable and material. We consider many factors in making these assessments, including the
profesff sional judgment of experienced members of management and our legal counsel. For legal proceedings and claims
described within our consolidated financial statements, we have made estimates as to the likelihood of unfavff orable outcomes
and the amounts of such potential losses, if a range is determinable. While it is not possible to determine the ultimate
disposition of each of these matters, the ultimate resolution of pending regulatory ar nd legal matters in future periods may have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity. The Company may also incur material
defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other adverse effects on our business, financial condition,
and/or results of operations. We record gain contingencies when realized and expected recoveries under appla icable insurance
contracts when we are assured of recovery. Referff to Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial
statements.

As described in Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies”, the Company reached agreements to settle approximately 880
pending and threatened EO claims against the Defendant Subsu idiaries in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois, and US
District Court forff the Northern District of Illinois on January 9, 2023. Under the binding Settlement Agreements, the Company
paid $407.7 million to settle the claims.

On October 16, 2023, the Company reached an agreement to resolve 79 EO claims against the Settling Defendant in the State of
Georgia. Under the terms of the agreements, the Company paid $35.0 million to settle the claims.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

For a description of recent accounting pronouncements applicable to our business, see Note 2, “Recent Accounting Standards”
to our consolidated financial statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary cr ourse of business, primarily changes in commodity prices, interest rates and
foreign currency exchange rates and regulatory rrr isk.
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Commodityii Price Risk

We purchase our supplu y of EO gas from various supplu iers around the world, but in the United States there is a sole supplier forff
EO gas used forff applications relevant to our business. We are exposed to market risk based on fluff ctuat tions in the price of EO
gas.

We actively seek to manage the risk of fluff ctuat ting prices through long-term supplu y and service contracts. Most of our
Sterigenics customer contracts contain provisions that permit us to pass through all or a portion of our supplu y price increases to
our customers, though some of our contracts do not contain these provisions. Even forff contracts that do contain these
provisions, there is ofteff n at least a brief lag between when we incur increased costs forff supplu ies and when we can pass through
these costs to our customers. In addition, even when we are contractuat lly permitted to pass on price increases, we may decide
not to do so to preserve our sales volumes or for other reasons.

Interest Rate Riskii

We are subjeb ct to interest rate risk on borrowings that bear interest at floating rates. From time to time, the Company utilizes
interest rate derivatives to reduce the variability of cash floff ws in the interest payments associated with our variable rate
borrowings.

In March 2023, we entered into an interest rate swap aa greement with a notional amount of $400.0 million. The interest rate
swap’s effeff ctive date began on August 23, 2023 and expires on August 23, 2025. We have designated the interest rate swap as a
cash flow hedge designed to hedge the variabia lity of cash flows attributable to changes in the SOFR benchmark interest rate of
our 2023 Term Loan. We receive interest at the one-month Term SOFR rate and pay a fixed interest rate under the terms of the
swap agreement.

In May 2022, we entered into two interest rate cap agreements with a combined notional amount of $1,000.0 million forff a total
option premium of $4.1 million. The interest rate caps became effective as of July 31, 2023 and expire on July 31, 2024. We
have designated these interest rate caps as cash floff w hedges designed to hedge the variabia lity of cash floff ws attributable to
changes in the benchmark interest rate of our Term Loan. Under the current terms of the loan agreement, the benchmark interest
rate index transitioned froff m LIBOR to Term SOFR on June 30, 2023. Accordingly, the interest rate cap agreements hedge the
variability of cash floff ws attributable to changes in SOFR by limiting our cash floff w exposure related to Term SOFR under a
portion of our variable rate borrowings to 3.5%.

In October 2021, we entered into two interest rate cap agreements with a combined notional amount of $1,000.0 million forff a
total option premium of $1.8 million. Both interest rate caps were effecff tive on December 31, 2022 and expired on July 31,
2023. These interest rate caps were designated as cash floff w hedges and were designed to hedge the variabia lity of cash floff ws
attributable to changes in LIBOR (or its successor), the benchmark interest rate being hedged, by limiting our cash floff w
exposure related to the LIBOR base rate under a portion of our variable rate borrowings to 1.0%.

Based on our indebtedness outstanding as of December 31, 2023, the interest rate under our Term Loans that was in effeff ct on
December 31, 2023, and afteff r appla ying the effects of interest rate caps and the swap ra eferff enced above, a 1.0% increase in the
interest rate under our outstanding debt obligations as of December 31, 2023, would increase interest expense by approxa imately
$8.6 million per year.

See Note 21, “Financial Instruments and Financial Risk” to our consolidated financial statements forff a summary of the activity
of the interest rate caps forff the periods presented.

Foreign Cgg urCC rency Rc isk

We are exposed to market risk froff m fluff ctuat tions in foreign currencies. We present our consolidated financial statements in U.S.
dollars. Consequently, increases or decreases in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to the non-U.S. dollar funcff tional currencies
of the countries in which we operate may affect the value of assets, liabia lities, revenues, expenses and other figures presented in
our consolidated financial statements, even if their value has not changed in their local currencies. We translate the financial
statements of subsu idiaries whose local currency is their funcff tional currency to their U.S. dollar equivalents at end-of-pff eriod
exchange rates forff assets and liabia lities and at average exchange rates forff revenues and expenses. These translations could
significantly affeff ct the comparabia lity of our results between finff ancial periods and/or result in significant changes to the carrying
value of our assets and liabia lities. Translation adjustments are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) within equity.
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Our results of operations are impacted by currency exchange rate fluctuations to the extent that we are unabla e to match net
revenues received in forff eign currencies with expenses incurred in the same currency. Transaction gains and losses arising from
fluctuations in currency exchange rates on transactions denominated in currencies other than the funcff tional currency are
recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) as foreign exchange loss (gain).

The Company also routinely enters into forff eign currency forff ward contracts to manage forff eign currency exchange rate risk of
our intercompany loans in certain of our international subsidiaries and non-functional currency assets and liabia lities. The
foreign currency forff ward contracts expire on a monthly basis. The fair value of the outstanding foreign currency forff ward
contracts was $0.1 million and $0.3 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Approximately 43.7% of our revenues and 48.0% of our consolidated total assets as of December 31, 2023 are derived from
operations outside the United States. Holding other variables constant (such as interest rates and debt levels), if the U.S. dollar
had appra eciated by 10% against the foreign currencies used by our operations in the year ended December 31, 2023, revenues
would have been reduced by approximately $45.8 million and gross profit by appra oximately $25.3 million.

Regue latory Riskii

We are subjeb ct to extensive regulatory rrr equirements and routine regulatory arr udits, and we must receive permits, licenses, and/or
regulatory cr learance or approval forff numerous aspects of our operations. Regulatory ar gencies may refuse to grant appra oval or
clearance or may require the provision of additional data, and regulatory prr rocesses may be time consuming and costly, and their
outcome may be uncertain in certain of the countries in which we operate. Regulatory arr gencies may also change policies, adopt
additional regulations or revise existing regulations, any of which could impact our ability to provide our services. Our failure
to comply with the regulatory rr equirements of these agencies may subject us to administratively or judicially imposed
sanctions. These sanctions could include, among others, warning letters, finff es, civil penalties, criminal penalties, injunctions,
debarment, product seizure or detention and total or partial suspension of operations. The failure to receive or maintain, or
delays in the receipt of, rff elevant U.S. or international regulatory qrr ualificff ations could have a material adverse effect on our
business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Sotera Health Company

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Sotera Health Company (the Company) as of December 31,
2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), equity and cash floff ws for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and finff ancial statement scheduld e listed in
the Index at Item 15(a)(2) (collectively referff red to as the “consolidated financial statements“). In our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2023 and
2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows forff each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in
conforff mity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Publu ic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company's internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(2013 framework) and our report dated Februar ry 27, 2024 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis forff Opinion

These finff ancial statements are the responsibility of the Company‘s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company‘s finff ancial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firff m registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. fedff eral securities laws and the appla icable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonabla e assurance abouta whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether dued to
error or fraff ud. Our audits included perforff ming procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraff ud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedurd es included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonabla e basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that
was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that
are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subju ective or complex judgments. The
communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken
as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit
matter or on the account or disclosure to which it relates.

Valuation of Nelson Labs Reporting Unit Goodwill

Descripti ion of to hett Matter As disclosed in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements, at December 31, 2023, the
Company reported $1.1 billion of goodwill; of that, $174.4 million related to the Nelson Labs
reporting unit. As explained in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, goodwill is
tested for impairment annually as of October 1. Management performed a quantitative
impairment assessment forff its annual evaluation of the Nelson Labsa reporting unit in 2023.
As part of the quantitative impairment test, management estimated the faiff r value of the
Nelson Labsa reporting unit using the discounted cash flow method, a forff m of the income
approach.
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Auditing the Company’s goodwill impairment assessment forff the Nelson Labs reporting unit
was complex due to the significant estimation required to determine the faiff r value of the
reporting unit. In particular, this faiff r value measurement was sensitive to revenue growth rates
and projeo cted EBITDA margins. Elements of these assumptions are forff ward-looking and
could be affected by future market or economic conditions.

How We AWW ddressed thett Matter
in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effeff ctiveness of
controls over the Company’s goodwill impairment process whereby management develops
assumptions that are used as inputs to the annual goodwill impairment assessment. This
included controls over management's review of the valuation model and the assumptions
described abovea .

To test the estimated fair value of the Nelson Labsa reporting unit, we performed audit
procedurd es that included, among others, assessing the valuation methodology, testing the
assumptions discussed abovea , and testing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying
data used by the Company in its analysis. As it pertains to the revenue growth rates and
projected EBITDA margins, we compared the significant assumptions used by management
to current industry drr ata, economic trends and historical performance. We performed
sensitivity analyses of assumptions to evaluate the changes in the fair value of the reporting
unit that would result froff m changes in the assumptions. We tested management’s
reconciliation of the fair value of the reporting units to the market capitalization of the
Company. We also assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. In addition, we involved our valuation specialists to assist with our
evaluation of the methodology and significant assumptions used by the Company.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.

Cleveland, Ohio
Februarr ry 27, 2024
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Sotera Health Company

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in tii hott usands, es xcee ept per share amounts)tt

As of December 31,
2023 2022

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 296,407 $ 395,214
Restricted cash short-term 5,247 1,080
Accounts receivabla e, net of allowance forff uncollectible accounts of $4,689 and $1,871 as of December 31, 2023
and 2022, respectively 147,696 118,482
Inventories, net 48,316 37,145
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 53,846 80,995
Income taxes receivabla e 5,732 12,094

Total current assets 557,244 645,010
Property, plant, and equipment, net 946,914 774,527
Operating lease assets 24,037 26,481
Deferred income taxes 4,993 4,101
Post-retirement assets 28,482 35,570
Other assets 41,242 38,983
Other intangible assets, net 416,318 491,265
Goodwill 1,111,190 1,101,768
Total assets $ 3,130,420 $ 3,117,705
Liabilities and equity
Current liabia lities:

Accounts payable $ 71,039 $ 74,139
Accruerr d liabia lities 122,471 490,130
Deferred revenue 13,492 12,140
Current portion of long-term debt 4,797 197,119
Current portion of finance lease obligations 8,771 1,722
Current portion of operating lease obligations 5,934 7,554
Current portion of asset retirement obligations — 2,896
Income taxes payable 4,150 5,867

Total current liabilities 230,654 791,567
Long-term debt 2,223,674 1,747,115
Finance lease obligations, less current portion 63,793 56,955
Operating lease obligations, less current portion 20,087 21,577
Noncurrent asset retirement obligations 47,944 42,586
Deferred lease income 18,762 18,902
Post-retirement obligations 8,439 7,910
Noncurrent liabia lities 8,879 12,831
Deferred income taxes 64,454 68,024
Total liabia lities 2,686,686 2,767,467
See Commitments and contingencies note
Equity:

Common stock, with $0.01 par value, 1,200,000 shares authorized; 286,037 shares issued at December 31, 2023
and 2022 2,860 2,860

Preferff red stock, with $0.01 par value, 120,000 shares authorized; no shares issued at December 31, 2023 and
2022 — —

Treasury srr tock, at cost (3,207 and 3,616 shares at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively) (27,182) (29,775)
Additional paid-in capital 1,215,178 1,189,622
Retained deficit (654,440) (705,816)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (92,682) (106,653)

Total equity 443,734 350,238
Total liabia lities and equity $ 3,130,420 $ 3,117,705

See notes to consolidatdd ed financial statements.
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Sotera Health Company

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(in tii hott usands, es xcee ept per share amounts)tt

ar Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Revenues:
Service $ 905,598 $ 864,828 $ 805,501
Product 143,690 138,859 125,977

Total net revenues 1,049,288 1,003,687 931,478
Cost of revenues:

Service 418,611 390,860 357,205
Product 53,519 55,823 55,601

Total cost of revenues 472,130 446,683 412,806
Gross profit 577,158 557,004 518,672
Operating expenses:

Selling, general and administrative expenses 236,667 245,714 198,158
Amortization of intangible assets 63,799 62,940 63,781

Total operating expenses 300,466 308,654 261,939
Operating income 276,692 248,350 256,733
Interest expense, net 142,878 80,144 74,192
Georgia EO litigation settlement 35,000 — —
Illinois EO litigation settlement — 408,000 —
Impairment of investment in unconsolidated affiff liate — 9,613 —
Loss on extinguishment of debt — — 20,681
Foreign exchange loss 159 145 1,345
Other income, net (7,372) (6,441) (15,201)
Income (loss) before income taxes 106,027 (243,111) 175,716
Provision (benefit)ff for income taxes 54,651 (9,541) 58,595
Net income (loss) 51,376 (233,570) 117,121
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests — — 239
Net income (loss) attributable to Sotera Health Company $ 51,376 $ (233,570) $ 116,882
Other comprehensive income (loss) net of tax:

Pension and post-retirement benefitsff (net of taxes of $(3,420), $7,022 and $8,924,
respectively) $ (10,506) $ 20,790 $ 26,562

Interest rate derivatives (net of taxes of $(5,467), $7,387 and $142, respectively) (15,697) 20,939 404
Foreign currency translation 40,174 (64,816) (16,395)

Comprehensive income (loss) 65,347 (256,657) 127,692
Less: comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests — — 534
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Sotera Health Company $ 65,347 $ (256,657) $ 127,158
Earnings (Loss) per share:

Basic $ 0.18 $ (0.83) $ 0.41
Diluted 0.18 (0.83) 0.41

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
Basic 281,008 280,096 279,228
Diluted 283,222 280,096 279,382

See notes to consolidatdd ed financial statements.
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Sotera Health Company

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in tii hott usands)s

2023 2022 2021
Operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 51,376 $ (233,570) $ 117,121
Adjud stments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation 76,577 64,000 64,160
Amortization of intangible assets 81,348 81,554 86,742
Impairment of investment in unconsolidated affiff liate — 9,613 —
Loss on extinguishment of debt — — 20,681
Deferred income taxes 3,449 (73,960) (3,716)
Share-based compensation expense 32,238 21,211 13,870
Accretion of asset retirement obligations 2,413 2,194 2,252
Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain) 6,057 (3,984) 788
Unrealized loss (gain) on derivatives not designated as hedging instruments (1,637) 2,977 (1,195)
Amortization of debt issuance costs 9,051 5,681 6,161
Other (5,319) (6,989) (12,728)
Changes in operating assets and liabia lities:

Accounts receivabla e (21,724) (12,555) (15,509)
Inventories (9,972) 14,441 (20,245)
Other current assets 4,003 (5,816) (3,552)
Accounts payable (5,333) 1,107 19,761
Accruerr d liabia lities 3,500 20,595 1,596
Illinois EO litigation settlement (407,712) 408,000 —
Georgia EO litigation settlement 35,000 — —
Income taxes payable / receivabla e, net 924 (12,332) 10,103
Other liabia lities (1,733) 383 (369)
Other long-term assets (238) (4,589) (4,376)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (147,732) 277,961 281,545
Investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (214,975) (182,378) (102,162)
Purchase of BioScience Laboratories, LLC, net of cash acquired — — (13,530)
Purchase of mandatorily redeemable noncontrolling interest in Nelson Laboratories Fairfield, Inc. — — (12,425)
Purchase of Regulatory Crr ompliance Associates Inc., net of cash acquired — 450 (31,015)
Other investing activities 69 32 (701)
Net cash used in investing activities (214,906) (181,896) (159,833)
Financing activities:
Proceeds froff m revolving credit facility and long-term borrowings 500,000 200,000 —
Payment of revolving credit facility (200,000) — —
Purchase of noncontrolling interests in China subsidiaries — — (8,418)
Payments of debt issuance costs and prepayment premium (25,645) (31) (6,792)
Payments of long-term borrowings (2,500) — (100,000)
Shares withheld for employee taxes on equity awards (4,089) (393) (1,434)
Other finff ancing activities (1,807) (1,815) (642)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 265,959 197,761 (117,286)
Effeff ct of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 2,039 (4,456) 44
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash (94,640) 289,370 4,470
Cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash, at beginning of period 396,294 106,924 102,454
Cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash, at end of period $ 301,654 $ 396,294 $ 106,924
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Cash paid during the period for interest $ 173,842 $ 75,849 $ 58,772
Cash paid during the period for income taxes, net of tax refundff s received 50,210 75,496 52,007
Purchases of property, plant and equipment included in accounts payabla e 16,720 16,413 14,524

Year Ended December 31,

See notes to consolidatdd ed financial statements.
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Sotera Health Company

Consolidated Statements of Equity
(in tii hott usands)s

Shares Amount Amount Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Deficit

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
(Loss) Income

Noncontrolling
Interests

Total
Equity

Common
Stock

Common
Stock

Treasury
Stock

Balance at January 1, 2021 283,248 $ 2,860 $(34,000) $ 1,166,412 $ (589,128) $ (93,842) $ 2,272 $ 454,574

Acquisition of noncontrolling interests — — — (5,772) — (2,806) (8,578)

Issuance of shares 47 — — 1,080 — — — 1,080

Share-based compensation plans (310) — 455 10,873 — — — 11,328
Comprehensive income (loss):
Pension and post-retirement plan
adjud stments, net of tax — — — — — 26,562 — 26,562

Foreign currency translation — — — — — (16,690) 295 (16,395)
Interest rate derivatives, net of tax — — — — — 404 — 404
Net income — — — — 116,882 — 239 117,121

Balance at December 31, 2021 282,985 2,860 (33,545) 1,172,593 (472,246) (83,566) — 586,096

Share-based compensation plans (564) — 3,770 17,029 — — — 20,799
Comprehensive income (loss):
Pension and post-retirement plan
adjud stments, net of tax — — — — — 20,790 — 20,790

Foreign currency translation — — — — — (64,816) — (64,816)
Interest rate derivatives, net of tax — — — — — 20,939 — 20,939
Net loss — — — — (233,570) — — (233,570)

Balance at December 31, 2022 282,421 2,860 (29,775) 1,189,622 (705,816) (106,653) $ — 350,238
Share-based compensation plans 409 — 2,593 25,556 — — — 28,149
Comprehensive income (loss):
Pension and post-retirement plan
adjud stments, net of tax — — — — — (10,506) — (10,506)

Foreign currency translation — — — — — 40,174 — 40,174
Interest rate derivatives, net of tax — — — — — (15,697) — (15,697)
Net income — — — — 51,376 — — 51,376

Balance at December 31, 2023 282,830 $ 2,860 $(27,182) $ 1,215,178 $ (654,440) $ (92,682) $ — $ 443,734

See notes to consolidatdd ed financial statements.
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1. Significff ant Accounting Policies

Principli es of Consolidatdd ion – Sotera Health Company (also referred to herein as the “Company,” “we,” “our,” “us” or “its”), is
a leading global provider of mission-critical end-to-end sterilization solutions, lab testing and advisory services for the
healthcare industry wrr ith operations primarily in the Americas, Europe and Asia.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabia lities, operating results, and cash floff ws of the
Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”).

We operate and report in three segments, Sterigenics, Nordion and Nelson Labs. We describe our reportabla e segments in Note
22, “Segment and Geographic Inforff mation”. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Noncontrolling interests represented the noncontrolling stockholders’ proportionate share of the total equity in the Company’s
consolidated subsu idiaries. In the second quarter of 2021, we purchased the outstanding noncontrolling interests of 15% and 33%
of our two China subsu idiaries. Prior to our acquisition of the noncontrolling interests in our two subsidiaries in China, we
consolidated the results of operations of these subsidiaries with our results of operations and refleff cted the noncontrolling
interest on our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) as “Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests.”

In July 2020, we acquired a 60% equity ownership interest in a joint venture to construcrr t an E-beam facility in Alberta, Canada
in connection with our acquisition of Iotron Industries Canada, Inc. (“Iotron”). Our equity ownership in the joint venture was
determined to be an investment in a variabla e interest entity (“VIE”). The investment was not consolidated as the Company
concluded that it was not the primary beneficiary orr f the VIE. The Company accounted for the joint venture using the equity
method. The investment was refleff cted within “Investment in unconsolidated affiff liates” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
During the year ended December 31, 2022, we identifieff d certain events and circumstances that indicated a decline in value of
our investment in this joint venture that was other-than-temporary.r Consequently, in the second quarter of 2022, we wrote down
the investment in the joint venturt e to its fair value of $0, resulting in an impairment charge of appra oximately $9.6 million. In
Februarr ry 2023, we entered into a Share Purchase Agreement to transfer our equity ownership interest to the joint venture
partner, thereby terminating our equity ownership interest.

Use of Eo stEE imates – In preparing our consolidated financial statements in conforff mity with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (“GAAP”), we make estimates and assumptions that affeff ct the amounts reported and the accompanying notes. We
regularly evaluate the estimates and assumptions used and revise them as new information becomes available. Actuat l results
may vary fr roff m those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalentstt – We consider all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or
less from the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents may include various deposit accounts and
money market fundsff .

Accounts Rtt eceivable - Accounts receivable consists of amounts billed and currently due from customers. The amounts dued are
stated net of the allowance forff uncollectible accounts. The Company maintains an allowance forff uncollectible receivabla es to
provide for the estimated amount of receivabla es that will not be collected.

Allowance forff Uncollectible Accounts Rtt eceivable – We maintain an allowance forff uncollectible accounts receivable for
estimated losses in the collection of amounts owed to us by customers. We estimate the allowance based on analyzing a number
of factors, including amounts written off hff istorically, customer payment practices, customer finff ancial information and credit
ratings, current market conditions as well as the expected futff urt e economic conditions that may impact the collection of accounts
receivabla e. We also analyze significant customer accounts on a regular basis and record a specific allowance when we become
aware of a specific customer’s inabia lity to pay. We generally do not charge interest on accounts receivabla e or require collateral
frff om our customers.

We record write-offs against the allowance forff uncollectible accounts receivabla e when all reasonabla e efforts forff collection have
been exhausted. As a result, the related accounts receivable are reducd ed to an amount that we reasonabla y believe is collectible.

Sotera Health Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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These analyses require judgment. If the finff ancial condition of our customers worsens, or economic conditions change, we may
be required to make changes to our allowance forff uncollectible accounts receivabla e.

Inventories – Inventories as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 are held at Nordion. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or
net realizable value. Cost of material, labor, and manufacff turing overhead are determined using standard cost, which
approximates average cost. We review inventory or n an ongoing basis, considering factff ors such as deterioration and
obsolescence. We record a reserve for excess and obsolete inventory,r which was immaterial at December 31, 2023 and 2022,
when the facff ts and circumstances indicate that particular inventories will not be usable. If futff urt e market conditions vary from
those projeo cted, and our estimates prove to be inaccurate, we may be required to write-down inventory vr alues and record an
adjud stment to cost of revenues.

Property,tt Plant, at nd Equipmi ent – Property, plant, and equipment is carried at cost, or initially at fair value if acquired in an
acquisition, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Except forff Co-60, a radioactive isotope used in gamma radiation
sterilization, all property, plant, and equipment depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over estimated useful
lives. Leasehold improvements are amortized over their estimated usefulff lives or the term of the related lease, whichever is
shorter. Co-60 is amortized using an accelerated method, which relates to the naturt al radioactive decay of the isotope over its
estimated useful life wff hich is approximately twenty years. Amortization of Co-60 is included within depreciation expense as a
cost of revenue. Expenditures forff majoa r softwff are purchases and softwff are developed forff internal use are capitalized and
depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, which are generally one to five
years. For softwff are obtained or developed forff internal use, all external direct costs forff materials and services and certain
personnel costs incurred to dev lelop hthe softwff ar de durd iingg thhe ap lpliicatiio dn dev lelopment stagge are capiit laliiz ded. At Decembber 31,
2023 andd 2022, w he h dad dundepreciiatedd softwff are costs of $$7.9 ilmillilion andd $$3.4 ilmillilion, respectiiv lelyy, iin lcl duded id in propertyy, lplant,
andd e iquipment, net. We recognignizedd $$3.3 imilllliion, $$2.2 ilmillilion na d $2.6 million, of depreciation expense related to software
costs forff the years ending December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Depreciation is computed using the assets’ estimated usefulff lives as presented below:
Buildings and building improvements 15–44 years
Machinery arr nd equipment 3–30 years
Leasehold improvements 2–20 years
Furniture and fixff tures 3–10 years
Computer hardware and softwff are 1–7 years

From time to time, we build or expand facilities. The cost of construcrr tion of these facilities is refleff cted as construcrr tion-in-
progress until the asset is ready for its intended use, at which time the costs are reclassified to the appra opriate depreciabla e
category or f property, plant, and equipment and depreciation commences. Fixed asset projeo cts requiring one or more years to
complete construcrr tion qualify fff orff capitalization of interest costs in accordance with our policy. Interest related to property, plant
and equipment projeo cts with a construcr tion period of less than one year are not capia talized and are immaterial. Repairs and
maintenance costs that do not extend the useful life off f an asset are expensed as incurred.

Upon sale or retirement of assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation is removed froff m the Consolidated Balance
Sheets, and the resulting gain or loss is refleff cted as a component of operating income.

Long-Lived Assets Othet r thantt Goodwill – We review long-lived assets, including finite-lived intangibles for impairment
whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset or asset group may be impaired. Events or
circumstances which would result in an impairment assessment include operating losses, a significant change in the use of an
asset or asset group, or the planned disposal or sale of the asset or asset group. The asset or asset group would be considered
impaired when the futff urt e net undiscounted cash flows generated by the asset or asset group are less than its carrying value. An
impairment loss would be recognized based on the amount by which the carrying value of the asset or asset group exceeds its
estimated faiff r value.

Sotera Health Company
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Amortization of intangible assets is computed using the asset’s estimated useful lives as presented below:

Land-use rights 41 years
Customer contracts and related relationships 5–20 years
Proprietary technology 7–20 years
Trade name/trademark 5–8 years
Sealed source and supply agreements 7–20 years

Leases – We determine if an agreement contains a lease and classify our leases as operating or finff ance at the lease
commencement date. Leases with an initial term of twelve months or less are recognized as lease expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term and are not recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Non-lease components are accounted for
separately from the lease components forff all asset classes.

Finance leases are those in which we will pay substantially all the underlying asset’s faiff r value or will use the asset forff all or a
majoa r part of its economic life,ff including circumstances in which we will ultimately own the asset. Lease assets arising froff m
finance leases are included in “Property, plant and equipment, net” and the liabilities are included in “Finance lease obligations”
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. For finff ance leases, we recognize interest expense using the effective interest method and
we recognize amortization expense on the lease asset over the shorter of the lease term or the usefulff life of asset. Finance leases
are accounted for as if the assets were owned and financed, with associated expense recognized in “Interest expense, net” and
“Cost of revenues” or “Selling, general and administrative expenses” within the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss) depending on the naturt e of the underlying asset.

Operating lease assets and liabia lities are recognized at the commencement date of the lease based on the present value of lease
payments over the lease term. Lease assets represent the right to use an underlying asset forff the lease term and lease liabia lities
represent the obligation to make lease payments arising froff m the lease. As most leases do not provide an implicit interest rate,
we estimate an incremental borrowing rate to determine the present value of lease payments. Our estimated incremental
borrowing rate reflects a secured rate based on recent debt issuances, our estimated credit rating, and lease term. We recognize
operating lease costs on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease in “Cost of revenues” or “Selling, general and
administrative expenses” on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) depending on the
nature of the underlying asset.

Goodwill and Othet r IndeII fine ite-Lived Intangibles – Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets, primarily certain
regulatory lr icenses and tradenames, are tested for impairment annually as of October 1. If circumstances change during interim
periods between annual tests that would indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverabla e, the Company
tests such assets at an interim date forff impairment. Factors that necessitate an interim impairment assessment include prolonged
negative industry or r economic trends and significant underperformance relative to historical or projeo cted future operating
results.

We performed a quantitative assessment of all reporting units (Sterigenics, Nordion and Nelson Labs) as of October 1, 2023.
The faiff r value of each reporting unit was calculated using a discounted cash floff w analysis which was dependent on subju ective
market participant assumptions determined by management. We furff ther corroborated these discounted cash floff w analyses
utilizing a market appra oach to determine the estimated enterprr ise faiff r value. Assumptions used in the analyses included discount
rates, revenue growth rates and projected operating cash floff ws. Estimates of futff urt e cash floff ws are based upon relevant data at a
point-in-time, are subju ect to change, and could vary fr roff m actuat l results. The estimated faiff r value of each reporting unit
exceeded its carrying amount by a suffiff cient margin to support a positive assertion that goodwill is not impaired. We performed
a qualitative impairment assessment to evaluate any potential impairment to the indefinite-lived intangible assets. We
considered significant events and circumstances that could affect the significant inputs used to determine the estimated faiff r
value of the indefinite-lived intangible assets, and determined, after considering the totality of evidence that it is not more likely
than not that the indefinite-lived intangible assets are impaired. There have been no other significant events or circumstances
that occurred since the annual assessment date of October 1 that would change the conclusions reached above.

Derivative InsII truments – We may enter into derivative instrumr ents and hedging activities to manage, where possible and
economically effiff cient, commodity price risk, foreign currency exchange rate risk and interest rate risk related to borrowings.

Sotera Health Company
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We also have identified embedded derivatives in certain supply and customer contracts. Certain interest rate derivatives are
designated as cash floff w hedges allowing forff changes in faiff r value to be recorded through “Other comprehensive income (loss)”.
Amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) will be reclassified into earnings in the same periods during which
the hedged transaction affects earnings and are presented in “Interest expense, net” within the Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). Derivatives not designated as hedges are recorded at fair value on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, with any changes in the value being recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss) in the same line item as the corresponding hedged item. We classify cash floff ws from derivative
instruments and hedging activities as cash floff ws from operating activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. To the
extent derivative arrangements are with the same counterpar rty and contractuat l right of offsff et exists under appla icable master
agreements, we offseff t assets and liabia lities forff reporting on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Pension, Post-Retirement and Othett r Post-Emplm oyment Benefie t Plans –We sponsor a definff ed-contribution retirement plan that
covers subsu tantially all U.S. employees. We also sponsor various post-employment benefitff plans at our Nordion business in
Canada, including defined benefitff and definff ed contribution pension plans, retirement compensation arrangements and plans that
provide extended health care coverage to retired employees. In addition, we provide other benefitff plans at our foreign
subsu idiaries, including a supplemental retirement arrangement, a retirement and termination allowance and post-retirement
benefit plans, which include contributory hr ealthcare benefitff s and contributory lr ife iff nsurance coverage. All non-pension post-
employment benefitff plans are unfundeff d.

These costs and obligations are affected by assumptions including the discount rate, the expected long-term rate of return on
plan assets, the annual rate of change in compensation for eligible employees, estimated changes in costs of healthcare benefits,
and other demographic and economic factors. We review the assumptions used on an annual basis.

We recognize the over/unde/ r fundeff d status of definff ed benefit pension and post-retirement benefitsff plans in our Consolidated
Balance Sheets. This amount is measured as the diffeff rence between the faiff r value of plan assets and the projected benefit
obligation. Changes in the funded status of the plans are recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) in the year they occur.
We measure plan assets and obligations as of the balance sheet date. We provide additional inforff mation abouta our pension and
other post-retirement benefitsff plans in Note 12, “Employee Benefitsff ”.

Amortization of net gain or loss included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) shall be reclassified to net periodic
pension cost if, as of the beginning of the year, that gain or loss exceeds 10% of the greater of the projeo cted benefit obligation
(“PBO”) or the market related value of the plan assets (the ‘corridor’). As most of the plan’s participants are no longer actively
accruir ng benefits, the average remaining life expectancy is used.

Asset Retirement Obligations (“ARO“ ”) – ARO are legal obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets or the
exit of a leased facility. We recognize a liabia lity for an ARO in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonabla e estimate of fair
value can be made, and the associated asset retirement costs are then capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived
asset. We lease various facilities where sterilization and ionization services are performed. Under the lease agreements, we are
required to returt n the facilities to their original condition and to perform decommissioning activities. In addition, certain of our
owned faciff lities are required to be decommissioned when we vacate the facility. Accretion expense is recognized in cost of
revenues in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) over time as the discounted liabia lity
is accreted to its expected settlement value.

Debt Issuance CosCC ts, Premiums and Discii ountstt – We have incurred costs in connection with obtaining financing as well as
premiums and discounts associated with our long-term debt. The portion of these fees that are capitalized are recorded as a
reduction of debt on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and amortized into interest expense over the term of the debt agreement.
Debt issuance costs associated with the Company’s revolving credit facilities are classified as assets unless there are
outstanding borrowings under such arrangements.

Concentration of Co reCC dit Risk, Othet r Risks and Uncertainties – We maintain cash and cash equivalents in the form of demand
deposits in accounts with majoa r finff ancial institutt ions in the U.S. and in countries where our subsu idiaries operate. Deposits in
these institutions may exceed amounts of insurance provided on such accounts. We have not experienced any losses on our
deposits of cash and cash equivalents.
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Our net revenues and accounts receivabla e are derived froff m customers located primarily in North America and Europe.

NNo customer account ded for 10% or more of accounts rec ieivablbla e at Decembber 31, 2023 andd 2022, or 10% or more of net
revenues forff hth ye years enddedd Dece bmber 31, 2023, 2022 andd 2021.

Income Taxeaa s –We use the liabia lity method of accounting forff income taxes whereby we recognize deferred tax assets and
liabia lities forff the futff urt e tax consequences of temporary dr iffeff rences between the tax bases of assets and liabia lities and their
reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred tax assets will be reduced by a valuation allowance if,ff
based on management’s estimate, it is more likely than not that a portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized in a
future period. The estimates used in the recognition of deferff red tax assets are subject to revision in future periods based on new
facts and circumstances.

We determine whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained uponu examination, including resolution of
related appea als or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. In evaluating whether a tax position has met
the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, we presume that the position will be examined by the appra opriate taxing
authority and that the taxing authority will have fulff l knowledge of all relevant inforff mation. A tax position that meets the more-
likely-than-not recognition threshold is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being
realized upon ultimate settlement. Determining what constitutes an individual tax position and whether the more-likely-than-not
recognition threshold is met for a tax position are matters of judgment based on the individual factff s and circumstances of that
position evaluated in light of all available evidence. We review and adjust tax estimates periodically because of ongoing
examinations by, and settlements with, the various taxing authorities, as well as changes in tax laws, regulations, and precedent.
We are subjeb ct to a tax on Global Intangible Low Taxed Income (“GILTI”) which we record as a period cost.

Our policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters as a component of the provision for income taxes
in our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Foreign Cgg urCC rency Tc raTT nslation – The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is generally the local currency.
Accordingly, assets and liabia lities are generally translated into U.S. dollars at the current rates of exchange as of the balance
sheet date, and revenues and expenses are translated using weighted-average rates prevailing during the period. Adjud stments
from forff eign currency translation are included as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

Gains or losses arising from foreign currency transactions are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss) as foreign exchange loss (gain). The Company routinely enters into forff eign currency forff ward
contracts to manage forff eign currency exchange rate risk of our intercompany loans in certain of our international subsidiaries
and non-functional currency assets and liabia lities. The forff eign currency forff ward contracts expire on a monthly basis. For thhe
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, for ieiggn ex hchangge lloss rellatedd p irima irilyly to hshort-term llosse (s (offsff et byby hshort-
term ggaiin )s) on salle ds denomiinat ded iin curren icies othher thhan thhe func itionall currencyy of our opera itingg entiitiies.

Revenue Recognition – Revenue is recognized when control of promised goods or services is transferff red to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The
majoa rity of our sales agreements contain performance obligations satisfied at a point-in-time when control of promised goods or
services have transferff red to our customers. Sales recognized over time are generally accounted for using an input measure to
determine progress completed as of the end of the period.

Refunds, returt ns, warranties and other related obligations are not material to any of our segments and we do not incur material
incremental costs to secure customer contracts.

Our Sterigenics segment provides outsourced terminal sterilization and irradiation services for the medical device,
pharmaceutical, foodff safety and advanced applications markets. We typically have multiyear service contracts with our
significant customers, and these sales contracts are primarily based on customers’ purchase orders. Given the relatively short
turnaround times, performance obligations are generally satisfieff d at a point-in-time upon the completion of sterilization or
irradiation processing and appra oval by our quality assurance process. Sterigenics segment revenues are included in service
revenues in our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).
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Our Nordion segment is a global provider of Co-60 and gamma irradiation systems, which are key components to the gamma
sterilization process. Revenue from the sale of Co-60 sources is recognized as product revenue at a point-in-time upon
satisfaction of our performance obligations for delivery orr f existing sources. Revenue from the sale of gamma irradiation
systems is recognized as product revenue over time using an input measure of costs incurred and is immaterial to the overall
business. Revenues from Co-60 installation and disposal and gamma irradiation systems refurbishments and installations are
recognized as service revenue.

Our Nelson Labs segment provides outsourced microbiological and analytical chemistry trr esting and advisory services for the
medical device and pharmaceutical industries. We provide our customers mission-critical lab ta esting services, which assess the
product quality, effectiveness, patient safetff y and end-to-end sterility of products. These services are necessary for our
customers’ regulatory ar ppra ovals, product releases and ongoing product performance evaluations. Nelson Labs services are
generally provided on a fee-for-service or project basis, and we recognize revenues over time using an input measure of time
incurred to determine progress completed at the end of the period. Nelson Labsa segment revenues are included in service
revenues in our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

We do not capitalize sales commissions because subsu tantially all of our sales commission programs have an amortization period
of one year or less. Furthermore, costs to fulff fill a contract are not material.

Provisions for discounts, rebates to customers, and other adjustments are provided forff as reductions in net revenues in the
period the related sale is recorded. Shipping and handling charges billed to customers are included in net revenues, and the
related shipping and handling costs are included in cost of net revenues on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss). Taxes assessed by a governmental authority that are both imposed on and concurrent with a
specific revenue-producing transaction, that are collected by us from a customer, are excluded froff m net revenue.

Payment terms vary by the type and location of the customer and the products or services offeff red. Generally, the time between
when revenue is recognized and when payment is dued is not significant. We do not evaluate whether the selling price contains a
financing component for contracts that have a durad tion of less than one year.

Share-Based ComCC pem nsation – Equity-based awards issued to employees under the Sotera Health Company 2020 Omnibus
Incentive Plan (“2020 Plan”) include restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and stock options that vest over time. Prior to our initial
public offeff ring (the “IPO” as described in Note 15, “Stockholders' Equity”), equity-based awards were issued to employees and
non-employee directors in the forff m of partnership interests in our predecessor, Sotera Health Topco Parent, L.P. (“Topco
Parent”), which vested based on either time (“time vesting awards”) or the achievement of certain performance and market
conditions (“perforff mance awards” and, together with the time vesting awards, the “pre-IPO awards”). In connection with the
IPO, Topco Parent made in-kind distributions of restricted shares of our common stock to holders of pre-IPO awards as
described in Note 15, “Stockholders' Equity”. The restricted shares of our common stock distributed in respect of pre-IPO time
vesting awards vest through June 2025; expense related to these unvested awards will be recognized over the remaining vesting
period. Expense attributable to the performance awards was recognized in its entirety in the year ended December 31, 2020 as
the related performance conditions were considered probabla e of achievement and the implied service condition was met. Share-
based compensation expense is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss),
primarily within “Selling, general and administrative expenses” at the grant date faiff r value over the requisite service period (one
to four years forff awards granted under the 2020 Plan and fivff e years for time vesting pre-IPO awards on a straight-line basis).
Fair value of the pre-IPO awards was estimated on the date of grant using a simulation-based option valuation model
incorporating multiple and variabla e assumptions over time, including assumptions such as employee forff feiturt es, unit price
volatility and dividend assumptions. We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to measure the grant date faiff r value of
stock options awarded under the 2020 Plan using certain valuation assumptions. Share-based compensation expense forff all
awards recognizes forfeiff tures as they occur.

Earnings (Loss) Per SharSS e – In periods in which the Company has net income, earnings per share information is determined
using the two-class method, which includes the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period and
securities that participate in dividends (“participating securities”). Our unvested restricted common stock distributed in respect
of pre-IPO Class B-1 and B-2 awards have the right to receive non-forfeitabla e dividends or dividend equivalents if the
Company declares dividends on its common stock. Under the two-class method, earnings are allocated to both common stock
shares and participating securities based on their respective weighted-average shares outstanding for the period. Diluted
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earnings (loss) per common share incorporates the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents on an average basis durd ing the
period, if dilutive, in which case the dilutive effeff ct of such securities is calculated using the more dilutive of (a) the two-class
method, or (b) treasury sr tock method, as applicable, to the potentially dilutive instrumrr ents. Unvested restricted common stock is
not included in the weighted average common shares outstanding figure within earnings per share until the period in which the
vesting condition is satisfied. In periods in which the Company has a net loss, the two-class method is not applicable because
the pre-IPO Class B-1 and B-2 restricted stock awards do not participate in losses. Refer to Note 17, “Earnings (Loss) Per
Share” for additional inforff mation.

Treasu yry Stockk – Thhe Companyy recordds repur hchases of iits own common stockk at cost. Repur hchas ded common stock ik is present ded
as a r deducd ition of e iqui yty iin hth Ce onsolidated Balance Sheets. Thhe didifferff ence bbetween hthe repur hchase a dnd reiissue p irice of hthe
Companyy’s own stock ik is addddedd to o dr d deducd ted fd froff m addiddi itionall p iaidd-iin capiitall. The cost of Treasury Srr tock reissued is calculated
using a weighted average cost method.

Commitments and Contingencies – Certain conditions may exist as of the date of the consolidated financial statements which
may result in a loss to the Company but will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or faiff l to occur. Such
liabia lities forff loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines, penalties, settlement agreements, and other
sources, are recorded when management assesses that it is probabla e that a future liabia lity has been incurred and the amount can
be reasonabla y estimated. Recoveries of costs froff m third parties, which management assesses as being probabla e of realization,
are recorded to the extent related contingent liabia lities are accrued. Legal costs incurred in connection with matters relating to
contingencies are expensed in the period incurred. We record gain contingencies when realized.

2. Recent Accountiing Sg Standards

AdAdoptdd iiott n of Af Ao ccountiintt g Sg StaSS dndardd dd U dpdatUU estt

Effeff ctiive Janua yry 1, 2023, we dadopt ded Accountiingg Sta dnda drds U dpdate ((“ASU”)) ASU 2021-08-Bu isiness Co bmbiinatiions ((T iopic
)805): Accountiingg forff Contract Assets andd Contract iLi babililiitiies froff m Contracts wi hith Customer (s (“ASU 2021-08”)). hThe

amenddments iin ASU 2021-08 re iquire hthat an acq iui iri gng en itityy recognignize andd measure contract assets andd contract liliabibia li ilities
acq iuired id in a bbusiiness combibina ition iin acco drdance iwi hth Accountiingg Sta dnda drds C diodifificatiio (n (“ASC )”) To ipic 606, Revenue from
Contracts wi hith Customer (s (“ASC To ipic 606”)). At hthe acq iui isi ition ddate, an acq iuirer sh lhouldd account for thhe rellatedd revenue
contract is in acco drdance iwi hth ASC T iopic 606 as ifif iit hhadd o irigiginatedd thhe contracts. hThe addoptiion of thihis sta dnda drd dididd not hhave a
mate iri lal iimpact on our cons lolididat ded fifinanciiall statements a dnd didiscllosures.

ASASUs Issu ded But NotNN Ye At Addoptededtt

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2023-07-Segment Reporting (Topic 280):
Improvements to Reportabla e Segment Disclosures. The amendments in ASU 2023-07 require an entity to provide enhanced
disclosures abouta significant segment expenses. The amendments in this ASU are effeff ctive forff fiscal years beginning afteff r
December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning afteff r December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted.
The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of this standard on our cons lolididat ded fifinanciiall statements a dnd
didiscllosure .s

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09-Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. The
amendments in this ASU require entities to disclose, on an annual basis, specific categories in the reconciliation of the provision
(benefit)ff for income taxes to the statutory rate and provide additional inforff mation forff reconciling items that meet a quantitative
threshold. Additionally, the update requires entities to disclose a disaggregation of taxes paid by category (rr federal, state and
foreign taxes) as well as individual jurisdictions. For public business entities, the amendments in this ASU are effeff ctive forff
annual periods beginning afteff r December 15, 2024. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of this standard on
our cons lolididat ded fifinanciiall statements a dnd didiscllosure .s

Sotera Health Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

84



3. Revenue Recognition

The folff lowing tabla e shows disaggregated net revenues froff m contracts with external customers by timing of revenue and by
segment forff the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021:

Year Ended December 31, 2023
Sterigenics Nordion Nelson Labs Consolidated

Point in time $ 667,130 $ 153,747 $ — $ 820,877
Over time — 6,712 221,699 228,411
Total $ 667,130 $ 160,459 $ 221,699 $ 1,049,288

Year Ended December 31, 2022
Sterigenics Nordion Nelson Labs Consolidated

Point in time $ 626,646 $ 147,499 $ — $ 774,145
Over time — 6,140 223,402 229,542
Total $ 626,646 $ 153,639 $ 223,402 $ 1,003,687

Year Ended December 31, 2021
Sterigenics Nordion Nelson Labs Consolidated

Point in time $ 571,829 $ 139,135 $ — $ 710,964
Over time — 1,372 219,142 220,514
Total $ 571,829 $ 140,507 $ 219,142 $ 931,478

When we receive consideration froff m a customer prior to transferring goods or services under the terms of a sales contract, we
record deferred revenue, which represents a contract liabia lity. Deferff red revenue totaled $13.5 million and $12.1 million at
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We recognize deferred revenue afteff r we have transferred control of the goods or
services to the customer and all revenue recognition criteria are met.

4. Acquisitions

Acquisiii tion of Ro egulatory Crr omCC plm iance Associates Inc.

On November 4, 2021, we acquired Regulatory Cr ompliance Associates Inc. (“RCA”) for appra oximately $30.6 million, net of
$0.6 million of cash acquired. RCA is an industry lrr eader in providing life sff ciences consulting focff used on quality, regulatory,rr
and technical advisory services for the pharmaceutical, medical device and combination device industries. Headquartered in
Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin, RCA expands and furff ther strengthens our technical consulting and expert advisory capabilities
within our Nelson Labsa segment.

The purchase price of RCA was allocated to the underlying assets acquired and liabia lities assumed based upon management's
estimated faiff r values at the date of acquisition. Approximately $$25.3 ilmillilion of goodwill was recorded related to the RCA
acquisition, representing the excess of the purchase price over the estimated faiff r values of all the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. We also recorded $6.4 million of finite-lived intangible assets, primarily related to customer relationships. We fundeff d
this acquisition using availabla e cash. The acquisition price and the results of operations for this acquired entity are not material
in relation to our consolidated financial statements.
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5. Inventories

Inventories consisted of the folff lowing:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
As of December 31,, 2023 2022

Raw materials and supplies $ 43,411 $ 36,402
Work-in-process 471 584
Finished goods 4,670 276

48,552 37,262
Reserve forff excess and obsolete inventoryrr (236) (117)
Inventories, net $ 48,316 $ 37,145

6. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
As of December 31,, 2023 2022

Prepaid taxes $ 4,129 $ 26,598
Prepaid business insurance 7,174 9,964
Prepaid rent 1,150 998
Customer contract assets 17,785 19,777
Insurance and indemnificff ation receivabla es — 3,724
Current deposits 715 660
Prepaid maintenance contracts 422 324
Value added tax receivable 4,306 1,640
Prepaid softwff are licensing 2,503 1,832
Stock supplies 3,669 3,656
Embedded derivatives 1,225 2,721
Other 10,768 9,101
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 53,846 $ 80,995

7. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment, net, consisted of the following:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
As of December 31,, 2023 2022

Land and buildings $ 345,309 $ 317,930
Leasehold improvements 82,582 67,386
Machinery,rr equipment, including Co-60 710,000 577,670
Furniture and fixff tures 8,754 7,747
Computer hardware and softwff are 51,437 44,796
Asset retirement costs 6,590 4,255
Construcrr tion-in-progress 247,019 193,639

1,451,691 1,213,423
Less accumulated depreciation (504,777) (438,896)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 946,914 $ 774,527
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Depreciation and amortization expense forff property, plant, and equipment, including property under finff ance leases, was $76.6
million, $64.3 million and $64.2 million forff the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Capia talized
interest totaled $$12.2 imilllliio ,n $3.7 million and $1.1 million forff the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively, and was recorded as a reducd tion in “Interest expense, net” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss).

8. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Changes to goodwill during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f ) Sterigenics Nordion Nelson Labs Total
Goodwill at January 1rr , 2022 $ 660,743 $ 288,905 $ 170,672 $ 1,120,320
RCA acquisition measurement period adjud stments — — 4,645 4,645
Changes dued to foreign currency exchange rates (3,285) (17,939) (1,973) (23,197)
Goodwill at December 31, 2022 657,458 270,966 173,344 1,101,768
Changes dued to foreign currency exchange rates 2,430 5,963 1,029 9,422
Goodwill at December 31, 2023 $ 659,888 $ 276,929 $ 174,373 $ 1,111,190

Other intangible assets consisted of the following:

(thousands of U.S. dollars) Gross Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
AmortizationAs of December 31, 2023,

Finiii teii -livll ed intangible assets
Customer relationships $ 657,673 $ 485,188
Proprietary technology 84,918 56,846
Trade names 2,567 1,207
Land-use rights 8,756 1,855
Sealed source and supply agreements 208,919 107,561
Other 4,517 2,905

Total finff ite-lived intangible assets 967,350 655,562

Indefie niii teii -livll ed intangible assets
Regulatory lrr icenses and other(a) 78,684 —
Trade names / trademarks 25,846 —

Total indefinite-lived intangible assets 104,530 —
Total $ 1,071,880 $ 655,562
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As of December 31, 2022,
Gross Carrying

Amount
Accumulated
Amortization

Finiii teii -livll ed intangible assets
Customer relationships $ 652,811 $ 422,277
Proprietary technology 86,054 50,952
Trade names 2,553 701
Land-use rights 8,986 1,683
Sealed source and supply agreements 204,391 93,034
Other 4,469 1,979

Total finff ite-lived intangible assets 959,264 570,626

Indefie niii teii -livll ed intangible assets
Regulatory lrr icenses and other(a) 76,978 —
Trade names / trademarks 25,649 —

Total indefinite-lived intangible assets 102,627 —
Total $ 1,061,891 $ 570,626

(a) Includes certain transportation certificff ations, a class 1B nuclear license and other intangibles related to obtaining such
licensure. These assets are considered indefinite-lived as the decision forff renewal by the Canadian Nuclear Safety
Commission is highly based on a licensee’s previous assessments, reported incidents, and annual compliance and inspection
results. New applications for license can take a significant amount of time and cost; whereas an existing licensee with a
historical record of compliance and current operating conditions more than likely ensures renewal for another 10 year
license period as Nordion has demonstrated over its 75 years of history.

Amounts include the impact of forff eign currency translation. Fully amortized amounts are written off.

Amortization expense forff finite-lived intangible assets was $81.3 million, $81.6 million, and $86.8 million forff the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. $63.8 million, $62.9 million, and $63.8 million was included in
“Amortization of intangible assets” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, whereas the remainder was included in “Cost of revenues.”

The estimated aggregate amortization expense forff finite-lived intangible assets for each of the next five years and thereafteff r is
as follows:
(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )

2024 $ 80,187
2025 42,735
2026 22,514
2027 21,438
2028 20,890
Thereafteff r 124,024
Total $ 311,788

The weighted-average remaining usefulff life of the finff ite-lived intangible assets was appra oximately 9.0 yyear as s of December 31,
2023.
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9. Accrued Liabilities

Accruer d liabia lities consisted of the following:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
As of December 31,, 2023 2022

Accruer d employee compensation $ 35,037 $ 32,936
Georgia EO litigation settlement reserve 35,000 —
Illinois EO litigation settlement reserve 288 408,000
Other legal reserves 1,480 3,776
Accruer d interest expense 26,681 23,291
Embedded derivatives 414 3,508
Profesff sional feeff s 12,691 6,436
Accruer d utilities 2,056 1,906
Insurance accruar l 2,922 2,392
Accruer d taxes 2,407 2,567
Other 3,495 5,318
Accrued liabilities $ 122,471 $ 490,130

10. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )

As of December 31, 2023, Gross Amount
Unamortized Debt
Issuance Costs

Unamortized Debt
Discount Net Amount

Term loan, dued 2026 1,763,100 (1,606) (10,298) 1,751,196
Term loan B, due 2026 497,500 (7,616) (12,609) 477,275

2,260,600 (9,222) (22,907) 2,228,471
Less current portion 5,000 (76) (127) 4,797
Long-term debt $ 2,255,600 $ (9,146) $ (22,780) $ 2,223,674

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )

As of December 31, 2022, Gross Amount
Unamortized Debt
Issuance Costs

Unamortized Debt
Discount Net Amount

Term loan, dued 2026 1,763,100 (2,140) (13,845) 1,747,115
Revolving credit faciff lity 200,000 (3,328) — 196,672
Other long-term debt 450 (3) — 447

1,963,550 (5,471) (13,845) 1,944,234
Less current portion 200,450 (3,331) — 197,119
Long-term debt $ 1,763,100 $ (2,140) $ (13,845) $ 1,747,115

Sotera Health Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

89



Debt Facilities

Senior Secured CreCC dit FacFF ilities

On December 13, 2019, Sotera Health Holdings, LLC (“SHH”), our wholly owned subsidiary, entered into senior secured firff st
lien credit faciff lities (the “Senior Secured Credit Facilities”), consisting of both a prepayable senior secured firff st lien term loan
(the “Term Loan”) and a senior secured firff st lien revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) pursuant to a first
lien credit agreement (the “2019 Credit Agreement”). The Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan maturt e on June 13, 2026,
and December 13, 2026, respectively. After giving effeff ct to the Revolving Credit Facility Amendment (defined below), the total
borrowing capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility is $423.8 million. The Senior Secured Credit Facilities also provide
SHH the right at any time and under certain conditions to request incremental term loans or incremental revolving credit
commitments based on a forff mula defined in the Senior Secured Credit Facilities. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, total
borrowings under the Term Loan were $1,763.1 million. The weighted average interest rate on borrowings under the Term
Loan for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was 7.95% and 4.63%, respectively.

On Februar ry 23, 2023, we entered into the First Lien Credit Agreement (the “2023 Credit Agreement”), which provides forff ,
among other things, a new Term Loan B facility (the “2023 Term Loan”) in an aggregate principal amount of $500.0 million
and bears interest, at the Company’s option, at a variabla e rate per annum equal to either (x) the Term Secured Overnight
Financing Rate (“Term SOFR”) (as defined in the 2023 Credit Agreement) plus an applicable margin of 3.75% or (y) an
alternative base rate (“ABR”) plus an applicable margin of 2.75%. The 2023 Credit Agreement is secured on a firff st priority
basis on substantially all of our assets and is guaranteed by certain of our subsu idiaries. It is prepayabla e without premium or
penalty at any time six months afteff r the closing date. The principal balance shall be paid at 1% of the aggregate principal
amount ($5.0 million) per year, with the balance due at the end of 2026. The Company used the proceeds of the 2023 Term
Loan to fund a previously announced $408.0 million EO litigation settlement in Cook County, Illinois and pay down the $200.0
million of existing borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility concurrent with the fundiff ng of the 2023 Term Loan on
Februarr ry 23, 2023. The Company utilized the remaining proceeds to further enhance liquidity and forff general corporar te
purposr es. The weighted average interest rate on borrowings under the 2023 Term Loan for the year ended December 31, 2023
was 8.90%.

On Marchh 21, 2023, hthe Compa yny entered id into an Increment lal Fa icilili yty Amenddment to thhe iFirst Liien Credidit Aggreement
((“Re lvol ivi gng Cr dediit Fa icilitylity Amenddment”)), hwhiichh pro ividdes forff an iincreas ie in thhe co immitments u dnder thhe exiis itingg Rev lol ivi gng
Cr dediit Fa icilitylity iin an gagggr gegate p irinciip lal amount of $$76.3 ilmillilion. In addiddi ition, cert iain of thhe lle dnders pr iovididi gng re lvol ivi gng cr dediit
co immitments pro ividdedd addiddi itionall com imitments forff hth ie issuance of hth le letters of cr dediit dunder thhe Re lvol ivi gng Cr dediit Fa icilitylity iin an
gagggr gegate p irinciip lal amount of $$165.1 imilllliion. Thhe Re lvol ivi gng Cr dediit Fa icilitylity Amenddment allso pro ividdes forff hthe repllacement of
hthe referff ence iinterest rate optiion forff Re lvol ivi gng Loans froff m L dondon Inte brbankk Offeredd Rat (e (“LIBOR )”) to Securedd Overnigighht
iFinanciingg Rat (e (“SOFR”)) pllus an a lppla iic bablle cr dediit spre dad dadjujudd stment of 0.10% ((subjubject to a miiniimum flloff or of 0%)). Afteff r
gigi ivi gng effeff ct to hthe Rev lol ivi gng Cr dediit Fa icilili yty Amenddment, hthe aggggr gegate amount of hth le lendders’ rev lol ivi gng co immitment is is
$$423.8 illimillion. Thhe matu iri yty ddate of hthe Rev lol ivi gng Cr dediit Fa icilili yty remaiins June 13, 2026. hThe Compa yny bborrowedd $$200.0
illimillion dunder thhe Re lvol ivi gng Cr dediit Fa icilili yty dduriingg thhe four hth quarter of 2022, hwhiichh was repaidid iin hthe fiirff st quarter of 2023. As
of December 31, 2023 and 2022 total borrowings outstanding on the Revolving Credit Facility were $0 and $200.0 million,
respectively. The weighted average interest rate on outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was 7.47% and 6.21%, respectively.

The Senior Secured Credit Facilities and 2023 Credit Agreement contain additional covenants that, among other things, restrict,
subju ect to certain exceptions, our ability and the abia lity of our restricted subsu idiaries to engage in certain activities, such as incur
indebtedness or permit to exist any lien on any property or asset now owned or hereafteff r acquired, as specifieff d in the Senior
Secured Credit Facilities and 2023 Credit Agreement. The Senior Secured Credit Facilities and 2023 Credit Agreement also
contain certain customary ar ffirmative covenants and events of default, including upon a change of control. An event of defauff lt
under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities and 2023 Credit Agreement would occur if the Company or certain of its subsu idiaries
received one or more enforceable judgments in an aggregate amount in excess of $100.0 million and the judgments were not
stayed or remained undischarged for a period of sixty consecutive days or if, to enforce such judgments, a judgment creditor
were to attach liens uponu assets that are material to the business and operations of the Company and certain of its subsu idiaries as
a whole. As of December 31, 2023, we were in compliance with all of the Senior Secured Credit Facilities and 2023 Credit
Agreement covenants.
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All of SHH’s obligations under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities and 2023 Credit Agreement are unconditionally guaranteed
by the Company and each existing and subsu equently acquired or organized direct or indirect wholly-owned domestic restricted
subsu idiary of the Company, with customary er xceptions including, among other things, where providing such guarantees is not
permitted by law, regulation or contract or would result in material adverse tax consequences. All obligations under the Senior
Secured Credit Facilities and 2023 Credit Agreement, and the guarantees of such obligations, are secured by substantially all
assets of the borrower and guarantors, subju ect to permitted liens and other exceptions and exclusions, as outlined in the Senior
Secured Credit Facilities and 2023 Credit Agreement.

Outstanding letters of credit are collateralized by encumbrances against the Revolving Credit Facility and the collateral pledged
thereunder, or by cash placed on deposit with the issuing bank. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $23.7 million of
letters of credit issued against the Revolving Credit Facility, resulting in total availabia lity under the Revolving Credit Facility of
$400.1 million.

Term Loan Interest Rate Riskii Management

The Company utilizes interest rate derivatives to reducd e the variability of cash floff ws in the interest payments associated with
our variable rate debt due to changes in LIBOR (up tu o June 22, 2023) and Term SOFR. For additional inforff mation on the
derivative instrumr ents described abovea , referff to Note 21, “Financial Instruments and Financial Risk”, “De“ rivative InsII truments.”

LIBOII R TOO raTT nsition

Publu ication of all U.S. LIBOR tenors ceased afteff r June 30, 2023. To align with the market phaseout of LIBOR, SHH entered
into an amendment to the Senior Secured Credit Facilities to replace the LIBOR-based reference interest rate option under the
Term Loan with a referff ence interest rate option based on Term SOFR plus an applicable credit spread adjud stment of 0.11448%
(for one-month interest periods), 0.26161% (forff three-month interest periods) and 0.42826% (for six-month interest periods) (in
all cases, subject to a minimum floff or of 0.50%).

In accordance with ASC 848 Refee rence Rate Reforff m, we have elected to apply certain optional expedients for contract
modifications and hedging relationships for derivative instrumr ents impacted by the benchmark interest rate transition. The
optional expedients remove the requirement to remeasure contract modifications or dedesignate hedging relationships impacted
by reference rate reforff m.

AgAgggrggg gegate MatMM urities

Aggregate maturt ities of the Company’s long-term debt, excluding debt discounts, as of December 31, 2023, are as folff lows:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
2024 $ 5,000
2025 5,000
2026 2,250,600
Thereafteff r —
Total $ 2,260,600

11. Income Taxes

The geographic sources of income (loss) before income taxes were as folff lows:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
Year ended December 31,, 2023 2022 2021

U.S. $ (100,635) $ (418,308) $ 5,092
Foreign 206,662 175,197 170,624
Income (loss) before income taxes $ 106,027 $ (243,111) $ 175,716
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Provision (benefit)ff for income taxes consisted of the following:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
Year ended December 31,, 2023 2022 2021
Current

Federal U.S. $ (3,809) $ 12,841 $ 13,915
State U.S. 924 5,082 3,220
Foreign 54,087 46,496 45,176

Total current provision 51,202 64,419 62,311
Deferred

Federal U.S. 6,933 (52,382) (2,422)
State U.S. (619) (17,919) 391
Foreign (2,865) (3,659) (1,685)

Total deferff red provision (benefitff ) 3,449 (73,960) (3,716)
Total provision (benefitff ) forff income taxes $ 54,651 $ (9,541) $ 58,595

The provision (benefitff ) forff income taxes is reconciled with the U.S. federal statutory rate as follows:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
Year ended December 31,, 2023 2022 2021

Provision (benefitff ) computed at federal statutory rate $ 22,265 $ (51,053) $ 36,872
Increase (decrease) in taxes as a result of:ff

State taxes, net of federal benefitff (2,889) (20,359) 1,013
Valuation allowance 19,494 53,860 8,455
Global intangible low-tax income (“GILTI”) 4,861 1,427 2,103
Nondeductible share-based compensation 3,192 2,510 1,512
Foreign tax rate differential 10,595 8,335 8,005
Impact of rate changes on deferff red tax balances (92) (1,184) 2,612
Tax holiday (1,082) (605) (706)
Audit settlement 739 276 276
Tax credits — (172) (248)
Other (2,432) (2,576) (1,299)

Total provision (benefitff ) forff income taxes $ 54,651 $ (9,541) $ 58,595

Sotera Health Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

92



The components of the tax effects of temporary dr iffeff rences and carryforwards that gave rise to significant portions of the
deferred tax assets and liabia lities are as follows:

housands of U.S. dollars)( f )
As of December 31,, 2023 2022

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 71,552 $ 9,286
Net capital loss carryforwards 4,686 4,666
Reserves and accruals 26,591 121,685
Employee benefitff s and compensation 8,519 6,610
Asset retirement obligations 11,140 10,649
Lease liabia lity 8,733 9,506
Disallowed interest carryforward 129,320 89,682
Other 10,806 6,561
Deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 271,347 258,645
Valuation allowance (125,435) (105,600)
Net deferredff tax assets 145,912 153,045

Depreciation and amortization (195,450) (199,670)
Other (9,923) (17,298)
Total deferff red tax liabia lities (205,373) (216,968)
Net deferredff tax liabilities $ (59,461) $ (63,923)

Noncurrent net deferff red tax assets $ 4,993 $ 4,101
Noncurrent net deferff red tax liabia lities (64,454) (68,024)
Noncurrent net deferred tax liabilities $ (59,461) $ (63,923)

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had availabla e U.S. fedff eral net operating loss carryforwards of $235.0 million
and $0, respectively, which have no expiration date. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had availabla e state net
operating loss carryforwards of $298.8 million and $28.3 million, respectively, of which $103.6 million have no expiration
date, and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $23.4 million and $29.3 million, respectively, the majority
of which have no expiration date. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, a valuation allowance was establa ished against foreign net
operating loss carryforwards for $4.4 million and $3.0 million, respectively. At December 31, 2023 and 2022 we also
establa ished a valuation allowance against U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of $6.8 million, and $0, respectively,
and state net operating loss carryforwards for $11.3 million and $1.9 million, respectively. Based on management’s assessment,
it is not more likely than not that these deferff red tax assets will be realized through future taxabla e income.

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, no deferred tax liability has been recorded for repatriation of earnings for purposrr es of the
Company’s consolidated financial statements as these earnings are deemed to be indefinitely reinvested. Determining the
amount of unrecognized deferff red tax liability related to any remaining undistributed foreign earnings not subju ect to the
transition tax and additional outside basis diffeff rence in these entities (i.e., basis difference in excess of that subject to the one-
time transition tax) is not practicable.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the gross reserve forff uncertain tax positions, excluding accruerr d interest and penalties, was
$0,$0 as noted in the folff lowing reconciliation.
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The Company’s unrecognized income tax benefits were as follows:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
For the period from January 1 – December 31,p y , 2023 2022
Gross unrecognized tax benefitsff , beginning of year $ — $ 116
Additions related to current year — —
Reductions related to prior years — (116)
Settlements — —
Gross unrecognized tax benefitff s, end of period $ — $ —

The Company recognizes interest and penalties as part of the provision for income taxes. For the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022 and 2021 interest and penalties related to uncertain income tax positions that were recognized in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) were not material.

The Company, which represents all of its subsu idiaries, filff es income tax returt ns in the U.S. fedff eral jurisdiction and various states
and forff eign jurisdictions. The Company is no longer subject to U.S. fedff eral, state, and local tax examinations before 2016, and
non-U.S. income tax examinations by tax authorities forff years beforff e 2012. Tax years through December 31, 2018 have been
audited by the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and are effeff ctively closed forff U.S. federal income tax purposrr es and no other
fiscal years are currently under audit. For Nordion’s Canadian tax, all tax years through October 31, 2018 have been closed
through audit or statute, and no other fisff cal years are currently under audit.

A portion of the Company’s forff eign operations benefit froff m a tax holiday, which is set to expire in 2030. This tax holiday may
be terminated early if certain conditions are not met. The tax benefit attributable to this holiday was $1.1 million and $0.6
million forff the fisff cal years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

12. Employee Benefitff s

Employee Retirement Benefitff s in the U.S.

We have a definff ed-contribution retirement plan that covers all U.S. employees upon date of hire. Contributions are directed by
each participant into various investment options. Under this plan, we match participants’ contributions based on plan
provisions. The Company’s contributions, which are expensed as incurred, were $5.7 million, $5.0 million, and $4.3 million forff
the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and are recorded in the same line as the respective
employee’s wages. Administrative expenses related to the plan are paid by the Company and are not material.

Employee Retirement Benefitff s Outside the U.S.

The Company participates in qualifieff d supplemental retirement and savings plans in various countries outside the U.S. where
we operate. Under these definff ed-contribution plans, fundiff ng and costs are generally based uponu a predetermined percentage of
employee compensation. The Company’s contributions, which are expensed as incurred and recorded in the same line as the
respective employee’s wages, were $1.7 million, $1.2 million and $1.4 million forff the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022
and 2021, respectively.

Defined Benefitff Pension Plans

The Company also sponsors various post-employment benefitff plans including, in certain countries outside the U.S., defined
benefit and defined contribution plans, retirement compensation arrangements, and plans that provide extended health care
coverage to retired employees, the majoa rity of which relate to Nordion.

Define ed Benefite Pension Plan

The folff lowing defined benefitff pension plan disclosure relates to Nordion. All other foreign definff ed benefit pension plans are
immaterial. The interest cost, expected return on plan assets and amortization of net actuarial loss are recorded in “Other
income, net” and the service cost component is included in the same financial statement line item as the applicable employee’s
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wages in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). The components of net periodic
benefit cost forff the definff ed benefit plans were as follows:

Year ended December 31,,
(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f ) 2023 2022 2021

Service cost $ 525 $ 969 $ 1,204
Interest cost 10,917 7,411 6,516
Expected return on plan assets (16,108) (14,421) (14,370)
Amortization of net actuat rial loss — — 1,079
Net periodic benefit $ (4,666) $ (6,041) $ (5,571)

The folff lowing weighted average assumptions were used in the determination of the projected benefit obligation and the net
periodic benefitff :

Year ended December 31,, 2023 2022
Projected benefit obligation
Discount rate 4.65 % 5.19 %
Rate of compensation increase 3.00 % 3.00 %
Periodic benefit
Discount rate 5.19 % 3.01 %
Expected return on plan assets 6.50 % 5.00 %
Rate of compensation increase 3.00 % 3.00 %

The changes in the projeo cted benefit obligation, fair value of plan assets, and the fundeff d status of the plans are as follows:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
As of December 31,, 2023 2022
Change in projected benefitff obligation:

Projected benefit obligation, as of beginning of the year $ 217,582 $ 296,712
Service cost 681 1,118
Interest cost 10,917 7,411
Benefits paid (12,305) (12,207)
Actuarial loss (gain) 17,934 (59,378)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 5,138 (16,074)

Projected benefit obligation, end of year $ 239,947 $ 217,582

Change in fair value of plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets as of the beginning of the year $ 253,130 $ 302,190
Actual return (loss) on plan assets 21,163 (20,038)
Benefits paid (12,305) (12,207)
Employer contributions 496 693
Employee contributions 156 149
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 5,784 (17,657)

Fair value of plan assets, end of year $ 268,424 $ 253,130

Funded status at end of year $ 28,477 $ 35,548

Accumulated benefitff obligation, end of year $ 237,016 $ 215,001

All definff ed benefit pension plans are overfunded as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

Sotera Health Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

95



The fundeff d status, measured as the diffeff rence between the faiff r value of the plan assets and the projected benefit obligation, are
included in “Post-retirement assets” forff overfunded plans and “Post-retirement obligations” forff underfunded plans in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

A reconciliation of the funded status to amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets is as folff lows:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
As of December 31,, 2023 2022

Projected benefit obligation $ 239,947 $ 217,582
Fair value of plan assets 268,424 253,130
Plan assets greater than projected benefitff obligation (noncurrent assets) 28,477 35,548
Unrecognized net actuat rial loss (gain) 11,429 (1,649)

The folff lowing tabla e illustrates the amounts in accumulated other comprehensive (income) loss that have not yet been
recognized as components of pension expense:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
As of December 31,, 2023 2022

Net actuat rial loss (gain) $ 11,429 $ (1,649)
Deferred income taxes (2,919) 370
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (gain) – net of tax $ 8,510 $ (1,279)

We do not expect to reclassify any of the net actuat rial loss in accumulated other comprehensive income to net periodic pension
cost in the next twelve months.

The weighted average asset allocation of the Company’s pension plans was as follows:

Asset Categoryg y Target 2023 2022

Cash 0.0 % 0.7 % 0.4 %
Fixed income 54.0 % 43.7 % 43.1 %
Equities 27.0 % 34.0 % 33.4 %
Hedge funds 19.0 % 21.6 % 23.1 %
Total 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %

The Company maintains target allocation percentages among various asset classes based on investment policies established forff
the pension plans, which are designed to maximize the total rate of returt n (income and appra eciation) afteff r inflaff tion, within the
limits of prudent risk taking, while providing for adequate near-term liquidity for benefitff payments. Such investment strategies
have adopted an equity-based philosophy to achieve their long-term investment goals by investing in assets that ofteff n have
uncertain returns, such as Canadian and other foreign equities, and non-government bonds, although, the Company also
attempts to reduce the overall level of risk by diversifying the asset classes and further diversifying within each individual asset
class.

The Company’s expected return on asset assumptions are derived from studies conducted by actuat ries and investment advisors.
The studies include a review of anticipated futff urt e long-term perforff mance of individual asset classes and consideration of the
appropriate asset allocation strategy given the anticipated requirements of the plans to determine the average rate of earnings
expected on the fundsff invested to provide for the pension plans benefits. While the study considers recent fundff performance and
historical returns, the assumption is primarily a long-term, prospective rate.

Valuation MetMM hot dologies

Below is a description of the composition and valuation methodologies for pension plan assets. Referff to the discussion of fair
value hierarchy in Note 21, “Financial Instruments and Financial Risk”.
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Cash and cash equivalentstt – Consists of deposits with financial institutions and other short-term highly liquid investments with
an original maturity of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents are categorized as Level 1 instruments in the fair value
hierarchy.

Fixedii income securities, equity securities and hedge fund assets - These assets are invested in managed fundsff that are measured
at fair value using the net asset value per share practical expedient and, thereforff e, are not categorized in the faiff r value hierarchy.

Expected future benefit payments froff m plan assets are as folff lows:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
Year Ended December 31,,
2024 $ 14,066
2025 14,363
2026 14,651
2027 14,774
2028 14,911
2029 - 2033 75,755

$ 148,520

Othett r benefitff plansl

Other benefitff plans disclosed below relate to Nordion and include a supplemental retirement arrangement, a retirement and
termination allowance, and post-retirement benefit plans, which include contributory hrr ealth and dental care benefitsff and
contributory lr ife iff nsurance coverage. All non-pension post-employment benefitff plans are unfundeff d. All other non-pension post-
employment benefitff plans are immaterial.

The interest cost and amortization of net actuat rial (gain) loss are recorded in “Other income, net” and the service cost
component is included in the same financial statement line item as the appla icable employee’s wages in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). The components of net periodic benefitff cost for the other benefitff
plans were as folff lows:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
Year Ended December 31,, 2023 2022 2021

Service cost $ 9 $ 16 $ 28
Interest cost 398 284 268
Amortization of net actuat rial gain (197) (171) (34)
Net periodic benefit cost $ 210 $ 129 $ 262

The weighted average assumptions used to determine the projected benefitff obligation and net periodic pension cost for these
plans were as folff lows:

Year Ended December 31,, 2023 2022
Projected benefit obligation:

Discount rate 4.65 % 5.19 %
Rate of compensation increase 3.00 % 3.00 %
Initial health care cost trend rate 7.00 % 7.00 %
Ultimate health care cost trend rate 4.00 % 4.00 %
Years until ultimate trend rate is reached 16 18

Benefit cost:
Discount rate 5.19 % 3.01 %
Rate of compensation increase 3.00 % 3.00 %
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Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effeff ct on the amounts reported forff the health care plans. A one-
percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have had the folff lowing impact on our consolidated
financial statements in 2023:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f ) 1% Increase 1% Decrease

Change in net periodic benefitff cost $ 25 $ (22)
Change in projected benefit obligation 596 (500)

The changes in the projeo cted benefit obligation and the fundeff d status of the other post-retirement plans were as follows:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
As of December 31,, 2023 2022
Change in projected benefitff obligation:

Projected benefit obligation $ 8,391 $ 11,942
Service cost 9 16
Interest cost 398 284
Benefits paid (665) (590)
Actuarial loss (gain) 509 (2,775)
Plan participant contributions 129 146
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 193 (632)

Projected benefit obligation, end of year $ 8,964 $ 8,391

Change in fair value of plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets as of the beginning of the year $ 481 $ 478
Benefits paid (183) (181)
Employer contributions 216 216
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 11 (32)

Fair value of plan assets, end of year $ 525 $ 481

Underfundff ed status at end of year $ (8,439) $ (7,910)

Accumulated benefitff obligation, end of year $ 8,943 $ 8,381

All other post-retirement benefitff pension plans are underfunded as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

A reconciliation of the funded status to the net plan liabia lities recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets is as folff lows:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
As of December 31,, 2023 2022

Projected benefit obligation $ 8,964 $ 8,391
Fair value of plan assets 525 481
Plan assets less than projected benefitff obligation (noncurrent liabilities) (8,439) (7,910)
Unrecognized actuat rial gains (2,074) (2,732)

The other benefit plan liabia lities are presented on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as “Post retirement obligations.”
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The folff lowing tabla e illustrates the amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) that have not yet been
recognized as components of other benefit plan expense:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
As of December 31,, 2023 2022

Net actuat rial gain $ (2,074) $ (2,732)
Deferred income taxes 585 699
Accumulated other comprehensive income – net of tax $ (1,489) $ (2,033)

Based on the actuarial assumptions used to develop the Company’s benefitff obligations as of December 31, 2023, the folff lowing
benefit payments are expected to be made to plan participants:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
Years ended December 31
2024 $ 538
2025 549
2026 548
2027 575
2028 512
2029 - 2033 2,643
Total $ 5,365

The Company currently has no fundiff ng requirements as the Nordion pension plan has a going concern surplr us as of January 1,
2023, as defined by Canadian fedff eral regulation, which require solvency testing on definff ed benefit pension plans on an annual
basis.

The Company may obtain a qualifying letter of credit forff solvency payments, up tu o 15% of the market value of solvency
liabia lities as determined on the valuation date, instead of cash payment into the pension fund. As of December 31, 2023 and
2022, we had letters of credit outstanding relating to the definff ed benefit plans totaling $16.0 million and $44.1 million,
respectively. The actuat l funff ding requirements over the five-year period will be dependent on subsu equent annual actuat rial
valuations. These amounts are estimates, which may change with actuat l investment performance, changes in interest rates, any
pertinent changes in Canadian government regulations, and any voluntary crr ontributions.

13. Related Parties

We do business with a number of companies affiff liated with Warburg Pincus and GTCR, which we refer to collectively as the
“Sponsors.” For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded sales of $3.7 million to Curia Global (“Curia”), an
affiff liate of GTCR. Amounts dued from Curia as of December 31, 2022 were $0.8 million.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2021, the Company had not engaged in any material related party transactions.

14. Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are presented net of the related tax. Foreign currency translation is
not adjud sted for income taxes.

Sotera Health Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

99



Changes in our accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) balances, net of applicable tax, were as follows:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )

Defined
Benefit
Plans

Foreign
Currency
Translation

Interest
Rate

Derivatives Total
Beginning balance – January 1, 2021 $ (44,143) $ (49,699) $ — $ (93,842)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications 25,517 (16,690) 404 9,231
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) 1,045 (a) — — (b) 1,045

Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss) 26,562 (16,690) 404 10,276
Ending balance – December 31, 2021 $ (17,581) $ (66,389) $ 404 $ (83,566)

Beginning balance – January 1, 2022 $ (17,581) $ (66,389) $ 404 $ (83,566)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications 20,803 (64,816) 20,939 (23,074)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) (13) (a) — — (13)

Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss) 20,790 (64,816) 20,939 (23,087)
Ending balance – December 31, 2022 $ 3,209 $ (131,205) $ 21,343 $ (106,653)

Beginning balance – January 1, 2023 $ 3,209 $ (131,205) $ 21,343 $ (106,653)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications (10,308) 40,174 6,441 36,307
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) (198) (a) — (22,138) (22,336)

Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss) (10,506) 40,174 (15,697) 13,971
Ending balance – December 31, 2023 $ (7,297) $ (91,031) $ 5,646 $ (92,682)

(a) For defined benefitff pension plans, amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are
recorded to “Other income, net” within the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

(b) For interest rate derivatives, amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are recorded to
“Interest expense, net” within the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

15. SStockholders’’ E iqui yty

CCommo Sn Sto kck

hThe Compa yny complleted id its IP iO in thhe four hth quarter of 2020 andd shhare bs b gegan tr dadiingg on Nasddaq on Nove bmber 20, 2020.
Priior to thhe complle ition of thhe IPO, hthe Compa yny amenddedd a dnd restat ded iits cer itifificate of if incorporrr atiion to authhoriize
1,200,000,000 hshares of common stockk, par v lalue $$0.01 per shhare, a dnd re lclas isi yfy lalll 3,000 hshares of iits common sto kck hthen
outstandidi gng as 232,400,200 hshares. Upon complle ition of thhe IPO, 284,421,755 hshares of common stockk were outstandidi gng.

Votingg R gighhtg s.tt Holdlders of common sto kck are enti litledd to one vote forff eachh shhare hheldld on lalll matters subbmu iittedd to a vote of
stockh lkholdders, subjubject to certaiin rest irictiions ddesc iribbed id in thhe cer itifificate of iincorporatiion.

DDividde dnds. Subjbju ect to preferences hthat may by be a lppla iic bablle to anyy thhen outstandidi gng preferff redd sto kck h, h loldders of our common stockk
are enti litledd to r ieceive ratablbla yy thhos de diivididendds i, if a yny, as may by b de d leclar ded byby hth be boa drd of didirectors out of lleggallylly av iaillablbla e f dundsff .

LLiquiddation, Dissoii llution, dand Wi dndi gng Up. In thhe event o lf liiq iuidda ition, didissollu ition or iwi dindi gng up, hth he h loldders of hthe Compa yny’s
common sto kck iwillll bbe en iti ltledd to shhare equallylly andd rat bablyly iin hthe net assets lleggallllyy availilablbla e forff didist iribbutiion to sto kckh lholdders
afteff r thhe payyment of allll of ddebbts a dnd othhe lr liiabibia lilitiies, subjbju ect to thhe priior rigighhts of a yny preferff redd sto kck hthen outstandidi gng.

Pr feferredff SStockk

In daddidi ition, priior to thhe complle ition of thhe IPO, hthe Compa yny’s ame dndedd a dnd restat ded cer iftifiicfff ate of if incorporrr atiion authhoriiz ded
120,000,000 hshares of preferff redd sto kck, par vallue $$0.01 per shhare. Thhe bboa drd of didirectors m yay iissue preferredd sto kck, wiithhout
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stockh lkholdder appra ovall, iin su hch se iries andd wiithh such dh desigigna itions, preferences, conversiion or o hther irightghts, votiingg powers a dnd
qualiflifiicfff atiions l, li iimita itions or rest irictiions hthereof, as hth be boa drd of didirector ds deems appra opriiate.

CCorporate Reo grganiizatiion p irior to the IPO

Sotera He lal hth Companyy was iincorporat ded iin Nove bmber 2017 as hthe parent compa yny for Ste irigge inics, Nordidion andd N lelson L babs
dunder thhe name Sotera He lal hth Topco, Inc. On Octobber 23, 2020, hthe Compa yny hchangged id its name from Sotera H leal hth Topco, Inc.

to Sotera He lal hth Companyy. Priior to thhe IPO, hthe Compa yny was a didirect hwh lollyly ownedd s bubsididiia yry of Sotera He lal hth Topco
Parent, L.P (. (“Topco Parent”)). Undder thhe terms of thhe corporate reo grganiizatiion com lplet ded priior to thhe IPO, Topco Parent
didist iribbut ded hthe shhares of Sotera Heallthh Compa yny common stockk t io its partners iin acco drdance iwi hth hth le liimiitedd partner hshiip
gagreement of Topco Parent.

Owne hrship ofof Topco o Parent a dnd Rellatedd Distr bibutions

Priior to thhe IPO, Topco Paren ht h dad four outstandidi gng lclasses of partner hshiip iunits (: ( )1) lClass A Uniits; ((2)) Cllass B-1 U inits, whihi hch
were subjbju ect to itime b-bas ded vestiingg; ((3)) Cllass B-2 U inits, whihi hch were subjbju ect to performance-bbasedd ves itingg; and (d ( )4) lClass D
Uniits. E hach lclass of u inits was subjubject to hthe terms of hth le liimiitedd partner hshiip gagreement of Topco Parent. hThe Cllass A U inits,
lClass B Uniits andd Cllass D U inits are referff redd to c lolllectiiv lelyy as thhe “U inits.”

Pursuant to hthe terms of hthe corporrr ate reo grganiizatiion, Topco Parent m dade a in in-kiki dnd didist iribbutiion of thhe 232,400,200 hshares of
hthe Compa yny’s common sto kck hthen outstandidi gng to iit ls liimiitedd partner is in acco drdance iwi hth hthe terms of iits li ilimitedd partner hshiip
gagreement, net of a yny previiouslyly unrecoupedd tax didist iribbutiions. Thhe vallue of a hshare of common sto kck was measur ded byby hthe
iini iitiall p blubliic offeff iri gng priice. lAlll shhares of thhe Companyy’s common sto kck hheldld byby Topco Parent wer de diistribibut ded to hth he h loldders of
hthe U inits.

iWi hth respect to hshares of common sto kck didist iribbut ded iin respect of a yny lClass B-1 Uniits hthat were unvest ded as of hth de diistribibutiion
andd allll of hthe Cllass B-2 U inits ((as none of hthe Cllass B-2 U inits were vest ded as of hth de diistribibutiio )n), suchh shhares are subjbju ect to thhe
same vestiingg a dnd forf ieiff ture restriic itions hthat ap lpliiedd to suchh unvest ded lClass B-1 andd Cllass B-2 U inits priior to thhe didist iribbutiion as
ddesc iribbed id in Note 16, “ hShare-Basedd Compensatiion”. F lolllo iwi gng hth de diistribibutiion of thhe hshares of hthe Compa yny’s common sto kck,
Topco Parent enter ded iinto didissollu ition.

Follllo iwi gng hthe Corporrr ate reo grganiizatiion, hthe Compa yny complleted id its IPO of 53,590,000 hshares of iits common sto kck at a p blubliic
offeff iri gng priice of $$23.00 per shhare, forff proceedds of appr ioximatelyly $$1,156.0 ilmillilion, net of dunderw iri iting dg diiscounts a dnd iissuance
costs.

In daddidi ition, we entered id into aggreements iwi hth cert iain execu itive offififf cers to repur hchase shhares of our common stock bk benefiicff iiallylly
owned bd byy thhe im in p irivate transactiions at a pur hchase p irice per shhare equall to thhe iini iitiall p blubliic offeff iri gng priice per hshare of our
common sto kck lless hthe u dnderw iri iti gng didiscounts a dnd commiis isions payyablbla e thhereon. hThe tot lal numbber of shhares repur hchas ded from
certaiin execu itive offiicff er is in thhe four hth quarter of 2020 was 1,568,445.

On Marchh 22, 2021, we lclos ded an dunderw iritten seco dnda yry offeff iri gng of our common sto kck, at a priice to thhe blpubliic of $$27.00 per
hshare, iin hwhiichh allll 25,000,000 hshares were offeff red bd byy s lellilingg sto kckh lholdders i, inclludidi gng Wa brburgg Piincus, GTCR andd certaiin
current and fd forff mer membbers of our managgement. In addiddi ition, hthe s lellilingg sto kckh lholdders ggrantedd thhe dunderw iriters a 30 d-d yay optiion
to pur hchase up tu o an addiddi itionall 3,750,000 hshares of common sto kck. Thhe Company dy didid not offerff anyy shhare is in thhe offeff iri gng andd
dididd not receiive a yny of hthe proce deds froff m thhe offeff iri gng.

16. Share-Based Compensation

Pre-IP- O Awardsdd

Priior to our IPO, hthe Compa yny’s e iqui yty b-bas ded awardds iissu ded to serviice pro ividders (i(inclludidi gng didirectors a dnd em lpl yoyees) i) inclluddedd
ppartnershihi ip interests iin Topco Paren (t ( lClass B-1 or B-2 U inits)) whihi hch vest ded bbasedd on ei hither itime or hthe a hchiievement of cert iain
pperformance andd markket c diondi itions ((thhe “pre-IPO awa drds”)). hThese e iqui yty b-bas ded awardds representedd a in interes it in our former
pparent andd wer ge grant ded iin respect of ser ivices pr ioviddedd to thhe Companyy a dnd iits subbsu ididiia iries. In connectiion wi hith hthe IPO, our
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former parent made in-kind distributions of shares of our common stock to its limited partners as described in Note 15,
“Stockholders' Equity”. At the time of the IPO, there were fewff er than 60 individuals who received shares in the in-kind
didist iribbutiion; hwhilile thihi ds diistribibutiion represent ded a m diodififica ition to hthe e ixistiingg awa drds, hthere was no asso iciat ded hchangge iin
compensa ition expense bbecause hthe f iaiff r v lalue of hth de diistribibut ded hshares iimmedidiat lely by beforff e a dnd afteff r thhe didist iribbutiion was hthe
same.

Restricted stock distributed in respect of pre-IPO Class B-1 time vesting units vests on a daily basis pro rata over a five-year
vesting period (20% per year) beginning on the original vesting commencement date of the corresponding Class B-1 time
vesting units, subject to the grantee’s continued services through each vesting date. Upon the occurrence of a change in control
of the Company, all then outstanding unvested shares of our common stock distributed in respect of Class B-1 Units will vest
as of the date of consummation of such change in control, subju ect to the grantee’s continued services through the consummation
of the change in control.

Restricted stock distributed in respect of pre-IPO Class B-2 Units (which were considered performance vesting units) are
scheduled to vest only uponu satisfaction of certain thresholds. These units generally vest as of the firff st date on which (i) our
Sponsors have received actual cash proceeds in an amount equal to or in excess of at least two and one-half times their invested
capia tal in Sotera Health Topco Parent, L.P. (of which the Company was a direct wholly-owned subsu idiary prior to the IPO) and
(ii) the Sponsors’ internal rate of return exceeds 20%, subject to such grantee’s continued services through such date. In the
event of a change in control of the Company, any outstanding shares of our common stock distributed in respect of Class B-2
Units that remain unvested immediately following the consummation of such a change in control of the Company shall be
immediately canceled and forfeiff ted without compensation. Stock based compensation expense attributed to the pre-IPO Class
B-2 awards was recorded in the fourff th quarter of 2020 as the related performance conditions were considered probabla e of
achievement and the implied service conditions were met. As of December 31, 2023, these awards remain unvested.

We recognized $2.0 million, $2.1 million and $2.6 million of share-based compensation expense related to pre-IPO Class B-1
Units for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

The assumptions used to calculate the fair value of the pre-IPO awards were as folff lows:

2020
Risk-free interest rate 1.6 %
Expected volatility 50 %
Expected dividends None
Expected time until exercise (years) 0.6

These awards were no longer issued afteff r the IPO in November 2020.
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A summary of the activity forff the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 related to the restricted stock distributed to
the Company service providers in respect of the pre-IPO awards (Class B-1 and B-2) is presented below:

Restricted
Stock - Pre-IPO

B-1

Restricted
Stock - Pre-IPO

B-2
At January 1r , 2021 2,201,239 2,323,333
Forfeited (72,467) (299,374)
Vested (922,683) —

At December 31, 2021 1,206,089 2,023,959
Forfeited (54,333) (925,544)
Vested (435,665) —

At December 31, 2022 716,091 1,098,415
Forfeited (16,243) (111,304)
Vested (347,401) —

At December 31, 2023 352,447 987,111

The folff lowing tabla e provides a summary or f the weighted average unit grant date fair value, weighted average remaining
contractuat l term, total compensation cost and unrecognized compensation cost forff the pre-IPO awards:

((dollall rs in millii ioll ns, es xcee ept per award values), p p )
Weighted average grant date fair value per unit of unvested units(a) $ 5.48 $ 1.81 $ 2.77
Weighted average remaining contractuat l term 1.31 year Ns /A N/A
Total compensation cost recognized during 2023 $ 2.0 $ — $ 2.0
Unrecognized compensation expense at December 31, 2023 $ 2.1 $ — $ 2.1

December 31, 2023
Restricted
Stock - Pre-
IPO B-1

Restricted
Stock - Pre-
IPO B-2

All
Awards

(a) Due to the in-kind distribution of shares of our common stock in connection with our IPO described aboa ve, the weighted average grant
date fair value per unit is not comparable to the IPO share price.

N/A – not applicable

2020 Omnibui s IncII entive Planll

We maintain a long-term incentive plan (the “2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan” or the “2020 Plan”) that allows for grants of
incentive stock options to employees (including employees of any of our subsu idiaries), nonstatutory stock options, restricted
stock awards (“RSAs”), restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and other cash-based, equity-based or equity-related awards to
employees, directors, and consultants, including employees or consultants of our subsu idiaries. The maximum number of shares
of our common stock that may be issued under thhe 2020 lPlan is 27.9 million. At December 31, 2023, 17.6 ilmillilio sn hares are
availabla e forff future issuance. The Company plans to issue shares availabla e under thhe 2020 Plan or shares from treasury tr o
satisfy requirements of awards paid with shares.

We recognize share-based compensation expense at grant date fair value over the requisite service period on a straight-line
basis in our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss), in “Selling, general and administrative
expenses”. We recognized $30.4 million ($( 14.4 million forff stock options and $16.0 million forff RSAs and RSUs), $19.1 million
($( 7.8 million forff stock options and $11.3 million for RSUs) and $11.3 million ($5.1 million for stock options and $6.2 million
for RSUs) of hshare-bbasedd compensation expense forff these awards forff the years ending December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.
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Stock Options

We use a Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the faiff r value of stock options. Since we are a newly public company,
the expected volatility is based on the volatility of similar publicly traded businesses within the same or similar industry arr s the
Company in combination with our own volatility. We used the simplifieff d method to estimate the expected term. The risk-free
rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield in effect at the time of the grant.

Weighted-average grant-date fair values of stock options and the assumptions used in estimating the faiff r values are as follows:
For the year ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021

Weighted average grant date fair value per option $ 7.13 $ 4.86 $ 9.08
Expected term (years) 6 years 5.8 year 6s .3 years
Risk-free interest rate 4.2 % 3.4 % 1.2 %
Expected volatility 50.0 % 45.7 % 37.5 %

Stock options generally vest ratably over a period of two to fourff years. They have an exercise price equal to the fair market
value of a share of common stock on the date of grant, and a contractuat l term of 10 years. The folff lowing tabla e summarizes our
stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Number of
Shares

Weighted-
average

Exercise Price

Remaining
Contractual

Life

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

(millions of
U.S. dollarsrr )

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 5,990,470 $ 14.84
Granted 1,100,329 17.52
Forfeited (118,138) 20.43
Exercised — —

Outstanding at the end of the year 6,972,661 $ 15.17 8.2 year $s 28.5
Exercisable at the end of the year 2,828,011 $ 17.08 7.7 years
Unvested at the end of the year 4,144,650 $ 13.87 8.6 years

yy
yy
yy

At December 31, 2023 the total unrecognized compensation expense related to stock options expected to be recognized over the
weighted-average period of approximately 1.5 years is $18.3 million. The total fair value of stock options vested during the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021was $10.6 million, $4.4 million and $5.0 million, respectively.

RSUs

RSUs generally vest ratabla y over a period of one to four years and are valued based on the market price on the date of grant.
The folff lowing tabla e summarizes our unvested RSUs activity forff the year ended December 31, 2023:

Number of Shares
Weighted-average Grant

Date Fair Value
Unvested at the beginning of the year 2,482,435 $ 13.09
Granted 921,472 16.95
Forfeited (180,754) 12.09
Vested (924,317) 15.37

Unvested at the end of the year 2,298,836 $ 13.81

As of December 31, 2023, total unrecognized compensation expense related to RSUs expected to be recognized over the
weighted-average period of approximately 1.7 years is $22.4 million. The total fair value of RSUs vested durd ing the years
ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $14.1 million, $5.7 million and $5.1 million, respectively.
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17. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share represents the amount of income (loss) attributable to each common share outstanding. Diluted
earnings (loss) per share represents the amount of income (loss) attributable to each common share outstanding adjud sted for the
effeff cts of potentially dilutive common shares. Potentially dilutive common shares include stock options and other stock-based
awards. In the periods where the effeff ct would be antidilutive, potentially dilutive common shares are excluded froff m the
calculation of diluted earnings per share.

In periods in which the Company has net income, earnings per share is calculated using the two-class method. This method is
required as unvested restricted stock distributed in respect of pre-IPO Class B-1 and B-2 awards have the right to receive non-
forfeiff tabla e dividends or dividend equivalents if the Company declares dividends on its common stock. Pursuant to the two-class
method, earnings for each period are allocated on a pro-rata basis to common stockholders and unvested pre-IPO Class B-1 and
B-2 restricted stock awards. Diluted earnings per share is computed using the more dilutive of (a) the two-class method, or (b)
treasury stock method, as applicable, to the potentially dilutive instrumr ents.

In periods in which the Company has a net loss, the two-class method is not applicable because the pre-IPO Class B-1 and B-2
restricted stock awards do not participate in losses.

Our basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share are calculated as folff lows:

Year Ended December 31,
in thousands of U.S. dollars and share amounts (tt ex(( cept per share amounts)sf ( p p ) 2023 2022 2021
Earnings (loss):
Net income (loss) $ 51,376 $ (233,570) $ 117,121
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests — — 239
Less: Allocation to participating securities 287 — 1,524
Net income (loss) attributable to Sotera Health Company common

stockholders $ 51,089 $ (233,570) $ 115,358
Weighted Average Common Shares:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding - basic 281,008 280,096 279,228
Dilutive effect of potential common shares(a) 2,213 — 154
Weighted-average common shares outstanding - diluted 283,222 280,096 279,382

Earnings (loss) per Common Share:
Net income (loss) per common share attributable to Sotera Health

Company common stockholders - basic $ 0.18 $ (0.83) $ 0.41
Net income (loss) per common share attributable to Sotera Health

Company common stockholders - diluted 0.18 (0.83) 0.41

(a) As the Company reported a net loss forff the year ended December 31, 2022, the calculation of diluted weighted average common shares
outstanding is not applicable for the year ended December 31, 2022 because the effect of including the potential common shares would
be anti-dilutive.

Diluted earnings per shares does not consider the folff lowing potential common shares as the effeff ct would be anti-dilutive:

Year Ended December 31,
in thousands of share amountsf 2023 2022 2021
RSUs 291 2,467 4
Stock options 4,108 5,990 2,403
Total anti-dilutive securities 4,399 8,457 2,407
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18. Leases

We lease certain facilities and equipment under various non-cancelable leases. Most of our real property leases provide for
renewal periods and rent escalations and stipulate that we pay taxes, maintenance, and certain other operating expenses
applicable to the leased premises.

The components of lease expense were as folff lows:

Year Ended December 31,
(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f ) 2023 2022 2021
Operating lease costs (a)a $ 13,920 $ 15,122 $ 15,433
Finance lease costs:

Amortization of right of use assets 8,152 6,368 3,018
Interest on lease liabia lities 4,394 3,454 2,506

Total finff ance lease costs 12,546 9,822 5,524
Total lease costs $ 26,466 $ 24,944 $ 20,957

(a) Includes $1.4 million, $1.3 million, and $0.9 million of short-term lease costs in the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021,
respectively.

Lease terms and discount rates were as folff lows:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Weighted average remaining lease term:
Operating leases 5.7 years 4.5 years
Finance leases 14.0 years 14.0 years

Weighted average discount rate:
Operating leases 5.92 % 5.88 %
Finance leases 5.76 % 5.48 %

Supplu emental cash floff w inforff mation related to leases was as folff lows:
Year Ended December 31,

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f ) 2023 2022 2021
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash floff ws for operating leases $ 10,067 $ 11,112 $ 12,494
Operating cash floff w forff finance leases 3,988 2,932 2,042
Finance cash floff ws for finff ance leases 1,823 1,066 901

Supplu emental non-cash information was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f ) 2023 2022 2021
Lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets:

Operating leases $ 4,559 $ 1,338 $ 8,742
Finance leases 14,770 18,286 10,995
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Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023 are as folff lows:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
Operating
Leases

Finance
Leases Total

2024 $ 7,357 $ 12,579 $ 19,936
2025 5,505 5,767 11,272
2026 5,077 5,737 10,814
2027 3,999 5,893 9,892
2028 2,926 6,063 8,989
2029 and Thereafteff r 6,165 74,337 80,502

Total lease payments 31,029 110,376 141,405
Less imputed interest (5,008) (37,812) (42,820)

Total lease liabia lities $ 26,021 $ 72,564 $ 98,585

19. Asset Retirement Obligations (“ARO”)

Our ARO represent the present value of future remediation costs and an increase in the carrying amounts of the related assets in
property, plant and equipment in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The capitalized future site remediation costs are depreciated
and the ARO are accreted over the life off f the related assets which is included in depreciation and amortization expense,
respectively.

The faiff r value of the ARO is determined based on estimates requiring management judgment. Key assumptions include the
timing and estimated decommissioning costs of the remediation activities and credit adjud sted risk free interest rates. Changes in
the assumptions based on futff urt e inforff mation may result in adjud stments to the estimated obligations over time. No market risk
premium has been included in the calculation for the ARO since no reliabla e estimate can be made by the Company. Any
difference between costs incurred uponu settlement of an ARO and the liabia lity recognized for the estimated cost of asset
retirements will be recognized as a gain or loss in our current period operating results.

Each year, we review decommissioning costs and consider changes in marketplace rates. The folff lowing tabla e describes changes
to our ARO liabia lity during the years presented:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
For the Year Ended 2023 2022

ARO – beginning of period $ 45,482 $ 42,452
Liabilities settled (2,896) (497)
Changes in estimates 2,133 2,593
Accretion expense 2,413 2,194
Foreign currency exchange and other 812 (1,260)
ARO – end of period 47,944 45,482
Less current portion of ARO — 2,896
Noncurrent ARO – end of period $ 47,944 $ 42,586

We recorded depreciation expense on the ARO of $0.4 million, $0.3 million and $0.4 million, for the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022, and 2021 respectively.

We are obligated to provide financial assurance to local and state licensing authorities forff possible futff urt e decommissioning
costs associated with the various facilities that hold Co-60. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, $48.2 million and $54.1 million,
respectively, of the standby letters of credit referenced above and surety bonds were outstanding in favor of the various local
and state licensing authorities in the event we defaulted on our decommissioning obligation.
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20. Commitments and Contingenciies

We ddepe dnd on la li iimitedd numbber of s luppliiers andd our gagreements iwi hth hthese s luppliiers account for materiiall por itions of our
su lpplu yy a dnd didirect mate iri lal costs. hThese costs iin lcl dude blobligigatiions dunder variious su lpplu yy aggreements iin our No drdiion s gegment for
Co-60 thhat are enforc beablle and ld l geg lallyly bibi dindi gng on us. As of Decembber 31, 2023, w he h dad iminiimum pur hchase com imitments
ppriima irilyly iwi hth ddomes itic and id interna itionall s luppliiers of raw materiialls for thhe No drdiio bn busiiness tot laliingg $$1,607.1 illimillion. Thhe
terms of thhese llo gng-term su lpplu yy or ser ivice arra gngements rangge from 1 to 40 yyears. In addiddi ition, our Sterigigeniics s gegment hhas
blobligigatiions to pur hchase e hthylylene o ixidde ((“EO )”). Our contract to pur hchase E iO in thhe U.S. re iquires us to pur hchase allll of our
re iquirements froff m one su lpplu iier, andd our contracts to pur hchase EO out isidde hthe U.S g. gener lallyly re iquire hthat we pur hchase a
sp iecififi ded percentagge of our requiirements for our opera itions iin hthe count iries covered bd byy thhose contracts W. e expect to utilize the
Co-60 and EO encompassed by these agreements in the normal course of our business and thereforff e our commitments under
these agreements are not recognized on the consolidated balance sheets as a liability.

From time to time, we may be subju ect to various lawsuits and other claims, as well as gain contingencies, in the ordinary crr ourse
of our business. In addition, from time to time, we receive communications from government or regulatory arr gencies concerning
investigations or allegations of noncompliance with laws or regulations in jurisdictions in which we operate. We assess these
regulatory ar nd legal actions to determine if a contingent liabia lity should be recorded. In making these determinations, we may,
depending on the naturt e of the matter, consult with internal and external legal counsel and technical experts. We establa ish
reserves for specific liabia lities in connection with regulatory arr nd legal actions that we determine to be both probabla e and
reasonabla y estimable. The outcomes of regulatory arr nd legal actions can be diffiff cult to predict and are often resolved over long
periods of time, making our probabia lity and estimability determinations highly judgmental. Probabia lity determinations require
the analysis of various possible outcomes, assessments of potential damages and the impact of multiple factors beyond our
control, including potential actions by others, interprrr etations of the law, and changes and developments in relevant facts,
circumstances, regulations and other laws. If a potentially material loss contingency is not probabla e, but is reasonabla y possible,
or is probabla e but cannot be estimated, then the nature of the contingent liabia lity is disclosed, together with an estimate of the
range of possible loss if the range is determinable and material. In certain of the matters described below, we are not able to
estimate potential liabia lity because of the uncertainties related to the outcome(s) and/or the amount(s) or range(s) of loss. The
ultimate resolution of pending regulatory ar nd legal matters in future periods, including the matters described below, may have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity. The Company may also incur material
defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other adverse effects on our business, financial condition,
and/or results of operations.

Ethyt lene Oxide Tdd orTT t Litigationy g

Sterigenics U.S., LLC (“Sterigenics”) and other medical supplu y sterilization companies have been subju ected to tort lawsuits
alleging various injun ries caused by low-level environmental exposure to EO used at or emitted froff m sterilization faciff lities.
Those lawsuits, as detailed furff ther below, are individual claims, as opposed to class actions.

Illinoisii

Subsu idiaries of the Company and other parties are defendants in lawsuits in Illinois in which plaintiffsff allege personal injuries
and wrongfulff death resulting from purporr ted use, emissions and releases of EO from or at Sterigenics’ forff mer Willowbrook
facility and seek damages and other forff ms of relief (the “Willowbrook Cases”).

In 2022, there were jury tr rials in two Willowbrook Cases. The firff st trial resulted in a September 2022 verdict against Sterigenics
and Sotera Health LLC (the “Defendant Subsu idiaries”) in the amount of $358.7 million, including $320.0 million in punitive
damages. The second trial resulted in a November 2022 verdict in favff or of the Defenff dant Subsu idiaries on all counts. On January
9, 2023, the Defenff dant Subsu idiaries announced a settlement that, subject to various conditions, would resolve the then-pending
or threatened 880+ Willowbrook Cases forff $408.0 million, including the two cases in which there were jury trials during 2022
(“the Willowbrook Settlement”). Based on our assessment of the likelihood that the conditions to the Willowbrook term sheets
would be satisfied or waived, the Company recorded a charge of $408.0 million forff the year ended December 31, 2022. On
June 23, 2023, the Circuit Court of Cook County entered an order confirff ming that the Willowbrook Settlement was a good-faith
settlement under the Illinois Contribution Among Joint Tortfeaff sors Act. On July 6, 2023, the settled claims were dismissed with
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prejudice, with the Circuit Court of Cook County retaining jurisdiction to adjudicate disputes over liens on settlement proceeds
to be paid to settling plaintiffsff and to oversee the administration of the settlements of wrongfulff death cases.

Two claimants eligible to participate in the Willowbrook Settlement declined to participate and their cases remain pending in
the Circuit Court of Cook County (each an “Opt-Out Case”). 23 personal injury lr awsuits have been filed in the Circuit Court of
Cook County since eligibility to participate in the Willowbrook Settlement closed in March 2023 (“Post-Settlement
Willowbrook Cases”). Three Post-Settlement Willowbrook Cases have been removed to the United States District Court forff the
Northern District of Illinois. The remaining Post-Settlement Willowbrook Cases will proceed in the Circuit Court of Cook
County and are expected to be consolidated for discovery and pretrial purposrr es only. We intend to vigorously defend the Opt-
Out Cases and Post-Settlement Willowbrook Cases.

Georgir a

The Defenff dant Subsu idiaries and other parties are defendants in lawsuits in Georgia in which plaintiffs allege personal injuries,
wrongfulff death and property devaluation resulting froff m use, emissions and releases of EO from or at Sterigenics’ Atlanta
facility and seek damages and, in certain cases, other forms of relief (the “Atlanta Cases”).

In October 2023, the Defenff dant Subsu idiaries agreed to pay $35.0 million to settle 79 of the Atlanta Cases, including a personal
injun ry case that was scheduled to begin trial in the State Court of Gwinnett County that month, and 78 other cases being
pursued by the same Plaintiff’sff counsel in the personal injury cr ase that was scheduled to begin trial in October 2023 (the
“Atlanta Settlement”). The Atlanta Settlement was completed in January 2024, with the settling plaintiffsff agreeing to file the
necessary dismissals and, where required, motions for court appra oval.

Approximately 245 personal injury arr nd wrongfulff death claims remain pending in the State Court of Cobb County and have
been consolidated for pretrial purposr es (the “Consolidated Personal Injury Crr ases”). The Consolidated Personal Injury Crr ases are
proceeding under a case management order pursuant to which a “pool” of eight cases will proceed to judicial determination of
general causation issues in Phase 1 and specific causation issues in Phase 2; the first trial of any “pool” case that survives
Phases 1 and 2 is not expected to begin beforff e September 2025. The remaining Consolidated Personal Injury Cr ases (including
nine cases that include both personal injury ar nd property claims) are stayed. Two additional personal injury lr awsuits pending in
Cobb County have not been consolidated. The parties have jointly asked the court to stay one of these cases along with the
stayed cases in the Consolidated Personal Injury Cr ases. In the other case, employees of a sterilization customer of Sterigenics
allege they were injun red by exposure while working at the customer’s distribution faciff lity to residual EO allegedly emanating
from products of the customer that had been sterilized at Sterigenics’ Atlanta facility; discovery is underway and, pursuant to
the customer’s contract with Sterigenics, the customer is indemnifyiff ng Sterigenics against this lawsuit.

The Defenff dant Subsu idiaries are also defenff dants in appra oximately 365 property devaluation lawsuits that remain pending in the
State Court of Cobb County and have been consolidated for pretrial purposr es (the “Consolidated Property Cases”). Ten of the
Consolidated Property Cases are proceeding under case management orders while the remaining cases are stayed. Discovery in
five of the cases is underway; dispositive motions remain pending in the other five.

We intend to vigorously defend the remaining Atlanta Cases.

New MexiMM co

The Company and certain subsu idiaries are defenff dants in a lawsuit in the Third Judicial District Court, Doña Ana County, New
Mexico in which the New Mexico Attorney General ( “NMAG”) alleges that emissions and releases of EO froff m Sterigenics’
facility in Santa Teresa, New Mexico have deteriorated the air quality in Santa Teresa and surrounding communities and
materially contributed to increased health risks suffered by residents of those communities. The Complaint asserted claims for
public nuisance, negligence, strict liabia lity, violations of New Mexico’s Public Nuisance Statutt e and Unfair Practices Act and
sought various forms of relief, including injun nctive relief and damages. In June 2021, the Court entered an Order Granting
Preliminary Ir njunction prohibiting Sterigenics from allowing any uncontrolled emissions or releases of EO from the Santa
Teresa facility. In December 2021, the Court entered an order establishing a protocol to monitor Sterigenics’ compliance with
the preliminary irr njunction. Operations at the facff ility continue to comply with the June 2021 and December 2021 orders.
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In August 2023, the Court granted Sterigenics’ motion for summary judgment on strict liabia lity, the Unfair Practices Act claim,
and the NMAG’s claims for decreased property values, increased healthcare costs and medical monitoring costs, and instrucrr ted
the NMAG to amend its Complaint in compliance with the order and to exclude any claim for injunctive relief (the “Summary
Judgment Order”). In August 2023, the NMAG sought reconsideration of the Summary Judgment Order, which was denied in
December 2023. While this motion was pending, the NMAG filff ed an Amended Complaint. The NMAG is seeking leave to file
an interlocutory ar ppea al of the Summary Judgment Order which, if granted, would stay all proceedings in the underlying case
during the appeal. In January 2024, Sterigenics filff ed motions to dissolve the June 2021 injun nction and to dismiss the Amended
Complaint. A defenff se motion challenging the Court’s jurisdiction over Sotera Health Company and another defenff dant also
remains pending.

The Company, Sterigenics and certain other subsidiaries are also defenff dants in a lawsuit pending in the United States District
Court forff the District of New Mexico alleging wrongfulff death resulting froff m purporr ted exposure to EO used, emitted and
released from Sterigenics’ facff ility in Santa Teresa, New Mexico while the decedent was working at a different company’s
facility approximately one mile away. The court has not yet entered a case management order. We intend to defenff d this lawsuit
vigorously.

* * *

Additional EO tort lawsuits may be filed in the future against the Company and/or its subsu idiaries relating to Sterigenics’
Willowbrook, Atlanta, Santa Teresa or other EO facilities. Based on our view of the strength of the science and related evidence
that emissions of EO from Sterigenics’ operations have not caused and could not have caused the harms alleged in such
lawsuits, we believe that losses in the remaining or futff urt e EO cases are not probabla e. Although the Company intends to defend
itself vigorously on the merits, future settlements of EO tort lawsuits are reasonabla y possible. The Willowbrook and Atlanta
Settlements were driven by dynamics unique to the cases that were settled and thus should not give rise to presumptions that the
Company will settle additional EO tort lawsuits and/odd r that any such settlements will be for comparabla e amounts.

Potential trial and settlement outcomes can vary widely based a host of factff ors. EO tort lawsuits will be presided over by
different judges, tried by diffeff rent counsel presenting diffeff rent evidence and decided by diffeff rent juries. The subsu tantive and
procedurd al laws of jurisdictions vary and can meaningfulff ly impact the litigation process and outcome of a case. Each plaintiff’sff
claim involves unique facts and evidence including the circumstances of the plaintiff’sff alleged exposure, the type and severity
of the plaintiff’sff disease, the plaintiff’sff medical history ar nd course of treatment, the location of and other factff ors related to the
plaintiff’sff real property, and other circumstances. The outcomes of trials beforff e juries are rarely certain and a judgment
rendered or settlement reached in one case is not necessarily representative of potential outcomes of other seemingly
comparable cases. As a result, it is not possible to estimate a reasonabla y possible loss or range of loss with respect to any futff urt e
EO tort lawsuit, trial or settlement.

Insurance CovCC erage for EnvEE ironmental Liabilitiesg f

An environmental liabia lity insurance policy under which we have received coverage for the EO tort lawsuits in Illinois, Georgia
and New Mexico described abovea had limits of $10.0 million per occurrence and $20.0 million in the aggregate. Those per
occurrence and aggregate limits were fully utilized in the defenff se of the Illinois, Georgia and New Mexico litigation. Our
insurance forff future alleged environmental liabia lities excludes coverage for EO claims.

We are pursuing additional insurance coverage for our legal expenses related to EO tort lawsuits like the Illinois, Georgia and
New Mexico matters described abovea . In 2021, Sterigenics fileff d an insurance coverage lawsuit in the U.S. District Court forff the
Northern District of Illinois relating to two commercial general liabia lity policies issued in the 1980s (the “Northern District of
Illinois Coverage Lawsuit”). The court has issued an order declaring that the defenff dant insurer owes Sterigenics and another
insured party a dutd y to defenff d the Willowbrook Cases (the “Duty to Defenff d Order”) and entered judgment forff Sterigenics in
January 2024 in the amount of $110.2 million forff certain defenff se costs incurred in the Willowbrook Cases as of August 2022
(the “Defenff se Costs Judgment”). The defenff dant insurer has appealed the Duty to Defenff d Order and Defenff se Costs Judgment.
Sterigenics is also a party in insurance coverage lawsuits pending in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois and the
Delaware Supeu rior Court relating to insurance coverage from various historical commercial general liabia lity policies forff certain
EO litigation settlement amounts and defense costs that the insurer in the Northern District of Illinois Coverage Lawsuit may
fail to fund. It is not possible to predict how much, if any, of the insurance proceeds sought will ultimately be recovered.

Sotera Health Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

110



Sotera HeaHH lth Company Securities Litigati ion & Related MatMM tersp y g

In Janua yry 2023, a sto kckh lholdder cllass ac ition was fifilled id in thhe U.S. iDist irict Court forff hthe Nor hthern Diistriict of Ohihio aggaiinst hthe
Companyy, certaiin past andd present didirectors a dnd se inior executiives, thhe Companyy’s p irivate eq iui yty stockh lkholdders andd thhe
dunderw iriters of hthe Compa yny’ is i ini iti lal blpubliic offeff iri gng ((“IPO”) i) in Nove bmber 2020 andd thhe Companyy’s sec donda yry blpubliic offeff iri gng

((“SPO )”) iin Marchh 2021 ((thhe “Miichihiggan F dunds iLitigtigatiion”)). In Ap irill 2023, hthe court a ippoia nt ded hthe O kaklla dnd Countyy Emplloyyees’
Re itirement Syystem, Oaklklandd Countyy V loluntaryy Er mplloyyees’ Benefiicff iia yry Asso iciatiion, andd W yayne Countyy Emplloyyees’
Re itirement Syyste (m ( hthe “ iMi hchigigan Fu dnds )”) to serve a ls leadd pllaiin iftiff tff o prosecute lcl iaims on bbehhalflf of a propos ded lclass of
stockh lkholdders hwho acq iuiredd shhares of thhe Company iy in connectiion wi hith our IPO or SPO or bbetween Nove bmber 20, 2020 andd
Septembber 19, 2022 ((thhe “Proposedd Cllass”)). hThe Miichihiggan F dunds lalllegge hthat statements madde regga drdiingg thhe safe yty of hthe
Companyy’s use of EO and/d/or iits EO tort llaws iuits andd o hther iri ksks of if its EO opera itions ivi lolat ded Sectiions 11, (12( )a)((2)) a dnd 15 of
hthe Secu iri ities Act of 1933 ((whhen m dad ie in thhe regigistra ition statements forff hthe IPO andd SPO)) a dnd Sectiions (10(b)b), Sec ition 2 (0( )a)
andd R lulRR e 1 b0b-5 of thhe Secu iri ities Exchha gnge Act of 1934 ((whhen m dad ie in s bubsequent secu iri ities fililff iinggs andd o hther contexts)).
Defe dndant hs have movedd t do diis imiss hthe Ame dndedd Com lpl iaint andd thhat motiion rem iains pe dindi gng.

In Mayy 2023 a dnd Julyly 2023, hthe Compa yny re iceived dd demandds pursuant to 8 D lel. C. §220 fo ir inspectiions of iits b kbooks andd recordds
from shhareh lholdders purporrr itingg t bo b ie investigigatiingg thhe Companyy’ is internall opera itions d, diis lclosure practiices andd o hther matters
lallleggedd a dnd at iissu ie in thhe iMi hchigigan Fu dnds iLi itigga ition ((thhe “220 Dema dnds )”). Thhe Company iy is prodduciing dg documents iin response
to hthe 220 Dema dnds.

hThe Compa yny bbelilieves hthat hthe allllegga itions andd cllaiim is in thhe iMi hchigigan Fu dnds iLitigtigatiion a dnd 220 Dema dnds are wi hithout me irit
and plans to vigorously defend the Michigan Funds Litigation.

21. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk

Derivative InsII truments

We do not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposrr es and are not a party to leveraged derivatives.

Derivatives Designati ed in Hedge Relationshipsi

From time to time, the Company utilizes interest rate derivatives designated in hedge relationships to manage interest rate risk
associated with our variable rate borrowings. These instruments are measured at fair value with changes in faiff r value recorded
as a component of “Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)” on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In March 2023, we entered into an interest rate swap aa greement with a notional amount of $400.0 million. The interest rate
swap was effective on August 23, 2023 and expires on August 23, 2025. We have designated the interest rate swap as a cash
flow hedge designed to hedge the variabia lity of cash floff ws attributable to changes in the SOFR benchmark interest rate of our
2023 Term Loan (or any successor thereto). We receive interest at the one-month Term SOFR rate and pay a fixed interest rate
under the terms of the swap agreement.

In May 2022, we entered into two interest rate cap agreements with a combined notional amount of $1,000.0 million forff a total
option premium of $4.1 million. The interest rate caps were effective on July 31, 2023 and expire on July 31, 2024. We have
designated these interest rate capsa as cash flow hedges designed to hedge the variabia lity of cash floff ws attributable to changes in
the benchmark interest rate of our Term Loan (or any successor thereto). Under the current terms of the loan agreement, the
benchmark interest rate index transitioned froff m LIBOR to the Term SOFR on June 30, 2023. Accordingly, the interest rate cap
agreements hedge the variabia lity of cash floff ws attributable to changes in SOFR by limiting our cash floff w exposure related to
Term SOFR under a portion of our variable rate borrowings to 3.5%.

In October 2021, we entered into two interest rate cap aa greements with a combined notional amount of $1,000.0 million for a
total option premium of $1.8 million. Both interest rate capsa were effeff ctive on December 31, 2022 and expired on July 31,
2023. These interest rate caps are designated as cash floff w hedges and were designed to hedge the variabia lity of cash floff ws
attributable to changes in LIBOR (or its successor), the benchmark interest rate being hedged, by limiting our cash floff w
exposure related to the LIBOR base rate under a portion of our variable rate borrowings to 1.0%.
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Derivatives NotNN Designati ed in Hedge Relationshipsi

Additionally, froff m time to time, the Company enters into interest rate derivatives to manage economic risks associated with our
variable rate borrowings that are not designated in hedge relationships. These instruments are recorded at fair value on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, with any changes in the value being recorded in “Interest expense, net” in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

The Company also routinely enters into forff eign currency forff ward contracts to manage forff eign currency exchange rate risk of
our intercompany loans in certain of our international subsidiaries and non-functional currency assets and liabia lities. The
foreign currency forff ward contracts expire on a monthly basis.

Embedded Derivatives

We have embedded derivatives in certain of our customer and supply contracts as a result of the currency of the contract being
different from the functional currency of the parties involved. Changes in the fair value of the embedded derivatives are
recognized in “Other income, net” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

The folff lowing tabla e provides a summary or f the notional and fair values of our derivative instrumr ents:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
(in U.S.UU dollars; notional in millions, faiff r value in thousands)dd( ; , f ) Fair Value Fair Value

Notional
Amount

Derivative
Assets

Derivative
Liabilities

Notional
Amount

Derivative
Assets

Derivative
Liabilities

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments
Interest rate caps $ 1,000.0 $ 8,763 $ — $ 2,000.0 $ 34,764 $ —
Interest rate swaps 400.0 1,487 — — — —

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
Foreign currency forff ward contracts 171.0 149 9 151.5 — 272
Embedded derivatives(a) 150.1 1,225 405 179.9 2,721 3,508
Total $ 1,721.1 $ 11,624 $ 414 $ 2,331.4 $ 37,485 $ 3,780

(a) Represents the total notional amounts forff certain of the Company’s supply and sales contracts accounted for as embedded
derivatives.

Embedded derivatives assets and forff eign currency forward contracts are included in “Prepaid expenses and other current assets”
and “Accruer d Liabia lities” on our Consolidated Balance Sheets depending upon their position at period end. Interest rate swaps
and interest rate caps are included in “Other assets” and “Noncurrent liabia lities”, respectively, on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets depending upon their position at period end.

The folff lowing tabla es summarize the activities of our derivative instruments forff the periods presented, and the line item they are
recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss):

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
Year Ended December 31,, 2023 2022 2021

Unrealized loss (gain) on interest rate derivatives recorded in interest expense, net $ — $ — $ (1,185)
Realized (gain) loss on interest rate derivatives recorded in interest expense, net(a) (33,094) (12,226) —
Unrealized (gain) loss on embedded derivatives recorded in other (income)/
expense, net (1,637) 1,324 (1,195)
Realized (gain) loss on foreign currency forff ward contracts recorded in foreign

exchange (gain) loss (2,025) 3,931 (1,900)
Unrealized (gain) loss on foreign currency forff ward contracts recorded in foreign

exchange (gain) loss (412) 272 —
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(a) For the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, amounts represent periodic settlement of interest rate caps and
swaps.

We expect to reclassify approximately $8.7 million of afteff r-tax net gains on derivative instrumr ents from accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) to income during the next 12 months associated with our cash floff w hedges. Refer to Note 14,
“Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)” forff unrealized gains on interest rate derivatives, net of applicable tax, recorded in other
comprehensive income (loss) and amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to interest expense, net
of applicable tax, during the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

Creditdd Riskii

Certain of our financial assets, including cash and cash equivalents, are exposed to credit risk.

We are also exposed, in our normal course of business, to credit risk from our customers. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
accounts receivabla e was net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts of $4.7 million and $1.9 million, respectively.

Credit risk on financial instrumr ents arises from the potential for counterparr rties to defauff lt on their contractuat l obligations to us.
We are exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance, but do not anticipate non-performance by any of the
counterparr rties to our financial instrumr ents. We limit our credit risk by dealing with counterpar rties that are considered to be of
high credit quality. In the event of non-performance by counterpar rties, the carrying value of our financial instrumr ents represents
the maximum amount of loss that would be incurred.

Our credit team evaluates and regularly monitors changes in the credit risk of our customers. We routinely assess the
collectability of accounts receivabla e and maintain an adequate allowance forff uncollectible accounts to address potential credit
losses. The process includes a review of customer financial inforff mation and credit ratings, current market conditions as well as
the expected future economic conditions that may impact the collection of trade receivabla es. We regularly review our
customers’ past due amounts through an analysis of aged accounts receivabla es, specific customer past dued aging amounts, and
the history of trade receivabla es written off. Uff pon concluding that a receivabla e balance is not collectible, the balance is written
off aff gainst the allowance forff uncollectible accounts.

Fair Value HieHH rarchy

The faiff r value of our financial instrumr ents is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The valuation techniques we would use to determine
such fair values are described as follows: Level 1—faiff r values determined by inputs utilizing quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabia lities; Level 2—faiff r values based on observabla e inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such
as quoted prices for similar assets and liabia lities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabia lities in
markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observabla e; Level 3—faiff r values determined by unobservabla e inputs
reflecting our own assumptions, consistent with reasonabla y available assumptions made by other market participants.
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The folff lowing tabla e discloses the faiff r value our financial assets and liabia lities:

As of December 31, 2023, Fair Value

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
Carrying
Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments(a)

Interest rate capsa $ 8,763 $ — $ 8,763 $ —
Interest rate swaps 1,487 — 1,487 —

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments(b)

Foreign currency forff ward contract assets 149 — 149 —
Foreign currency forff ward contract liabilities 9 — 9 —
Embedded derivative assets 1,225 — 1,225 —
Embedded derivative liabia lities 405 — 405 —

Current portion of long-term debt(c)

Term loan B, due 2026 4,797 — 5,000 —
Long-Term Debt(c)

Term loan, dued 2026 1,751,197 — 1,758,163 —
Term loan B, due 2026 472,477 — 492,500 —

Finance Lease Obligations (with current portion)(d) 72,564 — 72,564 —

As of December 31, 2022, Fair Value

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
Carrying
Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments(a)

Interest rate capsa $ 34,764 — 34,764 —
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments(b)

Foreign currency forff ward contracts 272 — 272 —
Interest rate capsa 2,721 $ — $ 2,721 $ —
Embedded derivative liabia lities 3,508 — 3,508 —

Current portion of long-term debt(e)

Revolving credit facility 196,672 — 196,672 —
Other long-term debt 447 — 447 —

Long-Term Debt(c)

Term loan, dued 2026 1,747,115 — 1,626,460 —
Finance Lease Obligations (with current portion)(d) 58,677 — 58,677 —

(a) Derivatives designated as hedging instruments are measured at fair value with changes in faiff r value recorded as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Interest rate caps and swaps are valued using pricing
models that incorporate observabla e market inputs including interest rate curves and yield curves. Additional inforff mation
is provided in Note 1, “Significant Accounting Policies”.

(b) Derivatives that are not designated as hedging instruments are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognized
immediately in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). Referff also to Note 1,
“Significant Accounting Policies”. Embedded derivatives are valued using internally developed models that rely on
observable market inputs, including foreign currency forff ward curves. Foreign currency forff ward contracts are valued by
reference to changes in forff eign currency exchange rate over the life off f the contract. Interest rate caps are valued using
pricing models that incorporate observabla e market inputs including interest rate and yield curves.

(c) Carrying amounts of current portion of long-term debt and long-term debt instruments are reported net of discounts and
debt issuance costs. The estimated fair value of these instruments is based upon quoted prices for the term loans dued in
2026 in inactive markets as provided by an independent fixed income security pricing service.

(d) Referff to Note 18, “Leases”. Fair value approximates carrying value.
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(e) Carrying amounts of current portion of long-term debt for the year ended December 31, 2022 are reported net of
discounts and debt issuance costs. Fair value appra oximates carrying value for the year ended December 31, 2022.

22. Segment and Geographic Inforff mation

We identify off ur operating segments based on the way we manage, evaluate and internally report our business activities forff
purposr es of allocating resources and assessing performance. We have three reportabla e segments: Sterigenics, Nordion and
Nelson Labsa . We have determined our reportabla e segments based upon an assessment of organizational strucr ture, service types,
and internally prepared finff ancial statements. Our chief operating decision maker evaluates performance and allocates resources
based on net revenues and segment income after the elimination of intercompany activities. The accounting policies of our
reportabla e segments are the same as those described in Note 1, “Significant Accounting Policies”.

Sterigenicsg

Sterigenics provides outsourced terminal sterilization and irradiation services for the medical device, pharmaceutical, foodff
safety and advanced applications markets using three major technologies: gamma irradiation, EO processing and E-beam
irradiation.

Nordion

Nordion is a leading global provider of Co-60 used in the sterilization and irradiation processes forff the medical device,
pharmaceutical, foodff safety, and high-performance materials industries, as well as in the treatment of cancer. In addition,
Nordion is a leading global provider of gamma irradiation systems.

Nelson Labs

Nelson Labsa provides outsourced microbiological and analytical chemistry trr esting and advisory services for the medical device
and pharmaceutical industries.

Segme ent Revenue ConcCC entrationsg

For the year ended December 31, 2023, three customers reported within the Nordion segment individually represented 10% or
more of the segment’s total net revenues. These customers represented 20.1%, 14.8%, and 13.9% of the total segment’s external
net revenues forff the year ended December 31, 2023. For the year ended December 31, 2022, five customers reported within the
Nordion segment individually represented 10% or more of the segment’s total net revenues. These customers represented
17.7%, 13.6%, 11.2%, 10.7%, and 10.2% of the total segment’s external net revenues forff the year ended December 31, 2022.
For the year ended December 31, 2021, four customers reported within the Nordion segment individually represented 10% or
more of the segment’s total net revenues. These customers represented 15.1%, 12.7%, 11.5%, 11.1% of the total segment’s
external net revenues forff the year ended December 31, 2021.

Financial inforff mation forff each of our segments is presented in the following table:

Sotera Health Company
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Year Ended December 31,
(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f ) 2023 2022 2021
Segment revenues(a)

Sterigenics $ 667,130 $ 626,646 $ 571,829
Nordion 160,459 153,639 140,507
Nelson Labsa 221,699 223,402 219,142

Total net revenues $ 1,049,288 $ 1,003,687 $ 931,478
Segment income(b)

Sterigenics $ 362,212 $ 339,144 $ 310,470
Nordion 96,678 89,477 82,673
Nelson Labsa 69,139 77,628 88,086

Total segment income $ 528,029 $ 506,249 $ 481,229

(a) Revenues are reported net of intersegment sales. Our Nordion segment recognized $43.9 million, $52.4 million and
$34.1 million in revenues froff m sales to our Sterigenics segment for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively, that is not reflected in net revenues in the tabla e abovea . Intersegment sales for Sterigenics and Nelson Labs
are immaterial for all periods presented.

(b) Segment income is only provided on a net basis to the chief operating decision maker and is reported net of intersegment
profitsff .

Corporate operating expenses for executive management, accounting, information technology, legal, human resources, treasury,rr
investor relations, corporr ate development, tax, purchasing, and marketing not directly incurred by a segment are allocated to the
segments based on total net revenue. Corporrr ate operating expenses that are directly incurred by a segment are reflected in each
segment’s income.

Capia tal expenditures by segment for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f ) 2023 2022 2021
Sterigenics $ 163,043 $ 144,027 $ 73,753
Nordion 38,351 26,575 21,292
Nelson Labsa 13,581 11,776 7,117
Total capital expenditures $ 214,975 $ 182,378 $ 102,162

Total assets and depreciation and amortization expense by segment are not readily availabla e and are not reported separately to
the chief operating decision maker.
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A reconciliation of segment income to consolidated income (loss) before taxes is as folff lows:

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
Year Ended December 31,, 2023 2022 2021
Segment income $ 528,029 $ 506,249 $ 481,229
Less adjud stments:
Interest expense, net(a) 116,068 78,490 74,192
Depreciation and amortization(b) 157,925 145,554 150,902
Share-based compensation(c) 32,364 21,211 13,870
(Gain) loss on foreign currency and derivatives not designated as hedging
instruments, net(d) (1,552) 3,150 (58)
Acquisition and divestiture related charges, net(e) 937 1,398 (6,018)
Business optimization projeo ct expenses(f) 7,310 2,226 948
Plant closure expenses(g) (585) 4,730 2,327
Impairment of investment in unconsolidated affiff liate(h) — 9,613 —
Loss on extinguishment of debt(i) — — 20,681
Profesff sional services relating to EO sterilization facff ilities(j) 72,122 72,639 45,656
Illinois EO litigation settlement(k) — 408,000 —
Georgia EO litigation settlement(l) 35,000 — —
Accretion of asset retirement obligation(m) 2,413 2,194 2,252
COVID-19 expenses(n) — 155 761
Consolidated income (loss) before taxes $ 106,027 $ (243,111) $ 175,716

((a)) hThe yyear enddedd Dece bmber 31, 2023 ex lcluddes $$26.8 ilmillilion of iinterest expense, net on Term Loan B attribibut bablle to hthe
lloan proc deeds thhat were usedd to f dundff hthe $$408.0 illimillion lIllilin iois E lO liitigigatiion se lttlement. hThe yyear enddedd Dece bmber 31,
2022 ex lcl dudes a $$1.7 imilllliion unrealili dzed lloss on iinterest rate dde iriva itives not dde isiggnatedd a hs h dedgigi gng iinstruments.

(b(b)) In lcl dude ds depre iciatiion of Co-60 hheldld at ggamma iirradidiatiion siites.
((c)) Represents hshare-bbasedd compensatiion expense to emplloyyees andd non-em lpl yoye de diirectors. See Note 16, “ hShare-Basedd

Compensa ition” for furff hther iinformatiion.
(d(d)) Represents hthe effects of (f (i)i) flfluctuatiions iin foreigign currencyy exchha gnge rates, (i(ii)i) non-cashh markk-to-faiir vallue of

embbedddded dd deriivatiives rella itingg to certaiin customer andd s lupplyy contracts at Nordidion, and (d (iii)iii) unr lealiiz ded ggaiins a dnd llosses
on iinterest rate dde iriva itives not dde isiggnatedd a hs h dedgigi gng iinstruments.

((e)) Represents (i(i)) certaiin didirect and id increment lal costs r lelat ded to hthe acq iui isi itions of RCA, hthe noncontrollilli gng iinterest is in our
hChiina s bubsididiia iries, BiioSciience L bab is in 2021, Iotron iin Julyly 2020, hthe fiirff st quarter 2021 ggaiin on hthe manddato irilyly
reddeem bablle noncontrolllliing ig interes it in N lelson L babs F iai firfi leldd, andd certaiin rellated id int gegra ition efforts as a resullt of hthose
acq iui isi itions (, (iiii)) thhe earniinggs iimpact of faiir vallue adjdjustment (s (ex lcl diudi gng hthose recognigni dzed iwi hthiin amor itizatiion expens )e)
resul iltingg froff m thhe bbusiinesses acq iuiredd, (i(iii)ii) tran isi ition ser ivices iincome andd non-cash dh deferff red ld lease iincome asso iciat ded
iwi hth hthe terms of hth de diives ititure of hthe M dediic lal Isotope bs busiines is in 2018, (i(i )v) a $$3.4 ilmillilion ggaiin recognigni dzed iin hthe thihi drd
quarter of 2021 rellatedd to thhe settllement of an iinsurance cllaiim for Nordidion hthat exiistedd at thhe itime of our acq iui isi ition of
hth be busiines is in 2014, and (d ( )v) a $$5.1 imilllliion non-cash gh g iain recogniognized id in thhe four hth quarter of 2021 ariisiingg fromff hthe
dderecognigni ition of an AR lO liiabibia lilityy n lo l gonger att iribbut bablle to No drdiion pursuant to thhe terms of thhe salle of hthe M dediic lal
Isotope bs busiines is in 2018.

(f)(f) Represents profesff isional fl feeff s, exiit costs, severance a dnd othher p yayrollll costs, andd o hther costs asso iciat ded iwi hth bbusiiness
opti iimizatiion a dnd cost sa ivi gngs projojects r lelatiingg to thhe iinteggratiion of recent acq iui isi itions, opera itingg strucr ture re laligignment
andd o hther process e hnhancement projejeo cts.

(g(g)) Represents profesff isional fl feeff s, severance a dnd othher p yayrollll costs, andd o hther cost is inclludidi gng ongoiongoi gng llease a dnd utilityility
expenses asso iciat ded iwi hth hthe cllosure of hthe Willillowbbr kook, lIllilin iois facff ililityity. hThe yyear enddedd Decembber 31, 2023 lalso
iin lcl dudes a $$1.0 imilllliion canc lellla ition fee r ieceived fd froff m a tenan it in connectiion wi hith hthe ter imina ition of an offiffice spac le lease
at hthe Nordidion fa icilili yty.

(h(h)) Represents an iimpaiirment hchargge on an eq iui yty me hth dod iinvestment iin a ja j ioint venturt e. Refer to Note 1, “ iSignignifificant
Accountiingg P loliiciies” for furff hther iinformatiion.
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(i(i)) Represents expenses iincurr ded iin connectiion wiithh thhe repriiciingg of our Term Loan iin Janua yry 2021 and fd f lulfff ll r dedemptiion of
hthe Fiirst iLien Note is in A gugust 2021, iin lcl diudi gng a prepayyment pre imium a dnd laccelerat ded amor itizatiion of p irior ddebbt
iissuance a dnd didiscount costs.

(j(j)) Represents lili itigga ition a dnd othher profe issional fl feesff asso iciat ded iwi hth our EO sterililiizatiion f iaciff lili ities. hThiis iin lcl dudes $$26.8
illimillion of iinterest expense, net forff hth ye year e dndedd Decembber 31, 2023 asso iciat ded iwi hth Term Loan B thhat was iissu ded to
fifinance thhe $$408.0 imilllliion settllement of 880 pe dindi gng andd thhreateneded EO lcl iaims gag iainst thhe Defe dndant Subbsu ididiia iries iin
lIllilin iois u dnder Set ltlement Aggreements enteredd iinto on Marchh 28, 2023. See Note 20, “Com imitments a dnd Contiinggenciies”.

(k) Represents the cost to settle 880 pending and threatened EO claims against the Defendant Subsu idiaries in Illinois
pursuant to Settlement Agreements entered into on March 28, 2023. See Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies”.

(l) Represents the cost to settle 79 pending EO claims against the Defendant Subsu idiaries in Georgia under a Settlement
Term Sheet entered into on December 21, 2023. See Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies”.

(m) Represents non-cash accretion of asset retirement obligations related to Co-60 gamma and EO processing facilities,
which are based on estimated site remediation costs forff any futff urt e decommissioning of these faciff lities and are accreted
over the life off f the asset.

(n) Represents non-recurring costs associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, including incremental costs to implement
workplkk ace health and safetff y measures.

Geographic InfII orff mation

Net revenues forff geographic area are reported by the country’s origin of the revenues.

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
Year Ended December 31,, 2023 2022 2021
United States $ 590,967 $ 579,018 $ 527,907
Canada 192,050 188,741 177,875
Europe 187,542 166,025 161,810
Other 78,729 69,903 63,886
Total $ 1,049,288 $ 1,003,687 $ 931,478

The ‘Other’ category ar bovea is primarily comprised of net revenues froff m Asian and Latin American countries that individually
represent 3% or less of our total net revenues.

Long-lived assets are based on physical locations and are comprised of the net book value of property, plant, and equipment.

(thousands of U.S. dollars)( f )
As of December 31,, 2023 2022
United States $ 494,793 $ 413,887
Europe 170,669 143,809
Canada 181,628 140,761
Other 99,824 76,070
Total $ 946,914 $ 774,527

The ‘Other’ category ar bovea is primarily comprised of long-lived assets in Asian and Latin American countries that individually
represent 5% or less of our total long-lived assets.
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Sotera Health Company
Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifyiff ng Accounts

(in thoust ands)s

Descriptionp

Balance at
Beginning of
Period

Charges
(credits) to
costs and
expense(1) Deductions(2)

Translation
Adjud stments(3)

Balance at End
of Period

Year Ended December 31, 2023
Deducted froff m asset accounts:

Allowance forff uncollectible
accounts receivabla e $ 1,871 $ 4,313 $ (1,502) $ 7 $ 4,689

Deferred tax asset valuation
allowance 105,600 19,682 — 153 125,435

Year Ended December 31, 2022
Deducted froff m asset accounts:

Allowance forff uncollectible
accounts receivabla e $ 1,287 $ 1,009 $ (419) $ (6) $ 1,871

Deferred tax asset valuation
allowance 52,080 53,945 — (425) 105,600

Year Ended December 31, 2021
Deducted froff m asset accounts:

Allowance forff uncollectible
accounts receivabla e $ 708 $ 1,132 $ (408) $ (145) $ 1,287

Deferred tax asset valuation
allowance 43,765 8,455 — (140) 52,080

(1) F1 orFF the year endeddd December 31, 2023, certain charger s were recordeddd as a reducdd tion to revenue
(2) U2 ncUU ollectible accounts written off,o net of ro ecoveries
(3) C3 hangeCC in foreign cgg urrency ec xchee ange rates
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the
effeff ctiveness of the Company’s “disclosure controls and procedures” (as defined in RulRR es 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act)). Based uponu their evaluation, the Chief Executive Offiff cer and
Chief Financial Offiff cer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our disclosure
controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonabla e assurance that inforff mation we are required to disclose in reports that
we file or submu it under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specifieff d in
the rulr es and forff ms of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), and that such inforff mation is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our CEO and CFO, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The management of Sotera Health Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting as definff ed in Exchange Act RulRR e 13a-15(f). Using criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (“COSO”) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework, Sotera
Health Company’s management assessed the effeff ctiveness of the Company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting as of
December 31, 2023. Based on this assessment, management concluded that the Company’s internal control over finff ancial
reporting was effeff ctive as of December 31, 2023.

The effectff iveness of the Company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31, 2023 has been audited by Ernst
& Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firff m, as stated in their report, which is included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and is included in this Item 9A. of this Form 10-K below.

Changes in Internal Control

During the fourff th quarter of 2023, there were no changes in our internal control over finff ancial reporting that materially affeff cted,
or are reasonabla y likely to materially affect, our internal control over finff ancial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Sotera Health Company

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Sotera Health Company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria
establa ished in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Sotera Health Company (the Company) maintained, in all
material respects, effeff ctive internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Publu ic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the 2023 consolidated financial statements of the Company and our report dated Februarr ry 27, 2024 expressed an
unqualifieff d opinion thereon.

Basis forff Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effeff ctive internal control over finff ancial reporting and for its
assessment of the effeff ctiveness of internal control over finff ancial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Annual
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over finff ancial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firff m registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. fedff eral securities laws and the appla icable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonabla e assurance abouta whether effective internal control over finff ancial reporting was maintained in all
material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over finff ancial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effeff ctiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedurd es as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonabla e basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonabla e assurance regarding the
reliabia lity of finff ancial reporting and the preparation of financial statements forff external purposr es in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting includes those policies and procedurd es
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonabla e detail, accurately and faiff rly refleff ct the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonabla e assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of finff ancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the finff ancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finff ancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to futff urt e periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedurd es may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
Februarr ry 27, 2024
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Item 9B. Other Information

Rule 10b5-1 TraTT ding Plansl

During the year ended December 31, 2023, none of the Company’s directors or executive offiff cers adopted or terminated any
contract, instrucr tion or written plan forff the purchase or sale of Company securities that was intended to satisfy the affirmative
defense conditions of RulRR e 10b5-1(c) or any “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” (as that term is defined in Regulation S-K,
Item 408).

Offeff r Letter Amendmedd nt

On Februar ry 26, 2024, we amended Mr. Lyons’ offer letter to provide for a one-time payment of $100,000 to defray costs
associated with his commuting to Cleveland, Ohio (the “Commuting Bonus”). This payment will be made in the firff st payroll
cycle in April, 2024. If Mr. Lyons terminates his employment with the Company for any reason other than death or disability;
or the Company terminates his employment forff “Cause” (as defined in Mr. Lyons’ offer letter) prior to the second anniversaryr
of the commencement of Mr. Lyons’ employment, Mr. Lyons will be obligated to repay, on a pre-tax basis, a pro-rata portion of
the Commuting Bonus within five business days of his termination of employment.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not Applicable.
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Part III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The inforff mation required by this item is incorporrr ated by reference to the sections entitled “Board Composition, Nominations
Process and Director Qualificff ations” and “Corpor rate Governance” that will be included in our Definitive Proxy Statement forff
the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days afteff r the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2023.

The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th information abouta our executive offiff cers as of February 2rr 0, 2024:

Name Ageg Position

Michael B. Petras, Jr. 56 Chairman and Chief Executive Offiff cer
Jonathan (Jon) Lyons 46 Chief Financial Offiff cer
Michael (Mike) P. Rutz 52 President of Sterigenics
Alexander (Alex) Dimitrief 65 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Set forff th below is a brief description of the business experience of our executive offiff cers.

Michael B. Petratt s, Jr. has served as our Chief Executive Officer since June 2016 and as the Chairman of our board of directors
since October 2020 and served as the Chairman of the board of managers of Sotera Health Topco, L.P. (“Topco Parent”) froff m
January 2rr 019 and as a member of Topco Parent’s board of managers from June 2016 until the completion of the IPO. Prior to
joining Sotera Health, Mr. Petras served as chief executive officer of Post-Acute Solutions at Cardinal Health, Inc., a
multinational healthcare services company, from 2015 to 2016 and chief executive officer of Cardinal Health at-Home at
Cardinal Health, Inc. froff m 2013 to 2015. From 2011 to 2013, he was the chief executive officer for AssuraMed Holdings, Inc.,
a medical products supplu ier owned by the Clayton, Dubiu lier & Rice and Goldman Sachs private equity firms, which was sold to
Cardinal Health, Inc. in 2013. From 2008 to 2011, Mr. Petras was president and chief executive officer at GE Lighting, a
General Electric Company (“GE”) business unit. During his over 20 year career at GE, he held several management positions in
multiple disciplines. Mr. Petras holds a B.S.B.A. in finff ance from John Carroll University and an M.B.A. in marketing from
Case Western Reserve University. He was selected to serve on our board of directors because of his perspective as our Chief
Executive Officer as well as his extensive commercial, finff ancial and general management experience across many global
industries.

Jonathantt (JonJJ ) Mn . LMM yoL ns has served as our Chief Financial Offiff cer since June 2023. Prior to joining Sotera Health, Mr. Lyons
served as Vice President, Corporate FP&A of Owens Corning, a global leader specializing in building and construcr tion
materials. Mr. Lyons joined Owens Corning in 2010 as Assistant Treasurer and also served as the company’s Treasurer from
2011 to 2014. Mr. Lyons also spent eight years with Cardinal Health, holding several senior leadership roles in treasury,r FP&A,
investor relations and tax afteff r beginning his career in public accounting. Mr. Lyons holds an M.B.A. from The Ohio State
University and a B.S. in Accounting froff m Kent State University.

Michael (Mi(( ke) P. Rutz has served as President of Sterigenics since October 2020. Prior to that, Mr. RutRR z was Chief Operating
Offiff cer of Sterigenics froff m May 2020 to October 2020. Prior to joining Sotera Health, he was senior vice president and general
manager of the Semiconductor Business Unit at Littlefuse, Inc., a multinational electronic manufactff urt ing company, where he
was responsible for leading sales, marketing, product development, operations and business development forff power and
protection-based semiconductor products. Mr. Rutz joined Littlefusff e in 2014 as senior vice president of global operations,
overseeing the company’s manufactff urt ing, procurement, planning, quality, and operational excellence initiatives. Prior to joining
Littlefuse, Mr. Rutz served as senior vice president global supply chain at WMS Gaming, a Chicago-based manufacff turer of
equipment and software for the gaming industry.rr Mr. RutRR z also spent 16 years with Motorola in the paging, cellular and
networking groups, most recently as vice president, networks supplu y chain. Mr. Rutz holds a Bachelor’s degree in mechanical
engineering froff m the University of Michigan and Master’s degrees in mechanical engineering and management from the
Massachusetts Institutt e of Technology.
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Alexander (Al(( ex) Dimitriefe has served as our Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary sr ince November 2022. Prior
to joining Sotera Health, froff m February 2r 020 to October 2022, he was a partner at Zeughauser Group, a legal management
consulting firff m, where he remains as an advisor. Mr. Dimitrief was a senior felff low and distinguished adjud nct professor at New
York Law School from August 2020 to December 2022 and a lecturt er on law at Harvard Law School from September 2019 to
December 2022. Mr. Dimitrief previously served in a variety of leadership roles at General Electric. Mr. Dimitrief was
president and CEO of GE’s Global Growth Organization froff m 2018 until his retirement froff m GE in January 2019. He
previously served as GE’s senior vice president and general counsel from 2015 to 2018 and held other senior legal roles at GE
beginning in 2007. Mr. Dimitrief came to GE froff m Kirkland & Ellis LLP, where he practiced law forff twenty years. Mr.
Dimitrief holds a B.A. in economics and political science froff m Yale College and a J.D. from Harvard Law School. He also
serves as an independent director of Eos Energy Enterprrr ises and on the Advisory Board of Cresset.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The inforff mation required by this item is incorporrr ated by reference to the information that will be included in our Definitive
Proxy Statement forff the 2024 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days afteff r the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2023, except as to inforff mation required pursuant to Item 402(v) of SEC Regulation S-K relating to
pay versus performance.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The inforff mation required by this item is incorporrr ated by reference to the information that will be included in our Definitive
Proxy Statement forff the 2024 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days afteff r the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2023.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The inforff mation required by this item is incorporrr ated by reference to the information that will be included in our Definitive
Proxy Statement forff the 2024 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days afteff r the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2023.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The inforff mation required by this item is incorporrr ated by reference to the information that will be included in our Definitive
Proxy Statement forff the 2024 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days afteff r the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2023.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Documents Filed with Report

(1) Consolidated Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under Item 8,
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”

(2) Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifyiff ng Accounts forff the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021
All other schedules for which provision is made in the appla icable accounting regulation of the Securities and
Exchange Commission are not required under the related instrucr tions or are inappla icable, and thereforff e, have been
omitted.

(3) Exhibits
The exhibits listed in the folff lowing Exhibit Index are filed, furnished, or incorporated by reference as part of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of the Registrant 10-K 001-39729 3.1 2021-03-09

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the
Registrant 10-K 001-39729 3.2 2021-03-09

4.1 Description of our Common Stock 10-K 001-39729 4.1 2021-03-09

4.2 Amended and Restated Registration Rights
Agreement 10-K 001-39729 4.2 2021-03-09

10.1+ Employment Agreement by and between
Sotera Health Company and Michael B.
Petras, Jr., dated as of November 10, 2020

S-1/A 333-249648 10.1 2020-11-12

10.2+ Executed Employment Offer by Sotera
Health Company and Michael F. Biehl
dated as of July 18, 2022

10-K 001-39729 10.5 2023-02-28

10.3+ Executed Restrictive Covenants Agreement
by and between Sotera Health Company
and Michael F. Biehl dated as of July 20,
2022

10-K 001-39729 10.6 2023-02-28

10.4+ Executed Employment Offer by Sotera
Health Company and Alex Dimitrief dated
as of October 28, 2022

10-K 001-39729 10.7 2023-02-28

10.5+ Executed Restrictive Covenants Agreement
by and between Sotera Health Company
and Alex Dimitrief, dated as of November
1, 2022

10-K 001-39729 10.8 2023-02-28

10.6+ Cash Retention Bonus Agreement by and
between Michael Rutz and Sotera Health
Company dated as of November 7, 2022

10-K 001-39729 10.9 2023-02-28

10.7+ Executed Amended and Restated
Employment Offer by Sotera Health
Company and Jonathan M. Lyons dated as
of February 26, 2024

*

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit No Description of Exhibits

Filed/
Furnished
Herewith Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date
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10.8+ Executed Restrictive Covenants Agreement
by and between Sotera Health Company
and Jonathan M. Lyons dated as of June 26,
2023

10-Q 001-39729 10.3 2023-08-03

10.9+ Sotera Health Company Supplemental
Retirement Benefit Plan, effective as of
January 1, 2018

S-1/A 333-249648 10.4 2020-11-12

10.10+ Sotera Health Company 2020 Omnibus
Incentive Plan S-1/A 333-249648 10.5 2020-11-12

10.11+ Form of Sotera Health Company 2020
Omnibus Incentive Plan Restricted Stock
Unit Grant Notice and Agreement

S-1/A 333-249648 10.6 2020-11-12

10.12+ Form of Sotera Health Company 2020
Omnibus Incentive Plan Stock Option
Grant Notice and Agreement

S-1/A 333-249648 10.7 2020-11-12

10.13 Form of Indemnification Agreement
entered into between the Registrant and
each director and executive officer

S-1/A 333-249648 10.8 2020-11-02

10.14 Stockholders’ Agreement 10-K 001-39729 10.9 2021-03-09

10.15 2019 Credit Agreement, dated as of
December 13, 2019, among the Registrant,
Sotera Health Holdings, LLC, the lenders
and issuing banks party thereto and
Jefferies Finance LLC, as first lien
administrative agent and first lien collateral
agent

S-1 333-249648 10.10 2020-10-23

10.16 Guarantee Agreement, dated as of
December 13, 2019, among the Registrant,
Sotera Health Holdings, LLC, the other
guarantors party thereto and Jefferies
Finance LLC, as first lien collateral agent

S-1 333-249648 10.11 2020-10-23

10.17 Collateral Agreement, dated as of
December 13, 2019, among the Registrant,
Sotera Health Holdings, LLC, the other
guarantors party thereto and Jefferies
Finance LLC, as first lien collateral agent

S-1 333-249648 10.12 2020-10-23

10.18 Patent Security Agreement, dated as of
December 13, 2019, between Sterigenics
U.S., LLC and Jefferies Finance LLC, as
collateral agent

1 333-249648 10.13 2020-10-23

10.19 Trademark Security Agreement, dated as of
December 13, 2019, between Sterigenics
U.S., LLC and Jefferies Finance LLC, as
collateral agent

S-1 333-249648 10.14 2020-10-23

10.20 Trademark Security Agreement, dated as of
December 13, 2019, between Nelson
Laboratories, LLC and Jefferies Finance
LLC, as collateral agent

S-1 333-249648 10.15 2020-10-23

10.21 Trademark Security Agreement, dated as of
December 13, 2019, between Sotera Health
LLC and Jefferies Finance LLC, as
collateral agent

1 333-249648 10.16 2020-10-23
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10.22 Copyright Security Agreement, dated as of
December 13, 2019, among Jefferies
Finance LLC and Nelson Laboratories,
LLC, as collateral agent

1 333-249648 10.17 2020-10-23

10.23 First Lien Pari Passu Intercreditor
Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2020,
among Sotera Health Holdings, LLC, the
Registrant, Jefferies Finance LLC as
Collateral Agent and Authorized
Representative, and Wilmington Trust,
National Association as Additional First
Lien Collateral Agent and Initial
Authorized Representative

1 333-249648 10.25 2020-10-23

10.24 First Lien Collateral Agreement, dated as of
July 31, 2020, among the Registrant, Sotera
Health Holdings, LLC, the other grantors
party thereto and Wilmington Trust,
National Association, as first lien notes
collateral agent

S-1 333-249648 10.26 2020-10-23

10.25 Patent Security Agreement, dated as of July
31, 2020, between Sterigenics U.S., LLC
and Wilmington Trust, National
Association, as first lien notes collateral
agent

S-1 333-249648 10.27 2020-10-23

10.26 Trademark Security Agreement, dated as of
July 31, 2020, between Sotera Health
Holdings LLC and Wilmington Trust,
National Association, as first lien notes
collateral agent

S-1 333-249648 10.28 2020-10-23

10.27
Copyright Security Agreement, dated as of
July 31, 2020, between Nelson
Laboratories, LLC and Wilmington Trust,
National Association, as first lien notes
collateral agent

S-1 333-249648 10.29 2020-10-23

10.28†
Restated Supply Agreement, dated as of
October 6, 2020, between Balchem
Corporation and Sterigenics U.S., LLC,
Sterigenics S. De R.L. De C.V., Sterigenics
Costa Rica S.R.L. and Sterigenics EO
Canada, Inc.

S-1/A 333-249648 10.30 2020-11-18

10.29+ Form of Restricted Stock Agreement and
Acknowledgement S-1/A 333-249648 10.31 2020-11-12

10.30+ Non-Employee Director Compensation
Policy S-1/A 333-249648 10.32 2020-11-12

10.31+ Employment Agreement by and between
Sotera Health LLC and Michael P. Rutz,
dated as of May 21, 2020

10-K 001-39729 10.26 2021-03-09
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10.32 Incremental Facility Amendment to the
2019 Credit Agreement, dated as of
December 17, 2020, among Sotera Health
Company, Sotera Health Holdings, LLC,
the Incremental Amendment Revolving
Lends party thereto, Jefferies Finance LLC,
as First Lien Administrative Agent, each
Issuing Bank and the Other Loan Parties

10-K 001-39729 10.27 2021-03-09

10.33 Refinancing Amendment to the First Lien
2019 Credit Agreement, dated as of January
20, 2021, among Sotera Health Company,
Sotera Health Holdings, LLC, the
Refinancing Lenders Party thereto, the
Revolving Lenders party to the First Lien
Credit Agreement and Jefferies Finance
LLC, as First Lien Administrative Agent
and First Lien Collateral Agent

10-K 001-39729 10.28 2021-03-09

10.34 Revolving Facilities Amendment to the
2019 Credit Agreement, dated as of March
26, 2021, among Sotera Health Company,
Sotera Health Holdings, LLC, the
Refinancing Lenders Party thereto, the
Revolving Lenders party to the First Lien
Credit Agreement and Jefferies Finance
LLC, as First Lien Administrative Agent
and First Lien Collateral Agent

10-Q 001-39729 10.2 2021-05-13

10.35 Amendment to First Lien 2019 Credit
Agreement, dated as of December 23, 2021
by and among Sotera Health Company,
Sotera Health Holdings, LLC, and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as First Lien
Administrative Agent and First Lien
Collateral Agent

10-K 001-39729 10.31 2022-03-01

10.36 Amendment to First Lien 2019 Credit
Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2022, by
and among Sotera Health Company, Sotera
Health Holdings, LLC, and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A. as First Lien
Administrative Agent

10-K 001-39729 10.37 2023-02-28

10.37 2023 Credit Agreement dated as of
February 23, 2023 among the Registrant,
Sotera Health Holdings, LLC, the Lenders
party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., as First Lien Administrative Agent
and First Lien Collateral Agent

10-K 001-39729 10.38 2023-02-28

10.38 First Lien Guarantee Agreement dated as of
February 23, 2023, among the Registrant,
Sotera Health Holdings, LLC, the other
guarantors party thereto and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as First Lien Collateral
Agent

10-K 001-39729 10.39 2023-02-28

10.39 First Lien Collateral Agreement dated as of
February 23, 2023, among the Registrant,
Sotera Health Holdings, LLC, the other
grantors party thereto and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as First Lien Collateral Agent

10-K 001-39729 10.40 2023-02-28
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10.40 First Lien Pari Passu Intercreditor
Agreement dated as of February 23, 2023,
among Sotera Health Holdings, LLC, the
Registrant, the other grantors party thereto
and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

10-K 001-39729 10.41 2023-02-28

10.41 Copyright Security Agreement, dated as of
February 23, 2023, among Nelson
Laboratories, LLC and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as collateral agent

10-K 001-39729 10.42 2023-02-28

10.42 Trademark Security Agreement, dated as of
February 23, 2023, among Nelson
Laboratories Bozeman, LLC and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as collateral agent

10-K 001-39729 10.43 2023-02-28

10.43 Trademark Security Agreement, dated as of
February 23, 2023, among Regulatory
Compliance Associates Inc. and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as collateral agent

10-K 001-39729 10.44 2023-02-28

10.44 Trademark Security Agreement, dated as of
February 23, 2023, among Sotera Health
Holdings, LLC and JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., as collateral agent

10-K 001-39729 10.45 2023-02-28

10.45 Incremental Facility Amendment No. 2,
dated as of March 21, 2023, to the First
Lien Credit Agreement dated as of
December 13, 2019 by and among Sotera
Health Company, Sotera Health Holdings,
LLC, certain subsidiaries of Sotera Health
Company, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
First Lien Administrative Agent and the
lenders and issuing banks party thereto

8-K 001-39729 10.1 2023-03-22

10.46 Amendment, dated as of June 22, 2023, to
the First Lien Credit Agreement dated as of
December 13, 2019 by and among Sotera
Health Company, Sotera Health Holdings,
LLC, certain subsidiaries of Sotera Health
Company, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
First Lien Administrative Agent and the
lenders and issuing banks party thereto

8-K 001-39729 10.1 2023-06-22

10.47‡ Willowbrook Group Settlement Term Sheet K 001-39729 10.46 2023-02-28

10.48‡ Willowbrook Trial Plaintiffs Settlement
Term Sheet 10-K 001-39729 10.47 2023-02-28

10.49‡ Settlement Agreement dated as of March
28, 2023 by and among Sotera Health LLC,
Sterigenics U.S., LLC and Plaintiffs’
Counsel (Illinois Ethylene Oxide Tort
Litigation)

10-Q 001-39729 10.2 2023-05-08

10.50‡ Willowbrook Group Settlement Agreement
dated as of March 28, 2023 by and among
Sotera Health LLC, Sterigenics U.S., LLC
and Plaintiff's Executive Committee
(Illinois Ethylene Oxide Tort Litigation)

10-Q 001-39729 10.3 2023-05-08
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10.51+ Form of Sotera Health Company 2020
Omnibus Incentive Plan Restricted Stock
Unit Grant Notice (As Amended) and
Agreement

10-K 001-39729 10.48 2023-02-28

10.52+ Form of Sotera Health Company 2020
Omnibus Incentive Plan Stock Option
Grant Notice (As Amended) and
Agreement

10-K 001-39729 10.49 2023-02-28

21.1 List of Subsidiaries *

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP,
Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm

*

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer
pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a)
and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

*

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer
pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a)
and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

*

32.1 Certifications of Principal Executive
Officer and Principal Financial Officer
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

**

97.1 Sotera Health Company Policy for the
Recovery of Erroneously Awarded
Compensation

*

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document - The
XBRL Instance Document does not appear
in the Interactive Data File because its
XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline
XBRL document

*

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
Document *

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Calculation Linkbase Document *

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Definition Linkbase Document *

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase
Document *

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Presentation Linkbase Document *

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted
as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit
101)

*
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* Filed Herewith
** Furnished Herewith
+ Denotes management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
† Certain confidff ential portions of this exhibit have been redacted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K. The

omitted inforff mation is (i) not material, and (ii) would likely cause us competitive harm if publicly disclosed. We agree to
furnish supplementally an unredacted copy of the exhibit to the Securities and Exchange Commission on its request.

‡ Certain confidff ential portions of this exhibit have been redacted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K. The
omitted inforff mation is (i) not material, and (ii) the type of information that the registrant treats as private and
confidff ential. We agree to furnish supplementally an unredacted copy of the exhibit to the Securities and Exchange
Commission on its request.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duld y authorized.

SOTERA HRR EALTH COMPANYA

By: /s/ Michael B. Petras, Jr.
Name: Michael B. Petras, Jr.
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Offiff cer

Date: February 2r 7, 2024

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the folff lowing
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date

/s/ Michael B. Petras, Jr.
Chairman and Chief Executive Offiff cer

(Principal Executive Offiff cer)
Februar ry 27,
2024

Michael B. Petras, Jr.

/s/ Jonathon M. Lyons
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offiff cer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Februar ry 27,
2024

Jonathon M. Lyons

/s/ RuoxiRR Chen Director
Februar ry 27,
2024

Ruoxi Chen

/s/ Sean L. Cunningham Director
Februar ry 27,
2024

Sean L. Cunningham

/s/ David A. Donnini Director
Februar ry 27,
2024

David A. Donnini

/s/ Karen A. Flynn Director
Februar ry 27,
2024

Karen A. Flynn

/s/ Ann R. Klee Director
Februar ry 27,
2024

Ann R. Klee

/s/ Robert B. Knauss Director
Februar ry 27,
2024

Robert B. Knauss

/s/ Constantine S. Mihas Director
Februar ry 27,
2024

Constantine S. Mihas

/s/ James C. Neary Drr irector
Februar ry 27,
2024

James C. Neary

/s/ Vincent K. Petrella Director
Februar ry 27,
2024

Vincent K. Petrella

/s/ David E. Wheadon Director
Februar ry 27,
2024

David E. Wheadon

132



 



Board of Directors

Executive Management

David E. Wheadon, M.D., Former Senior Vice President, Global Regulatory Affairs, Patient Safety and Quality Assurance, AstraZeneca PLC; Karen A. Flynn, Former
Senior Vice President and Chief Commercial Officer, Catalent Pharma Solutions; James C. Neary, Managing Director, Warburg Pincus; Sean L. Cunningham, Managing
Director, GTCR; Constantine S. Mihas, Managing Director, GTCR; Ann R. Klee, Former Executive Vice President of Business Development & External Affairs, Suffolk
Construction; Ruoxi Chen, Managing Director, Warburg Pincus; Robert B. Knauss, Managing Director, Warburg Pincus; David A. Donnini, Managing Director, GTCR;
Vincent K. Petrella, Former Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, Lincoln Electric Holdings;Michael B. Petras, Jr., Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, Sotera Health

Michael B. Petras, Jr.
Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer,
Sotera Health

Jonathan M. Lyons
Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer,
Sotera Health

Riaz Bandali
President, Nordion

Joseph A. Shrawder
President, Nelson Labs

Michael P. Rutz
President, Sterigenics

Kristin A. Gibbs
Chief Marketing Officer,
Sotera Health

Robert G. Hauzie
Chief Information Officer,
Sotera Health

Alex Dimitrief
Senior Vice President,
General Counsel and
Secretary, Sotera Health

Kathleen A. Hoffman
Senior Vice President, Global
Environmental, Health &
Safety, Sotera Health

William (BJ) O. Lehmann
Senior Vice President,
Corporate Development &
Strategy, Sotera Health

Sally R. Turner
Chief Human Resources
Officer, Sotera Health

Left to right:



Shareholder Information
PRINCIPAL OFFICE
9100 South Hills Boulevard, Suite 300
Broadview Heights, Ohio 44147

2024 ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Thursday, May 23, 2024
9:00 a.m. Eastern Time
Meeting will be held virtually at:
www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/SHC2024

All shareholders as of March 28, 2024, and their
duly appointed proxies are invited to attend.

2023 ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
Sotera Health Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, is included in this Annual
Report in its entirety, with the exception of certain exhibits.

The Form 10-K, complete with all of its exhibits, is available on our
website at: https://investors.soterahealth.com/sec-filings.com

COMMUNICATE WITH THE BOARD
Shareholders and other interested parties can communicate with
our Board of Directors by email at: board@soterahealth.com.

The Secretary reviews all communications sent to the Board.
Inquiries that relate to the functions of the Board or a Board
Committee will be relayed to the Board, Board Committee or to
individual directors, as appropriate.

STOCK LISTING
Listed on Nasdaq Global Select Market
Stock Symbol: SHC

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT
Email: IR@soterahealth.com
Phone: 833.561.1310
Investor Relations website:
www.investors.soterahealth.com

TRANSFER AGENT
Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
118 Fernwood Avenue
Edison, New Jersey 08837

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM
Ernst & Young LLP

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements. The reader is cautioned
not to rely on these statements, which are based on current expectations of future
events. For important information about these statements, including the risks,
uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to vary materially from
the assumptions, expectations and projections expressed in any forward-looking
statements, the reader should review the enclosed Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, including in the sections captioned “Cautionary
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Item 1A. Risk Factors.” Sotera
Health Company does not undertake to update any forward-looking statement as a
result of new information or future events or developments.

The Sotera Health trade name, logo and other trademarks included in this Annual
Report are the property of Sotera Health Company or its respective affiliates.
© 2024 Sotera Health Company. All Rights Reserved.
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